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Introduction

Strange though it may seem, this is not the book we originally set out to write. In a sense, we are very
surprised — and not a little shaken — to have found ourselves on the rock-strewn path that led,
ultimately, to The Stargate Conspiracy.

We had intended to write a follow-up to our 1997 book The Templar Revelation, which argued that
Christianity was essentially an offshoot of the ancient Egyptian religion of Isis and Osiris — meaning that
our culture is not Judaeo-Christian at all, but Egypto-Christian. The implications were astonishingly far-
reaching, but we also disclosed the most carefully hidden of all the secrets of the heretical Knights
Templar in the most controversial revelation of the book — namely, that they believed that John the
Baptist was the true Messiah, and that Jesus was, to say the very least, his usurper.

Wanting to learn more about our civilisation’s Egyptian roots, we researched further into the ancient
religion, and found ourselves examining the Pyramid Texts and the origin of the Hermetic writings. The
more we progressed, the more we realised the ancient Egyptians possessed astonishing knowledge, far
beyond that generally accepted by modern academics. We discovered that those far-off people had an
understanding of cosmology unequalled until our own century, and even now perhaps they still have
something to teach us. But in the end even the largely unknown and unacknowledged genius of the ancient
Egyptians was not to be the subject of this book.

As non-academics researching ancient Egypt we could not remain unaware of the upsurge of interest in
the ‘alternative Egypt’ of Andrew Collins, Colin Wilson and others, whose books challenge the often
rather complacent ‘certainties’ of mainstream Egyptology. Above all three authors have become
associated in the public mind with radical new ideas about ancient cultures, particularly Egypt: Robert
Temple, author of the seminal The Sirius Mystery (1976); Robert Bauval, co-author with Adrian Gilbert
of The Orion Mystery (1994); and Graham Hancock, whose runaway success was established with The
Sign and the Seal (1992). Since then Hancock has gone on to entrance huge audiences worldwide with
Fingerprints of the Gods (1995) and, with his wife Santha Faiia, Heaven’s Mirror (1998), and also
collaborating with Robert Bauval to produce Keeper of Genesis (1996) and (together with John Grigsby)
The Mars Mystery (1998). These books encompass a vast range of fascinating and radical new ideas,
many of which have now become so entrenched among their readers as to be accepted as hard fact. And,
like most of their readers, we, too, began as enthralled admirers.

After many months of researching and writing this book, we still admired those authors’ energy and
commitment, but as we stood back from their work, we have perceived a new and considerably larger
pattern taking shape. Whether or not those authors are aware of it, their work forms an intrinsic part of
what amounts to an orchestrated campaign.

And the matter does not end there. The bitter controversy surrounding the idea of a long-dead
civilisation on Mars has also been absorbed into this campaign and - like the mysteries of Egypt — has
been pressed into service to present a carefully stage-managed message. Essentially, it proposes that the
ancient gods were extraterrestrials - and they’re back. But the subtext is very clever: only certain, chosen
people hear their words, and only certain, chosen people will be part of the revelations to come. We can
hazard a guess at the identity of some of the chosen, but the others may be rather surprising.



This is the well-worn tactic of ‘divide and rule’, and has worrying, quasireligious overtones. And it is
no obscure and tiny cult, but a massive phenomenon that, in one shape or form, has infiltrated much of the
West’s cultural and spiritual life. But who lies behind it? And what on earth would anyone hope to gain by
it?

We certainly considered the idea that we may have developed into sad cases of paranoia - the thought
was to recur several times as we plunged deeper into this investigation — but the evidence remains,
staring us all in the face, and there is no doubt in our minds that a huge conspiracy is trying to make us
think in certain ways. And for such a global plot to work, it requires teams of fellow conspirators, whose
participation may be unwitting or otherwise. These groups, we were to find, not only included, rather
predictably perhaps, intelligence agencies such as the CIA and MI5, but also less obvious candidates,
from New Age gurus to cutting-edge physicists, top-level scientists and multimillionaires.

Cynically exploiting our fin de siecle hunger for signs and wonders, and our ongoing love affair with
the mysteries of ancient Egypt, the conspirators are in the process of creating a massive, insidious belief
system that feeds on millennium fever, though perhaps not blossoming properly until the first years of the
twenty-first century.

The fact that modem man’s craving for contact with the numinous and the ineffable is being cynically
exploited on a vast scale does not mean that there are never genuine paranormal phenomena or mystical
experiences. Nor do we suggest that there are no mysteries about man’s ancient past or his place in the
universe. While we are critical of certain beliefs and claims to have solved some of those mysteries, it is
because we find fault with them, not because we have a ‘skeptical’ bias. What disturbs us greatly is the
use to which many otherwise innocent or uplifting beliefs and concepts are being put.

Even the lives of those with no interest in such subjects will inevitably be touched by this campaign to
have us believe and be persuaded to think in a certain way. We came to realise, with heavy hearts, that
part of this plot is to prepare us to accept certain ideas that we would normally find unacceptable,
perhaps even repugnant. Make no mistake, this amounts to cultural and spiritual brainwashing on a lavish
scale.

This story is so challenging that we can only ask for a willing suspension of disbelief, and for our
readers to follow our detective work step by step, abandoning preconceptions and personal biases along
the way. At the end, perhaps the thought might be allowed: what if this book is right? What if there really
is a ‘stargate conspiracy’ eating away at the heart of democracy, human autonomy and decency itself?
What if we are being prepared for the acceptance of something that we would normally find, to say the
least, disturbing?

This book is not an attempt to rally the masses or create some kind of political backlash against the
conspiracy. Perhaps, in any case, those with the vested interests would ensure that such an attempt would
be doomed to ignominious - and immediate — failure. Yet we believe that successful opposition is
possible, beginning with the realisation that, perhaps like the stargate itself, true resistance is in the mind.

Lynn Picknett
Clive Prince

London, June 1999



Prologue:

The Nine Gods

In the beginning were the Nine gods of ancient Egypt, the Great Ennead, in whom all beauty, magic and
power were personified. But although many, they were only ever truly One - each an aspect of the great
creator god, Atum. The Pyramid Texts, hieroglyphic inscriptions found on the inside walls of seven
pyramids of the Fifth and Sixth Dynasties, implore them both as Nine and as One:

O you, Great Ennead which is at On [Heliopolis] (namely) Atum, Shu, Tefnut, Geb, Nut, Osiris,
Isis, Set, and Nepthys; O you children of Atum extend his goodwill to his child ...!

The mysteries of the Great Ennead were celebrated by generations of initiate priests at Heliopolis. Their
worship was a central part of the lives of thousands of ordinary men and women, to whom their discrete
identities made them as accessible as the saints are to modem Catholics, while their mysterious Oneness
kept in place the divine veil of ineffability.

The Nine - in one form or another - reigned for many centuries, until the Egyptian world changed
forever with the influx of conquering races including the Greeks and, later, the Romans. The change
seemed complete with the coming of the new religion of the sacrificial man-god, Yeshua (Jesus). But even
then it was believed that the Nine merely withdrew to a heavenly realm — or, as many would have it
today, to another dimension. The Ennead had departed, perhaps one day to return in glory.

However, the Nine are no longer a mere curiosity of some long past religion, nor are the works of their
priests as ephemeral as sand blowing across the face of time. Their sacred city of Heliopolis hid many
jealously guarded secrets, incredible knowledge that is only now being rediscovered. From the wisdom
of antiquity, these high initiates built the pyramids, feats of construction that are still unparalleled and
whose mysteries continue to challenge and enthral. The Nine taught their priests well — and their strange
and secret knowledge is coming back to haunt us.

Buried beneath a suburb of Cairo - the most populous city in Africa, with 16 million inhabitants and their
mad cacophony of traffic - the wonders of ancient Heliopolis are now marked only by a single obelisk.
Once it was one of the unofficial wonders of the ancient world, glorying in its name - derived from the
Greek for ‘city of the sun god’ because it was the centre of worship of Ra, whose daily journey blazed
across the heavens. Its Egyptian name of Ounu, which appears in the Old Testament as On, may mean ‘the
pillared city’, although no one knows for certain. Sometimes it was known as the ‘House of Ra’, while the

Arabs called it Ain-Shams, meaning ‘Sun eye’ or ‘Sun spring’.2
It is unknown how long the centre at Heliopolis had been established before its first mention in the
records, but it was certainly already the supreme religious centre of Egypt ‘when records begin’ - at least

the beginning of the Old Kingdom (c. 2700 BCE).2 Although several other rival cult centres later rose in
power and political influence, Heliopolis always retained its status and due reverence was paid to its



antiquity throughout the history of Egypt.

Heliopolis was the principal religious centre of the Pyramid Age, and its theology - the first organised
system of religion and cosmology known in Egypt - inspired and motivated the building of the great
monuments at Giza. To people of that time and place, theology represented the sum total of all knowledge.
All that existed was God: everything was a manifestation of Him/Her, and everything was imbued with
the divine spark. Therefore the study of anything was in itself a glorious religious act. To learn was to
worship and at the same time to progress along one’s own path to godhood. Heliopolis is indelibly linked
with Giza, which lies some 12 miles to its south-west. Indeed, the three pyramids are arranged so they
point to Heliopolis.?

As ‘the chosen seats of the gods’ and ‘the birthplace of the gods’, Heliopolis was the most sacred site
of Egypt. It contained temples to the creator god Atum, to Ra - the sun god himself — and to Horus, as
well as to Isis, Thoth and the Nile god Hapi. One of the city’s most renowned buildings was the hwt-psdt,
the Mansion of the Great Ennead. Another structure was the House of the ,Phoenix, which may have
contained the sacred ben-ben stone, Egypt’s most holy ‘relic’, which was possibly meteoritic in origin.

The priesthood of Heliopolis was famed for its learning and wisdom. Two of its greatest achievements
were in the fields of medicine and astronomy — its high priests held the title ‘Greatest of Seers’,
generally understood to mean ‘Chief Astronomer’.2 Its priests were still regarded as the wisest and most
learned in Egypt at the time of Herodotus (fifth century BCE) and even remembered in Strabo’s day, as
late as the first century CE. The priesthood was even famed among the Greeks, and it is said that, among
others, Pythagoras, Plato, Eudoxus and Thales went to Heliopolis to study. And although we know few of
the names of the great Egyptians who were its graduates, we do know that Imhotep, the genius who
designed the first pyramid - the Step Pyramid of Djoser at Saqqgara - and was venerated as a god for his
medical knowledge, was a High Priest there.®

Significantly, the priesthood probably included women. An inscription of the Fourth Dynasty, roughly
contemporary with the Giza pyramids, refers to a woman in the Temple of Thoth holding the title

‘Mistress of the House of Books’.”

It is possible to piece together the main elements of the Heliopolitan religious beliefs from the Pyramid
Texts. The earliest text, in the pyramid of Unas, dates from around 2350 BCE, some 200 years after the
Great Pyramid of Khufu at Giza is believed to have been built. In fact most Egyptologists agree that the
Pyramid Texts are much older than the earliest surviving inscriptions, and that they - and the religious and
cosmological ideas — existed at the beginning of the First Dynasty, the ‘official’ birth of Egyptian
civilisation, around 3100 BCE.2 The Pyramid Texts are the oldest surviving religious writings in the
world.?

Customarily divided into short ‘chapters’ called “utterances’ by Egyptologists, these ancient texts form
descriptions of the funeral rites and afterlife journey of the king (strictly speaking, ‘pharaoh’ is a much
later term). There is every reason to believe that the Pyramid Texts are not, in fact, merely funeral texts,
nor is the wisdom embedded in them relevant solely to the kings of a long-dead civilisation.

The central theme of the texts is the afterlife, or astral, journey in which the king, identified with Osiris,
ascends to the heavens where he is transformed into a star. He also encounters various gods and other
entities, and is finally accepted into their ranks. He is then reincarnated as his own successor, in the form
of Osiris’s son, Horus, thus ensuring the literal divinity of the royal line and maintaining the continuity of



Egyptian culture.

The Pyramid Texts are undoubtedly the product of the Heliopolitan priesthood,X? and represent the only
surviving unadulterated expression of their religion, and probably the only writings of the religion ever
inscribed outside of Heliopolis itself at that time. The same ideas underpin later funeral inscriptions, such
as the Coffin Texts (written inside sarcophagi of the Middle Kingdom, 2055-1650 BCE) and the so-called
Book of the Dead, though these were also influenced by other, rival religious systems. The Pyramid Texts
hold the key to reconstructing the beliefs of ancient Heliopolis.

A further problem arises as the Pyramid Texts were intended for a specific purpose, not as a general
dissertation on theology. One analogy is with a Christian funeral service today. Obviously it would
feature references to Christian beliefs, such as Jesus dying on the cross to save us, which Christians
understand, while anyone unfamiliar with the religion would feel completely lost. The Pyramid Texts, in
much the same way, are not the equivalent of a Heliopolitan Bible, but more like a prayer book.

A study of the underlying beliefs of the Pyramid Texts reveals an extraordinarily sophisticated yet
economical theology and cosmology that can be read on many levels. Several complex concepts are
expressed simultaneously in its imagery. There are many academic reconstructions of Heliopolitan
thought, but the one we believe to make most sense of the data is that of the American professor of
religious history, Karl W. Luckert, as described in his seminal book Egyptian Light and Hebrew Fire
(1991). According to this, the system is one of deceptive simplicity, hiding a rich and awesome
complexity. We came to realise that Heliopolitan beliefs concerning the nature of the universe,
consciousness, life and what happens after death are both mystical and practical, yet also incorporate
knowledge that rivals that of the most cutting-edge modem science.

It has long been recognised that the Pyramid Texts contain astronomical material. Recent books have
argued that these ideas are neither primitive nor superstitious — as many academics still believe - but
reveal a detailed and sophisticated understanding of the movement of heavenly bodies. They even take
into account the phenomenon known as the precession of the equinoxes, a heavenly cycle of nearly 26,000
years that was deemed to have been discovered as late as the second century BCE by the Greeks (who
even then got it wrong).! This civilisation existed at least five millennia ago. On such a timeline our own
superstitious Dark Ages, when the world was believed to be flat, seem like yesterday.

The most fundamental revelation of the Pyramid Texts is that, despite our preconceptions, the
Heliopolitan religion was essentially monotheistic. Its many gods, often animal-headed, were understood
to represent the manifold aspects of the one creator god, Atum.

The Heliopolitan religion incorporated the concept of a mystical union with the ‘higher’ god forms, and
even with the source of all creation, Atum himself. This union was the true objective of the process
described in the Pyramid Texts, the destination of the soul’s ultimate journey. According to the standard
view, this was relevant only to the king in his afterlife state, but we believe it was not a journey reserved
only for royalty — nor even for the dead. The Pyramid Texts in fact describe a secret technique for
enabling a man or woman to encounter God and - dead or merely out of the body - to discover some of his
knowledge for themselves.

Atum stood at the apex of the Great Ennead, or the nine primary gods of Egypt. However, exemplifying
the concept of ‘one god, many god forms’, the nine themselves were considered as One, the other eight
representing different aspects of Atum.12 This is a similar idea to that of the Christian Trinity. As
Professor Luckert says: ‘The entire theological system can be visualised as a flow of creative vitality,



emanating outward from the godhead, thinning out as it flows further from its source.’13

Before Atum’s act of creation, the universe was a formless, watery void, called Nun. Out of this void
emerged a phallic-shaped hill, the sacred Hill of Atum. Although a metaphor, it was also believed that
this landmark was a physical place, the real site of the beginning of all things. Atum’s temple in
Heliopolis was probably built on this hill, although some Egyptologists have recently argued it was
actually the rising ground of the Giza plateau. Others suggest that the pyramids themselves were intended
to represent the Primeval Mound.1#

The writings of Victorian — and even more recent — Egyptologists have been notably coy or tight-
lipped about the story of Atum’s act of creation. In fact, he ejaculated the universe as a result of
masturbating himself to an explosive orgasm. Though this inevitably invites jokes about the ‘Big Bang’, it
is actually rather an accurate image. Atum’s life-giving burst of energy seeded the void of Nun, pushing
back its boundaries to give way to the expansion of material creation. In the original story, Atum was
considered to be androgynous: his phallus represented the male principle, while his hand represented the
female principle. This defines one of the fundamental tenets of the Heliopolitan system and all Egyptian
thinking, namely that of the eternal and quintessential balance of male and female, the yin-yang polarity
without which, they believed, chaos would rule.

From Atum’s arching semen the universe proceeded to unfold, gradually becoming manifest in the
physical, material world that we inhabit, but only after passing through several other stages. From the
creative act, two beings, Shu and Tefnut, emerged in the dividing of the first principle. Shu is male,
representing the creative power, and Tefnut is female, representing a principle of order that limits,
controls and shapes Shu’s power. Tefnut is also represented as the goddess Ma’at, ruler of eternal
justice.1> Together, Shu and Tefnut are sometimes jointly called the Ruti, represented in physical form as
two lions (or rather, a lion and a lioness).

From the union of Shu and Tefnut were born Geb (the earth god) and Nut (the sky goddess),
representing the elements of the visible cosmos, more manifest forms of their ‘parents’. Geb and Nut, in
turn, gave birth to two pairs of brother-sister twins: the famous quartet of Isis and Osiris and Nepthys and
her brother-consort, Set. They express the principle of duality in two ways: male and female, and
positive-negative/light-dark. Nepthys is the ‘dark sister’ of the beneficent Isis, while Set is the
destructive, obstructive force opposing Osiris’s civilising and creative character. These four deities were
considered to be closer to us and the material world, than their forebears, although still inhabiting the
world of spirit beings ‘behind the veil’. Luckert says that they ‘exist low enough to participate more
intimately in the human experience of life and death’ and that they operate ‘on a smaller and more visible

scale than their parent(s)’ .10

Collectively, these nine gods make up the Great Ennead, but they remain only expressions of Atum,
reaching through the levels of creation from the first emergence from the void to the world of matter we
inhabit. In a sense, Osiris is Geb and Shu and Atum, just as Isis is Nut and Tefnut/Ma’at and Atum. Even
Set was perceived as more complex than a simple embodied, archetypal evil, such as the Devil of
Christianity.

The system continues. The Great Ennead itself leads on to another series of gods, the Lesser Ennead.
The link - or ‘go-between’ — is Horus, the magical child of Isis and Osiris. He is regarded as the god of
the material world, his role here echoing that of Atum in the universe. The foremost of the Lesser Ennead,
who are believed to exert a direct influence over humankind, are the wisdom god Thoth — scribe to the



Great Ennead - and Anubis, the jackal-headed god who guards the gateway between the worlds of the
living and the dead.

This level is the province of many other deities, each dealing with a specific aspect of human life. It is
probable that it incorporated local gods and goddesses worshipped in Egypt before the Heliopolitan
religion was established. Luckert calls this the ‘Turnaround Realm’, the meeting point of the world of
matter and the ‘other dimensions’ of the gods, where the reverse process can be experienced by an
individual — either at death, or by mystical experiences in life — as an ‘inner journey’, back to union
with the creator. This is the process that is the main theme of the Pyramid Texts, which - far from being
‘primitive’ — exceeds newer religions in both authority and sublimity, besides being strikingly similar to
the traditions of shamanism.

Further significance can be derived from this elegant system. In an association of imagery, the
emergence of Atum’s Primeval Mound from Nun was equated with the rising of the sun, the source of all
life in the material world. This is why Atum is associated with Ra, the sun god, sometimes referred to as
Ra-Atum. This is also why Horus, as lord of this world, is also associated with, and sometimes
personified as, the sun. The daily ‘birth’ of the sun is a “‘microcosm’ of the original creative explosion that
gave birth to the universe, so it can be associated with both Atum and Horus. Like so much of the Pyramid
Texts, the imagery works on several levels at once.

An objective reading of the Pyramid Texts involves much more than poetic symbolism. For example, its
system of creation is a remarkable parallel to modern physicists’ conception of the creation and evolution
of the Universe. It literally describes the ‘Big Bang’, in which all matter explodes from a point of
singularity and then expands and unfolds, becoming more complex as fundamental forces come into being
and interact, finally reaching the level of elemental matter. (Significantly, the leading American
Egyptologist Mark Lehner, in his 1997 book The Complete Pyramids, uses the term ‘singularity’ when
referring to Atum’s place in the myth.l?) The system also includes the concept of a multidimensional
universe, represented by the different levels of creation as embodied in the god forms. In the Pyramid
Texts, the higher gods, such as Shu and Tefnut, still exist, but remain essentially unreachable by
humankind without going through the intermediaries of the lower gods.

Yet another level of imagery lies within the creation story. While discussing the sophistication of the
ideas in the Pyramid Texts with our friend, the Belgian writer-researcher Philip Coppens, he pointed out
that certain very new discoveries of modern science are an implicit part of the story. As we have seen,
Atum emerged from a formless void, imaged in the form of the primordial watery chaos called Nun. This
is often regarded as being based on the way land emerges from the Nile flood as the annual inundation
recedes, but this is not really the concept expressed in the Heliopolitan image. As Egyptologist R.T.
Rundle Clark says:

It was not like a sea, for that has a surface, whereas the original waters extended above as well as

below ... The present cosmos is a vast cavity, rather like an air-bubble, amid the limitless

expanse.18

This is an elegantly clever way of expressing the complex concept of a sea that represents, on the one
hand, the void - nothing - yet at the same time stands for unlimited potential - infinity. There may be
another reason for choosing this image, though. Scientists have only recently announced the discovery that
water can be found in interstellar space in far greater quantities than has ever been expected. Atum
represents not just the ‘Big Bang’ of creation, but also the sun: and scientists are only now realising that



the enormous clouds of water throughout the universe play a vital role in the creation of stars such as our
sun. In fact, they are now beginning to believe that stars are actually created from such clouds of water
.22 It has also been pointed out that, on a terrestrial level, the myth expresses the idea that life originated
in the seas.? All this suggests the possession of exceptionally sophisticated knowledge by the
Heliopolitans.

Significantly, on 12 September 1998, the leading British scientific magazine New Scientist published
the ground-breaking research of a NASA team led by Lou Allamandola into the origins — and
requirements — of life in the universe. Previously scientists had found it impossible to assemble the right
‘ingredients’ out of which to create even the most basic form of life, but this team had succeeded in
creating some of the complex molecules necessary by recreating in the laboratory conditions similar to
those found inside clouds of gas in interstellar space. They discovered that creating those complex
molecules in those circumstances is extremely easy - in fact, virtually inevitable - whereas trying to do so
in strictly terrestrial circumstances is impossible. The most striking example is that of molecules called
lipids which make up the walls of individual cells, without which the cell, the basic building block of
living things, could not exist. Now that scientists know that this can be done so easily in these conditions,
the implications are enormous. It looks increasingly as if life originated in deep space and was then
‘seeded’ on to planets, probably by comets, and that, even in its most primitive form, it is probably found
everywhere throughout the universe. As Lou Allamandola says, ‘I begin to really believe that life is a
cosmic imperative.’

This, however, is only part of the story, as Philip Coppens pointed out to us. It may be that
Allamandola’s team are by no means the first to comprehend the requirements for the creation of life. He
cites the ancient Egyptian myth of Atum’s explosive orgasm that created the universe: his ejaculation can
be seen to symbolise, with astonishing accuracy, the idea that all the basic ingredients for life existed
from the very first and that the universe, as it continues to expand, carries them within it. The imagery of
the Atum myth also encompasses perfectly the concept of ‘seeding’ the universe with life. Did the
Heliopolitan priests really know how life originates and spreads throughout the universe?2 2!

This, then, was the ‘primitive’ religion of ancient Egypt, which was governed by the Great Ennead, the
Nine who represented all life and all wisdom. The ancient Egyptian civilisation, so often underestimated
even by our most learned scholars, continues to fascinate with mysteries that call to us from antiquity. But
we were to discover that something new is afoot, a sudden, unexplained interest in the lost secrets of the
Egyptians and a flurry of mysterious activity among their most venerable ruins. Something intriguing is
going on at Giza, something that is intimately connected with the preparation for the Millennium and the
start of the twenty-first century. People and organisations are searching for the lost knowledge of the
worshippers of the Nine for their own purposes. They are about to undertake a momentous, perhaps even
a catastrophic venture: to hijack the mysteries for their own ends, even daring to attempt the unthinkable
— to exploit the ancient gods themselves.



Egypt: New Myths For Old

Nothing succeeds like Egypt. Although its fabled magic and mystery have by now beeome something of a
well worn eliehé, it is, largely, only academic historians who lament the fact. Something about the land of
Tutankhamun, the Sphinx and the Great Pyramid instantly dwarfs all other cultures in our imaginations,
although many of them — such as the pre-Columbian peoples of South America - also built pyramids that
continue to perplex us with their mystery and sheer technical perfection.

A recent spate of highly successful books has not only asserted that ancient Egypt was considerably
more sophisticated than academics will admit, but also promised that mind-bending revelations connected
with that venerable civilisation will soon shake the world. These secrets will somehow emanate from
ancient Egyptian sources and affect us all in one way or another. And, of course, they will be timed to
coincide with the Millennium.

A mystery does surround the ancient Egyptians and their culture. Immensely impressive data does
reveal that the ancient Egyptians were far more sophisticated than Egyptologists admit. Indeed,
mainstream Egyptologists seem curiously blind to the achievements and beliefs of the very people they
have chosen to study. However, there is a backlash against this academic arrogance - and like all extreme
reactions, it presents problems of its own, not least because this particular backlash has been carefully
orchestrated.

The last decade has seen the rapid rise of an Egyptological counterculture. It began as a challenge to
the rigid views of the academics, but has now effectively become a new orthodoxy with an equally
unyielding ‘doctrine’ of its own.

There is a strong case for challenging much of the standard Egyptological view. Many recent
bestsellers - such as Keeper of Genesis by Robert Bauval and Graham Hancock (1996), From Atlantis to
the Sphinx (1996) by Colin Wilson and Gods of Eden (1998) by Andrew Collins — have daringly
tackled the academics, rightly criticising their stubbornness and blindness and presenting an alternative
view of the subject. In our view, much of this was long overdue. Historians and Egyptologists have had it
all their own way for too long. Many of them have been far too ready to dismiss the ancient Egyptians as
‘primitive’, while the evidence of our own eyes, in the shape of the Great Pyramid and the Sphinx, tells us
otherwise. And, of course, their incredible knowledge — teased out of the ancient Pyramid Texts - is also
routinely ignored or even roundly rubbished.

However, many — but not all — exponents of the New Orthodoxy who dare to ‘publish and be
damned’ appear to be motivated by something more than a sense of solidarity with a culture that is rarely
given its due. This wave of new books is not just a timely recognition of ancient Egyptian genius (although



of course there is an element of that, which must be applauded). As we discovered, something else is
involved here, something deeply unsettling.

Among certain of the so-called ‘pyramidiots’ (the academics’ term for the alternative Egyptologists,
which no doubt includes ourselves) we have discerned a very interesting but disturbing tendency. As we
will see, some members of the New Orthodoxy — but by no means all - hide another agenda behind their
apparently laudable and open-minded attack on the arrogance of academia. Through the mass media, these
writer-researchers have promoted what is essentially a belief system that is not only just as rigidly
dogmatic as the academics’, but which seems, worryingly, to have quite another agenda. The promotion of
certain ideas and the fact that the same ideas occur in several of the most high-profile books about
‘alternative Egypt’ led us to believe that there was a pre-arranged, orchestrated move to create a new
belief system.

As this investigation proceeds and we carefully strip away the layers of false extrapolation and strange
affiliations, a much wider conspiracy is revealed. This extends well beyond the confines of Egyptology
— Old or New — and involves several intelligence agencies, including the CIA and Britain’s MI5, occult
groups and even some of the world’s top scientists. This extraordinary conspiracy centres upon the
creation of the expectation of imminent, quasireligious revelations connected with ancient Egypt,
cynically exploiting the spiritual hunger and craving for miracles of the Western world. This is not some
minor social experiment, but in effect a large-scale campaign that takes many forms and uses many
different religious, spiritual, New Age - and even political — masks. Honed by decades of intensive, and
often less than ethical, intelligence experience, this conspiracy is, in our view, the most insidious yet
dangerous assault on the collective free will of the West. Those at the heart of this plot care little for
either the Egyptian mysteries or the spiritually bereft: all they care about is power and control.

Testament of the pyramids

No first visit to Paris is complete without a trip to the top of the Eiffel Tower, where, windblown but
triumphant, one can enjoy a seemingly limitless view over one of the most beautiful cities on Earth. This
experience is useful when putting another - even more famous — landmark into context: the Great
Pyramid of Giza. Until the Eiffel Tower was built in the last years of the nineteenth century, the ancient
Egyptian wonder of the world was the tallest building humanity had ever known. But while every nut and
bolt of the iron giant of Paris can be traced to its origins, and all its parts could be easily reassembled
today, the same is not true of the Great Pyramid. No one knows how it was built, although many claim they
do. While everyone knows the reason why the Eiffel Tower was built, no one knows the true purpose of
the pyramids.

Reams of paper and seas of ink have been used in attempts to convey the sheer scale of the Great
Pyramid, but nothing can prepare the individual for the moment he or she sees it for the first time. Other
famous monuments may disappoint: Stonehenge, perhaps, does not quite justify the tour-guide hype. The
Great Pyramid of Giza always exceeds expectations.

One illusion, however, is very quickly shattered. Somehow a romantic notion prevails that the Giza
complex - the three most famous pyramids and the Sphinx, along with their attendant temples and
causeways — lies in the middle of the desert and that one has to be a cross between Indiana Jones and



Lawrence of Arabia in order to get there. The monuments of Giza are in fact ten minutes’ walk from the
populous suburb of Cairo of the same name. It can come as a shock to find the Great Pyramid towering
over a hotel swimming pool. There are few more dramatic, and somehow unsettling, backdrops to
poolside relaxation.

The Great Pyramid is profoundly unsettling in many ways, not least because of its sheer scale. Made of
2.5 million limestone blocks, each with an average weight of 2.5 tons, this immense structure covers an
area of over 53,000 square yards at its base, with a perimeter of over half a mile. It is 481 feet high, a
great height, as those who ill advisedly (and illegally) climb up it can testify. Although its roughly stepped
sides now appear to invite an arduous scramble to the summit, originally this was impossible, as the
whole pyramid was covered in a smooth, polished limestone cladding.

The Great Pyramid is aligned to the cardinal points of the compass with an amazing — and
aesthetically unnecessary — degree of accuracy. (There is an error of only about 5 inches in the north —
south alignment, and one of just over 2 inches from east to west.) The same incredible accuracy applies to
the monument as a whole: the length of the sides at its base differ by less than 8 inches (20.5 cm) between
the shortest and longest sides, and the accuracy of the right-angled comers is near-perfect.! There are
many other famous examples of awesome sophistication in the construction and location of the Great
Pyramid. These include the fact that it is situated almost exactly on the geodetically significant latitude of
30 degrees, as well as the use in its design of advanced geometric concepts such as pi and phi (which are,
officially, supposed to have been unknown to the ancient Egyptians). For orthodox Egyptologists these

facts, while undeniable, can only be put down to coincidence.?

Elsewhere in the Giza complex, other, less famous, examples of the builders’ art equally give one
pause. Most tourists only ever use the curious, now roofless, building known as the Valley Temple, which
lies on the southern side of the Sphinx enclosure, as a route to the Sphinx. This is a pity, as it is well
worth serious examination itself. Limestone blocks dwarf even those used in the construction of the Great
Pyramid, some weighing as much as 200 tons and measuring up to 9 metres in length. (These blocks were
taken from the Sphinx enclosure when it was originally hollowed out.) The inner walls and upright square
pillars of the interior of the temple are made of granite - again, some weighing over 200 tons. But not until
the 1970s were cranes built that could lift a weight of even just 100 tons - half the weight of the largest

blocks in the Valley Temple.2 How did the ancient Egyptians lift them over three millennia ago?

There is something other than sheer scale involved in the workmanship of the Valley Temple. There
are, by modern standards, other virtually ‘impossible’ flourishes in the setting of one stone next to another.
For example, at its corners, instead of having two separate stones fitting together to form the right angles,
just one massive block has been cut to turn the corner, sometimes by the ludicrously tiny amount of just a
couple of inches, with the next stone specifically trimmed to fit the remaining space, and so on. This is all
the more incredible when you realise that the stones were all cut to fit when actually in place. It follows
the same principle as that of dry-stone walling, used by many rural peoples over the centuries and
generally thought to require a fair degree of eye-to-hand skill. But such wall building always used small
stones, because they usually had to fit relatively easily into the wall-maker’s hand. By contrast, the stones
of the Valley Temple, as we have seen, would still defy the lifting powers of the greatest cranes of the
modern world, let alone be easily trimmed to go round comers when in place. So how did the ancient
Egyptians manipulate such massive stones? And why did they choose what has to be the most complicated
and unnecessarily difficult method they could possibly find? As we toured the Valley Temple, the thought
that came irresistibly to mind was that these builders were showing off ...



The granite blocks themselves present a mystery. Not only is the interior of the Valley Temple made of
granite, but so is part of the inside of the Great Pyramid. The King’s Chamber is lined with it. The local
stone was limestone, so the giant granite blocks had to be transferred from Aswan, about 600 miles to the
south of Cairo, then hoisted into place, sometimes being positioned as lintels across the top of upright
granite blocks.

There are other examples of unnecessary, even apparently absurd, difficulties encountered by the early
builders. At the position of Khafra’s (the ‘Second’) Pyramid, a level base had to be created on a slightly
sloping section of the plateau. This entailed the cutting of a ‘step’ into the rock of the rise and building up
the lower part of the slope with limestone blocks to make a level platform. Had the pyramid been built
just a few hundred metres to the west, it would have been on level ground to begin with.# Clearly the
ancient Egyptians either liked to make things as difficult as possible for themselves, or there was a very
important reason why the Second Pyramid should occupy exactly that position in relation to the first.

The mysteries of the external structure of the Giza monuments leap to the visitor’s startled eye, but the
inside of the Great Pyramid is even more baffling. What strikes the first-time visitor immediately is how
strangely cramped the passages and entrances to the chambers are, and how difficult it is for even
relatively small adults to scrape through. You have to duck down for long stretches of the Ascending
Passage to reach the awe-inspiring Grand Gallery, which leads to the King’s Chamber, and then you must
bend double to get through the immediate entrance, the antechamber. And, before wooden slats were
incorporated into the Grand Gallery in the modern era to enable visitors to achieve a foothold, originally
there was only a massive smooth stone surface stretching upwards and out of sight. The Great Pyramid is
hardly visitor-friendly now; the gods alone know what kind of superhuman agility was required to move
around inside it millennia ago.

We are told that the Great Pyramid, like its companions at Giza — and every other Egyptian pyramid
— was built as a tomb for a pharaoh: this is, according to mainstream Egyptologists, ‘fact’. Unfortunately;,
as all pyramidiots gleefully point out, no evidence of any human burial has ever been found in any
pyramid. One can cite the depredations of grave robbers as much as one likes, but in the ‘unfinished’ step
pyramid attributed to Sekhemket at Saqqgara the sarcophagus was found not only intact but also sealed —
and when opened was revealed to be empty.2 And most famously, no signs of human burial have ever been
found in the Great Pyramid nor in its two companion pyramids at Giza. Remains were found in the
sarcophagus in Khafra’s - the Second Pyramid — but they turned out to belong to a bull.® The Bent
Pyramid at Dahshur contained a dismembered owl and the skeletons of five bats in a box, but nothing of
human origin.” Clearly, the pyramids were not tombs, but the fact remains that — although many theories
have been put forward — no one knows why the pyramids were built, nor even how they were built.
(Bizarre though it may seem, the mysteries of the pyramids are not favourites with academic
Egyptologists. As Vivian Davies of the British Museum has said: ‘I must confess I’ve never been
somebody fascinated with the pyramids.’® A similar position is adopted by many of his colleagues.)

The old idea that the pharaohs used thousands of slaves to haul the vast slabs of rock through the desert
and manoeuvre them into place through sheer brute force has been shown to be extremely unlikely. Recent
archaeological evidence has indicated that the workers were free men who willingly gave up some of
their time to assist in the building and were housed in huge camps. The logistics of feeding and watering
this army of volunteer workers must have been a nightmare, especially as they were technically, at least,
free to leave if they wanted to. There is also the problem of how any number of even the strongest and
most willing of men could have manoeuvred those massive stone slabs into place with such finesse.



The Great Pyramid slopes inwards towards the apex at an angle of about 52 degrees and its summit is
nearly 500 feet from the ground. The imagination baulks at the problem of how these ‘primitive’ people
did it. They must have had scaffolding that was not only extraordinarily strong, but also adjustable. After
all, it would have had to allow for the intricate and physically tough work needed to manoeuvre each
mighty stone in place, course by course, higher and higher, all the while sloping inwards to accommodate
the gradient. Such scaffolding would also have had to be almost supernaturally strong to sustain the
weight of at least one 2.5-ton block of stone, as well as workers and their tools. Academics favour the
theory that the pyramids were erected through the construction of giant ramps — made of clay bricks,
perhaps - so that the blocks could be dragged into position, after which the ramps were demolished. Once
again, however, there is the problem of the inwardly sloping walls and the tiny apex - how would you
build adjustable ramps to allow for the gradient? After all, a fixed ramp might work for the first few stone
courses, but very soon the gradient would create a widening gap between the ramp and the pyramid wall,
hardly the best, or safest, way to manipulate huge blocks of stone. If you had somehow managed to build
any part of the side of a pyramid in this way, by the time you came close to the apex there would be a gap
of several feet between your fixed ramp and the stonework. What did they do — throw the stones across?
Academics have suggested that, in order to overcome this problem, the Egyptians built serial ramps, each
inclining further inwards to accommodate the gradient, but such ramps would need to have started many
miles away in order to have gentle enough inclines for men to be able to drag stones up them.

Recently, American Egyptologist Mark Lehner built a scale model of a true pyramid on the Giza plateau
for a television series called Secrets of Lost Empires, a BBC/NOVA[WGBH-Boston coproduction that
required teams of experts to reproduce the achievements of ancient cultures — at least, in miniature.
Given just three weeks, different teams had to build a pyramid, erect a Stonehenge monolith or repair a
remote Incan wall. If we were to believe their own publicity, they very largely succeeded, although,
certainly in the case of Mark Lehner’s team, their ‘success’ was extremely limited. For a start, they were
not required to quarry and move the stone blocks using the soft copper tools that (allegedly) were all that
the Egyptians had. If the team could not have used modern methods to cut and move the stones to the
building site at Giza, no doubt the Millennium would have come and gone before they hacked out a single
stone.

Once they had their stones on site, they had to resort to the putative ‘primitive’ methods of the original
builders. Lehner’s team, which included local Egyptian labourers, cut 186 limestone blocks, each
weighing up to 6,000 lbs — not, note, 2.5 tons - then manoeuvred them into position, swearing and
sweating, using brute force, levers, ropes and water as a lubricant. The resulting pyramid, with its perfect
gradient of 52 degrees, was clad with shaped facing blocks, then topped with a limestone pyramidion.
Lehner, bursting with pride, announced that ‘this limited experience made it abundantly clear that the
pyramids are very human monuments, created through long experience and tremendous skill, but without
any kind of secret sophistication’.

That is all well and good, until it is realised that Lehner’s Pyramid was very much a miniature version
of the real thing — not much higher than a tall man with upraised arms. In fact, this stone Wendy House
would perch comfortably on the very top of the Great Pyramid. Building a structure where you can easily
manoeuvre large stones, if necessary by dragging them out on to the ground and starting again, is wildly
different from constructing what was - until recently - the tallest building in the world, where there would
have been no room for manoeuvre beyond the first few stone courses.

If the largest single artefact of ancient Egypt has the power to challenge our own sophisticated



technology, spare a thought or two for some of the smallest. The Cairo Museum contains many of the sort
of artefacts frequently overlooked by visitors, but they are almost, in their own way, as mysterious as the
pyramids. For example, many small stone jars and bottles on closer examination prove to be extremely
difficult to explain using mainstream academic arguments. We are asked to believe that the ancient
Egyptians had only copper tools, yet what we have here are tiny vessels, some just 3 inches high, made of
incredibly hard material such as granite. These bottles and vases have elegant, thin-rimmed, perfectly
round openings, narrow necks and wider bodies, which have been hollowed out and shaped by a drill that
entered through the narrow neck. But how? What diamond-tipped drill could create such extraordinary
craftmanship even now? But why go to such lengths just to make a vase in the first place?

Other examples of precision drilling on the Giza plateau are found right under the noses of visitors and
Egyptologists. In several places fallen masonry has exposed perfectly round bore holes in granite pillars,
sometimes up to 10-12 inches deep, and they are perfectly round and precisely the same size all the way
down. Archaeologists and Egyptologists vehemently deny that the ancients had tools such as lathes and
drills on the apparently reasonable grounds that no remains of any such tool have ever been found. That
may be unfortunate, but we have the evidence of our own eyes - and also that of an expert, the American
tool designer and manufacturer Christopher Dunn. His analysis of certain Old Kingdom artefacts has
convinced him that not only did the ancient Egyptians have drills, but that the drillholes in granite blocks

could only have been achieved by a drill spinning 500 times faster than a modern, diamond-tipped drill.2

Dunn has proposed that the Egyptians used an ultrasonic drill, which uses sound to make the bit vibrate
at an enormously high rate. Andrew Collins, in Gods of Eden, has developed the idea of sound technology
used by the Egyptians and other ancient cultures and it does seem likely that they used what magi call the
“Word’ — sound - to create many of the achievements that perplex us today.

Such theories go some way towards resolving the question of how the Egyptians were able to cut
through solid granite as if it were butter, achieving precision work that would be extremely difficult —
and in some cases, literally impossible — for us today, even with our computer-guided laser technology.
But the question remains as to how they learned or developed their techniques. Clearly, since the
pyramids and other enigmatic examples of their skill exist, they must have had such a technique, even
though — bafflingly — no remnants of a drill or a lathe have ever been found. So we have another
‘impossible’ scenario: evidence of the results of this advanced technology, but no direct evidence of the
technology itself. Therefore, say the academics, it’s back to those primitive copper tools, despite the fact
that no known copper tool could drill perfectly round holes in granite ...

The implications of this mystery take us into a whole new realm. What we appear to have, in both the
pyramids and the expertly drilled artefacts, is evidence of a people who seem to have emerged from an
essentially Neolithic Stone Age culture into an advanced, organised civilisation capable of heroic
building feats in, at most, just 500 years. As far as we can tell, the great monuments simply came into
being without any real process of development.

Faced with this paradox, there seem to be only two ways to resolve it: by denying that the ancient
Egyptians built the monuments, redating them so that they fit into a much earlier epoch and assigning them
to an otherwise lost civilisation; or by positing the intrusion into Egyptian society of some other, more
advanced culture that came from elsewhere and either taught the ancient Egyptians the necessary skills or
built the monuments themselves.

Redating the most enigmatic monuments of Egypt would serve to explain why the archaeological record



of the transition from Neolithic to sophisticated culture is incomplete. For example, the assumption that
the Sphinx and the Giza pyramids were built by a lost civilisation in the remote past and that they already
existed when the peoples of the Nile Valley were still in a Neolithic phase neatly explains the paradox.
This idea was developed, for example, by Graham Hancock in his Fingerprints of the Gods, arguing that
an advanced civilisation once existed, probably before the last Ice Age, but that it was struck down by
some natural catastrophe. This reduced the survivors to a primitive level once more, so that the gradual
climb up to a higher level of civilisation began again.

Naturally, the scenario of a civilisation that essentially began at its peak and then declined invites
speculation. It is as if the first skyscraper was built within 500 years of woad-covered ancient Britons.
For the analogy to be more precise, it would have to be impossible for all future generations to replicate
that skyscraper, and for its means of construction to lie beyond their understanding, even when civilisation
had progressed to space travel and computer wizardry.

Of course, for historians and Egyptologists, the idea of some hypothetical lost civilisation is beneath
contempt. They claim that no evidence has ever been found to support this contention and so refuse even
to consider it. Yet there is plenty of circumstantial evidence for the existence of this mysterious, lost
‘elder culture’. For example, many ancient maps - most famously the Piri Re’is map — appear to show
that the globe was surveyed and very accurately mapped by an advanced culture in the distant past.i
Innumerable anomalous artefacts and monuments across the globe support the idea of a lost civilisation.

Where Egypt is concerned, the situation is not quite so clear-cut. If the standard dating of the Old
Kingdom pyramids is correct — that is, they are at the most 5,000 years old — there is a problem. Five
thousand years is by no means a long enough period in which to ‘lose’ an advanced civilisation, though
there have been many recent attempts to assign much greater antiquity to some of the monuments at Giza,
which have the advantage of allowing a longer time for most traces of this elder culture to have been lost.

On the other hand, some of the standard dates are undoubtedly correct. On the evidence as it now
stands, it does appear that the Giza pyramids are ‘only’ as old as the history books say. This means that
proponents of the ‘lost civilisation’ hypothesis also have to assume some form of continued contact
between the ancient lost civilisation and the Egypt of the relatively recent era of the Old Kingdom,
effectively putting them back where they started, because there is no archaeological evidence of such a
continuity.

This confused logic can be a minefield for enthusiasts of the ‘lost civilisation’ theory. Robert Bauval
and Graham Hancock argue that in 10,500 BCE (as we will see, a highly significant date to them), an
advanced culture in Egypt decided upon the ground plan of the Giza complex.l! For those authors, and
many others, this mysterious elder culture consisted of the survivors of the great catastrophe that
destroyed Atlantis. These Atlanteans were, it is asserted, incredibly sophisticated. It was their input that
created the anomalous technological wonders of the ancient world.

But much of Bauval and Hancock’s own evidence also supports the standard dating of the pyramids, so
we have to assume that this civilisation of 10,500 BCE continued in some way so that it could build the
Great Pyramid around 2500 BCE, as is generally agreed. This is a gap of 8,000 years: it is frankly
incredible that there should be no remaining traces of such a culture. If it did survive until 2500 BCE,
what became of it then?

Andrew Collins, in From the Ashes of Angels, has proposed that the elder culture that existed in Egypt
in remote antiquity took refuge, because of some catastrophe, in the mountains of Kurdistan, in such sites



as the fabulous underground city of Catal Hiiyiik, to re-emerge centuries later to pass some of their
knowledge on to the peoples of Egypt and Sumer. This would account for the sudden eruption of
civilisation in those two centres at about the same time. Even so, we are still left with the same central
problem: why come out of hiding, build some anomalously impressive structures at Giza that still defy
explanation, and then vanish again?

The other theory to account for the paradoxes of the pyramids proposes that the knowledge did not
come from a lost, human civilisation, but that it was brought to Earth by extraterrestrials. The ‘ancient
astronaut’ school of thought first came to the notice of a wide audience in the 1960s and 1970s, thanks to
the phenomenally successful books of Erich von Dédniken. Although now largely dismissed as sadly
lacking in persuasive evidence, there is no doubting the incredible influence of Chariots of the Gods?
and its sequels, nor the way that the whole concept of the gods as spacemen was enthusiastically accepted
by millions for the first time, entering irreversibly into our collective consciousness. Since von Ddniken
seized the popular imagination, others - notably Zecharia Sitchin and, more recently, Alan F. Alford -
have promoted similar ideas. This school interprets the myths of the ancient world as romanticised
memories of encounters with extraterrestrial beings and their technology. The ‘gods’ are simply
biological entities who have developed an advanced, spacefaring civilisation. It also attempts to explain
the anomalies of ancient technologies, such as the pyramids, as the result of such contact.

It is possible that there are many other inhabited planets in the universe, some of which may have
developed to a point where interstellar travel is routine. However, the evidence put forward by the
proponents of the ancient astronaut theory is far from conclusive, and by its very nature it is largely
speculative. Besides, their rather mechanistic and materialist interpretation of ancient myths - that the
gods were physical space travellers — only too often seems contrived, and completely ignores the
elements of mysticism and ineffability in the history of human religion.

While we have no overwhelming personal or logical objections to Atlantis, the elder culture or the
extraterrestrial hypotheses, we are concerned with another aspect of the ‘New Orthodoxy’. This is the
insistence that new discoveries about our past have a significance that goes well beyond merely rewriting
history. This is the claim that, in some way, the ancient Egyptian civilisation has a direct relevance to us
today, that it has left some kind of ‘message’ that will bring about real changes in our immediate future ...

Sirius revisited

One of the most influential books ever written about the mysteries of Egypt is Robert Temple’s The Sirius
Mystery, originally published in 1976, and with an extensively revised edition in 1998. As the inspiration
for writers who wished to reconsider the ancient past, this book actually spawned much of the current
New Orthodoxy.

Temple began by considering a puzzle posed by the Dogon people, who live in the West African
country of Mali. The Dogon have an elaborate system of belief that centres on the importance of the star
Sirius, which is, in galactic terms, a near neighbour. At 8.7 light years away it is the second closest star to
our own solar system. Two French anthropologists, Marcel Griaule and Germaine Dieterlen, who lived
with and studied the Dogon for many years before and after the Second World War, had noted one very
curious feature: the Dogon believed that Sirius was accompanied by another star, of incredible heaviness,



which was invisible. They called it po tolo — the po star. (Po is a tiny seed of a type of cereal known as
fonio, aptly encapsulating the smallness of the star.) In fact, it is now known that Sirius is a binary (or
perhaps even trinary) star system, and that the bright star we can see from Earth has a companion invisible
to the naked eye — or, indeed, to any but the most powerful telescopes. The existence of Sirius B, as the
companion star is known, was only suspected by astronomers in the first decades of the nineteenth
century, when anomalies in Sirius’s movements suggested the gravitational pull of a massive celestial
body nearby. It was not conclusively observed until 1842, and not photographed until 1970.

It is now known that Sirius B is a white dwarf star, one that is composed of extremely dense matter so
that, although relatively small, it still exerts a huge gravitational pull. Amazingly, the Dogon even appear
to know the period that Sirius B takes - about fifty years — to orbit around its larger companion. They
commemorate this with a special ceremony that takes place every hundred years, but it counts as fifty,
because of their peculiar ‘double-year’ calendar system.

The Dogon also claim that Sirius is, in fact, a trinary system - a third star, which they call the ‘Star of
Women’ (emme ya tolo) is also in orbit around Sirius A. When Temple wrote the original version of The
Sirius Mystery, the existence of Sirius C had, in fact, been proposed, but not conclusively proven by
astronomers. Temple claims that, since then, the existence of Sirius C has been proven and accepted by
astronomers, further evidence of the extraordinary knowledge of the Dogon.

The Dogon’s knowledge about the existence of Sirius B still mystifies. They, in fact, have an even more
extensive knowledge of the cosmos than Temple describes in his book.12 In addition to knowing about the
existence of the rings of Saturn and the major moons of Jupiter, they know that the Milky Way really
moves in the form of a spiral, that our moon is lifeless and that Earth spins on its axis. They know that the
stars are really suns - for example, their alternative name for the Star of Women (Sirius C) is yau nay
dagi, which means the ‘Little Sun of Women’.

Some sceptics have attempted to explain away the Dogon’s knowledge of Sirius by ascribing it to
itinerant Christian missionaries who felt the urge to pass this piece of somewhat anachronistic and highly
specialist knowledge on to the Dogon. In turn, the Dogon felt compelled to add it to their religion. In fact,
the first Christian mission in Mali was not established by American Protestants until 1936, when the
Sirius-based religion was already deeply embedded in Dogon culture.X2 Some, such as Robert Bauval,
have suggested that perhaps, in the recent past, Sirius B was brighter and therefore visible from the Earth.
But astrophysicists have established that this ceased to be possible tens of millions of years ago. Even if
that were the case, the two stars are so close together that at this distance they would have appeared as
one.l2

The Dogon also believe that their ancestors were taught the arts of civilisation by gods called the
Nommo - or rather demi-gods, because the Nommo were believed to have been emissaries of the one god,
Amma - who descended to Earth in an ‘ark’ in the remote past. The Nommo were described as water
spirits, who inhabited all bodies of water, from the seas to the smallest ponds. Dogon depictions of the
Nommo show them to be fishlike.

Temple argues that the myths of the Dogon actually preserved the memories of the visit of an
amphibious, extraterrestrial race, who came from a planet in the Sirius system, thus explaining both the
legend and the Dogon’s otherwise inexplicable knowledge about that star. And it was the Nommo, he
suggests, who were behind the development of human civilisation. Temple also tries to show that the
knowledge of the Dogon originated in the ancient civilisations of Egypt and Sumer, and that this once



widespread knowledge about the civilising aliens from Sirius had somehow been passed on to the Dogon
alone. In an immensely detailed, closely argued and apparently scholarly book, Temple produced
evidence from the myths and legends of ancient Egypt — besides those of Sumeria, Babylonia and Greece
— to support his case. Because of his sober and academic-sounding tone, Temple’s work was taken much
more seriously than the work of Erich von Déaniken of a few years before.

However, problems remain with The Sirius Mystery, which became the grandfather of almost all recent
books of the New Egyptology. For a start, the Dogon themselves do not specifically link the Nommo with
Sirius. This is Temple’s interpretation. It could be, for example, that the Nommo came from some other
star system, and simply told our ancestors about the true nature of the Sirius system, perhaps because they
were particularly interested in it as the brightest star in the night sky. The Dogon, in fact, claim to have
knowledge of fourteen solar systems with planets, and also say that there are many other ‘Earths’ that are
inhabited. 1° In fact, astrophysicists consider it very unlikely that the Sirius system could support planets
of any kind, let alone one capable of supporting life, given the complexities of coping with light, heat and

gravitational pulls from at least two, and possibly three, suns.

As far as Temple is concerned, Sirius C is an established, scientific fact. He cites a paper by two
French astronomers, D. Benest and J.L. Duvent, published in the journal Astronomy and Astrophysics in
July 1995, entitled ‘Is Sirius a Triple Star?’ But as the question mark suggests, the two authors are less
certain than Temple implies. Benest and Duvent review the previous claims for Sirius C — almost
entirely based on observations available in 1976, when the first edition of The Sirius Mystery was
published — and try to calculate whether or not such observations are compatible with the presence of a
third star, and then speculate on its likely properties. They conclude that measurements of anomalies in the
movements of Sirius A and B could be explained by the presence of a third star of about one-twentieth of
the mass of our sun, making it about as small as a star could be, orbiting Sirius A every 6.3 years. They do
not claim, though, that this proves the existence of Sirius C, pointing out that this can only be determined
conclusively by observing the star itself. These properties of Sirius C - the only ones possible according
to the laws of celestial mechanics - are completely different from those accorded it by the Dogon and by
Temple. And there are other problems: the measurements of the movements used by Benest and Duvent
are all ground-based, so obviously there is great potential for error - the new observations from the
Hipparchos satellite should prove more accurate.l® We checked with the European Space Agency, but it
appears that the new data about Sirius has not yet been examined for signs of Sirius C by astrophysicists.
However, we did talk to Martin Barstow, an astrophysicist at Leicester University, who has made a
special study of the Sirius system (particularly Sirius B, as he is a specialist in white dwarf stars). He
told us that, although the idea of Sirius C was intriguing and could not be ruled out, there was insufficent
evidence for its existence as yet.

So, although it is impossible to say categorically that Sirius C does not exist, neither is it true to claim
emphatically that ‘the existence of Sirius C has now been confirmed’, as Robert Temple does.1? And even
if its existence is eventually proven, its characteristics could not be remotely similar to those ascribed to
Dogon belief by Temple.

Undeniably, Sirius was deemed to be a very important star by the ancient Egyptians, for reasons that
are not entirely clear, despite the confident assertions of Egyptologists. The usual explanation is that,
because the heliacal (dawn) rising of the star occurred just before the annual, life-giving inundation of the
Nile, the Egyptians made a simplistic connection between the two events, and believed that Sirius
somehow caused the flood. This explanation is easily revealed to be nonsense. While it is true that the



heliacal rising of Sirius marked the beginning of the ancient Egyptian year, the onset of the flood was not a
regular event, and it could happen at any time within a period of over two months.2? In some years the
flood would have started before Sirius’s heliacal rising. As the yearly rising and setting of the stars fell
out of step with the seasons, the two events ceased to have any correlation early in Egypt’s recorded
history. It is assumed by Egyptologists that the calendar was fixed at a period when Sirius’s dawn rising
coincided with the inundation, but there is no proof of this. There is no way of knowing for sure why
Sirius was so important to the ancient Egyptians but there could be a very mundane explanation: it is, after
all, the brightest star in the sky.

Temple may claim that the ancient Egyptians hailed Sirius as important because beings from that solar
system bestowed the art of civilisation upon them, but his theory depends entirely on establishing that the
Egyptians, like the Dogon, knew of the existence of Sirius B. In our view, the case he presents is by no
means conclusive.

Much of Temple’s case for the ancient Egyptians knowing the ‘Sirius secret’ is based on the alleged
relationships between words in various languages and the interpretation of myths, but these often prove to
be unsatisfactory. His information about ancient Egyptian myths relies too heavily on classical writers,
rather than the ancient Egyptian sources themselves, which leads to several errors. Perhaps his greatest
mistake is in making too much of the fact that Sirius was known to the Greeks as the ‘Dog Star’. This
name arose because it was found in the constellation of Canis Major (the Great Dog), which follows
behind Orion as the constellations rise each night. To the Greeks, Orion was the hunter, so the small
constellation at its heels was taken to represent his hunting dog, hence the name given to the main star of
the constellation. 2 This is entirely a classical Greek concept, and emphatically not one that was shared
by the ancient Egyptians, for whom Sirius/Sothis was firmly the star of the goddess Isis, as well as
sometimes also being associated with Horus, her son.22 However, the Dog Star epithet leads Temple to
link this with Anubis, the dog- or jackal-headed god of the underworld, and to draw conclusions
concerning Sirius based on the myths connected with him, as well as with dogs in Greek and other
mythologies. Here we have a whole series of connections made by Temple to support his hypothesis, but
they are, in fact, based on a faulty premise.

Such is the influence of Robert Temple that his ideas, even if they are, as we have shown above,
sometimes based on flawed reasoning, often surface in the work of others. For example, Robert Bauval
and Adrian Gilbert, in their The Orion Mystery (1994), also state that Anubis was connected with Sirius,
giving as their source Robert Temple’s The Sirius Mystery!? No other source makes this claim for the
simple reason that the ancient Egyptians themselves never made any such connection.

Temple’s desire to incorporate all things doggy into his argument extends to his claim that the Great
Sphinx of Giza was not intended to represent a lion, but a recumbent dog - Anubis once more.2* That
indisputably canine god is indeed frequently depicted lying down, but the ancient Egyptians were very
specific and conservative about their iconography, and took pains always to represent them in a strictly
standard way. One of the main features of representations of Anubis was his long, bushy tail, resembling a
fox’s brush. Try as we might, we cannot distinguish the Sphinx’s tail as anything other than that of a lion.

Temple makes one particular assertion that we are surprised has gone unchallenged for many years. He
brings into his argument certain connections with the Greek god Hermes and sections of the Hermetic
literature, the highly prized books of arcane wisdom that emerged from Greek-dominated Egypt in the late
centuries BCE or the first centuries CE. Temple’s justification for making connections with the Hermetica



is the supposed ‘fact’ — repeated several times in his book — that Hermes was the Greek equivalent of
Anubis.2> This is completely wrong. Hermes was unequivocally identified with Thoth, the ibis-headed
ancient Egyptian god of wisdom and learning.?® And to make a connection with Sumerian mythology,
Temple states that ‘Anubis was not entirely a jackal or dog, he was merely jackal or dog-headed’?’
(having apparently forgotten the connection he had made between Anubis and the Sphinx!). Again, this is
simply inaccurate. Anubis was often depicted as a complete dog, lying down with a watchful expression,
most famously as found in Tutankhamun’s tomb.

Such mistakes and flawed logic, of which there are many examples in The Sirius Mystery, seriously
weaken Temple’s overall thesis that the true nature of the Sirius system was known to the ancient
Egyptians and somehow transmitted to the ancestors of the Dogon. Temple argues that the ‘secret
knowledge’ of Sirius B and of contact with its inhabitants reached the Dogon through the Garamantes, a
North African people who were in contact with the Greek-speaking world and passed on the Sirius
secret, having themselves learned it from the Egyptians, when they migrated through the area that is now
occupied by the Dogon in the 11th century CE.2 However, anthropologists consider it likely that the
Dogon did not arrive in their new homeland until the fourteenth or fifteenth centuries CE, coming from
further to the south-west, across the Niger.2

Temple makes another error, which in itself may appear to be minor and excusable, but which is of
major importance to this investigation. He analyses the origins of the word ‘ark’, which he connects with
the Egyptian arqg, meaning ‘end’ or ‘ completion’, and states that arq ur was the ancient Egyptian name for
the Sphinx,2Y a meaning that has been taken up by many of those with another agenda. But arq ur does not
mean ‘Sphinx’. The idea that it does is a mistake, which originally came from Temple’s misreading of Sir
E.A. Wallis Budge’s An Egyptian Hieroglyphic Dictionary. It is true that, against the entry for arq ur,3! it
says ‘Sphinx, 2, 8, but this is not the definition of the word, but a reference to Budge’s own source — a
French Egyptological journal called Sphinx: Revue critique embrassant le domaine entier de
I’Egyptologie. So ‘Sphinx, 2, 8’ really refers to page 8 of volume 2 of this publication. Arq ur actually
means ‘silver’, and in any case, as Budge’s source shows, the word entered into the Egyptian language
very late, being borrowed from the Greek argyros (and not, as Temple claims, the other way round).32
This slip, which seems so trivial, has serious repercussions for the beliefs of many thousands of people
today.

One very curious aspect of Temple’s The Sirius Mystery is that it attracted the attention of not only
both the American and British security services, but also the Freemasons. In the 1998 edition, Temple
describes how the Dogon mystery was first brought to his attention by his tutor and friend, the American
philosopher Arthur M. Young, in 1965.22 In 1968, when Temple decided that he wanted to study the
mystery further, Young provided him with a privately made translation of Griaule and Dieterlen’s Le
renard pale, their main work on the Dogon. Temple tells how this copy was stolen from him in London by
someone whom he later learned worked for the CIA, presumably in an attempt to interfere with his
research.2? (Temple is an American, but he has lived in Britain since the late 1960s.)

This is puzzling. Why should the CIA have wanted to stop Temple researching the Dogon enigma? Or
did they simply want to acquire a rare English translation of the French work because they somehow
perceived the Sirius mystery to be a matter of national security? Surely the CIA are not short of reliable
translators.

Even more baffling is the fact that Temple found himself the victim of a campaign of harassment by the



CIA when The Sirius Mystery was published in 1976.32 For example, they put pressure on a business
associate of his to make him break up their partnership. Temple claims that this harassment continued for
fifteen years. Why? If, like the theft of his copy of Le renard pale, it was intended to prevent his
researches, it was remarkably inept and unsuccessful; after all, it was far too late to harass him when the
book was already being sold. Neither did the input of the CIA prevent him from reissuing the book - so
what was the point? (This CIA harassment is all the more baffling because, as we will see in Chapter 5,
Temple himself is a staunch defender of that organisation.) The plot thickens when it is realised that not
only American intelligence agencies were taking an interest in the book. Temple discovered that one of
the British security services had actually commissioned a report on it - and that MI5 had carried out

security checks on him.2

Temple also relates how he was approached by a prominent American Freemason, Charles E. Webber
- an old friend of his family (who have been high-ranking Freemasons for generations) — who asked him
to become a Mason. According to Temple, Webber was not just any rank-and-file Freemason, however,
but a 33rd degree Mason, the highest rank in the Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite, the dominant form in
the United States. And he wanted Temple to join specifically so that they could discuss his book as equals
and without the risk of his revealing Masonic secrets to an outsider. Webber told him:

We are very interested in your book The Sirius Mystery. We realise you have written this without
any knowledge of the traditions of Masonry, and you may not be aware of this, but you have made
some discoveries which relate to the most central traditions at a high level, including some things

that none of us ever knew.2/

Why were the CIA, MI5 and the Freemasons so interested in Temple’s The Sirius Mystery? Indeed,
their interest by no means stopped there: these shadowy agencies lurked behind every corner as our
investigation proceeded, and their role in an insidious but very powerful conspiracy was to become
disturbingly clear.

The New Egyptology

Central to the New Orthodoxy of Egyptology is its redating of the Sphinx of Giza, that enigmatic stone
hybrid that lies downhill from the three pyramids, in its own hollowed-out enclosure. It was originally
carved out of an outcrop that protruded above the limestone bedrock, after which the builders dug out the
enclosure to fashion the body.

Its ancient name was Sheshep-ankh Atum — ‘Living Image of Atum’, the creator god — it is thought
that ‘Sphinx’ is a corruption of Sheshep-ankh.2 Among its other names were Ra-Horakhti, from Horakhti
meaning ‘Horus of the Horizon’ (Horus the hawk-headed god in his guise as the sun god Ra) and Hor-em-
Akhet, “Horus in the Horizon’, rendered in Greek as Harmarchis.2? There are many similar combinations
of the god names of Horus and Atum, representing the ancient Egyptian concept of their gods as fluid, and
dynamic, principles.

The standard theory about the Sphinx is that it was built by Khafra, who also constructed the Second
Pyramid, and carved in his likeness. This is based on the supposed resemblance between the Sphinx’s
mutilated face and a statue of Khafra in the Cairo Museum. However, analysis by forensic experts has



confirmed what is obvious to anyone with eyes - namely that the two look nothing like each other.2? In
fact, the only evidence linking it to Khafra is the Sphinx Stela, an inscribed stone plaque set up between
its paws. This describes how Thutmoses III (1479-1425 BCE), while sleeping beside the Sphinx when
out on a hunting trip, had a dream that instructed him to clear the sand away from it. At the bottom of the
stela, in hieroglyphs that have since flaked off completely, were the words: ‘Khaf ... the statue made for
Atum-Harmakhis’. Egyptologists have read ‘Khaf’ as ‘Khafra’, and extrapolated that the sentence
originally told how Khafra made the Sphinx. This is certainly wrong. From copies made of the stela it is
known that the word was not enclosed in a cartouche,?! the standard oval-shape that - as any student of
hieroglyphs learns in their first lesson — always indicates the name of a king.

It has been suggested that the head of the Sphinx was originally that of a lion - which makes perfect
sense - but was later recarved in the likeness of a reigning king or pharaoh. This theory is based on the
fact that the present head is too small for the body, though it is worth noting that, for much of its history,
the Sphinx was buried up to its neck in sand, so later Egyptians could have recarved the head without
necessarily knowing that the likeness of a lion’s body lay beneath. Significantly, the head and face of the
Sphinx are noticeably less eroded than the body, even though it has been standing up to its neck in sand for
a substantial number of years, suggesting that the head has been recarved in more recent times.

The erosion of the Sphinx triggered off a major controversy in recent years, leading to a number of new
books that reached a massive international audience. Study of the erosion on the Sphinx’s body and the
sides of the Sphinx enclosure was initiated by maverick American researcher John Anthony West, based
on observations originally made by R.A. Schwaller de Lubicz in the mid 20th century.

Usually described as a ‘philosopher’, Schwaller de Lubicz (1887-1961) was in fact an occult scholar
who lived in Egypt between 1938 and 1952, studying the symbolism of the temples, particularly at Luxor.
As a practising alchemist he was already steeped in Hermeticism and other esoteric lore and saw the
same principles embodied in the temples of pharaonic Egypt. He was particularly interested in the
numerology, mathematics and geometry of the temples, which he believed conformed to certain principles
he already understood from his occult studies. He wrote a number of books about his interpretation of the
Egyptian culture, the most comprehensive being his three-volume Le temple de [‘homme (The Temple of
Man), published in 1957. In particular he espoused a Pythagorean system in which the number nine was
the most important, and this led to his fascination with the Great Ennead of the Heliopolitan religion. He
believed that the Heliopolitan system was an expression in mythological terms of certain fundamental
principles, and translated the Egyptian neter, meaning ‘god’, as ‘principle’.#2 Schwaller de Lubicz often
spoke of the ‘Nine Principles’, which develops greater significance as our investigation proceeds.

John Anthony West first discovered the works of Schwaller de Lubicz while working on his book The
Case for Astrology (1970). After studying the works at length, West decided to write a more easily
accessible account of Schwaller de Lubicz’s theories, previously only available in rare, weighty French
tomes. West’s version was entitled Serpent in the Sky (1979).

West had noticed in Schwaller de Lubicz’s book an observation that the heavy erosion on the body of
the Sphinx was not caused by wind-blown sand, but by water. As he comments in Serpent in the Sky:

In principle, there can be no objection to the water erosion of the Sphinx, since it is agreed that in
the past, Egypt suffered radical climatic changes and periodic inundations - by the sea and (in the
not so remote past) by tremendous Nile floods. The latter are thought to correspond to the melting
of the ice from the last ice age. Current thinking puts this date around 15,000 BC, but periodic



great Nile floods are believed to have taken place subsequent to this date. The last of these floods
is dated to around 10,000 BC.%

West realised that not only could this be tested, but also that it may have other, more momentous,
implications. He wrote in 1979: ‘In other words, it is now possible to prove “Atlantis”, and
simultaneously, the historical reality of the Biblical Flood.”# (Note that both Schwaller de Lubicz and
West believed that a flood — or series of floods — had been responsible for the Sphinx’s erosion.)

After trying for some time to find a geologist to analyse the erosion, West eventually attracted the
interest of Dr Robert Schoch of Boston University. After analysing the pattern of erosion, Schoch
concluded that it had indeed been created by water — rain water.%2 His work has since been confirmed by
other geologists. When the BBC made a Timewatch television programme about the Sphinx in 1994, for
example, they commissioned their own independent geologist to check Schoch’s results, and he arrived at
the same conclusion. In fact geologists generally have been happy to agree with Schoch. Egyptologists, on
the other hand, refuse to be convinced, whatever the quality of the evidence. For example, Dr Zahi
Hawass, then Director-General of the Giza Plateau, said: ‘If geologists prove what Schoch is saying, still
in my opinion, as an Egyptologist, the date of the Sphinx is still clear to us.’4

As climatologists can pinpoint fairly accurately periods of rainfall in the past, this would help to date -
even to redate — the Sphinx. Schoch concluded, working back from the level of erosion, that the rock
forming the body of the Sphinx and the enclosure wall had been exposed to the elements between 7000
and 5000 BCE. This, of course, makes the Sphinx considerably older than mainstream Egyptologists
claim.

Schoch’s work was taken by Graham Hancock and John Anthony West to support an even earlier date
for the Sphinx. They say that Schoch, as an academic with a reputation to lose, was simply being
conservative by assigning the Sphinx’s erosion to the most recent wet period before the accepted dating of
the Sphinx.#/ In fact, Schoch had concluded that the erosion was perfectly consistent with the rainfall in
that period, writing in 1995 that his analysis led him to the conclusion that ‘the earliest portions of the
statue date back to between 7,000 and 5,000 BC’ .48

West believed that a flood had been responsible for the erosion of the Sphinx. Schoch had, in fact,
proved him just as wrong as he had the orthodox Egyptologists. This did nothing to prevent Schoch’s
findings being transmuted into ‘evidence’ for the Sphinx’s far greater antiquity. As West says: ‘You really
have to go back before 10,000 BC to find a wet enough climate in Egypt to account for the weathering on
this type and scale. It therefore follows that the Sphinx must have been built before 10,000 BC.’%

Schoch, however, disagrees, writing: ‘I think that his [West’s] estimation of the age of the Sphinx ... is

an exaggeration.”

Graham Hancock, also picking up on Schoch’s work, writes in Fingerprints of the Gods: ‘Indeed, for
two or three thousand years before and about a thousand years after 10,500 BC it rained and rained and
rained.”®! This assertion has become as enshrined as fact for the New Egyptology as much as Khafra
building the Sphinx is fact for academic Egyptologists, which makes it all the more intriguing to discover
that there was no eleventh-millennium BCE wet period. Significantly, Hancock gives no source and no
evidence for his assertion, while on the other hand there is abundant evidence that there was no such wet
period.22 Dr Sarah O‘Mara of Drylands Research at Sheffield University - the world authority on the
climate of deserts, past and present - states that up to 8000 BCE: *we have no evidence that any humans



were living in this area [Egypt]. This was an area that was very dry, very cold. It was the time of the last
Ice Age.‘iﬂ That Ice Age, which had begun around 20,000 BCE, ended in 8000 BCE, ushering in a period
that fluctuated between wetter and drier periods. And Michael Rice, in his book Egypt’s Making, writes:
‘It is probable that the Valley floor could not really have supported a substantial human civilization until
about 10,000 years ago [i.e. around 8000 BCE].’>*

The climate at the time of the Old Kingdom, when the pyramids were built, was considerably wetter
than it is today. In fact, as late as 2500 BCE, when the Great Pyramid was probably built, the annual
rainfall in Egypt was the same as parts of England today.2> Between 7000 and 5000 BCE, the climate of
Egypt was very wet. Then, after 5000 BCE, the annual rainfall began to decline steadily until shortly after
2500 BCE, when the climate stabilised into its current pattern. The height of the Nile floods declined
dramatically between 3100 and 2700 BCE, and this may have been the very reason for the emergence of
Egyptian civilisation, as before that time the floods had been too high to sustain a large population on the
Valley floor. As Michael Hoffman, the authority on pre-dynastic Egypt says: ‘For a time between 7000
and 2500 BC the deserts bloomed.”®

It has also been suggested - by Robert Temple among others2? — that the water erosion could have
been caused by the Sphinx enclosure being filled with water up to the Sphinx’s neck to make a sacred
pool. However, Schoch was perfectly specific: the erosion results from running water — rain, not a static
body of water.

Schoch’s work demonstrates convincingly that the Sphinx really is older than mainstream Egyptologists
claim, perhaps dating back as far as 7000 BCE. But even that seems to fall short for West and Hancock,
who appear to want to push it back further - specifically to 10,500 BCE. This is certainly something of a
date with destiny for those researchers, and one that they, and their colleagues, seem to us to be doing
their utmost to make us believe in. But why?

As above, so below?

Another recent theory to catch the public imagination is that of Robert Bauval, who was born in
Alexandria in Egypt of Belgian parents. He has been interested in ancient Egyptian culture — and
specifically the pyramids - for most of his life.

In 1994 he and Adrian Gilbert produced The Orion Mystery. Its main feature was Bauval’s theory that
the three pyramids of Giza were designed and built to represent the three stars of the Belt of Orion. The
fact that the three structures mimic the position of the stars of Orion’s Belt, once pointed out by Bauval
and Gilbert, is indeed evident - but is that really what the builders intended? Those authors dedicate most
of The Orion Mystery to establishing the case that it was.

The match between the pyramids and stars is not perfect, though. If the stars are superimposed on the
ground plan of the pyramids, it can be seen immediately that the correlation is only approximate. If the
two brightest stars are positioned over the Great Pyramid and Khafra’s Pyramid, then the third star fails to
align with the smallest, Menkaura’s Pyramid. (In fact, the only time that all three pyramids line up
perfectly with the stars is in graphics used in Hancock/Bauval television programmes.) Whether you
accept the Orion/Giza correlation depends on the level of accuracy you expect from the pyramid builders.



When Bauval tries to make other pyramids fit his theory, he has even less success. For example, in The
Orion Mystery he brings in the pyramids at Abu Roash, to the south of Giza, and Zawiyet-el-Aryan, to the
north (neither, incidentally, were ever completed). He maintains that they correspond with other stars in
Orion.”® However, they do not match up very persuasively. This is not, admittedly, a major problem. We
cannot be certain that the architects of this grand design intended to map out the whole of Orion on the
ground, or even that they recognised the constellation in the way we do today; it may have been just the
three stars of the Belt that they mirrored at Giza.

Apparent confirmation of Bauval’s theory of the Giza/Orion’s Belt correlation comes from the
alignments of the four small shafts running from the two main chambers - the so-called King’s and
Queen’s Chambers - within the Great Pyramid, two from each, one to the north and one to the south in
each case. These shafts run straight into the walls, before angling upwards through the main body of the
pyramid. They are very small, only a little more than 8 inches (20 cm) square. Those in the King’s
Chamber (the upper one) run diagonally up through the massive blocks of stone, right through the walls to
the outside, which has given rise to their official designation as air shafts. Those running from the Queen’s
Chamber are rather stranger, since they neither exit into the open air on the outside, nor open into the
chamber itself. They were discovered behind the walls of the chamber in 1872.
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It has been recognised since the early 1960s that these shafts may have been designed to point towards
certain stars significant to the ancient Egyptians.?2 The shaft going north from the King’s Chamber, for
example, appears to have been ‘targeted’ on the star Thuban, in the constellation of Draconis, the northern
pole star in the Pyramid Age. It has also been suggested that the southern shaft that runs from the King’s
Chamber was targeted on the stars of Orion’s Belt. If so, this would add support to the idea that the
pyramids were built to represent them. Bauval calculated that, around 2475 BCE, the southern King’s

Chamber shaft would have aligned with the lowest and brightest star of Orion’s Belt, Al Nitak.20



In recent years huge controversy has centred on discoveries - and rumours of discoveries - on the Giza
plateau, and especially within the Great Pyramid. Certainly the excitement generated in 1993 with the
discovery of a tiny door in the Great Pyramid shows no signs of abating. The Internet rumour machine is
still very busy spinning tales, which may or may not be founded in fact. In March 1993 a German
engineer, Rudolf Gantenbrink, sent a robot fitted with a video camera from the Queen’s Chamber into both
shafts. Then, now famously, the robot — called Upuaut 2 (after the ancient Egyptian god who was
‘Opener of the Way’) — encountered what appeared to be a very small door blocking the shaft, complete
with handles and an intriguing gap beneath. A door of any size implies that something lies behind it. What
could it be? Imaginations have been fevered ever since, but the general consensus is that some kind of
chamber lies behind ‘Gantenbrink’s Door’. At the time of writing — nearly six years after Gantenbrink’s
discovery - we are still waiting to find out where that door leads.

Gantenbrink’s data had another use: it was seized upon by Robert Bauval, who saw it as a vindication
of his theory, developed in the late 1980s, that the southern shaft from the Queen’s Chamber was designed
to align with Sirius. From the angle of the shaft he could now calculate where it had been pointing when
the pyramid was built. From these new alignments, Bauval estimated that it had been constructed around
2450 BCE.%! Tronically, this would make it about a century younger than mainstream Egyptologists think,
erring in the wrong direction for the New Orthodoxy. (Recent carbon dating results tend to indicate that
the Great Pyramid is even older, perhaps by as much as four centuries. 52) Bauval was so enthusiastic
about Gantenbrink’s discovery that he took it upon himself to make the announcement to the world’s media
in early April 1993.%3

However, some of Bauval’s assumptions are open to question. For example, he presents a very circular
argument that uses the stellar alignments of the shafts to prove the date of the Great Pyramid, but also
relies on this date to prove that the shafts have stellar alignments. There is also an anomaly concerning the
dates indicated by the two shafts: the Queen’s Chamber shaft would (according to Bauval’s calculations)
have been perfectly aligned with Sirius around 2400 BCE, whereas the higher King’s Chamber shaft was
perfectly aligned with Al Nitak some seventy-five years earlier. It was therefore impossible for both
shafts to have been pointing to ‘their’ stars at the same time. But then perhaps we — and Robert Bauval
— are expecting the ancient Egyptians to have been overprecise. After all, seventy-five years would have
meant a mere fraction of a degree difference in alignment. All in all, Bauval’s ideas are certainly bold and
challenging, though we have serious reservations about their wider implications.

Bauval’s theory has become one of the standard lines of the New Egyptology. Rarely is it questioned
among readers or researchers in this field. However, one outspoken critic is none other than Rudolf
Gantenbrink himself, who attacks Bauval for using his data to support his theory of alignments with Sirius,
a theory that, in any case, Gantenbrink rejects. In August 1998 he told us:

His theories are pure nonsense, and they are largely disproved. He uses the wrong data for the

angle of the shafts ... and the astronomical data are even more hazardous. There is no solid

academic base for his theories whatsoever.%

Gantenbrink points out that the concept that the shafts were intended to align with any star depends on
them being straight, but they only appear to be so when the Great Pyramid is shown in a north-south cross-
section. In fact, all the shafts have bends from left to right - that is, from east to west. In the case of the
two shafts running from the King’s Chamber, neither end (in the chamber and outside) is in line with the
other. (The shafts from the Queen’s Chamber do not reach the exterior of the pyramid.)



Bauval’s theory requires the shafts to be as straight as rulers, directed at a specific point in the sky. If,
as is the case, the shafts have kinks in them, it seems unlikely that they would have been intended to point
at any particular heavenly body. As Gantenbrink told us: ‘So any star alignment ... could only work on the
side view, but never in three-dimensional reality.” Gantenbrink’s somewhat dramatic conclusion based on
his review of the flaws in Bauval’s data is that ‘“The star alignment is simply a HOAXY’

Bauval’s announcement to the world’s media of the discovery of the door also attracts comment from
Gantenbrink. Certainly, Bauval completely sidestepped the usual protocol. The news should never have
been released without the permission of the people for whom Gantenbrink was working at the time, the
German Archaeological Institute in Cairo and the Egyptian Supreme Council of Antiquities. Bauval gives
as his reason for such unilateral action his great frustration with the dilatoriness of the Egyptian and
German authorities in announcing the discovery. In his view, they were dragging their feet, and he felt that
people should know — yet his first approach to the media was just fourteen days after Gantenbrink made
his discovery! What was the real reason for Bauval’s haste in making the announcement to the world?

Gantenbrink has no doubts about Bauval’s motivation. He told us: ‘This was a clever PR campaign.
Without my discovery, we simply would not know a guy called Robert Bauval.” Gantenbrink goes further:
he even blames Bauval’s premature and unauthorised release of his news to the press for the Egyptian
authorities’ refusal to allow him to continue his work in the Great Pyramid.

We had been intrigued to discover that the idea that the southern shaft from the Queen’s Chamber
aligned with Sirius appeared in Masonic literature dating from at least the late nineteenth century.®2 At the
time we were impressed. Was Bauval’s work confirmation that Freemasons have long possessed secret
information about the pyramids? We put the idea that Bauval’s work would demonstrate this unexpected
knowledge to Gantenbrink, who responded: ‘It would, but it doesn’t! It only indicates where Bauval got
his idea from.’

The alleged alignments are only part of Bauval’s attempt to link his theory with a much more remote
period of Egypt’s history. Bauval accepts that the Giza pyramids were built around 2450 BCE, more or
less the time proposed by Egyptologists (who in fact say they are a century older). But he notes that the
three pyramids were not a perfect match for the stars at that time: the pyramids are oriented at 45 degrees
to a north-south meridian running through Giza, so for the three stars of Orion’s Belt to properly match the
groundplan of Giza they should also be positioned at an angle of 45 degrees to the celestial meridian.®
This crossing of the celestial meridian occurs when the stars are exactly due south - when they are at their
highest point in the sky (‘culminating’ in astronomical terminology). But Bauval noted that Orion’s Belt
was not aligned at 45 degrees to the celestial meridian at the time that he believes the pyramids were

built.

However, because of the precession of the equinoxes the constellations change in orientation over the
course of centuries. Bauval, assuming that the builders deliberately mismatched the pyramids with the
stars, decided to find out when they actually did align. He concluded that:

It is not until 10,500 BC ... — 8000 years before the ‘Pyramid Age’ - that the perfect correlation is
finally achieved with the Nile mirroring the Milky Way and with the three Pyramids and the belt
stars identically disposed in relation to the meridian.®?

He therefore hypothesised that either the groundplan of the pyramids had been laid out at that time - even

if they were not actually constructed for another 8000 years - or that the builders were trying to tell us
something about the epoch of 10,500 BCE.



There are problems with this. Even Robin J. Cook, who worked with Bauval and provided the
diagrams for The Orion Mystery, takes issue with his conclusions. In his The Horizon of Khufu (1996),
Cook examined the same question and stated emphatically: ‘... this was not the case in 10,450 BC.’® In
fact, Cook found a correlation that did fit Orion’s Belt in the ‘Giza position’ in 2450 BCE.% Cook
disagrees that the Giza complex was intended to pinpoint the year 10,500 BCE, and it must be said
unequivocally that his evidence is much more persuasive than Bauval’s. But even so, do we have to take
Cook’s word for this? Unfortunately for Bauval’s tidy theory, this is very easy to double-check — when
we did so, we discovered that Cook is right. Using the same astronomical computer simulation as Bauval
- SkyGlobe 3.6 - we discovered that the stars of Orion’s Belt were emphatically not in the ‘Giza’ position
at the spring equinox in 10,500 BCE (nor at any other time when it culminated in that epoch).Z In fact, it
is very easy to tell when Orion’s Belt is at a 45 degree angle to the meridian, as at this moment Saiph —
the ‘left leg’ star of Orion — is directly below Al Nitak, the most easterly (left) of the three stars of
Orion’s Belt.Z! In fact, for it to culminate in the ‘Giza position’ you have to go back to about 12,000 BCE
— and even then, it does not culminate at the significant moment of dawn on the spring equinox.

Does this mean that Bauval merely slipped up in his calculations by 1,500 or so years? Anyone can
make a mistake. And does this just mean that Bauval’s putative advanced civilisation laid out the
pyramids in 12,000 BCE rather than 10,500 BCE? Tempting though it is to ascribe this ‘slip’ to human
error, there is in fact much more at stake here. Once again — as with Hancock’s non-existent eleventh-
millennium BCE ‘wet period’ - we find a high-profile New Egyptologist desperately trying to prove that
10,500 BCE was in some way highly significant, even when the facts indicate otherwise.

While we appear to have two - apparently persuasive - independent lines of evidence, both
astronomical and geological, converging on the date 10,500 BCE, both can easily be seen to be based on
a distortion of the facts. Bauval reveals his enthusiastic belief that the two lines of research reinforce each
other in the television documentary The Mysterious Origins of Man (1996) in which he states:

We’re finding that the astronomy is leading us to conclude that the Sphinx was erected in 10,500
BC, and this matches exactly with the ideas that have been developed in the geological analysis of
the Sphinx. So there are two hard sciences now indicating that the Sphinx could be very old, and
going back to the 11th millennium BC.
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A ground plan of the Giza pyramids. They lie at approximately 45
degrees to the north-south meridian.

Opposite: Above — The culmination of the constellation of Orion in
10,500 BCE. Note that the stars of Orion’s Belt are not in the ‘Giza
position’. Below — Orion as it should appear in the ‘Giza position’. This
has not happened since approximately 12,000 BCE.
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We have seen that in fact the astronomy does no such thing where the pyramids are concerned, and that it
provides no support for the redating of the Sphinx.

A date with destiny

In 1996 Robert Bauval and Graham Hancock teamed up to write Keeper of Genesis, which develops the
argument in favour of 10,500 BCE and elaborates on its significance. Much of their hypothesis is based
on astronomical correlations between the Giza complex, descriptions of celestial events in the Pyramid
Texts and the sky as it would have appeared in 10,500 BCE. Having reached that key date from just two



dubious lines of argument — the ‘match’ between the Giza pyramids and Orion’s Belt and the water
erosion of the Sphinx from the alleged wet period of the eleventh millennium BCE — they begin to
extrapolate the meaning,

A key point of their argument is based on the idea that the Sphinx as a recumbent lion is intended to
represent the constellation of Leo, which also implies that the ancient Egyptians recognised the signs of
the zodiac in the same terms that we do today. There is no evidence for this, but for the sake of the
argument let us accept that the Sphinx could have been intended to represent Leo. It carries a certain logic.

As the Sphinx faces directly east, Bauval and Hancock assume that it was intended to look towards its
heavenly counterpart on the day that it rose with the sun exactly east, which only happened on the two
annual equinoxes, at spring and autumn. Traditional astrology counts the spring equinox as the more
important of the two. The astronomical Ages - of Pisces, Aquarius, and so on — are defined by the
section of the sky (or astrological house) identified with the constellation against which the sun rises on
the spring equinox at a given period. Because of the precession of the equinoxes, this constellation
changes about every 2,160 years. For most of the last 2,000 years the sun has risen in Pisces, so we are
said to be in the Age of Pisces. Next will come the Age of Aquarius. In 10,500 BCE the world was in the
Age of Leo, which is why Hancock and Bauval believe the Sphinx was carved in the shape of a lion.

Such steps in their argument are only assumptions, which may or may not be valid. None constitutes
proof, and there is no independent evidence to support any of them. We can accept each of them
individually ‘for the sake of argument’, but remain cautious about any conclusions drawn from them, since
we can by no means be sure of the basic premise.

Hancock and Bauval argue that 10,500 BCE represents the fabled First Time (tep zepi) when the
ancient Egyptians believe their civilisation began. On the Sphinx Stela the Sphinx of Giza is described as,
among other things, ‘presider over ... the splendid place of the First Time’,”2 showing that Giza was
associated in some way with tep zepi. Bauval and Hancock bolster their argument with computer
simulations of the sky as it appeared in 10,500 BCE, finding other significant correlations that happened
in or around that year. In fact several of these correlations actually happened not at one moment but on a
whole range of dates, often several centuries on either side of 10,500 BCE. So why are they still homing

in on that particular point in time?

Bauval and Hancock’s method was to find significant correlations between the stars and constellations
in which they are interested — Orion, Leo, Sirius and the Sun - and to use them as added proof that the
Giza complex was laid out specifically to ‘encode’ the importance of the year 10,500 BCE. But again,
this is circular reasoning: they are only looking for correlations that happened in that year. Their logic for
choosing that year in the first place is manifestly wrong.

To demonstrate this, we used SkyGlobe 3.6, the same computer sky map program they used, to find
correlations in the year 8700 BCE that, by Bauval and Hancock’s reasoning, could be just as significant.
For example, on the spring equinox of that year the sun rises at exactly the same moment as Regulus, the
brightest star in Leo, which Bauval and Hancock call its ‘heart’. The sun, in fact, covers Regulus at the
moment of sunrise. And, at exactly the same moment in the south, Orion’s Belt is in the ‘Giza position’ (as
given by Robin J. Cook). If that had happened in 10,500 BCE, it could have been used as evidence that
the year was especially significant.

It is curious that Hancock and Bauval should construct such a complicated (and contrived) argument to
explain the astronomical significance of the Sphinx and its relationship with Leo, since there is a much



simpler explanation - one that was originally suggested by none other than R.A. Schwaller de Lubicz.

He pointed out that, throughout most of Egypt’s early history, on the day of the first heliacal rising of
Sirius - their New Year’s Day, the most sacred day of their calendar - the sun rose in Leo.”2 Checking
Schwaller de Lubicz’s idea using SkyGlobe, we found it to be correct. Between about 6000 BCE and
2500 BCE the sun did rise in Leo on the day of Sirius’s first heliacal rising. Therefore, if the Sphinx was
intended to represent Leo, and was made to look eastwards towards the dawn and its heavenly
counterpart, this would provide a much more logical - and considerably less convoluted - reason for its
construction than the idea that its purpose was to pinpoint the year 10,500 BCE. This explanation also has
the advantage of fitting Robert Schoch’s water erosion theory, which dates the Sphinx to between 7000
and 5000 BCE.

There is a major puzzle here. It was Schwaller de Lubicz — that great hero of Hancock, Bauval and
West — who made these observations, so clearly they must know about them. Yet none of these authors so
much as mentions this alternative explanation, clearly preferring to promote their own 10,500 BCE
agenda.

The crucial point of Keeper of Genesis, however, was the ‘discovery’ of the existence of a secret
chamber beneath the hindquarters of the Sphinx, as ‘revealed’ by astronomical correlations. 24 Although
meant to be the great revelation of the book, this is in fact its weakest point. At the spring equinox in
10,500 BCE, Leo rose directly east of the Sphinx, and therefore lay immediately under its gaze. At this
moment the sun lies below the horizon, 12 degrees below Leo’s hind quarters. Bauval and Hancock
assume that this is what the ancient Egyptians were trying to draw our attention to. Their so-called
‘Genesis Chamber’ can be found in an analogous position, a hundred feet under the Sphinx. What secrets
would it hold!

Even if their arguments about the importance of 10,500 BCE were correct - and we have already seen
that they lack firm foundations - why do they assume that this is connected with some coded message, sent
across time to reveal the location of a completely hypothetical chamber? (On a more logical basis one
could argue that the Sphinx might be looking at something of great significance. Follow its gaze today,
however, and you find a Pizza Hut/Kentucky Fried Chicken outlet.)

There have been many criticisms of Bauval and Hancock’s astronomical hypothesis. During a 1998
lecture cruise around the coast of Alaska, Hancock found himself in the unusual position of being
criticised by a fellow speaker, the leading archaeoastronomer Dr E.C. Krupp of the Griffith Observatory
in California. He pointed out the flaws in the central argument of Keeper of Genesis, specifically that the
Sphinx should be on the other side of the Nile for their claimed identification of Horakhti (another name
for the Sphinx) with the constellation of Leo to work. Afterwards, Krupp reported his frustration that
Hancock countered such challenges by evoking “artistic licence’ on the part of the ancient builders.Z2

Hancock’s major hypothesis is that there was an advanced civilisation before the last Ice Age, which
came to an end around 10,500 BCE as the result of some global cataclysm that brought about the melting
of the ice and the rising of sea levels. He claims that knowledge from that civilisation survived, filtering
through to later cultures and resulting, for example, in the building of the pyramids some 8,000 years
afterwards.



~h

\s

Angkor Wat

Above: Top - A ground plan of the temples of Angkor.
Below - The correlation between the constellation of Draco
and Angkor, according to Graham Hancock.



Angkor Wat

Opposite: The closest match possible between Draco and Angkor.

Hancock has continued to expound this theory and the alleged significance of 10,500 BCE in his book
(co-written with his wife, Santha Faiia) Heaven’s Mirror (1998) and the Channel 4/Discovery Channel
television series Quest for the Lost Civilization. In both, he demonstrates the ubiquity of the significance
of the date throughout the ancient world by examining the most colourful and mysterious sites in Europe,
Central and South America, Egypt and the Far East. At all of these places he finds astronomical
alignments that fit his theory, although when we double-checked they appeared to us to be highly
contrived, very debatable — or often simply wrong.

A prime example of this questionable theorising concerns the magnificent Cambodian city of Angkor,
the centrepiece of which is the vast Hindu temple of Angkor Wat, the largest religious building the world
has ever known. Angkor was the capital city of the Khmer Empire that dominated Indo-China between
800 and 1500 CE. The city itself is surrounded by an enormous array of other temples and shrines, all
staggeringly beautiful and superbly crafted.

Hancock seized upon Angkor as a perfect example of ‘as above, so below’ — the ancient idea that the
heavens were in some way mirrored on Earth. He claims that certain of the temples and shrines were
deliberately positioned to represent the northern constellation of Draco (the Dragon), in much the same
way as he believes the pyramids at Giza mirror the stars of Orion’s Belt. He says that not only do the
buildings reflect the composition of Draco but that the orientation of the groundplan was intended to show
the constellation as it would have been at dawn on the spring equinox in - not too surprisingly - 10,500

BCE.Z6

A pause for thought reveals that Hancock’s Angkor scenario is surely the least credible of all of his
examples supporting the 10,500 BCE theory. For a start, Angkor was a brand new city, created by the
Khmers after their rise to power in the ninth century CE. Most of its temples date from after the year 1000
CE; Angkor Wat, for example, was built as late as the twelfth century. Hancock has claimed that the
pyramids had been laid out according to a grand design that had been created 8000 years before. This
stretches credulity to breaking point. Surely even the most robust mystery school tradition, in which secret
plans were handed down to initiates from generation to generation, would have had major problems in
keeping such an agenda alive over such a huge number of years. Now we are asked to believe that the
same master plan was put into effect at Angkor, 3,500 years after the pyramids were built and 11,500



years after the plan was first created.

The so-called alignment between Angkor and Draco does not in fact exist. Hancock has been very
selective, taking only certain of the temples to use in his groundplan and leaving all those that fail to fit his
scheme out of the picture entirely — but even so the resulting shape only roughly corresponds to Draco.
Individual temples and individual stars simply do not match up, yet Hancock is claiming that the builders
somehow created precise matches between them.

The ease with which, in our view, Hancock’s theories can be discredited does a great disservice to the
very subject that he is ostensibly trying to promote: serious debate about the undoubtedly real mysteries of
mankind’s ancient past. In the very act of dismissing them there is a danger of throwing out the baby with
the bath water, of rejecting any daring new hypothesis about our past, and of condemning the original
evidence - the anomalies that intrigued Hancock in the first place. It would be a terrible shame to let
dubious theorising bring the whole field into disrepute: there are real mysteries and challenges to the
accepted historical paradigm. Academia does not have all the answers.

The work of both Bauval and Hancock is riddled with subjectivity, with an insistence on the
importance of the year 10,500 BCE, although almost all of the arguments in its favour simply cannot be
supported. Despite the flaws in their arguments, they appear to be convinced that something of great
historic significance happened then, something that has a relevance to us today.

Selling Cayce

A clue may lie in the prophecies of America’s ‘Sleeping Prophet’, the psychic Edgar Cayce (1877-1945).
Both Bauval and Hancock make apparently casual allusions to him without actually endorsing his psychic
information.

According to the standard story - which, as we will see, only approximates to the whole truth — Cayce
was an ordinary, God-fearing Kentucky-born citizen who wanted to be a minister but failed to show the
required aptitude for book learning. He became a stationery salesman, but his public reputation grew from
his talent for falling into trances - ‘sleeping’ — and while in that altered state, diagnosing illnesses and
advising on treatment. This later expanded into him giving ‘life readings’, either for individuals or to a
circle of followers, in which he predicted the future and gave information about the past. Interestingly,
while in normal consciousness his views were those of a mainstream Christian, but while entranced he
frequently told of past lives — reincarnation — and claimed to have once been a high-ranking priest of
ancient Egypt himself, one Ra Ta.

According to Cayce, the civilisation of Atlantis flourished for some 200,000 years, and finally came to
an end around 10,500 BCE. He claimed that some of the survivors travelled to Egypt, where they built the
Sphinx and the Great Pyramid between 10,490 and 10,390 BCE. This was also linked to an exodus from
the Caucasian Mountains to Egypt, led by Cayce’s previous incarnation Ra Ta, displacing the original,
yellow-skinned natives of that country. The Atlanteans arrived in Egypt shortly afterwards.”

Cayce’s influence on the New Egyptologists extends well beyond sketchy details of a putative past life.
He was responsible for the introduction of the single most emotive theme to run through many of the most
recent high-profile books about Egypt: the idea of the Hall of Records, a hidden chamber somewhere in



Egypt, containing ancient records of mankind, perhaps including the secrets of Atlantis. According to
Cayce the refugee Atlanteans arrived in Egypt after the sinking of the island in 10,700 BCE, bringing with
them the records of their civilisation. In 10,500 BCE these were deposited in the ‘Hall of Records’, also
called the ‘Pyramid of Records’ - an underground pyramid. These contain ‘the records of the people of
One God from the beginning of man’s entrance into the earth’.”8 The Hall of Records, enclosed in its
underground pyramid, lies between the Sphinx and the Nile, connected by a passage running from the right
forepaw of the Sphinx - according to Cayce.

In our present fin de siecle era, a rising Hall of Records hysteria is carefully being whipped up by
books, videos and the instant whispering machine of the Internet. Where is this fabled place located?
What does it contain? Who will find it - and what will happen when they do? Already this has become, in
every possible sense, the modem quest for the Holy Grail: the ancient, elusive object of the heart’s desire
is somewhere waiting to be found by the select few, like the mythical Grail knights, who will suffer and
fight in order to find it and unlock its secrets. Some will no doubt die in the attempt, but the Chosen will
eventually win through, and when the Grail Hall is uncovered, somehow magically the whole of our
civilisation will be transformed. We shall understand our past and even our future. We shall suddenly see
humankind for what it is, and know the truth about the gods. Oh how we shall be glad, and be grateful to
the Grail Hall knights who bring these secrets to us! And because they are chosen, and we are not, we
shall see them in the new light of the gods themselves.

The basis of this comes from Cayce. He linked the finding of the Hall of Records to the triggering of
global changes: ‘After the end of the cycle [in 1998], there is to be another change in the earth’s position,
with the return of the Great Initiate for the culmination of the prophecies.’”2 He also said that 1998 marks
the beginning of the ‘time of preparation for the coming of the Master of the World’.22 Many have
associated this statement with the Second Coming of Jesus, although perhaps it is strange that Cayce, of
all people, did not explicitly do so himself. In fact, he also believed it referred to the emergence of a new
race of human beings.8! According to the Sleeping Prophet the end result will be:

With the changes that will be wrought, true Americanism, the universal thought that is expressed
and manifested in the brotherhood of man, as in the Masonic order, will be the eventual rule in the

settlement of affairs in the world.82

Cayce may have been right, and any person who bravely throws himself behind the prophecies may have
the right idea. Certainly, neither of us has any objection in principle to the idea of accurate psychic
prediction or the miraculous, nor to the idea that information from our very remote past may impinge in
some real and even apocalyptic way on our own times. If Cayce was right then all eyes should be turned
to the various expeditions that, overtly and covertly, are now seeking to locate the Hall of Records. But
that depends on whether Cayce was right ...

Of all his ‘readings’, collected from 1909 onwards, 14,249 have been preserved for posterity, but
despite claims by his followers that his predictions are almost entirely accurate — close to one hundred
per cent’8 — it is actually hard to find one that is! Edgar Cayce must have one of the most dismal track

records of any alleged prophet.

For example, in February 1932 he was asked to give predictions of the most significant events over the
next fifty years. Cayce predicted the ‘breaking up of many powers’ in 1936.84 When asked to be more
specific about which powers, he named Russia, the United States, Japan and the United Kingdom.
Astonishingly, Cayce’s supporters regard this as a success, claiming that it accurately foretells the



beginning of the events that would lead to the Second World War. In Edgar Cayce on Prophecy, produced
by the Association for Research and Enlightenment (ARE), the organisation of Cayce followers, Mary
Ellen Carter points out that the following events happened in 1936: the abdication crisis in Britain; the
start of the Spanish Civil War; the first of Stalin’s great purges in Russia; and the formation of the
German-Ttalian fascist alliance.22 Only two of these events happened in countries singled out by Cayce,
and it is certainly debatable whether the British abdication crisis constitutes ‘the breaking up’ of the
nation. The most significant events concerning the imminent global conflict were those in Spain and the
German-Italian alliance - but Cayce had mentioned none of these countries. Even then, none of this
constitutes a great ‘breaking up of powers’ in 1936. And what happened to the Second World War? Cayce
simply did not predict the coming global conflict.

If ‘readings’ highlighted by the followers of Edgar Cayce for their amazing accuracy look doubtful
when placed under scrutiny, on other occasions, he could be even vaguer. When asked in 1932 about the
outcome of Gandhi’s campaign for Indian independence, he replied that it ‘depends on individuals’.8% And
during the Second World War, someone asked him ‘What is Hitler’s destiny?’ to which the great prophet
answered ‘Death!”®’ At least here he had every chance of being ‘close to one hundred per cent’ accurate.
But astonishingly, it was regarded as another of his successes. In 1943, Cayce predicted that within
twenty-five years — i.e. by 1968 - China would not only become more democratic, but also Christian.
Astoundingly, this was published in an ARE book in 1968, which implicitly argues that what Cayce really
meant was that China would be purged by Maoism and civil war so that democracy and Christianity
would be able to take root.88 Perhaps it is time to cross that prophecy off the list as well.

Another much-vaunted prediction concerns the re-emergence of the sunken Atlantis. On 28 June 1940,
Cayce made one of his most famous pronouncements: ‘Poseidia [one of his terms for Atlantis] to rise
again. Expect it in *68 or ‘69. Not so far away!’® This prediction, it was claimed, was fulfilled when an
enigmatic roadlike stone feature, which could have been manmade, was discovered under the water off
the coast of Bimini Island in the Bahamas in 1969. Had the discovery of the ‘Bimini Road’ made Cayce’s
prediction come true? Perhaps. But according to Andrew Collins and Simon Cox, several of the key
figures who discovered the Bimini Road were hardly disinterested, as they were members of ARE,
specifically looking for some form of confirmation of Cayce’s readings about Atlantis and the Bahamas.%
Moreover, the Bimini Islanders had known about the road for years and had actually offered to show it to
the ‘discoverers’. In any case, the discovery of some — admittedly tantalising — anomalous features off
the Bimini coast hardly constitutes the ‘rising’ of Atlantis.

Cayce also predicted that the secret of how the Great Pyramid was built would be revealed - in 1958.21
If it was disclosed, it must be the best-kept secret of all time. Most of us are still waiting.

Over the centuries many prophecies from people of all beliefs and walks of life have come true. To
receive due honour and recognition prophets need evidence of some accuracy. Where Cayce was
concerned, apart from some impressive medical ‘readings’, this evidence is sadly lacking. The fact that
someone is highly successful with one psychic skill does not automatically mean that they have an equal
talent in other psychic areas.

In 1931 Edgar Cayce founded the Association for Research and Enlightenment (ARE) to promote his
life’s work, with its headquarters at Virginia Beach, Virginia. This remained a fairly small and
underfunded organisation until well after his death in 1945. In the early 1970s there seems to have been a
sudden influx of wealthy members. ARE is now a rich and powerful body, which has funded



archaeological work in Egypt and elsewhere to try to substantiate Cayce’s claims. In fact, ARE has had a
major role in shaping modern Egyptology of both mainstream and new varieties. We have seen how
Cayce’s insistence on the significance of 10,500 BCE has crept into major works of the New Orthodoxy
camp, and their highly flawed evidence for this is now trotted out as fact by most other writers of the
genre. But Cayce and ARE also stand behind at least two major figures from the — apparently - opposite

camp.

Mark Lehner - who built the mini pyramid for Secrets of Lost Empires — is the most prominent
American Egyptologist stationed in Egypt today. He is highly respected internationally. His 1997 book
The Complete Pyramids was hailed as a masterly overview of an only too often thorny subject, and was
promoted by many major museums, including the British Museum. It is less well known that in 1974 he
wrote a book for ARE entitled The Egyptian Heritage, based on the Edgar Cayce Readings, which
attempted to reconcile Cayce’s pronouncements with the findings of modern Egyptology. According to
Lehner in his early days, the Great Pyramid was built as a repository of knowledge, and a ‘Temple of
Initiation for the White Brotherhood’ .22

In 1973 Edgar Cayce’s son, Hugh Lynn Cayce, selected the promising young student Lehner to be
ARE’s ‘insider’ within the ranks of academic Egyptology, and it was ARE that paid for his training.23
They also funded his recent carbon-dating tests of material taken from the Great Pyramid* (which seems
to indicate that it is about 300 or 400 years older than was thought - but not the 8,000 hoped for by ARE).
Today he no longer advocates Cayceism, and appears not to espouse any ‘alternative’ views, now being
very much a mainstream Egyptologist. Perhaps it was as a sly dig at his own past associations with ARE

that he recently criticised what he calls ‘New Age archaeology, inspired by revealed information’.2

But Mark Lehner is not the only person on the Giza Plateau to have reason to be grateful to ARE.
Amazingly, that arch-enemy of all pyramidiots, Dr Zahi Hawass — who since 1987 has been in the
powerful position of Director of the Giza Plateau and who was recently promoted to Undersecretary of
State for the Giza Monuments - was also put through his training as an Egyptologist by ARE. Through
fellow ARE members, Hugh Lynn Cayce arranged a scholarship for Hawass at the University of
Pennsylvania between 1980 and 1987, where he gained his Ph.D. in Egyptology.2® Hawass has maintained
his association with ARE ever since, and is a regular lecturer at their conferences at their Virginia Beach
headquarters.

It is, to say the least, interesting that the two most prominent and influential representatives of
Egyptological orthodoxy at Giza are linked to Edgar Cayce’s organisation.

First and last times

Robert Bauval and Graham Hancock seem to be particularly keen for us to believe that there was
something special about the year 10,500 BCE, perhaps because of the prophecies of Edgar Cayce. Cayce
also predicted major events for the future, especially beginning in 1998. Bauval and Hancock also attach
great importance to the year 2000 - although, once again, their reasons for doing so appear, on the
evidence, to be distinctly questionable.

Like many others, those authors believe that the year 2000 will mark the end of the Age of Pisces and



the beginning of the Age of Aquarius, with corresponding influences over world events. The dominant
religion of the current Age of Pisces - represented by two fish - has been Christianity, which has a fish as
one of its symbols. Back in the Age of Taurus, we are told, bull cults - such as that of Apis in Egypt —
were in the ascendant, as was the worship of ram gods during the Age of Aries.

This is a very Western-centred viewpoint. Christianity has dominated Europe for most of the Age of
Pisces, but it can hardly be said to have ruled the world for much of that time. It did not reach the
Americas, for instance, until the sixteenth century, nor did Christian missionaries start spreading the word
in Asia until much before the seventeenth century, and its expansion in Africa came even later. On the
other hand, although this period also saw the rise of another major religion — Islam - its emergence in the
seventh century corresponded to no change in astrological Ages.

There is a great deal of debate among astrologers about exactly when one Age gives way to the next,
because the constellations are of different sizes and the sun takes a varied number of years to pass through
them. And when the sun is midway between two constellations, exactly when is it deemed to pass from
one ‘house’ to the next? In fact, astrologers do not think at all in terms of an abrupt, immediate switch
from one Age to another, but rather of periods of transition, or overlap, in which the influence of one Age
gradually fades away while the new one gains in strength. It is therefore nonsensical to talk about any one
year as the year of change: we will not emerge from our collective mother-of-all hangovers on 1 January
2000 and find ourselves abruptly plummeted into the Age of Aquarius. Few astrologers would even place
its advent around the year 2000, although many have suggested that its influence is already beginning to be
felt. Most estimate that we will be unequivocally in the Age of Aquarius about three centuries from now,

around 2300. Some would even put it as far off as 2700.%

Bauval and Hancock seem particularly keen to convince us of the astrological significance of the year

2000, although their data produce some odd results when calculated back to previous Ages. The dates

they provide in Keeper of Genesis® are:

Pisces 160 BcE-2000 cE
Aries 2320 Bce-160 BCE
Taurus 4480 scE-2320 BCE
Gemini 6640 scE-4480 BCE
Cancer 8800 sce—6640 BCE
Leo 10,960 Bce-8800 BCE

They arrived at this table by working 2,160 years back to the start of each previous Age, beginning
with the year 2000, but this produces some very bizarre results. For example, in 8800 BCE — which they
say is the end of the Age of Leo - the sun was resolutely rising within Leo at the spring equinox, and did
not pass out of that constellation until 300 years later. This can easily be verified.

There is more. Extraordinarily, Bauval and Hancock seriously contradict themselves in the very same
book. They argue that the correlations between pyramids, Sphinx and the heavens in 10,500 BCE, which
they believe marks the date of the First Time, was also the beginning of the Age of Leo.2 If that is true,
then — by their own reasoning - the Age of Aquarius will not begin until 2460! They seem so obsessed
with attaching significance to both dates -10,500 BCE and the year 2000 - that, as far as any objective
reader is concerned, they actually create a curiously irrational double-think. When they are arguing for the
significance of 10,500 BCE they use one argument, but when they argue for 2000 CE they use quite



another, without apparently realising that both arguments are mutually exclusive. But why bother? Why
should they go to such lengths to argue for these particular dates? Could it have anything to do with the
prophecies of Edgar Cayce, in which both dates are very significant?

Another reason why Bauval and Hancock attach importance to 10,500 BCE is its astronomical
associations. That date is roughly half a precessional cycle (a little under 13,000 years) away from our
own era. This means that the constellations at the spring equinox are now the mirror image of what they
were at ‘the First Time’, although this will not be completed for another four or five centuries. However,
Bauval and Hancock take this as a sign that the world is moving into what they call ‘the Last Time’.1%
Although we are unclear about the precise meaning of their term, the connotations appear to be obvious
enough. But it should be said that this term was not used by the ancient Egyptians themselves, being an
invention of Bauval and Hancock.

Many people are now obsessed with the year 2000, but it obviously has a greater import for Bauval
and Hancock as the year, they believe, in which great changes are going to happen on Earth. In Keeper of
Genesis, Bauval and Hancock actually suggest that, in some way, the Great Pyramid will ‘trigger’ the Age
of Aquarius in the year 2000. (Of course, this prophecy may well be fulfilled, just as Cayce’s followers
went looking for, and believed they found, Atlantis in 1968, to ensure the fulfilment of his prophecy.) They
say:

We wonder whether it is possible that the sages of Heliopolis, working at the dawn of history,
could somehow have created an archetypal ‘device’, a device designed to trigger off messianic
events across the ‘Ages’ — the Pyramid Age when the vernal point was in Taurus, for example,
the Christic Age in Pisces, and perhaps even a ‘New Age’ in Aquarius?1%

Anything is possible. We are eclipsed by no one in our admiration for the ‘sages of Heliopolis’, but the
phrasing of the above paragraph seems to suggest to us either prior knowledge of the existence of such a
‘device’ or that Bauval and Hancock see themselves as guardians of some secret knowledge, who deign
to spoonfeed us information as they so desire and are determined to create an expectancy in our minds for
some imminent revelations.

Chambers of the underworld

The by now fabled Hall of Records - whether or not it actually exists — is an intrinsic part of this plot to
enliven the Millennium. If it does, then there is every reason to suspect that its existence is already being
manipulated in the mass perception well before its grand opening to the world’s media by the select few
with their own well-honed private agenda. Although it will undoubtedly be the biggest archaeological
find in history, this will be merely a drop in the ocean of revelations planned for us.

Does the Hall of Records exist? Certainly, the idea of records from an earlier time can be found
throughout Egypt’s history. Among the most important of the many such sources is the famous Westcar
Papyrus, which contains a legend concerning the great Khufu himself.1% This tells how Khufu, builder of
the Great Pyramid, wanted to gain access to certain secrets found within the sanctuary of Thoth in
Heliopolis in order to use them in the building of his pyramid. Khufu’s son, Hardadaf, told him a story of
a great magus named Ded‘e, who knew where ‘the secret things of the house of Thoth were hidden’.



Khufu sent for Ded’e, who told him that the things he sought were hidden in Heliopolis. Some
Egyptologists believe that this refers to records that were the originals from which the Pyramid Texts

were derived.!22 (Note that this original version of the Hall of Records is located at Heliopolis.)

In later times, particularly during the period of Arab rule, there were plentiful legends of hidden secret
writings in Egypt, 1% which is only to be expected, given the reverence in which that ancient civilisation
was held by those who came later. Several similar legends also refer to inscriptions on pillars set up in

Egypt. These have passed into Masonic lore 1%

Herodotus, the Greek historian who visited Egypt in the fifth century BCE, wrote of ‘the subterranean
apartments on the hill on which the pyramids stand, which he [Khufu] had made as a burial vault for
himself, in an island, formed by draining a canal from the Nile.”1% This is often taken to mean that
Herodotus was told that Khufu was buried beneath the Great Pyramid. A strict interpretation suggests that
he is saying that a complex of vaults was built beneath the Giza plateau, though not necessarily directly
under the Great Pyramid.

In Gods of Eden Andrew Collins develops the idea of a complex of tunnels and chambers within the
plateau, pointing out that it is limestone, which is characteristically riddled with caves.

There are many legends concerning a secret repository of ancient Egyptian knowledge. The Greeks,
Arabs and, latterly, the Freemasons all have stories about coded inscriptions or caches of scrolls secreted
somewhere in Egypt, so Edgar Cayce’s prophecies were nothing new. But he was not the only influential
psychic to promote such an idea.

In the 1920s a British psychic, H.C. Randall-Stevens, came up with psychically derived information
about the Great Pyramid and the Sphinx. It very closely parallels Cayce’s. As with the Sleeping Prophet,
this knowledge was alleged to be derived directly from the survivors from Atlantis who escaped to
Egypt, this time led by an astronomer called Mizrahiml. Randall-Stevens said:

At the present time papyri and relics are still hidden below the Sphinx in numerous passages.
These will shortly be found and given to the world in general to read.1%

The Osiran Scripts tell me that this huge and imposing colossus is the ornament surmounting a hall,

which communicates with the Pyramids by radiating underground passages.1%

Opposite: Different views of what lies beneath the Sphinx. Above:
British psychic H.C. Randall-Stevens’s 1927 plan. Centre: The
Rosicrucian H. Spencer Lewis’s 1936 version. Except for the addition of
a chamber at the rear of the Sphinx, this is virtually identical to
Randall-Stevens’s. Below: Bauval and Hancock’s ‘Genesis Chamber’.
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Eventually a temple will be discovered underground in the rear of the Sphinx, which connects with
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other chambers and a great temple or grand chamber under the Great Pyramid. There the divine cosmic
mysteries will be revealed to those appointe

Randall-Stevens gives a diagram of the chambers and tunnels under the Sphinx and the Giza plateau, and
also adds this telling paragraph:

The emigrants from Atlantis were people governed by the laws of Cosmic Masonry and those who
landed in Egypt built centres of Masonic Initiation from which the country was administered.11

But did Randall-Stevens - like Edgar Cayce — really find his ideas in the spirit world, or did they
have a more terrestrial source? Investigation reveals a very interesting tradition of which both men may



have been aware — the Ancient and Mystic Order Rosae Crucis, the prominent American Rosicrucian
society commonly known as AMORC.

AMORC, which has become well known for its extensive advertising and well-organised
correspondence courses, was founded in the early 1920s by Harvey Spencer Lewis, who died in 1939.
He had been initiated into the Rosicrucian Order in the great occult centre of Toulouse, in southern
France, and founded AMORC in order to study (according to one of its brochures) ‘the mysteries of time
and space; the human consciousness; the nature of matter; perfecting the physical body ... development of
will; important discoveries in Rosicrucian chemistry and physics’. More significantly, the order claimed
a pedigree that went directly back to the Mystery Schools of ancient Egypt.

Spencer Lewis claimed to have inside knowledge of the Giza Plateau: indeed, the idea of a complex of
tunnels and chambers beneath Giza — linking the Sphinx to the three pyramids - is a major part of
AMORC’s beliefs. Lewis said this information was taken from the ‘Rosicrucian archives’, although he
offered no evidence to support this claim.1l Interestingly, the diagrams of these tunnels and chambers in
AMORC documents are virtually identical to those of Randall-Stevens, and are too similar to be merely
coincidental. And the latter’s account of the arrival of the Atlanteans in Egypt also resembles Cayce’s
(although Cayce’s description of the Hall of Records is different from those of Randall-Stevens and
Lewis).

Bauval and Hancock’s diagram showing the secret ‘Genesis Chamber’ locates it in more or less the
same place as in the AMORC documents. On the face of it, this appears to be exciting confirmation that
Bauval and Hancock have proved independently, using astronomical data, the claims of psychics and
occult brotherhoods over the last eighty years. But have those two authors really presented a much wider
public with great esoteric secrets for the first time, enabling us all to participate in the ancient mysteries?
Unfortunately the answer must be probably not. In our opinion Bauval and Hancock want to give the
impression of providing independent corroboration: after all, we have seen that their argument about the
location of the Genesis Chamber was highly contrived.

Is the New Orthodoxy not so new after all, but merely older, occult ideas repackaged? Obviously there
is nothing wrong with presenting an eager public with old, mystical concepts, be they from AMORC or
Freemasonry. But if this is the case, why do they seem to be unwilling to acknowledge it?

Hancock and Bauval’s driven attempts to forge a link between the ancient Egyptian First Time - tep
zepi — and the Age of Aquarius creates a sense of expectancy in their readers. Everything they have
written so far appears to us to be geared to making that connection, with the distinct impression that soon
a great secret will be revealed, and that they are its guardians. In other words, Hancock and Bauval seem
to be a part, wittingly or unwittingly, of a programme designed to climax at the time of the Millennium and
the first years of the twenty-first century.

Hints about the nature of that agenda may be gleaned from the increasingly messianic tone of their
recent postings on the Internet, as in that from Robert Bauval on 29 July 1998:

The millennium is rushing in. There is much work to do for all who feel part of the same quest,

namely to bring about a new and much needed spiritual and intellectual change for this planet.

Giza, without a doubt, has a major role to play.1l2

And from Hancock on 14 August 1998:

Poised on the edge of the millennium, at the end of a century of unparalleled wickedness and



bloodshed in which greed has flourished, humanity faces a stark choice between matter and spirit
- the darkness and the light [our emphasis].113

In our view, this messianic fervour is no accident: Hancock and Bauval, like other individuals and
groups, appear to be working to a private programme fuelled by a very real missionary zeal.

Millennium magic

In October 1998, Bauval announced the creation of his ‘Project Equinox 2000°’, based around a group of
twelve authors (plus himself) whom he refers to as the ‘Magic 12’. The membership of this group was not
fixed at the time of writing, but it originally included Graham Hancock, John Anthony West, Andrew
Collins and, of course, Robert Temple. Other names mentioned by Bauval in this context are Colin
Wilson, Michael Baigent, Christopher Knight and Robert Lomas.

The idea is that the Magic 12 are to hold a series of conferences in different locations around the world
on the key astronomical days of the year 1999 — the equinoxes and solstices. The locations have been
selected as the major Hermetic sites of the world, including Giza, Alexandria, Stonehenge and San Jose
(headquarters of AMORC). Bauval states that the ‘principal objective is to perform a global ritual’
symbolising the return of the magical Hermetic tradition to Egypt.114 The year’s events will culminate at
midnight on 31 December 1999, when, from a specially erected platform in front of the Sphinx, Bauval
and his 12 companions will deliver a ‘message to the planet’. He also says that this event will mark the
‘return of the gods’ to Egypt.11°

Whether or not the Great Ennead comply with Bauval’s stage directions and time their return to
coincide with the climax of his announcement, one can only reel in amazement that Dr Zahi Hawass has
actually granted permission for this event to take place in front of the Sphinx. The likes of Coca-Cola or
IBM would have been happy to pay millions to have secured what must essentially be the prime
advertising spot of the big Millennium party. So why has Bauval been given it?

An intrinsic part of the planned spectacular is a twelve-hour concert, complete with state-of-the-art
laser displays, designed and presented by Jean-Michel Jarre. It is scheduled to begin at sunset on 31
December 1999 and end at sunrise on 1 January 2000, encompassing Bauval’s midnight ‘Message to the
Planet’. Industry rumour has it that Jarre’s current recording, ready for release in late 1999, is a follow-up
to his 1980s album Equinox, and, like Bauval’s project, it will be called Equinox 2000. The common
name suggests some degree of co-ordination between the two.

Bauval’s Project Equinox 2000 is funded by Concordium, a non-profit foundation based in New York
that sponsors research into alternative technology and philosophies that may, in Bauval’s words, ‘bring
enlightenment and spirituality to the world’.112 15He has also established the ‘Phoenix Experiment Base’
in the Sphinx village, Nazlet-al-Samman, in order to monitor all activity at Giza until the Millennium.

There is no harm in providing the best Millennium show of all against such a stupendous backdrop, nor
in wishing the planet love and peace. But let us not forget that an intrinsic part of the Millennium show is
the announcement of the return of the ancient Egyptian gods. This may be merely some poetic turn of
phrase or a kind of metaphor, but — as we shall see - part of the plan we have uncovered demands that



the gods are real, and that they are returning.

The belief that the second coming of certain ancient gods — and the accompanying global
transformation — is imminent is by no means confined to Robert Bauval and Graham Hancock. In the new
edition of The Sirius Mystery Robert Temple suggests that the ancient amphibious gods, the Nommo, who
are now in suspended animation somewhere in orbit around Saturn, are about to return to Earth. He says
darkly that ‘these matters ... may affect us all sooner than we think.’ 1

In the minds of this new breed of Aquarian missionaries, the imminent momentous events will either
take place at, or focus on, the Giza plateau.



High Strangeness at Giza

Everything about Giza today is a mass of contradictions. At any given moment there are dozens of rumours
and counterrumours about clandestine excavations, all manner of cover-ups and — by far the most
exciting — secret discoveries that will somehow transform the world. Activity and rumour have
escalated according to some kind of programme designed to culminate at the Millennium. But who lies
behind this campaign? And can we successfully sort out the truth from the rumours about Giza?

Officially, nothing much is happening on the Giza plateau except that the Great Pyramid was closed on
1 April 1998 for ‘cleaning’, which seems reasonable, because the many thousands of tourists leave an
incredible amount of grime and condensation on the venerable stone of the interior. A build-up of breath
and sweat could cause a dangerous deterioration of the pyramid; besides, some renovation work was
clearly needed — to improve the temperamental lighting system, for example. But in addition to cleaning
and electrical work it was suggested, from many sources — some considerably more reliable than others
- that other activities were going on at Giza: secret tunnelling, inside the Great Pyramid and elsewhere on
the plateau; clandestine searches by shadowy groups for fabled hidden chambers and ancient secrets;
conspiracies galore. With some cynicism, we turned our attention towards Giza, although we were in for
something of a shock.

There is a certain hypocrisy in the official Egyptian attitudes to visitors to the Great Pyramid. Many
tourists are frequently derided - with good reason, for American and European New Agers seem to regard
the pyramids as their own and show a marked reluctance to allow the Egyptian authorities, or anyone else,
to try to limit their enthusiasm for meditating inside, outside or even on top of the pyramids at any time of
the day or night. They arrive in Egypt with the firm intention of planting their flag and seizing the country
as their own, the jewel in the crown of New Age colonialism. They clamber and chant everywhere
regardless of local feeling: a decade ago a party of 350 trooped into the Great Pyramid for a group
meditation for the so-called ‘Harmonic Convergence’ - a huge number, considering the small and cramped
King’s Chamber, and the oppressively ‘close’ atmosphere within that massive stone bulk, particularly
when it hosts such a massive influx of people.

It is freely acknowledged that ‘metaphysical’ groups are in fact allowed into the Great Pyramid after
the Giza plateau has been closed to the public each night — for a fee. In fact, in December 1997, when Dr
Zahi Hawass announced the forthcoming closure of the pyramid, he specifically said that this arrangement

would continue.!

But not all visitors to the Great Pyramid keep their eyes either shut in meditation or glued to a
guidebook. Several seasoned and knowledgeable travellers have reported evidence of ongoing work in



the ‘relieving chambers’, a series of low vaulted chambers, about 3 feet high, above the King’s Chamber.
(They are generally taken to have been built specifically to relieve the pressure of the thousands of tons of
rock that would otherwise have pressed down far too dangerously on the roof of the King’s Chamber,
although recently some doubts have been expressed about this being the purpose of these chambers.?)
Such rumours of this and other clandestine work in the pyramid proved too tantalising, so we, together
with writer-researcher Simon Cox, hastened off to Egypt, arriving there the day before the Great Pyramid
was closed for what was then described as an eight-month ‘cleaning and restoration’ programme.
However, the Great Pyramid did not re-open on 1 January 1999, and the Egyptian Cultural Centre in
London have since told us that it may never be reopened to the public.

Tunnel vision

One unexplored chamber in Giza is known: assuming Gantenbrink’s door really is an entrance, then it
must open on to something. But what? As with everything else at Giza these days, there is a political
background to the story.

The German robotics engineer made the discovery on 22 March 1993, the day after Zahi Hawass had
been dismissed because of a scandal over a stolen Fourth Dynasty statue (although Graham Hancock has
suggested that his dismissal was in fact somehow connected with Gantenbrink’s work).2 The man who
dismissed Hawass, Dr Muhammed Bakr, President of the Supreme Council of Antiquities, was himself
sacked three months later. He claimed that a ‘mafia’ — which had controlled everything at the pyramids
for the last twenty years - was responsible 4

Hawass himself was only out of office for about a month, and was reinstated in April 1994. He had
spent that time in California, which may be significant, for — as British writer-researcher Chris Ogilvie-
Herald wrote in Quest for Knowledge magazine, of which he was then editor - Hawass’s reinstatement
‘was said to have been brought about by American intervention’.2

After Robert Bauval had released the news of Gantenbrink’s discovery to the media on 16 April 1993,
the German Archaeological Institute in Cairo officially reacted to Gantenbrink’s discovery by dismissing
it as unimportant (perhaps a case of sour grapes?). Dr Bakr went considerably further; at first he even
dismissed it as a hoax.®

Gantenbrink was refused permission to continue with his work, because of the breach of protocol in the
way the news of his discovery was released to the press. As described in the previous chapter,
Gantenbrink places the blame for this fairly and squarely on Robert Bauval, but this has not prevented
Graham Hancock from portraying Gantenbrink as a martyr to the cause and a victim of the Egyptological
establishment — nor from hinting that this was part of some conspiracy. He wrote in Nexus magazine in
late 1996: ‘The official reason given by the Egyptian Antiquities Organization ... was that Gantenbrink

leaked the news of the discovery to the British press and thus, apparently, broke a “rule” of archaeology.’Z

After the publicity surrounding the story of the discovery, nothing happened about the shaft or chamber
until 1996, when a new — Egyptian — team was established to take the investigation further. This was to
be led by a close friend of Zahi Hawass, a specialist in remote sensing (the use of satellite- or aircraft-
borne technology to scan the Earth’s surface, or beneath it), an Egyptian geophysicist who worked for



INASA on the Apollo moon landings named Dr Farouk El Baz. A Canadian company called Amtex became
involved and equipment worth $1 million was flown to Giza. The intention at the time was to open
Gantenbrink’s Door on live television, but nothing came of it.2 In January 1998 Hawass promised that
Gantenbrink’s Door would be opened by May of that year.? Not only did this historic moment fail to
materialise, but no explanation has ever been given for the non-event.

A particularly persuasive and persistent rumour has circulated that a tunnel was secretly being dug in
order to reach ‘Gantenbrink’s Chamber’ from the lowest of the relieving chambers above the King’s
Chamber, which is named ‘Davison’s Chamber’ after the British diplomat Nathaniel Davison, who
officially discovered it in 1765, although there is some evidence that its existence was already known.?
(The other relieving chambers were discovered by Colonel Howard Vyse in 1837, who named them after
prominent figures in contemporary British society, such as Wellington and Nelson.) Entry to Davison‘s’
Chamber is difficult: a somewhat inadequate wooden ladder is propped up against the 27-foot (8.7-metre)
wall of the upper end of the Grand Gallery, but it stops short of the top. The last few feet have to be
climbed using a rope, followed by an uncomfortable wriggle through the tunnel into the chamber itself.
Davison’s, like all the relieving chambers, is only about 3 feet high and is obviously impossible to stand
up in, with a rough and very uneven floor made of the granite roofing slabs of the King’s Chamber. Never
intended to be seen, the builders took no trouble to make them smooth.

Was a tunnel really being dug southwards from Davison’s to Gantenbrink’s Chamber, as we had heard?
Dozens of rumours concerning Egypt are circulating at any given time. Many of them emanate from people
with only the slightest familiarity with concrete facts about Giza. The source of this particular rumour,
though, was Thomas Danley, an acoustics engineer and NASA consultant for two space shuttle missions,
who specialises in ‘acoustic levitation’ (raising objects through the use of sound and vibration). In
October and November 1996, he participated in a project of the somewhat controversial Joseph M. Schor
Foundation, together with a film crew led by American documentary producer Boris Said. They were
going to perform acoustic experiments in the Great Pyramid on camera and had official permission to
spend four nights there.

Given this golden opportunity, Danley and his team went up into Davison’s Chamber, where he noticed
that a tunnel originally dug in the early nineteenth century seemed to have been reopened. The excavation
was first made by Giovanni Battista Caviglia (1770-1845), one of the most unusual characters of
nineteenth-century Egyptology. A ship’s captain from Genoa, he was also a Hermeticist and occultist. He
became convinced that the pyramids contained great arcane secrets. He carried out major excavations all
around Giza between 1816 and 1820, the first large-scale digs ever undertaken in that area.

Interestingly, Caviglia wanted to dig a tunnel from Davison’s Chamber to intersect the southern air shaft
from the Queen’s Chamber because he thought that a hidden room would be found at that point.ll
Astoundingly, Gantenbrink’s discovery in 1993 seems to have proved him right. Caviglia’s excavation
was abandoned after they had tunnelled for only about 10 feet, probably because of the appalling
conditions in which they had to work. The tunnel was subsequently refilled with rubble and largely
forgotten. However, in November 1996 Danley crawled into it and found that it had recently been
extended some 30 feet beyond the end of the original Caviglia tunnel - work that was obviously still in
progress. He also found bags of rubble being stored in the upper relieving chambers. Danley showed this
find to the Egyptian inspector assigned to accompany the team, and was disconcerted to discover that he
knew nothing of any such tunnelling, though he agreed to report it to his superior - Zahi Hawass. Danley
also reported what he had seen on the Internet and on American radio on his return from Giza.l2



On a subsequent visit in February 1997, Danley saw that a new power cable now ran up the wall of the
Grand Gallery and into the tunnel leading up to Davison’s Chamber, indicating that work was continuing
up there out of sight. When we visited the Great Pyramid with Simon Cox in the spring of 1998, we saw
for ourselves that a video camera had been installed at the top of the Grand Gallery, not pointing back
down, as it would if intended merely to check on the upcoming tourists, but angled so that it would record
anyone climbing up the ladder into Davison’s Chamber.

In July 1997, an American ‘independent Egyptologist’ named Larry Dean Hunter visited the pyramid to
check Danley’s story. He was sent there by Richard Hoagland (most famous for his championing of the
Face on Mars, and a major player in the unfolding story of our investigation).12 Hunter did not actually
climb up into Davison’s Chamber, but photographed the cable, video camera and some canvas bags full of
rubble at the top of the Grand Gallery. Strangely, all he came back with were photographs of those bags
and a stray limestone chip, which could have come from anywhere. What he, and Hoagland, hoped to
achieve by this is unclear, yet because of the publicity Hoagland generated for this non-story, it has
actually eclipsed Thomas Danley’s first-hand account of ongoing work in Davison’s Chamber. (Curiously,
Hoagland’s website posting makes no mention of Danley at all.)

Hunter also involved Mohammed Sherdy, assistant editor of the EI Wafd newspaper. As Zahi Hawass
denied that anything was going on in the relieving chambers apart from some ‘cleaning’ work, Hunter
surmised that something was seriously amiss. Either work was going on that the authorities knew nothing
about, or the authorities did know and were covering it up. But, in a meeting with Hunter and Sherdy in
his office in July 1997, Hawass produced a faxed letter from film-maker Boris Said - who had been in
charge of Danley’s team - denying any knowledge of the situation.l Sherdy later said that he had been
allowed access to Davison’s Chamber — but reported that he saw no tunnel.

Nothing at Giza is simple. In an interview in January 1998, Said confirmed that a ‘new tunnel’ was
being dug from Davison’s Chamber, but added — somewhat confusingly — that he saw nothing sinister in
that, although he stopped short of offering any explanation of its purpose. He also said: ‘They [the

Egyptians] are tunnelling all over the plateau.’12

Many would ask why the Egyptians should not be digging - secretly or openly - at Giza? It is their land
and their heritage, not a colony of the West. Few foreigners would object if they excavated beneath other
Egyptian landmarks, such as the great Citadel, built by Saladin, which overlooks Cairo. The problem is
that the monuments of ancient Egypt are acknowledged as belonging to the whole world: even President
Hosni Mubarak said as much in print in 1998.1° Anything that happens at any of the ancient sites - Karnak,
Luxor or Giza — must be made known internationally as soon as possible according to an unwritten
agreement. Ancient Egypt belongs to everyone, and every time anyone seriously stirs its dust, we should
all know about it: this is the general understanding that underpins all excavations and major discoveries.
Where notable finds are concerned, Egyptology is a common currency that transcends politics, so
evidence of secret tunnelling, not just in any ancient site, but in the Great Pyramid itself is of colossal
significance.

In March 1997 — several months after Danley’s report — Hawass stated categorically: ‘There is no

secret work at Giza!’ 1 The only conclusion was, in our view, that someone was, to say the least, being
economical with the truth about a major archaeological irregularity.

In February 1998 our colleague Simon Cox had seen unambiguous evidence of the existence of an
unofficial tunnel. In fact, Simon, using the well-known Egyptian lubricant of baksheesh to grease relevant



palms, had actually managed to enter Davison’s Chamber itself. There he saw - and photographed - final
confirmation that there is indeed a tunnel being dug into the southern wall of the chamber. From Simon’s
account it appears that Caviglia’s tunnel has been reopened and extended further into the heart of the
pyramid. Excitingly, if it continues in a straight line and on the same level, it will intersect the southern
shaft from the Queen’s Chamber. In other words it will strike approximately at the level of Gantenbrink’s
Door. Is this what ‘they’ are up to — covertly investigating the mysterious door and what lies behind it? It
is very suggestive, considering that the Egyptian authorities have officially dismissed Gantenbrink’s Door
as unworthy of examination, pointing out that it is very small — about the size of an A4 piece of paper -
and even, curiously, suggesting that nothing lies behind it. But do they, in fact, protest too much?

Secrets in the sand

While we were at Giza we found out for ourselves the difficulty of making public any exciting
discoveries. We heard — from particularly reputable sources - that three new chambers had already been
discovered in the Great Pyramid, around the King’s Chamber.!® Yet because for various reasons we could
not reveal those sources, the news was technically worthless. And in any case, there is always a need for
caution when dealing with activity at Giza. Wild rumours spring up like mushrooms overnight, describing
exotic secret finds by the authorities that will — by now a standard implication of all such tales -
somehow trigger miraculous changes in the world.

It seems that a search for hidden chambers in the Giza complex has been continuing for at least twenty-
five years. One of the first twentieth-century attempts to find undiscovered chambers took place in
Khafra’s Pyramid in 1968, with a project led by Nobel prizewinning physicist Luis Alvarez, who tried to
locate chambers by measuring the passage of cosmic waves through the stone structure. (Alvarez was also
the originator of the ‘deep impact’ theory of dinosaur extinction, and in the early 1950s, part of a CIA-
backed study into Unidentified Flying Objects.l?) The 1968 Giza project involved twelve US and
Egyptian agencies, including the US Atomic Energy Commission, the Smithsonian Institute and Cairo’s
Ain Shams University. Initial computer analysis of the resulting data at Ain Shams led their project leader,
Dr Amr Goneid, to state (as reported in The Times) that the results ‘defy all known laws of physics’ and
that ‘there is some force that defies the laws of science at work in the pyramid’. 22 But once again the
confusion machine seems to have gone into overdrive: Alvarez subsequently announced from America
that nothing untoward had happened, and that no new chambers had been detected.

The next phase of this project concerned the Sphinx. The idea that something highly significant is under
the Sphinx has been around for centuries. During Napoleon’s expedition to Egypt - which included
scholars as well as soldiers - it is said that they actually found a doorway in the Sphinx’s chest in 1801,
but, because of the imminent arrival of the enemy, had to beat a hasty retreat before it could be explored.
We know about the story of the French finding the door in the Sphinx because Arabs who were present
described it to the nineteenth-century French Egyptologist Auguste Mariette. It has been argued that this
door was actually the Sphinx Stela, but this is unlikely as the stone plaque is not flush with the surface of

the Sphinx like a door.2

Many of the most noted Egyptologists of the nineteenth century firmly believed in the existence of
chambers underneath the Sphinx. Mariette himself believed that a tomb lay beneath it. This was largely



based on the observation that every time the ancient Egyptians depicted the Sphinx in stone carvings or on
papyrus, they showed it lying on a plinth above what appears to be a tomblike chamber.22

Interest in the possibility of the existence of such a chamber revived in the early twentieth century. In
1926 the French archaeologist Emile Baraize undertook excavations in both the body of the Sphinx and
the surrounding enclosure. The rough-and-ready haste of his excavations suggests that he may have been
specifically looking for something, not merely excavating for its own sake in the normal cautious manner.
Indeed, he appears to have succeeded at least partly in his aim, finding a tunnel accessed by a hole in the
Sphinx’s rump. He explored it, then sealed it up, but, incredibly, kept the news of this amazing discovery
to himself. This particular location, as we have seen, interested both psychic H.C. Randall-Stevens and
AMORC. They — and, later, Robert Bauval and Graham Hancock — pin-pointed the area immediately
beneath the Sphinx’s hindquarters as the location of one of the putative secret chambers. What is peculiar
about Baraize’s work is that, although he excavated that site extensively for eleven years, not one of his

many detailed reports or papers has ever been published.22

Following Baraize, there was a long gap until 1973 when the lead was taken by an intriguing
organisation called SRI International (formerly the Stanford Research Institute) from California. One of
the world’s largest scientific research organisations, SRI has always enjoyed close links with the US
Department of Defense and the intelligence community. It made three expeditions to Giza in the 1970s,
two led by a physicist, the wonderfully named Dr Lambert Dolphin Jr, primarily to search for hidden
chambers beneath the Sphinx. Why this idea suddenly resurfaced after fifty years of inactivity is unknown.
According to Dolphin, the first SRI expedition in 1973 was, in fact, a continuation of Luis Alvarez’s
project of five years before.2*

Dolphin himself is a particularly interesting character. A graduate of San Diego State University and
Stanford University, he joined SRI in 1956, becoming one of their most senior physicists. But there is
more to Dolphin and his interest in ancient sites than meets the eye. He is a devout Christian with a
decidedly fundamentalist leaning, who left SRI in 1987 to, in his own words, ‘devote the bulk of my time
to Bible teaching, writing and Christian counseling’.22 However, Dolphin’s website perhaps reveals
another dimension to his religious beliefs; its links include material by pro-Life, anti-gay and zealously
anti-Muslim groups and individuals. He has written that he believes both Old and New Testaments to be

‘historically accurate, divinely inspired and fully authoritative in all areas of faith and life’.2

Like most Christian fundamentalists, Dolphin seems to have, paradoxically, a greater fascination with
the Old than with the New, Testament because — apart from the Book of Revelation — it contains all the
truly apocalyptic material. Christian fundamentalists love the excitement of hellfire and damnation, one of
many traits they share, surprisingly perhaps, with Jewish extremists, creating once again an apparently
paradoxical alliance. At the same time that Dolphin was leading the SRI team in Giza, he was also using
identical remote-sensing techniques in controversial investigations beneath the Temple Mount in

Jerusalem.ZZ

Working with a right-wing Jewish organisation, the Jerusalem Temple Foundation led by Stanley
Goldfoot, which believes that now is the time for the Third Temple to be built in Jerusalem, Dolphin used
his expertise in a search for the foundations of the original building. This is an extremely sensitive area -
literally and figuratively - as the Temple Mount is now under Muslim control, so they worked at night.
Even so, Israeli authorities stopped their activities because of the risk of riots. The Jerusalem Post
described the event:



There are significant and to some minds worrisome links between a handful of American
Evangelical leaders and right-wing Israelis like Goldfoot. Some of the personalities on his board
are important men. Lambert Dolphin heads a key section of the world’s most massive research
conglomerate, the Stanford Research Institute, a $200 million-a-year concern whose main clients

are the US government and corporations like Bechte].2

In 1976, according to Dolphin, SRI undertook remote-sensing investigations at Saqqgara, looking for the
tomb of the great scribe Imhotep; Alexandria, where they tried to locate the lost Library; and Giza, where
seismographic tests indicated the possible presence of chambers beneath Khafra’s Pyramid.22 In 1977
Dolphin and SRI were back at Giza, initially funded by the US National Science Foundation.2? Then in
1978 Edgar Cayce’s followers - ARE — popped up, contributing funds to SRI’s project whose official
name was the Sphinx Exploration Project.2!

Someone who will emerge as the single most influential — but largely unknown - individual in this
book’s investigation now enters the frame. This is Dr James J. Hurtak, the American polymath and
mystical philosopher, and founder of a California-based organisation called the Academy for Future
Sciences (AFFS), at whose feet many of the movers and shakers in this story are happy to sit. Hurtak
holds degrees in Oriental Studies and History, Social Sciences, Linguistics, Patristics and Greek Texts
and speaks and writes seven languages, being currently described as a ‘Silicon Valley-based consultant in
higher technology’. 22 In 1986 he presented a paper on the use of air- and satellite-borne radar to detect

archaeological features to a conference on remote sensing in Brazil.2

Hurtak carried out work at Giza in the late 1970s, which seems to be have been in some way connected
with SRI’s presence there at that time. While he has never been officially employed by them, he has
always maintained close contact with its senior figures. 3* In particular, he has a close friendship with
Lambert Dolphin Jr, who — according to Hurtak — ‘shared private insights’ about Giza with him in 1976.%
(Hurtak also knows Mark Lehner.2%) In 1977 and 1978 Hurtak and some unnamed colleagues undertook a
private expedition to Giza. They were there primarily to use lasers to measure the angles of the shafts
from the King’s and Queen’s Chambers, specifically to test their hypothesis that the shafts aligned with
certain stars and constellations, namely Orion and Draco - and the star Sirius.2’ The results of this
investigation have never been made public.

What is interesting about this work is that the possibility of correlations with Orion and Draco had
been proposed as early as the 1960s. But - outside of the Masonic literature, as we have already seen -
the idea of an alignment with Sirius did not apparently surface until Bauval and Gilbert’s The Orion
Mystery in 1994. Interestingly, Hurtak was exploring a possible correlation between the Giza pyramids
and Orion’s Belt in 1973.28 We found that this was not the only time he has been ahead of the game.

SRI International also plays a major part in the official history of investigations at Giza in the 1970s. Its
team used various techniques, including aerial photography, thermal imaging and measurements of the
electrical resistance and fluctuations in the magnetic field around the Sphinx and its enclosure, to remote
sense any underground anomalies. Some were found, although they mostly proved to be natural cavities in
the bedrock (as would be expected in limestone). A few suggested the presence of a tunnel running north-

west to south-west behind the rear of the Sphinx, as well as some kind of cavity in front of its paws.2

In 1978, a company called Recovery Systems International joined the project to undertake drilling
work to examine these anomalies. According to Mark Lehner, this company had ‘probably’ been formed



specifically in order to take part in this project.2

Recovery Systems International began to sink a drill in the Giza plateau close to the Sphinx. At a depth
of 60 feet they drilled up fragments of granite, which, as we have established, is not naturally found in that
area. It is even rumoured that the Egyptian Army then stepped in and stopped the project. In 1980 pieces
of granite were also raised from 50 feet beneath the plateau by an Egyptian team surveying the depth of
the watertable in the area.?! Clearly granite is, in that limestone country, anomalous — unless the drills
had hit underground chambers lined with it. (If such chambers do exist, it would make sense for them to
be lined with granite, because the watertable in that area is quite close to the surface, and porous
limestone chambers would have become completely waterlogged. Granite, on the other hand, is made of
sterner stuff, and is an excellent water repellent.) Then in 1980 Zahi Hawass reopened the Baraize tunnel
at the back of the Sphinx, which had been forgotten by all except those with access to his unpublished
field notes and reports. This band included Mark Lehner and an Egyptian named Mohammed Adb al-
Mawgud Fayed, who was the son of a man who assisted Baraize in the 1920s and had actually worked on
the clearing of the Sphinx enclosure as a boy. Hawass relates that, after fifty-four years, Fayed could still
point successfully to the small stone at the back of the Sphinx that concealed the entrance to the tunnel.#2
Fayed’s son subsequently became ARE’s representative in Cairo.

SRI and ARE, with Mark Lehner, also collaborated on another remote-sensing project at the Sphinx in
1982, called the Sphinx Mapping Project, this time using acoustic techniques to look for hidden cavities.

This appeared to negate the existence of any chambers beneath the paws, though it did find possible

indications of some beneath the enclosure floor.%2

In 1990, Hawass granted a licence to the now famous project of John Anthony West and Robert Schoch:
the Sphinx Project, which was backed by Boston University, where Schoch was a professor. (The
Egyptian authorities have an eminently sensible rule that any project must have the support or involvement
of a recognised academic institution.) The project director — and the man who applied for the licence,
possibly because of West’s own reputation as a maverick — was the American film producer Boris Said,
whose Emmy award-winning documentary on the work, Mystery of the Sphinx, was broadcast on NBC in

1993. Investors in the project included two leading ARE members, Dr Joseph Jahoda and Dr Joseph M.

Schor, who was also present as ARE’s official observer.%

Dr Jahoda who, as a senior member of ARE, has played an important role in their involvement at Giza,
is also president of the Astron Corporation, a major contractor of the US Department of Defense and
INASA that specialises in producing radio communication systems.

We now know that the project’s main find was the telling water erosion of the Sphinx, but it also
undertook seismographic work to try to detect chambers underneath the Sphinx, conducted by
seismographer Dr Thomas Dobecki. He detected what appeared to be a large rectangular cavity (9 metres
by 12 metres), about 5 metres beneath the paws. Once again promising work came to an abrupt end:
Hawass (then the director-general of the Giza Pyramids) suddenly terminated the Sphinx Project’s
licence, accusing the team of being ‘unscientific’.

In 1995 a new project arrived at Giza to explore the area using seismography and ground-penetrating
radar. Officially the purpose of this project was to locate underground faults that might cause subsidence
around the monuments and thus endanger the public,® but a side effect of such ‘remote-sensing’ work
would have been the discovery of subterranean anomalies, such as chambers. This was a joint mission by
Florida State University and the Schor Foundation, founded by Dr Joseph Schor, who had attended the



1990 project. He is the (now retired) director and vice-president of Forest Laboratories Inc., a
pharmaceutical company that produces vitamins. In Robert Bauval’s words, the Schor Foundation is ‘a
non-profit organization dedicated to finding evidence of the lost “Atlantean” civilization and “Hall of
Records” predicted by the sleeping prophet, Edgar Cayce.’4® Multimillionaire Schor is a life member of
ARE and one of its principal donors. By teaming up with Florida State University, the Schor Foundation
ensured that the Giza project would have the necessary academic credentials in order to be licensed by
the Egyptian authorities.

This team included Thomas Dobecki and, again, Joseph Jahoda (who was also a member of the Schor
Foundation), with Boris Said filming the events. While the official purpose of the project was to locate
potentially dangerous pockets of subsidence, this was apparently not its real aim. Said has since claimed
that he had been recruited specifically to film the search for the lost Atlantean Hall of Records, which had
been the real intention of Schor’s team from the first.

Said now claims that the whole expedition was deliberately cloaked in secrecy by Schor, saying:

Now, finally, I’'m convinced that Dr Schor never wanted to go public with this information at all. I
believe that it was always his intention to keep news of the secret chamber and its contents from
the public. I believe he used me. I believe he used my ability to get a permit, my ability to get
things done in Egypt, to further his own private purposes. I think he intended to keep this from the
world from the very beginning.#/

This project’s licence would be abruptly terminated in December 1996 through the intervention of Robert
Bauval and Graham Hancock (see pages 96-7).4

Schor’s team also carried out work inside the Great Pyramid, which seemed to indicate the presence of
a narrow corridor behind the west wall of the King’s Chamber. This was confirmed by Zahi Hawass at an

ARE conference in August 199742

After this, leaked information claimed that the team had detected not one but nine chambers beneath the
Sphinx, some of which contained metal objects. This story originated with none other than Graham
Hancock, who, speaking on Art Bell’s radio show in the United States in July 1996, quite specifically
claimed that his information had come, off the record, from members of Joseph Schor’s team. Hancock
stated categorically that they had found nine chambers, and that this momentous discovery was being kept
secret. He also added that he was confident about the reliability of his source, implying strongly that it
was true. Around the time Robert Bauval was saying the same in lectures - for example, at ‘The Incident’
conference in London in October 1996. Incredibly, Hancock and Bauval are now indignantly repudiating
such rumours, saying that there are no hidden finds at Giza. And they reinforce their breathtaking volte-
face by pouring scorn on those who, in their view, spread such irresponsible rumours.

In another twist to this story, NBC planned live television coverage of the opening of the chambers
under the Sphinx for some time in late 1996 or early 1997. This programme was to be based specifically
on the work of the Schor Foundation/Florida State University. Among the invitees to this historic event
was Richard Hoagland.2® After the big build-up, it never happened, presumably thanks to Hancock and
Bauval’s success in getting the Schor Foundation/FSU’s licence revoked. If the highly respected NBC was
committed to this broadcast, is it too naive to suspect that there must have been something worth
revealing? If these chambers exist, why were they never filmed as promised, and why are we still waiting
even for confirmation of their existence?



Since then the focus of attention has shifted. Boris Said, who has since ended his association with
Schor, claims that the expedition was also interested in a tunnel at the bottom of a 120-foot shaft —
known as the water shaft - beneath the causeway leading from the Sphinx to Khafra’s Pyramid. This is
reached by an underpass that cuts into the causeway about halfway between the Sphinx and the Pyramid.
When we visited Giza, we saw that a shaft descends at that point to a depth of some 20 feet, with a tunnel
running off to the north. The top of the shaft is behind an iron cage, which is locked - a sensible precaution
to avoid losing tourists. But there were definite signs of work continuing further below: a very modern
pickaxe and other tools were lying at the bottom of the visible shaft, beside the usual mess of water
bottles and chocolate wrappers.

This shaft is remarkably interesting. in fact. It descends in three stages to an incredible depth of 120
feet underneath the plateau, as Boris Said discovered when he took Thomas Dobecki down there in 1996.
Dobecki took echo-sounding readings, particularly to discover what lay beneath a gigantic black basalt
sarcophagus lid. They claim to have found about 10 feet of empty space and what appears to be a tunnel. 8
feet wide, running in the direction of the Sphinx, 300 yards to the east.2l Hawass, too, is highly excited by
this discovery, suggesting that it is nothing less than the - symbolic - tomb of Osiris.2?

It is puzzling that so much interest has recently been focused on this shaft — and where it leads —
because this is not a new discovery. Bizarrely, the current situation appears to be a rerun of events that
took place as long ago as the 1930s. That shaft appears in the works of H. Spencer Lewis of AMORC,
where it forms the entrance to an underground complex of tunnels and chambers that link the pyramids and
the chamber under the Sphinx.22 And significantly, H.C. Randall-Stevens’s psychic communications told
him exactly the same. This coincided with, possibly because it was prompted by, the discovery of the
subway and the shaft by the great Egyptian Egyptologist Selim Hassan in the 1930s.

Randall-Stevens claims that Hassan also found a network of underground ‘rooms and chambers, none
of which bear any relationship to tombs or funerary chambers. They are colonnaded sanctuaries and
hallways - temples and ritual chambers.’>* This is amazing. If Hassan had made one of the greatest
archaeological discoveries of all time, why does no one know about it? What Randall-Stevens seems to
have been describing was nothing less than a massive underground complex that had never even been
suspected. Hassan’s work would have been interrupted by the onset of the Second World War, but this
hardly explains the complete silence on the subject up until our own day. What are they waiting for? Why
is this amazing ancient Egyptian treasure trove being kept under wraps?

On investigation this putative archaeological treasure trove disappointingly dwindles to almost nothing.
Randall-Stevens’s description of the underground complex is ridiculously — and possibly deliberately —
exaggerated to a huge degree. There are chambers and sarcophagi down there dating from no further back
than the Saite period (sixth — seventh centuries BCE), but — according to the testimony of independent
researchers such as Chris Ogilvie-Herald and Ian Lawton, who managed to gain access in September
199822 — they are not especially impressive, nor is there any network of tunnels and halls such as
Randall-Stevens described. The very newspaper reports of Hassan’s discovery cited by Randall-Stevens
say nothing about the existence of such a complex.2® So why are Said and Schor now focusing attention on
that particular location? Perhaps it is simply another piece of mystery-making; after all, few others have
access to the place to check it out for themselves. Then again, that same spot has recently attracted the

attention of Zahi Hawass, who believes it to be a major archaeological discovery - nothing less than the
symbolic ‘tomb of Osiris’.



Unfortunately, nothing connected with Giza is ever simple or straightforward. Film footage of the water
shaft taken by Boris Said in 1996 has become the subject of intense legal wrangling which has, at least,
succeeded in adding to its fascination for the New Egyptology community. According to Said, he and
Schor approached Fox Television with the footage, hoping to clinch a documentary deal with them. Then
Schor and Said disputed the terms of the film deal, which means that, until the dispute is resolved, the
footage in question cannot be shown commercially. However, Robert Bauval - presumably with both

Schor and Said’s blessing - did present it at a conference in London in October 1998.%/

Admittedly, this particular sequence is certainly worth viewing, though perhaps for reasons the film-
makers did not intend. It certainly out-Indianas Dr Jones: four-wheel-drive vehicles screech to a halt,
throwing up sprays of dust on a remarkably tourist-free Giza plateau, and a team of ‘archaeologists’ leap
out and abseil down a huge shaft. Squeezing through a sand-clogged tunnel, they break through into a dark
chamber, apparently the first people to do so for many centuries (other than the film crew waiting to film
their entrance). Then they find a sarcophagus lid embedded in the floor, and excitedly pour the contents of
their water bottles over it to wash away the centuries-old dirt.

In our view, the whole event was stage-managed for optimum dramatic effect. The shaft they abseil into
bears no resemblance to the one where they find the sarcophagus. The latter does appear to be the water
shaft, but it cannot be accessed by abseiling; its three tiers are reached by means of a metal ladder. In
other words, they were filmed going into one place and coming out of quite another to make it look more
dramatic. In any case, the sarcophagus they ‘discovered’ so excitedly on camera had already been known
about for some time.

Why is this particular place being so determinedly turned into a legendary location when all the
evidence is that, although it has archaeological interest, it is not particularly remarkable? Could it be
simply because such a thing is easily achieved — and lo and behold, another myth is attached to Giza!

Confusion certainly reigns on the plateau — more, we suggest, by design than accident. But because of
the actions and statements of key people, it is impossible to know with any certainty exactly what is
rumour and what is genuine information.

Moves and countermoves

Confusion itself seems somehow to be stage-managed. A few years ago matters were neatly clear-cut
where Egypt was concerned. Two camps stood in opposition to standard Egyptologists: the New
Egyptology, fronted by Hancock and Bauval; and the esotericists, such as Joseph Schor and ARE. The
picture is considerably muddier now because all the main players have been plotting with almost
Machiavellian vigour, jostling for position and making alliances with those who will serve their interests
best, producing some very odd bedfellows.

In May 1998 Graham Hancock and John Anthony West issued a joint statement on the Internet.
Superficially it seemed very magnanimous, a nobly proffered olive branch. After years of acrimonious
scrapping with Dr Zahi Hawass, they were suddenly giving him this unqualified endorsement:

We are now absolutely convinced that the precious monuments of Giza could not be in better
hands than those of Dr Hawass. We have seen him at work. We have seen his passion and genuine



love for the pyramids and the Sphinx. And we have seen that above all else he is determined to
ensure the preservation of these monuments for the future. There are no conspiracies. There are no
hidden finds. There is no skullduggery.28

Robert Bauval also issued a statement shortly afterwards, saying: ‘Graham Hancock, John West and
myself are now satisfied that no “behind the scene” activities, secret explorations and/or secret agendas

are being implemented at Giza.’2?

A similar volte-face concerned Mark Lehner: after Keeper of Genesis had suggested strongly that he
was part of an ARE plot, Bauval and Hancock recently went on record giving him their seal of
approval &

Having portrayed Lehner and Hawass as the villains of the piece in books, articles and lectures for
years - as well as being the most high-profile instigators of claims of ‘hidden finds’ and ‘secret agendas’ -
it came as something of a surprise to find Hancock and Bauval suddenly defending them and denouncing
rumourmongers. It is no less surprising to find Hawass reciprocating; back in May 1997 he had called a
conference at the Foreign Press Association in Cairo to complain about the ‘fringe element’ distracting
him from his real work, and specifically condemned Bauval and Hancock for their influence over the
public.

It has now been announced that Zahi Hawass will be the next Head of the Supreme Council of
Antiquities (SCA) — the official all-powerful Egyptian committee that decides on all excavations - on the
retirement of the present incumbent in 1999.%! That means that Hawass will be in power at the time of the
Millennium, which makes him most attractive as a friend and colleague. We have already seen that
Hawass has agreed to give Bauval, Hancock and the rest of the Magic 12 - the authors who have received
their seal of approval - a platform in front of the Sphinx for their ‘message to the planet’ on Millennium
night.

This was not the only change of heart of those authors in recent years. According to Hieroglyph: The
Hancock and Bauval Newsletter, the two authors considered that the project being undertaken at the
Sphinx by the Schor Foun lation and Florida State University, and which had been licensed by the SCA,
‘had many aspects about it that were unsatisfactory’.52 The exact grounds for their complaint is unclear, or
rather appears contradictory. Initially, they were upset by the Schor Foundation’s withholding of its
alleged discovery of nine chambers beneath the Sphinx, which Bauval and Hancock had revealed to the
public in lectures, articles and radio appearances. However, the announcement that there were plans to
open these chambers on live television seems to have intensified their opposition. This is very curious:
first Bauval and Hancock protested because they believed a major discovery was being covered up; then
they complained because it was being made public ...

They subsequently mounted a campaign to get the Schor Foundation/Florida State University’s licence
revoked, exploiting their own high profile among their reading public.%2 For example, Zahi Hawass
received ‘literally thousands’® of letters from around the world protesting about the project, written
mainly because of Bauval and Hancock’s campaign. The licence was duly cancelled, and the project

stopped.

Two years later, though, Bauval and Hancock wrote that they now ‘feel that a reconsideration by the

SCA of the Schor Foundation to carry on with their work is in order’.% It should come as no surprise to
discover that the Schor Foundation/Florida State University had their licence returned and in October



1998 they were granted permission to undertake drilling work near the Great Pyramid (where
underground tunnels are believed to exist) in order to test the reliability of the remote-sensing techniques
employed at the Sphinx. If this is ultimately successful, Hawass may allow Schor’s team to return to the

Sphinx enclosure. Joseph Jahoda was present on site in October 1998.%

This is an extraordinary situation. Although the SCA - the official licensing authority - may have
granted the Schor Foundation/Florida State University team a licence, Hancock and Bauval were saying
that they considered the SCA to be wrong, and launched a successful campaign to have it revoked. When
they deemed that it was time for the team to be given their licence back, that is what happened. It is
incredible that those two authors consider themselves to be a higher authority than the SCA — and that the
SCA itself seems to agree with their self-image. Why do the Egyptians fall in with their plans so readily?

An air of glasnost now pervades Giza, though, as Bauval is now lobbying Hawass to allow Rudolf
Gantenbrink back there.

Then there is the remarkable case of Nigel Appleby and his ‘Operation Hermes’. Appleby claimed to
have worked out the location of the Hall of Records, beneath the outskirts of Cairo, based on certain
geometrical alignments and astronomical computations — indeed, he claims to have recognised the
Orion/Giza correlation several years before Robert Bauval. Appleby planned a major expedition to find
the Hall of Records, amid escalating publicity: his Operation Hermes was, we were led to believe,
backed by the British Army (he is a Territorial soldier), who were to provide extraordinary services,
including the supply of four-wheel-drive vehicles and the use of Hercules transport aircraft to ship the
expedition and its equipment to Egypt.

However, disaster lay in wait for Appleby. Although his Hall of the Gods went straight into the Top 10
hardback bestseller list in the United Kingdom in June 1998, it would not remain there for long. It was
withdrawn from sale within a week due to allegations of plagiarism by a number of authors.®” Initially it
was Ralph Ellis, author of Thoth: Architect of the Universe, who made the allegations, but then he was
joined by Robert Temple, Andrew Collins, and Christopher Knight and Robert Lemas (co-authors of The
Hiram Key and The Second Messiah). But the organisers of this campaign - who persuaded most of the
other authors to make their complaints and co-ordinated the issuing of public statements, mainly on the
Internet - were none other than Graham Hancock and Robert Bauval. According to Appleby himself, they
even offered to pay the legal fees incurred by some of this group.

The fact that Hall of the Gods was withdrawn within a week of being published was surely no
accident. It ensured maximum publicity (and humiliation for Appleby) and threw Operation Hermes into
chaos. Hancock and Bauval followed this up with a posting on the Internet about the affair, signed jointly
with the other authors (except Ellis), declaring that they had no affiliations with Appleby or Hermes, ‘nor
[do we] intend to have in the future’.88 Then, oddly, within a few weeks the announcement was made of a
joint Robert Bauval/Nigel Appleby lecture cruise on the Nile, advertised for November 1998. Bauval has
also publicly called for the other authors to forgive and forget.%2 For his part, Appleby has recently gone
on record praising Bauval’s fairness.

Superficially this sounds like an admirable state of affairs, with Bauval emerging as a decent,
magnanimous gentleman trying to calm troubled waters. Once again, though, the situation is much more
complex than it may first appear. When Nigel Appleby’s work first received publicity in 1997, Hancock
and Bauval commissioned Simon Cox. who is a professional researcher, to prepare a report about
Appleby and his theories, which they included in the joint statement posted on the Internet. Now that



peace has broken out all round, however, Appleby has written an article for Quest magazine defending
himself against his detractors, particularly singling out Cox’s report as an example of the campaign
against him.Z Tronically he ends his piece by thanking Robert Bauval for resolving the matter, and for
brokering a deal between him and the other authors — despite the fact that Cox’s report was initially
commissioned, and then made public, by Bauval and Hancock themselves. (The two authors in fact hold

the copyright.)

The story then becomes even more complicated. After making a major issue of the importance of
keeping the public aware of every new development, Hancock, Bauval and the other authors signed an
agreement with Appleby that somehow brought an end to the affair. The terms of this agreement have
never been made public, so once again we are dependent upon Bauval and Hancock’s reassurances that
everything was on an even keel. And the only person who refused to sign this mysterious agreement,
Ralph Ellis, has now become the focus of their antipathy. There is another almost incredible volte-face in
which Bauval, having supported Ellis in his complaints against Appleby, switched his support to Appleby
against Ellis. This appears to be a ‘divide and rule’ policy.

By now Bauval and Hancock have succeeded in establishing themselves as the major power brokers in
all matters concerning unorthodox explorations at Giza, as well as reinforcing their position as the leaders
of the alternative Egypt field. We are not alone in our concern about Hancock and Bauval’s bid to
monopolise the New Orthodoxy of Egyptology. Several other authors, such as Alan F. Alford and Ralph
Ellis, have also expressed disquiet about their high-handed actions.

For their part, Bauval and Hancock have even backtracked about the conspiracies central to Keeper of
Genesis and which they promoted widely at conferences and in the media. In many ways this is a pity.
They had made strong cases and left some intriguing loose ends. They themselves raised questions that
they then, after their change of heart, left unanswered, abruptly offering bland assurances that, essentially,
their own suspicions and allegations were unfounded, usually on the rather unsatisfactory grounds that the
people they were criticising turned out to be really nice guys once you got to know them.

What is perhaps most disturbing is the reaction of their audiences. Only a year or two before, Hancock
and Bauval were happily applauded when they denounced Zahi Hawass for suppressing the truth about
secret finds at Giza and also condemned ARE and the Schor Foundation for pursuing their own private
agendas. But now the same readers and followers followers are - largely without question - accepting
Bauval and Hancock’s about-turn endorsements of Hawass et al, as well as the new assurances that all is
in order at Giza.

With all these astonishing back-track and changes of heart, it is difficult to know who belongs to which
camp, or even what the various groups stand for. While Bauval and Hancock may simply be exercising
their right to change their minds, certain provocative underlying affiliations may be discerned. For
example, Alan Alford has referred to Graham Hancock ‘wittingly or unwittingly, following a masonic
agenda ...’

The words and actions of the representative of orthodox Egyptology, Zahi Hawass, only add to the
problem. It seems that his many, often quite glaring, contradictions, appear to be part of some elaborate
game. We have already noted his connection with ARE, who helped arrange his training as an
Egyptologist. Although, in his official capacity, he maintained a dismissive attitude to the ‘fringe element’,
it was not surprising to find him appearing in a short promotional video about the search for the Hall of
Records made by Boris Said and the Schor Foundation in late 1995.Z2 In this, Hawass appears in the



tunnel beneath the rear of the Sphinx, declaring: ‘This tunnel has never been opened before. No one really
knows what is inside this tunnel. But we are going to open it for the first time.” (When the existence of this
sequence was leaked to the public in 1996 it caused much excitement among followers of the Giza drama,
who wondered what the rest of the film might reveal. However, it appears that it was made as a ‘screen
test’ for a future film if the chambers were ever found.)

It is hard to know the nature of anyone’s true affiliation in this story, but we have already seen that Zahi
Hawass is closely associated with ARE. He also has connections with another esoteric organisation that
sets great store by the existence of hidden chambers at Giza, having been in the 1980s a consultant to and

frequent lecturer at AMORC’s Museum of Egyptology in San José, California.”2

Such confusion encourages the spread of some of the wilder rumours, of which there are many. One
particularly lurid story was recently posted on the Internet by the independent American researcher Larry
Dean Hunter who, as we have seen, investigated claims of tunnelling in Davison’s Chamber on behalf of
Richard Hoagland, together with Amargi Hillier, who lives in Nazlet-al-Samman, the village in front of
the Sphinx. (Hunter is a former officer with US Navy Intelligence.) It claimed that a massive, 250-foot
high chamber had been found inside the Great Pyramid. This they call the Hall of Osiris, which they claim
leads to another chamber in which lies the body of the god Osiris himself. This is astonishing, not least
because of the idea of a god having a physical reality outside of myth and legend. This is typical of Hunter
and Hillier’s overheated apocalyptic output:

For the first time in many thousands of years, the mass world population will start to receive an
inside glimpse concerning something truly powerful, hidden from humankind by God, regarding
the Great Pyramid. We are sure these revelations will accelerate the ‘quickening’ into high gear.
God is quietly whispering to everyone, letting them know they are getting close to the fulfilment of
the words of Isaiah 19.19: ‘In that day there shall be an altar to the Lord in the midst of the land of
Egypt, and a pillar at the border thereof to the Lord.””

This quotation is a notable favourite among those who blend a fervent Christian fundamentalism with a
passion for ancient Egypt. Superficially, this seems to offer an almost haphazard mix of the Old Testament
(the Lord) and ancient Egyptian myths (the god Osiris) - a strange blend indeed. Believers in the God of
the Old Testament - Yahweh - do not, as a rule, attach any significance to pagan deities. One would be
very hard pressed, for example, to find a rabbi — a supreme example of a Yahweh-worshipper - eagerly
awaiting the discovery of the body of Osiris or taking seriously the idea that his God planned global
changes involving the deity of the nation that. according to the Bible, enslaved his own race. Furthermore,
Hunter and Hillier link all this to Cayce’s prophecy of the opening of the Hall of Records in 1998.
Ironically, they are attempting to evoke Cayce’s prophecies to support the idea of secret chambers within
the Great Pyramid, though Cayce himself categorically stated that there are no such chambers to be

found.Z2

Given the accessibility provided by the internet, it is hardly surprising that incredible rumours spread
like wildfire these days. But there are also signs that some are circulated deliberately to accord with
specific agendas, and that they originate from official circles.

Late in 1997, our friend Georgina Bruni. a columnist for Sightings magazine, was introduced to a
leading Egyptian political journalist at a reception in London. During their conversation, Georgina
brought up the subject of the rumoured secret search for the Hall of Records. To her surprise, the
journalist told her that the chambers beneath the Sphinx had already been opened a few months before by



a team from the Schor Foundation, but that the Egyptian government had placed an official embargo on the
story, going so far as to call in journalists to impress upon them the seriousness of the official ban on
publishing the story.Z® This Egyptian journalist went much further. He claimed that the chamber under the
Sphinx contained the body and treasure of an Egyptian queen, perhaps Akhenaten’s wife, Nefertiti, as well
as a statue of the lioness-headed goddess Sekhmet. He also said there were many other finds, including
another chamber containing ancient texts, written or inscribed in both hieroglyphics and another language
that was described, significantly, as ‘Altean’. Some of these writings have, he claimed, already been
deciphered, and tell how Atum descended from the sky, and describe how an earlier civilisation came to
Egypt and built the pyramids.

There seems little doubt that this story was told in good faith, by a London-based correspondent who
specialised in political, rather than archaeological, stories. He was simply telling Georgina Bruni what he
had heard in political circles in Cairo. The story may well have originated from within Egyptian
governmental circles, but much of it is, frankly, incredible. For example, how could records in an
unknown language be translated at all, let alone so soon after they were discovered?

So what is going on at Giza? It seems as if a game is being played out, though only the players
themselves know the rules and the goal. The rest of us can only watch and wonder. Some of the evidence
certainly suggests that clandestine searches are being made at Giza, as suggested by the testimony of
Thomas Danley and Simon Cox about secret tunnelling in the Great Pyramid. On the other hand, highly
publicised ventures, such as the filming of the water shaft, turn out to be insubstantial and hardly worth
our attention. Where Giza is concerned there is a strange tendency to mix persuasive, academic evidence
with rumour and inflated claims with downright nonsense. So how can the objective researcher make
sense of it all?

One starting point is to ask what various people have to gain from focusing their attention so avidly on
Giza? Clearly they perceive some benefit from all their digging and skulduggery. The most obvious
possibility is that they really believe there is something to be found that is of value or use, anything from
treasure to religious artefacts or some kind of ancient technology. Most theories about Giza incline to take
that line, but much less attention has been paid to another aspect that could be turned to advantage — the
potency of Giza as a symbol for disparate creeds. This in itself is something of inestimable value,
especially for those whose business it is to exploit the power of belief systems. Is Giza itself, rather than
something found there, the goal?

Of all the players in the Giza game, most can be seen to have definite and easily discernible
motivations; for example, Hawass wants to be the world’s leading Egyptologist, Joseph Schor and ARE
want to find the Hall of Records, and so on. The motivations of certain individuals and organisations who
have played key roles are not so easy to define, such as the enigmatic Dr James J. Hurtak and SRI
International, who seem to be have been working together at Giza in the 1970s. Far from lading from
lading from the picture, Hurtak has recently gone into partnership with Boris Said in his Magical Eye
production company, being listed as their scientific adviser.

Inside the seer’s circle

As we have seen, one name frequently cited in connection with Giza is that of the American ‘prophet’



Edgar Cayce. His prediction of the discovery of the Hall of Records in 1998 explains why his
organisation, ARE, repeatedly appear in this story. They are obviously looking for the Hall of Records,
although why they need to pour money into the search when presumably they believe it will be found
eventually anyway is mystery.

Edgar Cayce, we discovered, warrants closer scrutiny. What emerges is a very different image from the
well-worn, accepted picture. We see him as a simple Joe, relatively uneducated but eager to learn, who
remained in humble circumstances for most of his life. The very first headline mentioning him — in the
New York Times in 1910 - emphasised this image, reading: ‘Illiterate Man Becomes Doctor When
Hypnotized’.ZZ This is very strange; not only was he not illiterate, but he also had a long-standing job as a
sales assistant in a bookstore. In fact. he spent most of the first seven years of his working life in
bookshops.”8 He was also famed for his prodigious memory: over thirty years later he was proud of the
fact that he could still quote from the publishers’ catalogues he had to study in his job.Z

There was another more secret side to Edgar Cayce, which we have never seen mentioned in any of the
mainstream books that currently feature him, although some of the writers must certainly be aware of it
simply because they share the same private affiliations as him. His entranced alter ego predicted that
Masonic ideals would become the governing principles of the future American Golden Age. This is a
concept of which the conscious Edgar Cayce would have approved. He left his job in the book trade at the
age of twenty-two to join his father, Leslie B. Cayce (known locally as ‘the Squire’), in his job as a
travelling insurance salesman for the Fraternal Insurance Company.8® As its name suggests, this company
sold insurance to Freemasons, so all its employees would have also been members of the Brotherhood.
Presumably the reason Edgar only joined his father in this work at the age of twenty-two was the fact that
young men must reach twenty-one to enter a lodge. We have not identified the Masonic rank of either
father or son, but we know that Cayce Senior was authorised to found new lodges and Edgar used to help
him do so, implying no insignificant status on their part.8! (In fact, Cayce only worked with his father for a
few months, being struck down with the first of his attacks of aphasia — psychosomatic loss of voice. It
was the treatment for this - hypnosis - that seemingly unlocked Cayce’s famous psychic powers.)

As his psychic career developed, Edgar Cayce became known in the very highest echelons of American
society. In a memoir written in 1932 (though not published until 1997), he wrote that, in 1918 or 1919: ‘I
was called to Washington to give information for one high in authority. This, I am sure, must have been at
least interesting, as I was called a year or so later.”8 Although Cayce is being discreet here, it is not
difficult to work out to whom he was referring — almost certainly President Woodrow Wilson himself,
possibly because he had a stroke in 1919, and Cayce could have been brought in for his healing talents.
(According to two Cayce biographers, he was summoned to give advice about the formation of the League
of Nations.2)

A link with Woodrow Wilson is entirely plausible: one of Cayce’s friends, and earliest promoters of
his powers, was David E. Kahn, who had served with one of Wilson’s cousins in the First World War.82
Afterwards, Cayce, Kahn and Major Wilson went into business together to form the Cayce Petroleum
Company to locate oil in Texas using Cayce’s psychic abilities. In its short four-year life, the company
was a disaster. As Cayce wrote: ‘Nothing came of our efforts to produce oil except a financial loss to
many people.’8 Even without Cayce’s vaunted psychic powers, surely they must be among the few
prospectors not to have found oil in Texas! Hardly a good advertisement for his abilities.

It was Kahn who propelled Cayce Inie the li nelight, fixing up contacts with the great and the good. He



had first met Cayce in Alabama in 1912 and was deeply interested in his diagnostic readings. When he
went into the US Army in 1917, Kahn sang Cayce’s praises to his superior officers, with the result that a
request for a reading was sent by an unidentified member of the Italian royal family.2” This was hardly the
humble milieu in which we have been led to believe Cayce moved. Indeed, he said of Kahn: ‘Through
him I made the acquaintance of some most prominent people - bankers, businessmen, lawyers, journalists,
people in almost every walk of life.’® In 1924 Kahn also introduced him to a circle of businessmen
headed by New York stockbroker Morton Blumenthal, who agreed to finance a hospital and research
institute at Virginia Beach in return for Cayce’s advice on their investments. This was the prototype ARE,
although it only lasted for at most two years, when funding was withdrawn after a disagreement with
Cayce. Blumenthal and his circle then transferred their allegiance to another psychic.2

In the mid-1920s three members of this group had acquired property on Bimini, and for some reason
they had an idea that some treasure was buried there, so they flew Cayce and his family over to find it for
them.2® Unsurprisingly, he failed to do so, but the sequel is perhaps more significant: only after his return
from that trip did Bimini and Atlantis begin to feature in his readings.

Cayce’s influence had reached the Army, Italian royalty and the President, but he also had contacts in
the world of intelligence. According to David Kahn, interviewed in 1965, the meeting between Cayce and
President Wilson was arranged by Colonel Edmond Starling, head of the Secret Service.2l Kahn also
described Starling as ‘a lifelong friend’ of Cayce, although the former’s name never appears in Cayce’s
memoirs; the prophet was characteristically very discreet. Like Cayce, Starling came from Hopkinsville
in Kentucky, which is perhaps why they were lifelong friends, although the latter belonged to an older
generation and so it is more likely that they met through Cayce’s father. It is tempting to speculate that
Starling and Cayce Senior were fellow members of the Hopkinsville lodge.

These associations can be seen as a microcosm of a much wider picture. As our investigation
proceeded, an initially unlikely pattern began to form: strange alliances that surface time and time again
among psychics, politicians, Freemasons, the world of big business and the intelligence agencies.
Whether or not Cayce’s predictions were accurate is largely irrelevant. What really matters is that many
highly influential people believed he possessed genuine powers. If they followed him then, do the same
categories of people also believe in him now? Is this a motivating force behind what is currently going on
at Giza, especially around the crucial last years of the twentieth century, when the Hall of Records will,
according to Cayce, finally be found?

Although it may seem far-fetched that modern political movers and shakers may be influenced by the
prophecies of Edgar Cayce, it is known that leading members of the Egyptian government — and members
of the presidential family — firmly believe in the reality of the Hall of Records.22 Cayce himself drew
together a chain of associations that included the Masons, intelligence agencies, politicians and other
influential personages, but others besides Cayce - individuals and organisations - embrace a similar chain
of associations.

The mind’s eye

The connections between psychic phenomena, technology and the world of intelligence and defence are



embodied in another organisation with a key role in events at Giza, especially in the 1970s - SRI
International. As Mark Lehner said: ‘SRI was in the business of looking for hidden chambers at Giza well
before I or the Edgar Cayce Foundation met up with them’.22 Perhaps this is a little odd: ARE’s
involvement with ( 3 i < <3 : perfectly understandable, given Cayce’s prophecies, but why was SRI
searching for hidden chambers?

Founded by Stanford University in California as the Stanford Research Institute in 1946, SRI was
originally planned as a means of attracting commercial business research to bring extra revenue to the
university. This was not a success, and the parent body had to subsidise it for several years.2* SRI’s
fortunes changed dramatically when it began to take on military and intelligence contracts, much of it
classified. This included weapons testing for the Atomic Energy Commission and research into chemical
warfare. It also developed other, considerably weirder, weaponry for both the Pentagon and the CIA.
(Stanford University’s own metamorphosis from regional to national academic centre resulted from its
acceptance of Department of Defense contracts, although the majority of this work was actually carried
out by SRIL)

By 1968, SRI rivalled the university itself in size, and even employed more staff. But by then
Stanford’s students had discovered the extent of the university’s involvement with defence and
intelligence agencies, and over the next three years the administrators were forced to reveal that many
departments - but particularly the Research Institute - were heavily involved in classified projects,
including work on electronic surveillance for the CIA. Predictably, this horrified the students. As Stuart
W. Leslie says in The Cold War and American Science (1993): ‘The extent of Stanford’s classified
research program, although common knowledge among the engineers. shocked an academic community
still coming to terms with the Vietham War.’® The students, appalled, started a campaign against the
university’s links with the military, with a series of demonstrations and sit-ins specifically targeting the
Research Institute. As a result, the university stopped taking on research on behalf of classified projects,
and divested itself of the embarrassment of the main recipient of such favours. Stanford Research Institute
became a private company, changing its name to SRI International.

Now on its own, SRI came to rely on defence contracts even more, the revenue enabling it to become
one of the largest independent research institutes in the world. In 1993, approximately 75 per cent of
SRI’s income came from the Department of Defense.2® It now has offices in ten countries outside the
United States - including the United Kingdom — and operates an Artificial Intelligence Laboratory at
Cambridge University. It has a National Security Advisory Council, made up of former Department of
Defense ‘decision-makers’, and carries out research for NASA.

In its work at Giza, SRI used ‘remote sensing’ - a hi-tech but resolutely mainstream scientific technique
- which is entirely different from another of their specialities, the similarly named ‘remote viewing’ that
was the focus of work on which they concentrated on behalf of the CIA during the 1970s. Masterminded
by researchers Russell Targ and Harold (‘Hal’) Puthoff, this was pure X-Files research. It almost
certainly inspired much of the concept of the cult series, not to mention being the catalyst for the Pentagon
and CIA’s own lengthy remote-viewing programmes.

Remote viewing (RV) is an entirely psychic or paranormal technique, although it was investigated, and
then taught, in Pentagon and CIA-funded projects known, for example, as Grill Flame or Sun Streak —
and, significantly, Star Gate - over a twenty-year period at a cost estimated at approximately $15 million,
although many sources put it much higher.2’ The term ‘stargate’ has been popularised in recent years



because of the successful 1994 movie and later television series of the same name, which presented the
idea of an ancient device that, properly operated, could transport human beings to other worlds.
Presumably the producers knew that the ancient Egyptian sba meant both ‘star’ and ‘gate’ or ‘door’,2
although the reason why a remote- viewing project was given the name Star Gate remains tantalisingly

unclear.

Essentially remote viewing deliberately induces a form of out-of-body experience (OOBE) in order to
‘travel’ to distant locations - usually across space, but occasionally even across time - and then to report
back on what was ‘seen’.

In the 1970s SRI’s research into RV was well-known among the international parapsychological
communities, where it was on the whole received positively as exciting evidence for the existence of a
mind, or consciousness, that could act independently of the physical body and brain. (Its implications are
enormous, not least because it appears to confirm what religions and mystics have always taught: that
there is an individual consciousness - spirit or soul — that can operate beyond the confines of the body,
and which therefore could, theoretically, continue to exist after the body dies.)

Targ and Puthoff’s research attracted media attention in the 1970s, mostly because it appeared that,
with minimal training, almost anyone could learn how to remote view. Their experiments were featured in
several television documentaries. In one, the researcher, persuaded to participate, passed with flying
colours, correctly describing a ‘target’ location that she had ‘seen’ with her invisibly travelling
consciousness. But back at SRI it soon became clear that there were remote-viewing ‘stars’, notably New
York artist Ingo Swann and former police chief Pat Price. After being trained as a remote viewer, Price
went to work for the CIA. He was later to die in mysterious circumstances.22 Swann went on to train
remote viewers for the Pentagon, and afterwards for a private company. But of all the stars who took part
in SRI experiments, none were as famous as the young Israeli psychic who arrived in 1972: the
handsomely charismatic Uri Geller, now internationally known as the metal-bender extraordinaire.

Geller had been ‘talent-spotted’ while entertaining in nightclubs in Israel and was taken to the United
States, where his powers were tested by SRI in a controlled scientific environment. 12 The man entrusted
with persuading Geller to go to SRI was to become not only his mentor, if only for a short time, but also
the key player in an astonishingly complex network of interlinked conspiracies and agendas. His name
was Dr Andrija Puharich — truly, as we shall see, a name to conjure with.

The publicity surrounding Targ and Puthoff’s RV research at SRI never mentioned one major fact. The
research into the RV psychic surveillance technique was funded directly by US intelligence agencies,
especially the CIA’s Office of Technical Services and Office of Research.l%

The SRI research was bolstered by an injection of $150,000 from the CIA over a period of two years.
There were also, according to Jim Schnabel’s Remote Viewers (1997): ‘two small contracts with the

Navy and NASA, plus money left over from private grants for the Geller research’ 102

In the mid-1990s, SRI’s CIA and Pentagon backing was finally made public, partly because of the
demands of the Freedom of Information Act, but also as a result of the testimony of ex-RVers themselves,
especially David Morehouse, a former US Army officer, who had worked as a ‘psi spy’ on Operation Sun
Streak in the late 1980s and early 1990s. In his book Psychic Warrior (1995), Morehouse describes his
reaction to reading a file on the background to the RV projects:

I couldn’t believe it. This programme had been in existence since early 1974, for nearly 15 years.



It wasn’t experimental any longer ... they knew it worked - they’d proven that at Stanford, and all
the evidence was here. There were books written on the stuff by the researchers involved; nobody
paid any attention to them. The books didn’t mention the intelligence involvement, but evidence of

government fund ™ was written all over the place.l%

Morehouse also stated: “The government was funding paranormal research in half a dozen private, and as
many state and federal research centres across the United States. They were pumping tens of millions of
dollars into remote viewing and various related techniques.’1%

During the 1970s, SRI undertook several different psi-related projects, but it was the remote-viewing
research that was their most cherished and important. This was the time that SRI began their work at Giza.
Was this just a coincidence, or was more going on behind the scenes?

A clue may lie in the experiences of the remote viewers. Many of them spontaneously reported
encountering pyramids during their RV sessions. This, like all information gathered by remote viewing,
was routinely taken seriously by the experimenters or ‘handlers’. Neither SRI nor the intelligence
agencies themselves would have failed to seize upon this information, especially as they were already
involved with excavations at Giza, directly or indirectly. However, it is known that when Lambert
Dolphin Jr took charge of the SRI expedition to Giza in the 1970s he had information about the plateau
gleaned from SRI’s remote viewers. 1% Significantly, Dolphin’s friend James Hurtak also seems, in his
usual elusive fashion, to have been involved in the establishment of SRI’s remote-viewing project. When
they initially established it they called in a veteran parapsychologist, Harold Sherman, to advise them,1%
and we know that Hurtak was in contact with him at that time. In the words of a spokesperson for Hurtak’s

Academy for Future Sciences, Hurtak ‘shared insights’ with Sherman about remote viewing.1%

However, there is another side to remote viewing, which raises some disturbing questions about the
military and intelligence agencies’ enthusiasm for experimenting with it. Some commentators, such as
Alex Constantine, argue that remote viewing was more concerned with beaming information into people’s
minds than information-gathering from distant locations.!? Constantine maintains that remote viewing as
we know it is merely misinformation, that the whole purpose of the Pentagon’s research was
experimentation with mind control, and that the ‘psychic spying’ aspects were merely colour. Although
Constantine presents a compelling case that some of the remote viewing projects had this hidden agenda,
on the evidence, this rather extreme view seems unlikely. It is perfectly logical to assume that there was at
least an element of ‘remote influencing’ in their research because, if remote viewing is a viable military
technique, then some form of counter technique - like radar jamming — must also have been taken into
account. Few researchers have even considered this aspect, so we cannot know for certain how far
remote influencing has been taken by the authorities, although the mass of parapsychological evidence
suggests strongly that all psychic processes are two-way and also occult tradition has always maintained
that they can be used for good or evil.

For these reasons, the possibility of remote influencing should be borne in mind in all the following
discussions about remote viewing, especially when dealing with some of the more extreme claims made
by remote viewers.

Search for the Stargate



Perhaps no one will ever know the full picture of what has been going on at Giza during these last thirty
or so years. The presence of apparently disparate groups and organisations such as ARE and SRI — with
their often weird mix of hi-tech science and psi — and the Joseph M. Schor Foundation might at first
suggest individual, even personal, aims and agendas. When the surface of this activity is scratched a little
more deeply, however, the military and intelligence interest becomes increasingly clear.

Some more colourful than others, rumours spread about Giza and the organisations involved, even
producing claims that the US government is searching for a physical artefact or ancient device, perhaps
even of extraterrestrial origin. Are they looking for a real working stargate, as in the movie, maybe
following instructions given by remote viewers? Or, more disturbingly, have they already found it? This
stupendous — and very romantic — idea remains speculation. If the Americans are involved with ancient
stargate technology, then it would be the most top secret project in history, and the number of people
‘needing to know’ about it would be minimal. But what can be said with certainty is that virtually all the
individuals and groups involved in the present activity at Giza are engaged in exploiting the culture,
religion and even the gods of the ancient Egyptians to fulfil various aims and agendas. Essentially they
show little respect for the mysterious geniuses who built the pyramids and the Sphinx for their own
specific mystical reasons.

If the intelligence agencies are seeking a device - or possibly information - then this implies that they
regard the ancient Egyptians as being somehow more advanced, in some way, than our own civilisation.
Once again, we return to the idea of a lost, advanced people, or perhaps an extraterrestrial connection, as
promulgated most effectively by Robert Temple in The Sirius Mystery. Remember that - rather
inexplicably — it attracted the attention of not only the Freemasons but also the CIA and MI5.

But what do Hancock and Bauval think about the extraterrestrial question? After writing Keeper of
Genesis they continued to investigate the mysteries of Giza, and discovered some thought-provoking
connections between some of the other people and organisations involved in clandestine activity on the
plateau and the newly emerging mysteries about Mars.1% For a while, it seemed as if the conspiracy that
they had uncovered also had a Martian angle. The original intention behind The Mars Mystery (co-
written with John Grisby, but oddly credited to Hancock alone in the United States) was to reveal it to the
world. Its original subtitle was to be Message at the Edge of the World. 112 When the book appeared in
1998, although it included material about a possible civilisation on Mars and its connection with ancient
Egypt, it had dropped the examination of the link with the modern Giza conspiracy in favour of a study of
the dangers of the Earth being hit by a comet or asteroid.

While not explicitly expressing a belief in extraterrestrial intervention in human development, there is
every indication that Hancock and Bauval are at least sympathetic to the idea. Bauval frequently
acknowledges his own debt to Temple’s book, and was responsible for the publication of the new edition
in 1998.1 In recent interviews, Hancock has played down the extraterrestrial angle, saying that it is not
necessary for his theories, but it has been stated that a chapter on this subject was removed from
Fingerprints of the Gods.112 Moreover, he and Bauval went on to write The Mars Mystery, which not
only championed the idea of an ancient Martian civilisation, but also made an explicit connection with
Egypt. Also suggestive is Hancock’s recent endorsement of the work, and implicitly the claims, of alien
abductee Whitley Strieber (see Chapter 7).

Hancock and Bauval’s interest in the controversy surrounding Mars marks a significant development in
this story. This forms another element that has been introduced into the wider picture over the last few



years. The belief that there is some connection between ancient Egypt and a long-dead civilisation on
Mars has been steadily growing over the last twenty years, but is it based on anything more substantial
than a fantasy? Is there any real evidence for a Martian civilisation, and for a link between it and the
ancient Egyptians?



Beyond the Mars Mission

In April 1998 the latest US space probe, Mars Global Surveyor, sent back new images of the surface
features of the area of the Red Planet known as Cydonia Mensae. These were among the most eagerly
awaited images in history, believed to be about to reveal details of the so-called ‘Face on Mars’, proof to
many that Mars once supported a civilisation much like our own. With a resolution ten times better than
previous images, these new pictures of the Face were released on the Internet to a largely stunned
audience. The long-awaited images did not show new and conclusive detail of a strange face on the
surface of Mars. They revealed a very eroded and very shapeless lump of rock, without discernible
facelike features. The anticlimax, and in many cases, bleak disappointment, was appalling — analogous
only, in our experience, to the results of the carbon-dating in 1988 that revealed the Shroud of Turin to be
a fake. And although many believers in the Face are fighting back, the excitement about the anomalies on
Mars has largely subsided. If Mars has a message for us, it appears to be keeping quiet about it, at least
for the time being.

The pyramids of Mars

Mars is our near neighbour. Only 34 million miles away at its closest, the Red Planet is the fourth from
the sun, the second closest to us after Venus. Just half the size of Earth, it has almost the same length of day
(a little over 24.5 hours), but its year is 687 days, and its temperature ranges from an inhospitable ‘high’
of just 20 degrees Celsius to a low of — 120 degrees.

Associated in the minds of the ancients with armed conflict - our word ‘martial’ comes from the Latin
Mars, the Roman god of war - the Red Planet has long exerted a particularly powerful, often awe-
inspiring, influence on mankind. But only in February 1972 did the Mariner 9 probe show us what the
planet was really like, sending back the first close-up images of our neighbour: it was rocky, barren —
and yes, it was rather red.

However, neither the redness nor the rockiness attracted the most attention, especially in certain
quarters. Images of the surface of Mars, taken on 8 February 1972, in the region known as the Elysium
Quadrangle (15 degrees north of the Martian equator), appeared to show apparently pyramidal features —
two large and two small three-sided pyramids. A second picture of the region, taken six months later on 7
August, showed the same features. These apparent structures were seized upon as evidence of an ancient
Martian civilisation by, among others, Dr James J. Hurtak, then Professor of Oriental Studies at the



California Institute of the Arts, who a few years later, as we saw in the last chapter, would carry out
secretive work in the Great Pyramid.

In the 1970s Hurtak was described — by British author Stuart Holroyd — in these terms:

Hurtak ... was not so much a teacher as an experience, a guru-figure whose teaching was not an
explanation of objective reality but a spontaneous creation of ideas and experiences that made his
students explore new areas for themselves and in themselves. Dressed always in a crumpled suit
and wearing a black beret perched on the back of his head, Hurtak held classes which sometimes
ran as long as eight hours, during which he would alternate between reading long passages of

scripture and delivering rambling commentaries on them.1

Outside classes, Hurtak would lead groups of students on nighttime and weekend outings to ‘power spots’
in the Californian desert, revealing - if nothing else — a sympathy with the New Age faith in unseen
energies and a living Earth.

Few people took the Mariner 9 images of the Elysium pyramids seriously, although they did inspire a
Dr Who television story? and, ironically, intrigue that arch-‘Skeptic’ Dr Carl Sagan, enough for him to
write in Cosmos (1981):

The largest [of the pyramids] are 3 kilometers across at the base, and 1 kilometer high — much
larger than the pyramids of Sumer, Egypt or Mexico on Earth. They seem eroded and ancient, and

are, perhaps, only small mountains, sandblasted for ages. But they warrant, I think, a careful look.2

In 1976, a new American space mission, Viking, photographed the surface of Mars.# The two
spacecraft involved, Vikings I and II, each consisted of an orbiting vehicle to send back pictures and other
data and a lander that touched down on the surface to undertake — among other tasks - a search for life. In
this, they apparently failed, although the results are still disputed among some scientists.2 The journey
took the probes nine months, and each spacecraft cost $500 million. Viking I’s lander was originally
intended to touch down on 4 July 1976 to mark the American Bicentennial, but worries about the viability
of the chosen landing site led to a delay to 20 July, thus instead marking the seventh anniversary of the
first moon landing. Viking I landed successfully and sent back the first television pictures from the surface
of Mars. Viking II landed on 3 September 1976 and the landers continued to transmit data on the Martian
weather conditions back to Earth for six years afterwards.

On 25 July 1976, from an altitude of 1,162 miles, Viking I photographed the region of Mars known as
Cydonia Mensae, about 40 degrees north of the Martian equator, on the other side of the planet to Elysium.
The image that was returned to Earth showed what looked like a human face staring outwards into space.
This feature, about a mile long, was noticeable enough to be pointed out at a NASA press conference the
next day, but, as it could reasonably be supposed to be merely a trick of the light, this, too, was deemed of
no special interest. The image was filed away with the 51,538 other pictures taken during the mission.
(Incredibly, only 25 per cent of these images have ever been scientifically analysed, as the budget ran out
before the task could be completed.) This particular frame was given the official identification code of
35A72 - that is, the thirty-fifth image taken by Spacecraft A, Viking I, on its seventy-second orbit.

This time the story was rekindled when the image was ‘rediscovered’ some time later, although, even
among those familiar with the Face on Mars controversy, few know the full story. In effect, the image was
rediscovered twice, but only the second of these events has received widespread publicity. The little
known story of the first rediscovery begins with H. Guard Hall, the chief of operations at the Jet



Propulsion Laboratory, the facility in Pasadena in California that controls space probes such as Viking.
He was at that time the boyfriend (later the husband), of one of James Hurtak’s leading ‘disciples’, a
Dutch woman named Marijke Posthuma (an artist, illustrator and set designer who once worked for The
Beatles). Hurtak had told Posthuma about the image of the Face in December 1976, so she and Hall
searched through the archived images until they found it.° Hurtak then used the image in lectures as early
as April 1977.2

Intriguingly, Hurtak was already referring to the Face as ‘Sphinx-like’, making an immediate and
emotive connection with Egypt. Even more intriguing is the fact that Hurtak had predicted the existence of
a Sphinx image on Mars in 1975, the year before the Viking pictures had been taken.2 But it was his
extraordinary extrapolations from this image that have far-reaching implications. Hancock and Bauval
said that Hurtak: ‘predicted that further finds of similar structures, including a Sphinx-like monument,
would be made on Mars, and that these structures would be linked to the Giza monuments in a great
cosmic blueprint.’? Astonishingly, in some ways this was to be proved right: Hurtak’s ideas about Mars
were to become the lynchpin of a new system of belief.

The story only really gathered steam in 1979 — the second rediscovery of the image — when Vincent
DiPietro, an electrical engineer specialising in digital image processing at NASA’s Goddard Spaceflight
Center in Maryland, came across the image apparently by chance. DiPietro became intrigued, as did a
friend, Gregory Molenaar, a computer scientist also under contract to NASA from the Lockheed
Corporation. They wondered if it was possible to enhance the image to show more detail and determine
whether it really was a face or something that only coincidentally looked like one. Their immediate
problem was that the standard techniques for computer-enhancing the image available at that time were
unsatisfactory, so they had to write their own software to do it, which they called the Starburst Pixel
Interleaving Technique, or SPIT for short.

After searching through the Viking archives, DiPietro and Molenaar found a second image (70A13) of
the Cydonia region also showing the Face. This had been taken thirty-five days after the first picture, from
1,080 miles above the surface of Mars, with the feature lit from a different angle by the sun. It showed the
same apparent facelike structure as the first, apparently proving that, whatever else it might be, it could
not be an illusion created by a simple trick of light and shadow.

DiPietro and Molenaar discovered another seemingly significant feature on frame 70A13: what
appeared to be a five-sided pyramidal structure, about 10 miles south of the Face and approximately 1.6
miles long by 1 mile wide. This has become known as the D & M Pyramid, after the two researchers.
DiPietro and Molenaar were convinced that these two features, located so closely together, were not
accidents of erosion or tricks of the camera, but were artificial structures, presumably erected by some
long-gone Martian civilisation. They made their conclusions known to the public on 1 May 1980.

The lead in promoting DiPietro and Molenaar’s discoveries and the issue, of the Face on Mars was
taken up enthusiastically — not to say fanatically - by science writer Richard C. Hoagland, who, in 1997,
sent ‘independent Egyptologist’ Larry Dean Hunter off to check Thomas Danley’s discovery of secret
digging in the Great Pyramid.

Born in 1946, Richard Hoagland had worked for several science museums, such as the Hayden
Planetarium in New York, and was advisor or consultant on space science for several television stations,
including NBC and CBS, where he worked with legendary newsman Walter Cronkite. He is also the
former editor of Star & Sky magazine, and a presenter for CNN. In 1971 Hoagland, with one Eric



Burgess, came up with the historic idea of decorating the side of Pioneer 10 - the first space probe to
leave the solar system — with a plaque bearing representational and symbolic information about the
human race, including an upraised hand of peace and a diagram showing that man comes from the third
planet from the sun. Hoagland and Burgess passed on the suggestion to Carl Sagan, and after that it
became history. 1Y

Between 1975 and 1980 Hoagland was a consultant to NASA’s Goddard Spaceflight Center in
Maryland, organising media events, which is where his much-repeated ‘NASA consultant’ title originated.
And he was also a prime mover behind the campaign to name the first Space Shuttle Enterprise,
something clearly of personal significance: as we will see, he also changed the name of his Mars Mission
to the Enterprise Mission as a tribute to his friend Gene Roddenberry, creator of Star Trek.l!

Since first becoming involved in the Mars debate in 1983, Hoagland has become the main advocate for
the presence of artificial structures on the Red Planet. He fulfils the role of self-appointed oracle of all
things Martian so successfully that, to the vast majority of the public, he is now the main source of
information about the Face.

When he first became interested in DiPietro & Molenaar’s work in the summer of 1983, Hoagland was
working on a project concerning the rings of Saturn at SRI International at their headquarters in Menlo
Park in California.l? In July 1983 he was studying DiPietro and Molenaar’s enhanced images of the
Cydonia region and noticed a series of other artificial-looking features to the west of the Face. To
Hoagland’s eye there seemed to be a whole complex of pyramidal and other structures, covering an area
of about 12 square miles. He excitedly termed it the ‘City’. This appeared to be made up of several
massive, and some smaller, pyramids, plus some much smaller conical ‘buildings’ grouped around an
open space that he called the ‘City Square’. In the north-east comer of the City was an enormous structure
that appears to be made up of three huge walls, which Hoagland dubbed the ‘Fortress’.

Perhaps the most significant assumption Hoagland made — and surely the one with the least
justification on such slight knowledge - was his association of these features with Egypt. As soon as he
discovered the City, Hoagland wrote: ‘I was reminded overwhelmingly of Egypt.”l3 He then went on to
identify various other features in Cydonia: the ‘Cliff, a 2-mile-long wall-like feature near a crater 14
miles directly east of the Face; and several small (250-400-foot) objects dotted about the Cydonia plain
that he called “‘mounds’.

The relationship between the City and the Cliff presents a significant example of Hoagland’s
characteristically circular reasoning. He surmises that the Face, which lies east of the City Square, was
built so that the City’s inhabitants, standing in the Square, would see the sun rise out of the Face’s mouth
on the Martian summer solstice. Although the sun does not rise there on the solstice today, because of
changes in the angle of Mars’s axis over time, it did so in the past - the last time being about half a million
years ago. Hoagland concludes that the Cydonia Complex was built at least 500,000 years ago because
the alignment with the sun on the summer solstice proves the dating — but the dating also proves the
summer solstice alignment, and so on, round and round.14

Hoagland decided to set up a project to study these features further. He approached SRI and in October
1993 met its vice-president for corporate affairs, former intelligence officer Paul Shay, at the Institute for
the Study of Consciousness in Berkeley, California (founded by Arthur M. Young). This was to prove a
significant meeting. Shay recommended that he collaborate with Lambert Dolphin Jr, the physicist who
had led SRI teams in Giza between 1973 and 1982.12



In December 1983, Hoagland and Dolphin formed the Independent Mars Mission, with $50,000 from
SRI’s ‘President’s Fund’, an internal funding source under the discretion of SRI’s President, Dr William
Miller. Other key people involved in the Independent Mars Mission were Randolpho Pozos
(anthropologist), Ren Breck (manager of InfoMedia, the computer conference company run by the thinking
person’s ufologist, Dr Jacques Vallée), Merton Davies (a specialist in the cartography of Mars and other
planets) and Gene Cordell (a computer-imaging specialist). One of the first to join the new project was
physicist John Brandenburg of Sandia Research Laboratories (which specialises in nuclear weapons
research). He was a leading scientist in Ronald Reagan’s Strategic Defense Initiative (‘Star Wars’)
programme, and had previously worked with DiPietro and Molenaar on their analysis of Cydonia.

The first lecture given by Hoagland and Pozos on the work of the Independent Mars Mission took place
at the Institute for the Study of Consciousness in early 1984. One of those present was social scientist
Tom Rautenberg, who later joined the project. His initial reaction to Hoagland’s revelation about the Face
is highly significant:

At first T thought it was some kind of a joke, or maybe a complex social experiment being
conducted by the CIA — to study psychological reactions to such a hypothetical discovery. I mean
— SRI involvement, ‘Faces’ on Mars ... ? What would you think? ... Was this an elaborate
psychological experiment, sponsored by the defense community?1°

The involvement of SRI in anything seems enough to ring alarm bells, at least among social scientists
such as Tom Rautenberg. SRI’s connections with the CIA and Defense Department experiments — such as
remote viewing — are too well known to be dismissed, and their reputation obviously precedes them.
And now they were funding Hoagland’s Mars Mission, after having sent Dolphin to Giza in the 1970s ...

Another early recruit to the cause was a designer and illustrator named Jim Channon, a former
lieutenant colonel with the US Army, who had been stationed at the Pentagon. Channon was the creator of
the ‘First Earth Battalion’, which was, in Hoagland’s words, ‘a pragmatic proposal to combine the
“spiritual warrior” goals of “the New Age” with the pragmatic grounded methodology of the military

services’ .1’

Prior to this, Channon had been a member of an Army War College project called Task Force Delta,
whose purpose was, in Jim Schnabel’s words, to ‘investigate alternative philosophic realms for anything
militarily useful’ 18

The Independent Mars Mission - with its SRI funding and resources — lasted for seven months, until
July 1984, when it presented its findings at a conference at the University of Colorado in Boulder. Their
conclusions were that the anomalous features of Cydonia were suggestive of artificial construction, and
that efforts should be made to return to Mars to study them further. 12

If the features on Mars are artificial, who built them? There are three possible answers:

1. They were built by an ancient, long-dead Martian civilisation, who were perhaps wiped out by
some cataclysm, such as a comet or meteor impact, as suggested by Graham Hancock, Robert
Bauval and John Grigsby in The Mars Mystery, although apparently there were enough skilled
Martians left to build the mile-long Face as a warning to us.

2. They are the product of an extraterrestrial civilisation from somewhere else in the universe, one
that perhaps also visited Earth.

3. The least likely solution, given our current understanding of Earth’s prehistory, is that they are the
work of an advanced civilisation that originated on Earth and travelled to Mars.



Hoagland, at least, was in no doubt about which one of these options he espoused.

The message of Cydonia

It is important to distinguish between the two main phases of Hoagland-led research into Mars. The first,
seven-month-long, SRI-backed project — the Independent Mars Mission - took place in 1983 — 4, and
concluded simply that at the very least there was a good case for believing that the features were
artificial. Then came Phase Two, the Mars Mission (later called the Enterprise Mission), beginning in
1988, which was more concerned with actively promoting the alleged meaning of the structures at
Cydonia, and their connection with the ancient civilisations of Earth, particularly Egypt. Underlying all of
Phase Two is one, over-riding message, which is that the builders of Cydonia are back...

Between July 1984 and late 1988, nothing much seems to have happened. Then came a revival of the
project, with an influx of new personnel, and, it seems, a very different agenda ... There was a notably
close connection between the new Mars Mission and the US intelligence community.

The new project received support and encouragement from Representative (Congressman) Robert A.
Roe, who was chairman of the House of Representatives Committee on Science, Space and Technology.
Roe agreed to support Hoagland and his team in their lobbying of NASA to rephotograph Cydonia in any
subsequent Mars missions. (The official line from NASA was that it would not be making a special point
of photographing the Face or other alleged structures again as it did not deem them worthy of notice.) Roe
took the Mission’s side in its battle with NASA, even speaking to Hoagland quite explicitly about what he
believed to be NASA’s ‘agenda’ in opposing the idea of a civilisation on Mars.22 Roe was clearly on
Hoagland’s side and not NASA’s — which was very strange, considering that the Congressional
Committee of which he was chairman had direct responsibility for NASA’s budget, and ‘oversight’
responsibility - and therefore major influence - over its policies and plans.2! Roe, it should be noted, was

also a member of the Congressional Permanent Committee on Intelligence.??

In January 1991, nearly two years after his key meeting with Hoagland and other members of the
Mission, Roe abruptly resigned from the Science, Space and Technology Committee, causing Hoagland to
suggest that this was part of some conspiracy. Was Roe being ‘leaned on’ by some group whose interests
he was failing to serve? Perhaps significantly, however, he remained on the Intelligence Committee.

The key members of the new project were David M. Myers, Erol Torun and Mark J. Carlotto. This trio
introduced several new elements into the story, carrying the original ‘Message of Cydonia’ - that the
ancient Martian civilisation has something to teach us now - into something much bigger and more far-
reaching.

Dr Mark J. Carlotto is the manager of the intelligence section of The Analytical Science Corporation
(TASC) in Massachusetts, and had been working on the Cydonia images since 1985, enhancing the
interpretation of satellite photographs for defence and intelligence agencies, skills that were obviously of
great use to the Mars Mission. Carlotto used a variety of image-enhancement techniques and processes on
the Face to produce clearer images than those of DiPietro and Molenaar. He highlighted new — highly
controversial - details, such as teeth in the mouth and the presence of a second eye socket on the
shadowed side, thus apparently confirming the symmetry of the Face. His work also revealed what



appeared to be distinct bands and lines on the forehead that some have taken to be a headdress, similar to
those of the Egyptian pharaohs - which certainly seems to be running ahead of the available scientific data
by miles.

Carlotto also enhanced other Cydonian features, most significantly the D & M Pyramid. It was his
version of this, which had a much greater clarity of detail than DiPietro and Molenaar’s original, that
enabled Erol Torun — a systems analyst with the Defense Mapping Agency in Washington, DC, whom
Hoagland described as being ‘on loan’ to his private Mars Mission?2 — to make calculations based on
the angles between the different faces of the pyramids. His contribution to the Mars Mission was his study
of the geometrical relationships in and between the various Cydonian ‘structures‘, particularly the D & M
Pyramid. He concluded that not only did the geometry show that they were artificial but that they also

encoded certain sophisticated mathematical concepts that appeared to be trying to ‘tell us something’.24

David Myers, who joined the team in 1989 and became full-time director of operations and editor of its
journal, Martian Horizons, made further contributions to the discoveries about the significance of the
geometry of Cydonia. (Together with his British colleague David S. Percy, he would add a whole new
dimension to this work.)

The main features of the post-1988 Mars/Enterprise Mission have been these:

* The promotion of the idea that the Cydonia Complex incorporates sophisticated geometrical and
mathematical relationships that were never meant to be merely aesthetically pleasing but were
actually intended to express certain important mathematical concepts in a way that could be
‘decoded’ by others, for example, ourselves. Cydonia is, in effect, a message left for us by an
ancient civilisation.

* These mathematical concepts largely relate to hyperdimensional physics, and, when properly
decoded, will give us access to new technologies, such as sources of energy and anti-gravity
propulsion devices. As Hoagland wrote in almost messianic vein:

For it is now clear ... that, if appropriately researched and then applied to many current
global problems, the potential ‘radical technologies’ that might be developed from the
‘Message of Cydonia’ could significantly assist the world in a dramatic transition to a real
‘new world order’ ... if not a literal New World.%2

* There is a direct relationship between the monuments of Cydonia and those of ancient human
civilisations, particularly that of the ancient Egyptians. For example, the Face is constantly
described as a ‘Sphinx‘, which, with its proximity to ‘pyramids’, obviously relates it to Giza. This
is what is called the ‘terrestrial connection’.

* By linking the message of Cydonia with even more controversial modem mysteries such as crop
circles, the same consistent message can be discerned, which suggests that the builders of Cydonia
are still around.

Hoagland is now firmly of the opinion that the Cydonia monuments were built by a civilisation from
elsewhere in the galaxy, who visited Earth in the remote past, having revised his estimate of the Face’s
age from half a million to several million - perhaps even a billion — years:

For, if ‘the Martians’ hadn’t come from Earth ... or Mars ... then there was just one place left they
could have come from ...

From beyond the solar system ... and bearing a humanoid image either in their ‘genes’ or



minds.26

In other words, Hoagland is implying that these putative extraterrestrials actually created the human
race, and this idea, odd though it may appear, is rapidly gaining currency throughout the world. Hoagland
and his colleagues have been invited several times to present their findings to NASA itself, which is
rather odd, because over the years Hoagland has become increasingly strident in his accusations that
NASA - or rather, a highly placed cabal within it - is part of a conspiracy to prevent the truth about
Cydonia reaching the public. For example, he has taken the lead in promoting the theory that the Mars
Observer, which was officially lost in space in August 1993, was actually continuing to send data back to
Earth in secret. He has also suggested that NASA are either deliberately ‘fudging’ the facts by withholding
data from the latest Mars Global Surveyor images, making the publicly issued pictures look less like a
face. It is therefore very strange to find Hoagland being actively courted by NASA in 1988 and 1990, with
several invitations to address in-house audiences on the subject of Cydonia. Clearly, in some way it suits
INASA — or certain people within that organisation — to have Hoagland at the centre of attention.

The first address was at NASA’s headquarters, NASA-Goddard Space Flight Center, in August 1988.
According to Hoagland, at a presentation at NASA-Lewis Research Center in Cleveland, Ohio in March
1990, the director, Dr John Klineberg, introduced him with these portentous words: ‘[This is] the man
who managed to convince the President to state that a return to Mars is one of our major goals.’%? Perhaps
significantly, Hoagland claims that Klineberg’s introduction disappeared from the video that NASA
distributed after the event, because of ‘simultaneous equipment failure’ in two cameras — which hardly
inspires confidence in NASA’s technical competence - though the opening words were captured on audio
tape by Hoagland’s team.

Hoagland also gave a lecture to a meeting at the United Nations in New York in February 1992, which
was enthusiastically received by a capacity audience.?8 Apparently they had no problem with his —
admittedly well-presented and authoritative-theory that by then almost automatically linked Mars with
ancient Egypt. Presented as it was with wonders and mysteries by a man who seemed to know, they
lapped it up. Hoagland’s conviction and enthusiasm were contagious; almost certainly as a result of his
influence, two countries - Sierra Leone and Grenada — featured the Face on Mars on their official
postage stamps.

Hoagland is also one of the most regular guests on Art Bell’s nightly radio show, which is devoted to
weird and wonderful paranormal, psychic and New Age topics and has an audience of 15 million
listeners. By any standard, that is a huge number of people, who are presumably sympathetic to what has

been described as Art Bell’s ‘blend of conservative political views and New Age credulity’ .2

Through the Enterprise Mission website, a series of videos, and Hoagland’s book The Monuments of
Mars (first published in 1987, and already in its fourth, revised, edition), as well as regular media
appearances and lecture tours, Hoagland has become the main source for the dissemination of information
about the Martian enigmas, eclipsing much more solid, but unappealingly cautious, work by other
researchers. A sign of this phenomenon is the title of the video series: Hoagland’s Mars.

Facing facts



One of the main objectives of Hoagland’s Mars Mission was to lobby NASA for a commitment to
rephotographing Cydonia. For much of that time NASA either refused point-blank or issued contradictory
statements. Then, in April 1998, they effectively wrong-footed the pro-Cydonia lobby by announcing that
the Mars Global Surveyor, which had just begun to orbit the Red Planet, would be photographing
Cydonia, achieving far better resolutions than the Viking mission. The results would be disseminated on
the Internet almost immediately, as soon as the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL) had completed the
necessary processing of the digital information.

When these images — of the Face and the City - were finally issued by NASA to huge disappointment
and even incredulity, there was considerably less to suggest a Face. The many erstwhile enthusiastic
proponents of the buildings on Mars theory who had second thoughts included Stanley V. McDaniel -
another leading advocate of the Cydonia structures, although he parted company with Hoagland on many
points — and even Mark Carlotto. McDaniel now says that the City’s apparent pyramids and other
structures ‘appear consistent with a natural geological interpretation’.2? In particular the four mounds
making up the City Square, which plays an important part in Hoagland’s line of reasoning, are not
symmetrically placed or uniform in size and shape. The City Pyramid, McDaniel admits, now looks more
like a mountain than a building. And Mark Carlotto, while not dropping all claims of artificiality, said: ‘In
the 1976 Viking images, the impression of a face was unmistakable. But illuminated from below, the Face
looks less remarkable.’3!

Hoagland, however, is as adamant as ever that the Face exists, and - characteristically blunt - dismisses
the new images as ‘crap’.22 He insists that the Mars Global Surveyor pictures show more, not less,
evidence of artificiality, even claiming that ‘room-sized cells’ can be distinguished within the main City
Pyramid. Just as there were claims that the Turin Shroud’s carbon-dating tests were tampered with, many
still sympathise with this view, claiming that NASA deliberately fudged the data by extracting some
portions of it before issuing the new images, so that, for example, certain parts of the contrast were
missing.

Hoagland’s Enterprise Mission website proclaimed that the new images showed that ‘It is a Face!’.
Within days it had produced its own ‘rectified’ version of the new NASA pictures, this time looking more
like the original Viking ones, which was only to be expected because they had filled in the ‘gaps’ in the
new data with the relevant parts of the original images.22

Hoagland clearly believed NASA was lying, and was furious. If there were no Face on Mars, then
there was nothing on which to hang a ‘Message’. But, for Hoagland and those who share his views, there
had to be a Face and a Message: it is all part of a much wider and more insidious agenda, which includes
the ‘Message’ - and legacy - of ancient Egypt.

NASA’s marked lack of interest in pursuing the Cydonia enigma might, as many have suggested,
conceal the fact that the US government is fully aware that the Face and the pyramids are artificial and
want to withhold this information from the public.

Given the way that politics works, it is virtually certain that, should the US government even suspect
that there is any truth in the claims of artificial features on Mars, it would want to make its own evaluation
before deciding whether to disclose or conceal this knowledge.

There remain features on Mars — in Cydonia and elsewhere — difficult to reconcile with the natural
processes of erosion and geology. For example, there is the so-called ‘Crater Pyramid’ in the
Deuteronilus Mensae region, about 500 miles north-east of Cydonia.2* Viking images of this area had



shown an object, close to the rim of the crater, that cast a long, thin spirelike shadow. The object itself is
hard to make out, as the camera was directly above it, but based on the shadow and angle of sunlight, it is
calculated to be around 600 metres tall - hardly the pyramid Hoagland was swift to dub it, once again
apparently seeking above all else to link Mars with Egypt, no matter how inconvenient the facts.

Such features continue to raise questions, although in the future they may be explained in some prosaic
way. The only truly valid conclusion at the moment is that — as far as most people are concerned — there
simply is not enough data to go on. We do not know enough to state categorically that there was not a
civilisation on Mars in the distant past. On the other hand, much more investigation of the anomalies on
Mars is needed before they can be positively identified as being man- (or rather, Martian-) made. Every
drop of data has been wrung from the available images, and it still isn’t enough to tell us definitively one
way or another.

Our own view is that the Martian anomalies are very much a subject for investigation. Although so far
we have concentrated on Hoagland and his team, other independent researchers have conducted a great
deal of excellent work that, even within the frustrating confines of available data, has raised important
questions.

For example, in 1993 Stanley V. McDaniel published an analysis of the Mars situation in The
McDaniel Report (as it is known for short).22 Initially intended as a critique of NASA’s close-minded
attitude to further investigation of Cydonia, McDaniel reviewed the evidence for the artificiality of the
features and concluded that, at the very least, there is a case for further investigation. More recently,
McDaniel and Monica Rix Paxson edited The Case for the Face (unfortunately published in 1998, just
weeks after the new NASA images were released), which presents a series of much more soberly
scientific papers on the enigma. Another independent group was the Mars Anomalies Research Society,
founded in 1986 by former NASA astronaut Dr Brian O’Leary, whose members include Vincent DiPietro
and John Brandenberg.

Many independent researchers reject the attempts of Hoagland’s Enterprise Mission to construct
additional wonders on the shaky foundation of the data so far available, in particular questioning the
claims of geometric alignments and sophisticated mathematical ‘codes’ so crucial to their interpretation.
McDaniel organised the Society for Planetary SETI? Research (SPSR) in 1994, which is in effect a rival
to the Enterprise Mission. DiPietro and Molenaar, whose original work inspired the whole field, have
themselves criticised attempts to go beyond the known facts:

For the record, we do NOT support the work of those who have intertwined inventions of their
own fantasy with excerpts of our work with the Mars data.... conjecture about alignments, which
some writers have added are their own inventions, have nothing to do with the data as we have
interpreted it.2

Mark Carlotto is careful to be fair in his assessment of Hoagland’s ‘geometric code’, saying: ‘It’s hard
to disprove, but it’s also hard to prove. I try to stick to the things I can prove. I approach the matter as a
scientist while Hoagland approaches it as a writer.”3” But Carlotto does admit that ‘Hoagland tends to
process images until he gets what he wants.’38

The question is open. Some of the data may be intriguing, but it is too limited for any conclusions to be
drawn as yet. Although Mark Carlotto sensibly points out that there is no rush to find the meaning of the
Face — after all, it is going nowhere — there are others who seem to be in an unseemly haste to come to
a hard-and-fast conclusion, those who want to build the Mars mystery into their own agenda, centred on



the year 2000.



Worlds apart

What particularly interests us is why Hoagland and others in his project have tried to promote the
Message of Cydonia idea, its connection with Earth’s ancient past and its importance for our immediate
future. Hoagland has effectively hijacked the mystery of Cydonia, making it very much his own, or at least
the ‘property’ of his Mission. But what drives him and his colleagues to seek to convert us all to these
ideas?

Central to Hoagland’s own ‘mission’ is his emphasis on the (alleged) connection between Cydonia and
ancient Egypt. But is there a connection other than the — arguable — observation that they both have
pyramids?

The Cydonia enigma has recently been given a very significant boost in the form of an endorsement by
Hancock, Bauval and Grigsby in The Mars Mystery. Although mainly concerned with the possibility of
the Earth being hit by an asteroid or comet, the authors accept not just the reality of Cydonia and other
Martian anomalies, but also its encoded mathematical Message and connection with the ancient
civilisations of Earth, particularly ancient Egypt. Once these alleged connections are scrutinised, though,
great flaws appear in their logic. The basic argument is that, because there are pyramids and a Sphinx in
both Giza and Cydonia, the two are connected. But of course that depends on the Face on Mars being a
Sphinx. The Cydonia clique describe it as being Sphinx-like; indeed, James Hurtak was using such
emotive language even before it was officially discovered.

This eagerness to call the Face a Sphinx is very odd. Even if the Face were genuinely artificial, the fact
remains that it is just a face, not a lion’s body with a man’s head. Besides, the Face only ‘works’ because
it stares out into space — the only angle from which we could recognise it - whereas, of course, the
Sphinx can only be perceived from a position on Earth. This is no good for the Hoagland camp. They have
to devise increasingly unlikely scenarios to fit their Face/Sphinx correlation, requiring some extremely
tortuous reasoning. Hoagland states that, if the Face on Mars is divided down the middle, and each half is
mirror-imaged on to the other, we achieve two, distinctly different new images. One, he claims, is
‘simian’ in appearance, the other ‘leonine’ — an anthropoid and a lion. The Great Sphinx at Giza is a
man’s head on a lion’s body. Conclusion: we have two Sphinxes - in close proximity with pyramids — on
both worlds!3?

Serious problems are raised by this interpretation of the Face, and not merely the fact that the ‘simian’
looks, to us at least, much more like a cartoon dog, and the lion is similarly hard to see. One of the main
problems with analysing the Face is that one half of it lies in deep shadow. Some of the image-
enhancement techniques have been claimed to bring out certain details on the shadowed side, such as a
second eye socket, but such claims are themselves controversial. There is no way in which the shadowed
side can be reconstructed to show any fine detail, and certainly not half a lion’s face!

The argument about the Face may be extremely shaky, but the situation worsens when the clique tries to
use linguistics to reinforce their case. Hoagland, and others such as Graham Hancock and Robert Bauval,

make much of the fact that the name Cairo, in Arabic Al Qahira, means ‘Mars’.2? Hancock, Bauval and
Grigsby go so far as to describe the naming as ‘inexplicable’.4! But in fact it is very easily explained. Al



Qahira literally means ‘the Conqueror’, which was the Arab name for Mars.#? Cairo/Al Qahira was
founded in 969 CE by the Fatimid general Jawhar al-Siqilli, following his conquest of Egypt. When the
site of the new city was established it was noted that Mars was at an astrologically propitious point in the
sky — and this, together with the fact that it was built to honour a conqueror, explains the choice of the
name.®3 It has no connection with any putative relationship between features on Mars and those on the
Giza Plateau. In any case, Cairo was not always the capital of Egypt: until the time of the Crusades it was
merely a satellite town of the more important city of Al Fustat.** The populous suburbs of Cairo have only
begun to nudge up to the Sphinx in the last fifty years. Before that, Giza was completely separate from
Cairo, 6.5 miles (10 kilometres) out in the desert, effectively undermining the theory that connects Giza
and Cairo/Mars.

Hancock, Bauval and Grigsby also point out that ‘Horakhti’, meaning ‘Horus of the Horizon’ — a name
of the Sphinx - was also a term used by the ancient Egyptians for Mars. Their central argument in Keeper
of Genesis was that Horakhti was a representation of the constellation of Leo, though. Which one is it to
be?

Another linguistic ‘fact’ cited by Hoagland, Hancock and Bauval is that the original Egyptian name for
Horus, Heru, also meant ‘face’, so Horakhti can, according to those authors, be translated as ‘Face of the
Horizon’ 22 Hoagland claims that, from the City of Cydonia, the Face would be seen on the horizon, so
here we have a remarkable parallel. Two faces on the horizon, on two worlds ... But this is a highly
contrived game: according to Wallis Budge’s An Egyptian Hieroglyphic Dictionary the two words,
meaning ‘Horus’ and ‘face’, may sound the same phonetically (although as ancient Egyptian vowel sounds
have to be guessed at, no one knows for certain), but that is as far as it goes.?® They are two entirely
different words. It is like claiming that the English word ‘knight’ is interchangeable with the identical-
sounding ‘night’. And in hieroglyphs the two words are ‘spelled’ entirely differently and represent totally
different concepts. Besides, heru is plural, meaning ‘faces’, which significantly alters the hypothesis of
Hoagland et al.

The advocates of the Mars — Egypt connection seem to be enthusiastically incestuous in their adoption
of each other’s ideas and theories to prove their points and convey their message. Hoagland has eagerly
taken up the New Egyptology, including that of John Anthony West, in support of his claims of a Mars —
Egypt link. For example, he reports Robert Schoch’s redating of the Sphinx from water erosion, claiming
that, like Hancock and Bauval, it is evidence for a much older date of construction than 7000 BCE.4Z

Hancock and Bauval based most of their arguments on Hoagland’s work and interpretation of the Mars
material, which they seem to accept as if scientifically proven. Hoagland is given an especially warm
acknowledgement in Keeper of Genesis, and it can therefore be assumed that the three had a close
working relationship even at that relatively early stage in the development of Bauval and Hancock’s
hypothesis.

Hoagland, too, had his much-admired source: Robert Temple’s The Sirius Mystery, which he has
absorbed into his own belief system, lock, stock - and errors. For example, he often quotes the ‘fact’ that
arq ur means ‘Sphinx’.#8 This mistake - arising from that incorrect reading of Wallis Budge’s An Egyptian
Hieroglyphic Dictionary — finds its way into the work of many of the Mars-Egypt proponents.



Suspicions about Cydonia

During his lecture at the United Nations in New York in February 1992 Hoagland stressed the significance
of ‘radical new technologies’ that could be derived from the decoded Message of Cydonia. These claims
rely on the challenging concept of hyperdimensionality.

Physicists today believe that the universe encompasses far more dimensions than just the four (three of
space, one of time) we know about and perceive with our senses. The only way we can begin to visualise
the concept of a multidimensional universe is by analogy. One of the best is that of an imaginary world
called Flatland, a two-dimensional place inhabited by two-dimensional beings, where there is only length
and breadth, no up or down - something like a sheet of paper.%2 Imagine how Flatlanders would perceive
a three-dimensional object that interacted with their world. For example, if a sphere passed through, the
Flatlanders would only see it in cross-section; first a dot would appear, which would then become a
circle that grows until the middle of the sphere passes through, and then it would decrease in size to
become a dot again, and vanish. (No doubt such a ‘paranormal’ phenomenon would cause much
consternation among Flatlanders and probably be hotly debated by learned Flatland societies as well as
dismissed as a delusion by their ‘Skeptics’.) This analogy with the hypothetical Flatland enables us to
understand that events taking place in the higher dimensions now acknowledged by theoretical physicists
would have visible effects in our three-dimensional world, although the cause would remain beyond both
our senses and even our most sophisticated instruments.

Physicists deal in such ‘extra’ dimensions because of certain phenomena associated with nuclear
physics, although there is some debate about how many dimensions make up the universe. These
hyperdimensions cannot be observed directly, since we and all our measuring devices are stuck in the
three-dimensional universe, but they can be understood mathematically. Hoagland’s contention is that
certain geometrical relationships in the Cydonia Complex are references to such hyperdimensional
mathematics. The geometrical key is the repeated use of the angle of 19.5 degrees. For example, two sides
of the D & M Pyramid are found at 19.5 degrees to Mars’s lines of latitude, and this angle recurs in the

position of the small mounds in the same region.>

According to Hoagland - and others of like mind — 19.5 (more precisely, 19.47) degrees is significant
because it is the tetrahedral constant, which means that it relates to the tetrahedron, the simplest of the
regular solids, with four sides of equilateral triangles, including a triangular base. If this shape were put
inside a sphere, for example a planet, with one point touching one of the poles, the other three points will
each touch the surface at a latitude of 19.5 degrees on the opposite hemisphere. This is a fact.

It has been observed that on all the planets in the solar system where it is possible to see the surface —
Venus, for example, is always covered with clouds — there is invariably some great disturbance caused
by an upwelling of energy at either 19.5 degrees north or 19.5 degrees south of the equator. The great Red
Spot of Jupiter is located at this position. On Mars, Olympus Mons, the largest known volcano in the solar
system (350 miles across), lies at 19.5 degrees north. On Earth, it is the location of the heavily volcanic
islands of Hawaii, and the largest volcano on the planet, Mauna Loa.

The phenomenon of 19.5 degrees is thought to result from the rotation of the planets, being in effect a
‘shadow’ of highly potent forces of higher dimensions. In other words, the site of 19.5 degrees is a point
where the other dimensions break through, becoming manifest in the three-dimensional world as a



revelation of hyperdimensional forces.

This, claims Hoagland, is why the 19.5-degree angle recurs so often in Cydonia. It is a clue intended to
lead us to an understanding of the hyperdimensional cause of the planetary upwellings of energy
responsible for Jupiter’s Red Spot and Mars’s Olympus Mons. This in turn enables us to appreciate
hyperdimensional physics. Hoagland argues that if the energy generated by higher dimensions can be
tapped, we will have an unlimited source of power as well as the ability to develop such technologies as
antigravity propulsion devices and interstellar space travel. These technologies, he believes, will solve
many of the world’s problems and bring about, in his words, a ‘new world order’.

There are problems with this. Even in Hoagland’s lecture to the United Nations, where he talks at
length about the importance of 19.5 degrees and tetrahedral geometry, he admits that the upwelling of
planetary energies at these points had already been worked out years before by mathematicians dealing in
hyperdimensions. The Message of Cydonia, in fact, merely repeats what very terrestrial scientists have
known for years.

More importantly, Hoagland and Erol Torun drew a number of significant conclusions from Cydonia’s
latitude. One of their key claims is that the latitude of the D & M Pyramid — 40.868 degrees north — was
not only chosen because it embodied important mathematical concepts (being the tangent of the
exponential constant e divided by pi), but also because the same concepts appear in the geometry of other
features of Cydonia. The complex is therefore, they concluded, ‘self-referencing’, which means that the
mathematics in the ‘buildings’ relate to the Complex’s position on the planet, proving that none of it is a

mere coincidence.2!

A difficulty arises as the co-ordinates for surface features based on the Viking survey have a marked
margin of error. They are certainly not precise enough to fix a feature’s latitude to three decimal places of
a degree. New, and more accurate data from Mars Global Surveyor suggests that all the previous figures
should be revised so that the features are in fact slightly closer to the Martian equator, meaning that the D
& M Pyramid stands at 40.7 degrees north.2? This is not particularly significant in itself (it represents an
error of approximately 17 kilometres on the ground), but it is enough to invalidate the precise
mathematical relationships of Hoagland’s theory.

In addition, other researchers, such as Tom Van Flandern of the US Naval Observatory, have pointed
out that it is accepted that the Martian poles have shifted significantly over millions of years, so Cydonia
has not always been located at that latitude.2® (Interestingly, Van Flandern has calculated that, before the
pole shift, Cydonia would have been on Mars’s equator.) There is also evidence that Mars’s crust has
‘slipped’ several times because of ‘crustal displacement’, again changing the position of the Cydonia

region.2*

Even the theoretical harnessing of the energy generated by hyperdimensional forces - as hypothesised
by Hoagland — is nothing new, although there are no known ways to actually do so — and the Message of
Cydonia does nothing to enlighten us about this. Neither does it even hint how workable technologies
might be developed from harnessing this energy. The ‘amazing’ geometry of Cydonia has added nothing to
our understanding — of Mars, Martians or of mankind.

The Hoagland camp’s confident theorising does not stop there. When Hoagland’s colleague David
Myers claims that a line running from a particular mark on the D & M Pyramid to a ‘teardrop’ on the Face
measures exactly 1/360th of the diameter of Mars2 (thus ‘proving’, incidentally, that the builders must
have used the same system of measuring angles as ourselves), he is truly on a slippery slope. There is no



justification for choosing to join these two insignificant points up except that they are, for Myers, the
required distance apart. One would eventually find two points that would oblige somewhere in Cydonia.

The angles Erol Torun claimed to have found in the D & M Pyramid provide most of the basis for the
decoding of the Message of Cydonia. What he claims to have found is in itself highly debatable: a five-
sided pyramid that he managed to discern from an enhanced image of a partly eroded feature half in
shadow. All the measurements have to be treated with caution, so any conclusions based on them must, at
the very outside, be highly speculative. (The Mars Global Surveyor has not, unfortunately, re-imaged the
D & M Pyramid yet.) In fact, Torun himself admits that there is an unknown margin of error in the Viking
images - which makes his whole case for precise geometric relationships completely redundant.2®

Another prime mover in the Mars Mission is the British award-winning film photographer David S.
Percy, who was appointed European director of operations by Hoagland (although they have since had a
disagreement and no longer work together). In this capacity Percy enthusiastically promoted the Message
of Cydonia in the United Kingdom and other European countries. He also produced the video of
Hoagland’s address at the United Nations. Percy has lectured widely in Britain on the Cydonia — Mars
connection, using state-of-the-art computer graphics to illustrate his points. Like Hoagland, whose media
background enables him to present his ideas in a relaxed and professional manner, Percy uses his skills as
a film producer to excellent effect. His images of Cydonia surpass even the earlier enhancements for
clarity and sharpness. In particular, the all important D & M Pyramid — so crucial for the ‘decoding’ of
the alleged geometrical and mathematical message - appears as a clearly defined feature, with the original
blurred edges now in such sharp focus that they almost seem to be etched into the Martian landscape. In
his lectures, Percy describes these images as being Mark Carlotto’s - but he adds vaguely that they have
undergone ‘further enhancement and rectification in London recently’.2 He gives no details of this
process, but when we asked what he had meant, he admitted that he had done it himself.>® Although
professionals who have worked with the images of Cydonia — such as DiPietro, Molenaar and Mark
Carlotto — have published detailed technical descriptions of the process they used, Percy has not
obliged.

Percy added a new connection to the enigma. Hoagland had already noted the similarity between
Silbury Hill — the largest manmade mound in Europe, which lies just south-west of Avebury in Wiltshire
in England - and one of the Cydonian features called the “Tholus’, or Spiral Mound. In the library of his
luxurious London flat, while looking at an aerial photograph of Avebury, Percy then experienced a great
revelation, which he describes (somewhat mysteriously) as ‘far memory’.22 His newly inspired eye
suddenly noted that the great circle of ditch and earthen rampart that encloses its standing stones was a
representation of nothing less than the large crater in Cydonia! He went on to demonstrate that the
Avebury circle and Silbury Hill lie in the same relative positions as the Cydonia crater and Martian
Spiral Mound — if the latter is scaled down by a factor of 14:1.

Percy and David Myers (the Mars Mission’s director of operations, and later co-author with Percy of a
book called Two-Thirds), worked on this correlation and concluded that the Avebury complex had been
deliberately laid out, some 5,000 years ago, as an ‘analogue’ of Cydonia. Percy claims that maps of the
two areas, appropriately scaled up or down, can be superimposed over each other to reveal a perfect
match.

Perhaps not unexpectedly, problems arise with this hypothesis. The only real correlation between
Avebury and Cydonia is the relative position and size of two features, the crater/Avebury circle and the



Spiral Mound/Silbury Hill. Even then the match is not perfect. When scaled down and superimposed, the
crater is smaller than, and not the same shape as, the Avebury circle. Percy also claims correlations
between other features that are even less persuasive. For example, the D & M Pyramid’s Avebury
analogue is a certain tumulus surrounded by a grove of trees. In fact it fails totally to match its alleged
Martian counterpart, not corresponding in size, shape or relative position with the D & M Pyramid. In any
case there are many similar tumuli in the area. No other Cydonian features are ‘analogued’ at Avebury,
although Percy makes much of odd indentations, lumps and bumps in the ground that he finds at the
approximate position of the City on Mars. None of these are at all convincing. But there is one spectacular
omission: there is no analogue of the Face at Avebury. Could it be that nothing could be found at Avebury
- even by forcing the data to fit - to even vaguely remind us of the location and features of the Face, so it
has been quietly forgotten?

In fact, only two features of Avebury correspond to any at Cydonia: the earthwork circle and Silbury
Hill. It seems odd that an analogue of Cydonia, built on Earth, should centre on reproducing a natural
feature of Cydonia - the crater - while not including the many supposedly artificial features. Finally, many
landmarks of the Avebury complex have no analogue in Cydonia, the most obvious being West Kennet
Long Barrow. Yet despite all these discrepancies and convoluted hypothesising, Hoagland incorporated
Percy’s ‘discovery’ of the Cydonia-Avebury connection into his United Nations lecture.

Another area that greatly excites Hoagland, Percy, Myers and their colleagues is the vexed subject of
crop circles. They maintain that these ‘transtime crop glyphs’, as they prefer to call them, contain
geometrical and mathematical ‘codes’ that duplicate, and reinforce, the Message of Cydonia. By linking
the builders of Cydonia with this very visible, yet enigmatic, modern phenomenon, Hoagland is
effectively saying that the Martian builders are still around, and are active on Earth now. He describes
‘the fact that someone - demonstrably not from Earth — is now attempting to drive home the “Message

of Cydonia” as a “message in the crops”, before our very eyes right here on Earth!’®

One particular crop formation is given pride of place in the work of Hoagland and Percy because it
incorporates tetrahedral geometry: the Barbary Castle formation, which appeared in a Wiltshire field in
1991. This ‘crop glyph’ was even featured in Hoagland’s UN lecture because, he claimed, it includes
geometrical features that match some of the code of Cydonia. If this were true, it would confirm not only
the terrestrial connection, but also the return of the builders of Cydonia. Hoagland in particular invests
great personal belief in the ‘They’re Back’ interpretation of this formation, in which he and his team claim
to have identified some of the same key angles they detected in the plan of Cydonia. David Percy goes
even further, managing to overlay the Barbary Castle pattern on Avebury, to demonstrate how its geometry
was used as the. plan for the layout of the roads!

Whatever the truth about crop circles in general, there seems little doubt that this one is a hoax or - as
many of the circlemakers themselves tend to think of it - a work of art. The inspiration for the design is
actually known. It is not a specially constructed design to encode some of the secrets of hyperdimensional
physics, but is based on a design in a sixteenth-century alchemical treatise by Steffan Michelspacher,

Cabala, speculum artis et naturae in alchymia.®!

The identity of the makers is well known among the confraternity of circlemakers, and the modus
operandi has already been described by Rob Irving, a writer, photographer and occasional circlemaker.
Irving told us:

There’s really no mystery about it... In the context of 1991, this was the most complex of its time.



But compared to what’s being done now - fractal patterns five times bigger, which have been

filmed being made — it’s very primitive... It would be sniffed at now.%?

With just a few simple implements and the application of some basic geometrical rules, such a formation
could be made ‘within a couple of hours’, he said.

The formation wasn’t even executed with any finesse: there are kinks in some of the lines and mistakes
in the geometry. Significantly, Hoagland and Percy actually use the errors in their reconstruction of the

grand design of this pattern!2
So what is the Message of Cydonia, according to Hoagland? He says:

Cydonia turns out to be: nothing less than an architectural affirmation of the fundamental physics of
the Universe — the ultimate embodiment of a grand, ‘Universal Architecture’ ... at the most
archetypal level ... This message is identically ‘coded’ elsewhere in the solar system ... including,
here on Earth!%*

The emerging picture

It seems, certainly in Hoagland’s case, that data - itself by no means conclusive - has been forced to fit his
preconceived ideas that somehow involves both Martian anomalies and the monuments of ancient Egypt.
The most significant part of this scenario is the idea that there is a ‘Message’ somehow essential to
mankind’s present and immediate future. But why? Where does this belief originate?

There are only two possible reasons for these ideas: entirely spurious notions have been superimposed
on a genuine mystery in order to give them an apparent feasibility; or the proponents of these ideas
somehow knew, or thought they knew, in advance that these connections exist.

Perhaps the release of this information is an exercise in deception, or in ‘softening up’ the public to
accept certain ideas, even to the point of promoting those ideas when the facts (as currently known) do not
support them. There seems to us to be an air of desperation to make us believe, whether we want to or not
and whether the evidence fits or not. And that is worrying.

With all of its monumental implications for our understanding of Man’s recent past and our immediate
future — the ‘radical new technologies’ it promises and the implicit suggestion that the builders of
Cydonia are about to return, if they have not already — the Message of Cydonia promoted primarily by
Hoagland is not supported by the evidence. Clearly, it has been deliberately grafted on to what is,
admittedly, a very intriguing enigma, in much the same way that Hancock and Bauval have grafted the date
of 10,500 BCE on to the genuine ancient Egyptian mysteries.

The way that the Martian enigmas are being promoted by the likes of Hoagland presents a striking
parallel to certain investigations of ancient Egypt. The common features of both are:

(1) At the core lies a genuine mystery. The achievements of the ancient Egyptians in, for example,
building the Great Pyramid, and the unmistakably advanced knowledge of the Pyramid Texts, do
not conform to the accepted view of history. Likewise — even given the most recent crop of
images — with currently available information it is not possible to dismiss the notion that there



might well be artificial structures on Mars.

(2) On to the genuine mystery has been grafted a series of ‘solutions’ and explanations that simply do
not stand up to objective scrutiny — for example, Hancock and Bauval’s case for a 10,500 BCE
date, and Hoagland et al’s extrapolation of the Message of Cydonia.

(3) These superimposed views are not just proposed to make us believe that these mysteries will
prove that the history books are wrong, but to impress upon us the idea that they will have a direct
impact on us today, pointing to some earth-shattering (perhaps literally) change in the near future.
Examples include the belief that the Great Pyramid will somehow trigger the dawn of the new Age
of Aquarius in the year 2000 and the imminent return of the builders of Cydonia.

(4) There is a degree of ‘official’ involvement behind the scenes. We have seen that, for whatever
reasons, it appears that a search for something at Giza is under way. It is also clear that
Hoagland’s research projects have received encouragement and assistance from individuals and
organisations closely connected with the intelligence community, from the original help of Paul
Shay in setting up the initial Mars Mission, to the support of Congressman Roe. (Obviously, the
involvement of some of the individuals with intelligence agents may well have a ‘non-
conspiratorial’ explanation. For example, Mark Carlotto’s expertise in analysing satellite data for
military and intelligence purposes is something that could naturally lead to his participation in the
Cydonia investigation, but the sheer number of the people who are connected with intelligence
personnel and organisations and also support and encourage Hoagland’s work is, in our view,
somewhat suspicious.)

We have noted that Hoagland’s work appears to fall into two distinct phases: the first, backed by SRI in
1983 — 4, was concerned with promoting the idea of the existence of a very ancient civilisation on Mars.
But, since 1989, the second phase has been about the ‘Message’, the connection with humanity’s own
ancient history and our present and future.

Was Phase One, as social scientist Tom Rautenberg thought at first, in fact a sociological experiment to
determine public reaction to the concept of life on Mars? And then did someone realise that the Mars
material could be used more effectively to put across another message, part of a separate but interlinking
agenda?

Another motive may have lain behind the 1983 — 4 SRI-backed project. The Iron Curtain was still in
place and the attendant suspicions of Soviet plotting was very strong: the Eastern Bloc countries were
perceived to be keeping many secrets very close to their chests. Perhaps Hoagland/SRI’s Phase One was
an attempt to draw out of the Soviets their knowledge or suspicions about Mars. It is certainly a curious
coincidence that, within a month of the Boulder conference at which Hoagland announced his initial
findings, the Russian English-language propaganda newspaper, Soviet Weekly, carried an article by

Vladimir Avinsky on his research into what he termed ‘the Martian Sphinx’ and ‘pyramids’.%

Hoagland and his team then tried to establish a line of communication with the Soviet Academy of
Sciences to exchange data on the subject. Significantly, their intermediary in this was Jim Hickman of the

Soviet Exchange Program of the Esalen Institute in California (of which more later).%

Not only do marked parallels lie between the way that the stories of Egypt and of Mars are being
presented, but the stories themselves are also being deliberately fused to make one big, dramatic picture.
These days there are few non-academic interested parties who fail to associate the features of Cydonia
with Egypt. Those with their own agendas have been very successful: we have seen the attempts by
Cydonia researchers such as Hoagland to link the Message with ancient Egypt (and other cultures, such as



megalithic Britain). On the other hand, Hancock and Bauval have made the journey the other way round,
beginning with the mysteries of Egypt, and then linking them back to Mars. This is one story, not two, as is
demonstrated by the overlap of people and groups involved.

For example, it is reported that, in 1996, on their return to the United States from the Giza project,
members of the Joseph Schor Foundation consulted both Richard Hoagland and James Hurtak, the two
main proponents of the pyramids of Mars and of a Mars — Giza connection. And Boris Said, the film-
maker who has been chronicling events at Giza since 1990, recently enrolled James Hurtak as part of his
team. Hurtak had talked about the Mars — Egypt connection as being part of a ‘great cosmic blueprint’ as
far back as 1975.

There are other curious crossovers of personnel between the pyramids of Mars and the Mars-Giza
camps. Dr Farouk El Baz was appointed head of the team that continued Rudolf Gantenbrink’s work to
explore the ‘Sirius shaft’ in the Great Pyramid. El Baz’s past association with NASA may be coincidental,
but SRI — as we have seen — certainly does not lack contacts within defence and intelligence agencies.
(Since leaving NASA, El Baz founded and is now director of the Center for Remote Sensing at Boston
University. One of the Starship Enterprise’s shuttle craft in Star Trek: The Next Generation is named
after him - true fame.)

By far the most prominent of all crossover individuals is Lambert Dolphin Jr, the SRI teamleader at
Giza between 1973 and 1982, who was also the co-founder with Hoagland of the Independent Mars
Mission in 1983, a project funded and resourced by SRI.

This is a strangely thought-provoking scenario, but it becomes even stranger, particularly when
considered in the context of the knowledge we have gathered so far and the conclusions we can
extrapolate from it.

(1) Intelligence agencies in both the United States and Britain have shown interest in the idea of
extraterrestrial contact at the dawn of civilisation; for example, in their reaction to Robert
Temple’s research.

(2) Clandestine explorations, backed by the US government, are being carried out in Egypt. Clearly,
they believe there is something worth looking for, which will presumably be of some practical use
to them, either by their ownership of it or by preventing anyone else from having it.

(3) Certain writers and researchers are promoting ‘messianic’ messages based very much on their
own interpretation of legitimate questions about the origins of Egyptian civilisation and the
anomalous features on Mars. These two strands have been gradually, but conceitedly, drawn
together. The ‘consensus’ story emerging from these influential authors — whose readership
worldwide totals many millions — is that of extraterrestrial influence on the evolving human
civilisation. (Interestingly, in the 1998 edition of The Sirius Mystery, Robert Temple discusses the
Face on Mars in positive terms, writing: ‘I would not be surprised at a Martian connection with
the Sirius Mystery.’ )

(4) There appears to be a great deal of behind-the-scenes encouragement of the work of Hoagland’s
research team, which makes the most extreme claims. Examples include the involvement of
intelligence-connected individuals and groups, including SRI, right from the beginning, and
NASA’s ‘courting’ of Hoagland and his team in the late 1980s and early 1990s.

A glaring paradox is found in the above points. On the one hand, the involvement of official bodies may
simply mean that they have come to the same conclusions as Hancock, Bauval, Hoagland and Temple -



and are, like them, excited by the idea of imminent revelations about Egypt and Mars. Perhaps they even
have prior knowledge... Do the ‘powers that be’ already know about the influence on humanity of an
extraterrestrial race — either from Mars or elsewhere? Are they secretly trying to recover some
knowledge of that race?

Superficially, this may seem likely. On the other hand, as we have seen, the ‘messianic’ messages
claimed for both the Egyptian and Martian scenarios do not bear scrutiny. They use faulty reasoning,
misread source material or are manifestly massaged to accord with some personal — or group - hidden
agenda. So why should official bodies such as SRI and NASA, who have reputations - and funding — to
lose, take this all so seriously?

We can suggest two main hypotheses that may account for the mounting official interest in such
apparently off-the-wall scenarios: one is a conspiracy about something real, and the other is a conspiracy
to make us believe something that is unreal.

Hypothesis One: The messages for mankind extrapolated from both terrestrial and Martian mysteries are
basically false. At the very least they are wishful thinking or delusions or, more disturbingly, the data have
been forced to fit into a preconceived set of beliefs. The proponents of these ideas want to use the
mysteries to further their own agendas, perhaps in order to promote their religious, quasi-religious - or
Masonic - ideologies. They could even form an exercise in the manipulation of mass psychology - as
suspected by Tom Rautenberg when he first heard of SRI’s involvement with the Cydonia enigma - but on
a much grander and more worrying scale.

This hypothesis would account for much of the data, though not some of the official activities. We are
convinced, for example, of clandestine activity at Giza, which is obviously expected to produce some
kind of tangible results. Another example involves the curious circumstances surrounding NASA’s
photographing of the Crater Pyramid. In our opinion, this 600-foot spire perched on the edge of a crater is
the most compelling of the anomalous Martian features, and very difficult to explain in terms of natural
processes. What is curious is that, back in 1976, Viking took four pictures of that area in rapid succession,
the only time during the entire mission that this happened.®? As Mark Carlotto has pointed out, this must
have been preprogrammed into the orbiter, as the time delay on radio instructions would not permit
mission control to react so quickly. It seems too much of a coincidence that the only instance of such
rapid-fire photography should occur at that one particular spot - but how did NASA know in advance that
there was something interesting to photograph in that area?

Hypothesis Two: Those promoting the message for mankind - both publicly and behind the scenes —
somehow know it to be true, yet realise it is important to proceed with caution where the public is
concerned. Information is gradually being fed to the masses to ‘acclimatise’ us all to such ideas. Perhaps
the idea behind the ‘mass psychology’ experiment is to gauge public reactions to some forthcoming
genuine announcement(s) about extraterrestrial influences on our past — and even on our present and
future.

In this scenario, false evidence is being proposed to support a genuine phenomenon. This is a bold and
apparently bizarre proposition, but the whole history of intelligence operations is one of absurdity and
contradiction, albeit with a steely underpinning of single-minded agendas. This hypothesis deserves to be
taken seriously, if only to see where it leads. Its advantage is that it explains why, on the one hand, official



bodies appear to be searching seriously for something, while on the other the reasons for doing so simply
do not sustain closer examination.

Our two hypotheses will be tested as this investigation continues: as we have seen, in the first, the so-
called messages for mankind are simply fabricated or delusory. But is there any other information that
might support the second hypothesis?

Could the ‘powers that be’ know that extraterrestrial influence on human civilisation and the connection
with Mars are genuine, even if they have to create false evidence to persuade the public that this is so? If
they really have such inside information, how did they acquire it? Evidence that convinced hard-headed
industrialists, scientists and intelligence operatives about the reality of alien intervention in human affairs
must have been so persuasive as to be virtually incontestable, but at the same time impossible to entrust to
the public domain. But what kind of evidence could possibly be so watertight?

A clue may lie in the fact that a favoured target of the Pentagon’s remote-viewing experiments was
Mars. The original SRI experiments, between 1973 and 1976, included sessions by Ingo Swann and
physical researcher Harold Sherman in which they remote viewed the surface of Mars (and indeed, other
planets). 2 The results of these experiments have never been made public,”! although it is known that the
Face on Mars was detected by RVers some years before the Viking mission.

In a conversation with Uri Geller in January 1998 about his time at SRI, he told us that the Face on
Mars had, in fact, been discovered by remote viewing in the early 1970s, long before the Viking mission.
For various reasons he could not reveal the identity of the remote viewer in question, but in October 1998
we asked James Hurtak’s Academy For Future Sciences about his supposed ‘prediction’ about a facelike
feature on Mars that - according to Hancock and Bauval — he had made in 1975. The reply was: ‘Dr
Hurtak shared his insights of “remote viewing” with Mr Harold Sherman’.Z2 This was rather puzzling, as
we had not actually mentioned remote viewing; in our view, this was tantamount to an admission that the
Face had been discovered by remote viewing. The AFFS’s reply went on: ‘However, the principle [sic]
artifact that Dr Hurtak saw was the pyramidal formations [sic] which has always been his uniqueness and
not the Face itself.” So although Hurtak himself may not have remote viewed the Face, the implication is
that Harold Sherman did. This is interesting, because we do know that Sherman remote viewed Mars for
SRIL

Sherman began as a sports writer before becoming interested in the paranormal and UFOs in the 1940s.
He coined the phrase ‘Little Green Men’ to describe aliens. Sherman was by 1975 a veteran psychical
researcher, in his seventies, who had been brought in by SRI specifically to help set up the first remote-
viewing project.”?

The issue of remote viewing may seem like something from The X-Files, a ripping yarn about invisible
spies and mind control, not based on hard fact. No matter how it may challenge our mundane certainties
about the ways things are, though, remote viewing works, which is why so much time and taxpayers’
money was invested in it by several governments, and particularly the US government. When the cream of
the crop of US RVers repeatedly - and consistently - described the surface of Mars, individuals within the
government and associated agencies took note.

The US Army’s highly talented remote viewer Joe McMoneagle ‘visited’ Mars several times, always
sketching the scenes that met his disembodied gaze. There, unmistakably, were pyramids and, he claimed,



tunnels under the Cydonia complex in which the remnants of an ancient civilisation continued to exist.

In his 1996 book Psychic Warrior, David Morehouse tells of his own remote-viewing missions to Mars
eight years before. He had been given Mars as a blind target, without knowing that this location had been
set for him. He saw nothing significant, just a barren reddish landscape that had been deserted for
thousands of years. After this ‘mission’, Morehouse was shown a folder enclosing details of the target
location: pictures of Mars, taken from orbit and the ground. He writes of the other material in the folder:

There was a chemical analysis of the atmosphere, and some high-altitude photographs of the
surface with captions indicating which spots had led several scientists to believe Mars was once

inhabited.Z4

Morehouse, who also sketched a dream in which ‘the sky tears and another dimension is revealed’, had
a tendency to remote view particularly significant scenes, even if he only realised it in retrospect. In
Psychic Warrior he describes being set a blind target and homing in on a boxlike object hidden in a
cavern that appeared to be protected by an aura of extreme danger. He told his ‘monitor’ that it was
‘something very powerful and sacred’ and said it would ‘vaporise’ anyone who got too close, adding: ’I
felt very uncomfortable and vulnerable in that cavern’.”2 An hour or so after this ‘mission’, Morehouse
was shown an artist’s impression of the target — the fabled Old Testament Ark of the Covenant, whose
mysterious power could fell whole armies. It seems that he had successfully used one paranormal ability
to get the target right — perhaps a form of telepathic contact with the mind of the experimenter - but had
he really tuned in to the Ark itself?

No one knows for certain how remote viewing works, only what it can produce. Seated in a mundane
office with a monitor asking questions, the RVer’s invisible consciousness takes flight and visits
elsewhere, sometimes even elsewhen, for time is no barrier to the remote viewer who can ‘scroll’ up or
down through past, present and future by the force of will alone. Sometimes, of course, they fail to
describe the targets, and come up with either a ‘displacement’ description, an accurate description of a
place that was not the target, or something that might just be fantasy. Sometimes the remote viewers can
describe frankly outlandish scenarios.

Despite the many successes of remote viewing, the problem has always been the accurate interpretation
of what is seen. Even everyday perception involves the brain making decisions about the meaning of the
shapes of objects and people seen. In this process, context is everything, and the more obvious and
detailed the context, the more accurate the brain’s interpretation of the shapes seen. The same applies to
remote viewing, particularly when the target was Mars prior to 1976 - before the first good photographs
of its surface reached us on Earth. The mind of the remote viewer would automatically try to make sense
of unfamiliar landmarks, perhaps reacting as if to an inkblot test and turning a rocky outcrop into a
recognisable Face.

We ourselves know that remote viewing can, and often does, work, but it is by no means 100 per cent
accurate. One cautionary tale involves Courtney Brown, professor of political science at Emory
University in Atlanta. Trained in remote viewing in 1992 by a former member of the Pentagon RV unit (he
refuses to name him, but it was, in fact, Pentagon remote-viewing star, Major Ed Dames), he hit upon the
idea of using remote viewing as a scientific research tool, specifically to investigate the question of
extraterrestrial visitors on Earth.

Brown made several ‘research trips’, via remote viewing, to Mars in 1993 and 1994. The first was
part of his training, when it was a blind target (clearly a favourite destination for RV trainers). He



described a pyramid, and nearby a volcano erupting, devastating the area and causing the inhabitants to

flee for their lives. Afterwards, his trainer showed him the target picture: it was Cydonia.Z

Brown maintains, thanks to the evidence of his remote-viewing ‘eyes’, that there are not only survivors
of the Martian race living underground on Cydonia, but also on Earth - beneath the mountains of New
Mexico and in villages in Latin America. According to Brown, Martian civilisation at the time of its great
catastrophe had achieved approximately the level of development of ancient Egypt, although we do not
know whether that is the level understood by mainstream academics or that of the technologically
advanced Egyptians of the New Orthodoxy. All but wiped out, the Martians were rescued by the arrival of
the — by now familiar — Grey aliens, who took the survivors forward in time to our present and altered
them genetically so they can live on Earth.

Things went badly wrong for Courtney Brown, though. He also claimed, based on the remote viewing
evidence of his team, that a spaceship was following in the tail of the comet Hale-Bopp, a claim that he
promoted widely, especially on the Art Bell show. Subsequently, the Heaven’s Gate cult committed mass
suicide specifically so that their souls would be ‘beamed up’ to the Hale-Bopp spaceship. Someone else
who believed that there was something suspicious about Hale-Bopp, to the point of accusing the US
government of a cover-up, was none other than Richard Hoagland, who promoted the theory with his

usual zeal . ZZ

However, all this may well assume quite another interpretation when the possibility of remote
influencing is taken into account...

“The day we opened the door’

One may smile at the apparently fantastical beliefs of a remote-viewing professor of political science,
and dismiss the wilder claims for a Mars — Egypt connection, but the fact remains that there are reasons
to take seriously the idea of life on Mars, even if it died out millions of years ago. The breakthrough
appeared to come when NASA announced, on 7 August 1996, that evidence of micro-organisms on Mars
— life, if a very primitive sort — had been found in a meteorite in Antarctica that had originated on Mars.
Designated as ALH84001 (ALH = Allen Hills, where it was found; 84 was the year; 001 means it was the
first collected in that year), its age is estimated at 4.5 billion years, and the microfossils in it at 3.6 billion
years. It is believed to have been blown into orbit by an impact on Mars about 15 million years ago, and
to have drifted around in space until it landed on Earth 13,000 years ago. The microfossils are of minute
bacterialike organisms, the largest being 200 nanometers (billionths of a metre) in length. The meteorite is
just under 2 kg in weight, and ‘about the size of a small potato’.

Although thousands of meteorites rain down on the Earth’s surface every day, clearly this one was
perceived to be different — but why? And what was the reason for the veritable circus of hype that
erupted so abruptly over it? The sheer scale of the publicity surrounding the announcement and the way in
which the whole business was stage-managed seemed odd at the time, but in retrospect it seems even
more unusual.

A major press conference at NASA’s Johnson Space Center in Houston was attended by the
international media, ensuring that the news made headlines all around the world. The conference was



hosted by NASA administrator Daniel Goldin, who hailed the event as ‘a day that may well go down in
history for American science, for the American people, and indeed humanity’ - obviously he is not one to
think small. He also called it, somewhat portentously, ‘the day we opened the door’. Later that day,
President Clinton made a public statement hailing the event as historic and pledging that NASA would
‘search for answers and for knowledge that is as old as humanity itself but essential to our people’s
future’: strange words, which appear to convey a subtext to those with inside knowledge, but only
succeeding in mystifying the rest of us. What could there possibly be about micro-organisms in a piece of
rock from Mars that is ‘essential to our people’s future’?

For a normally conservative organisation with a scientific reputation to maintain, NASA’s orchestrated
media splash was unprecedented. This is particularly odd, because the evidence presented at that
conference was by no means conclusive enough to justify such a major event. Many scientists, particularly
in Europe, have since expressed reservations about NASA’s interpretation of the facts. The question of
whether the ‘fossils’ really are biological in origin is still being hotly debated in the scientific community.
They may well be, as claimed, evidence of primitive life on Mars, but it was NASA’s certainty about it,
not to mention the almost evangelical fervour and the sheer hype with which they promoted it, that is so
surprising as to suggest another agenda.

Bewilderment only increases when it is realised that such claims had been made before, though never
with as much publicity as ALH84001. It is intriguing that this evidence had been brought to the attention of
NASA Administrator Daniel Goldin just weeks before the announcement — by two of the original
‘discoverers’ of the Face on Mars, John Brandenburg and Vincent DiPietro.”2 Brandenburg had been
researching the history of Mars in order to establish whether it had ever had conditions suitable for
sustaining life, when he came across scientific papers written in 1989 by a British team reporting the
discovery of organic carbon in a meteorite known to have originated on Mars.

Even further back, Dr Bartholomew Nagy of the University of Arizona had reported the discovery of
bacterial microfossils in meteorites in the mid-1960s, although he did not discuss their origins. Nagy’s
findings — particularly the question of the biological nature of the material — were published in the
1960s and early 1970s and had been disputed by other scientists at the time. Nagy had found what he
believed to be microfossils in a specific type of meteorite known as carbonaceous chrondites. Later,
Brandenburg tried to establish where these meteorites came from. He could do this relatively easily, as
individual ‘signatures’ are found in the composition of different types of rocks, based on the proportions
of certain isotopes, that associate them with Earth, Mars or elsewhere. (This is how we know that
ALH84001 is Martian, for example.) Brandenburg found that the carbonaceous chrondites studied by
Nagy had the characteristic signature of Mars. (Since this technique is well established, it is a mystery
why nobody had, apparently, used it before. Perhaps they had.) Nagy died in December 1995, just a few
months before NASA’s announcement vindicated his earlier work, notching the subject up into that almost
hysterical publicity circus. It may well have shocked and saddened him.

Brandenburg published a paper on his research in May 1996, and lectured on his discoveries in
Germany in July. A month before his paper was published he had personally approached Daniel Goldin
with the results. Four months later came the big announcement.

ALH84001 had been discovered in Antarctica in 1984, but was only recognised as Martian in 1993. It
had been analysed in secret at the Johnson Space Center in Houston - specifically to look for indications
of biological constituents, which begs a question or two about the protocol of the scientific method.
Brandenburg (who was present at the Houston press conference) speculates that pressure had been put on



the NASA team to release their announcement before his work stole their thunder, although there was an
ethical problem in this rivalry because his May 1996 paper had been peer-reviewed for publication by
the very scientists at the Johnson Space Center who were secretly studying ALH84001! Others have
speculated that Brandenburg’s work may simply have inspired NASA, who needed a good excuse for
their suddenly renewed interest in Mars.

In a further twist to this story, shortly after the press conference a Washington call girl confessed to the
press that a client, Dick Morris - one of President Clinton’s advisors - had told her some time before the
announcement that evidence of life on Mars had been discovered but was classified as a ‘military

secret’ .22

It has also been pointed out that Daniel Goldin, who hosted the press conference so exuberantly, is
known to be a political appointee with a former career in top-secret defence-related industrial work. He
had been appointed by President Bush - himself a former head of the CIA — and has overseen a marked
increase in the amount of defence work conducted by NASA, as well as an influx of ex-Defense

Department personnel into key posts within the space agency.2

The whole subject of the Martian microfossils and the press conference that announced them has
provoked a flurry of conspiracy theories, which divide into two camps: one centred on the suspicion that
this is part of a ‘softening up’ process that will eventually lead to the revelation of intelligent life on
Mars, while the other argues that the story was a stunt to create a new climate of excitement about Mars,
leading to more government funds being allocated to NASA in order to explore the planet further. These
theories are not mutually exclusive, although one school maintains darkly that NASA wants to explore
Mars for other, clandestine reasons of its own. Such theories are stimulated by the obsessive secrecy that
surrounded the work of the NASA team at Houston, and the over-the-top manner in which the discovery
was announced, sidestepping the usual stages of peer-reviewed scientific papers, going instead straight to
a live worldwide press conference.

There has certainly been a marked scramble to explore Mars recently: funding for Mars Global
Surveyor — currently sending back images - was rushed through after the loss of Mars Observer in
August 1993. It was launched in 1996. Since the August 1996 announcement, a series of new Mars probes
are being planned to continue the search for life on the Red Planet, including the bringing back of samples
from the surface, and plans for a manned mission are now being seriously considered for the first time in
decades. Russia and Japan are also working on their own Mars missions.

With or without persuasive evidence from those vexed microfossils, excitement about Mars is building,
especially in US governmental circles. Officials within the Clinton administration and in NASA seem to
have a strong belief in life on Mars, perhaps even in intelligent life, and we have seen the eagerness of
certain influential individuals and organisations — such as the Pentagon’s remote viewers, SRI and the
Hoagland camp - to promote a widespread sense of belief and expectancy about Mars. Are ‘they’ looking
for a stargate, either a physical or hyperdimensional portal through which they could more easily reach
Mars, and perhaps even make contact with Martians? More importantly, do ‘they’ really believe that such
a thing exists?

Or is this multi-pronged attack on public awareness simply an insidious exercise in mass manipulation,
perhaps testing how we would react to the idea that there were, and possibly still are, Martians? This
could be a dummy-run for a real announcement in the near future, likely to be timed to coincide with the
Millennium and the first few years of the twenty-first century, when people in the West have come to



expect momentous public revelations.

The plot thickens considerably, however, with the discovery that some prime movers in the West are
utterly convinced that the stargate has already been opened - and that contact with extraterrestrials is
already well established.



Contact?

Few of the enthusiastic followers of the Face on Mars story realise that the ideas of both Richard
Hoagland and James Hurtak — the main advocates of the Mars/Giza connection - are largely shaped by a
highly influential cultish group who claim direct, telepathic communication with extraterrestrial
intelligences. These alleged non-human entities have, we were to discover, adopted many different
aliases over the course of several decades, but today are most often known as the Council of Nine, or
simply ‘the Nine’. This may seem odd, perhaps even bizarre, but — one might think - hardly relevant.
Who cares what peculiar ideas these people may hold privately?

As we progressed in our investigation, however, we were astonished, not to say disturbed, by the
influence exerted by the people who believe in the Nine — and, ultimately, the Nine themselves. We
gradually uncovered evidence of the extraordinary hold that these alleged non-human intelligences have
over top industrialists, cutting-edge scientists, popular entertainers, radical parapsychologists and key
figures in military and intelligence circles. We were to find that the Nine’s influence even extends to the
threshold of the White House itself.

Behind the scenes

Richard Hoagland’s influential Enterprise Mission had two directors of operations, for the United States
and Europe respectively, David P. Myers and David S. Percy. Both had significant roles in the promotion
of the Message of Cydonia. American writer and former US Navy officer Myers joined the team in 1989,
and London-based film producer Percy went on board shortly afterwards. Both left the Mission together
in 1992.

It was Myers who ‘discovered’ many of the key measurements and angular relationships of the Cydonia
monuments on which Hoagland bases his decoding of the Message. And it was Percy who surveyed the
stone circle of Avebury in order to establish its relationship with Cydonia, as well as with other English
sites such as Stonehenge and Glastonbury Tor. However, the source of Myers’s ‘unique insights’ (as
Hoagland calls them in his acknowledgement in The Monuments of Mars) is neither mathematical skill
nor deductive reasoning: he and Percy are part of a network of people who believe they are in direct
contact with a group of advanced godlike extraterrestrials.

Myers and Percy are co-authors of a highly idiosyncratic, 600-page tome with the enigmatic title of



Two-Thirds (1993). It relates, in novel form, the history of the galaxy according to these beings. It tells
how colonists from a distant planet — Altea — arrived in our solar system some 1.6 million years ago.
They first colonised Mars (which they made habitable with their advanced technology) and built the
Cydonia complex. Many generations later they came to Earth, where they genetically modified the
indigenous beings, eventually creating hybrids who became the human race. Acting under instructions
from their own higher intelligences, the Alteans built Avebury as an analogue of the Cydonia complex, as
well as the pyramids and the Sphinx of Giza. Although told in the form of fiction, Myers and Percy claim
on the cover of their book: ‘Two-Thirds is the key to the understanding of our history and is, in fact, non-
fiction.’

The book includes an extensive section of photographs and graphics illustrating the Message of
Cydonia and its ‘terrestrial connections’, as well as ‘transtime crop glyphs’. Other key elements in Myers
and Percy’s philosophy is the concept of hyperdimensionality and the technology that could be inspired by
the Message of Cydonia. It is no coincidence that these are precisely the main points of Hoagland’s
crusade: he acquired them from Myers and Percy in the late 1980s.

Although Hoagland is undoubtedly fully aware of the source of Myers and Percy’s ‘insights’, he is
(perhaps understandably) reluctant to mention it in his books and lectures. David Percy, in his lectures on
the same subject in Britain, never mentions the source of his wisdom, although he was once forced to do
so in public. After his lecture to the British UFO Research Association (BUFORA) in 1995, at which we
were present, he was challenged by UFO researcher John Rimmer to reveal the origins of his information,
and admitted that it was, in fact, partly derived from telepathic contact with the Nine. Recently, Percy has

admitted being a member of the main circle of ‘contactees’.!

James Hurtak also claims to have been in touch with the same extraterrestrial source of wisdom since
1973, shortly before championing the connection between the Elysium pyramids and those of Egypt. He is
less reticent about acknowledging the Nine, even writing a book called The Keys of Enoch (also known
as The Book of Knowledge, first published in 1977) which embodies the spiritual teachings he claims he
was chosen to receive. Hurtak has told two different versions of this: in The Keys of Enoch he tells how
the Old Testament prophet Enoch appeared in his room on the night of 2 — 3 January 1973.2 But in 1977
he told one of the world’s most respected UFO researchers, Jacques Vallée, that, driving through the
Californian desert on the same night, a bright light hovered over his car and a beam of light ‘programmed’
him with the ‘Keys’ that form the basis of his teaching?

Hurtak’s work, like that of Myers and Percy, describes a system based on a hierarchy of intelligences
that rule the universe, and explains how they have intervened throughout the history of the Earth. Atlantis
and the ‘message’ of ancient Egypt also play a major role in Hurtak’s philosophy. The Keys of Enoch is a
much more self-consciously religious work than Two-Thirds. Subtitled A Teaching Given on Seven
Levels To Be Read and Visualized In Preparation for the Brotherhood of Light To be Delivered for the
Quickening of the “People of Light”, it even looks like a Bible, with the Hebrew for Yahweh — YHWH
— embossed in gold on its white-and-gold cover, and its text displayed in two columns and divided into
short numbered verses. This book evidently believes itself to be very holy, very sacred, taking itself
extremely seriously indeed. The sixty-four ‘Keys’ of spiritual wisdom, covering all aspects of ethics and
history, are presented in resounding quasi-Biblical language, although it is virtually impenetrable. For
example:

The key to the end of our consciousness time zone is the violation of the spectra of color codes
and in the geometry of radiations which will explode gel forming capacities. For this reason, the



Host of the Living Light comes to deliver those who are living under and within the Light of
Righteousness.?

Despite the fact that Hurtak has been promoting these beliefs since 1973, becoming a New Age guru
par excellence, he has managed with astounding success to keep this side of his life completely separate
even from the promotion of his other unconventional ideas, such as his belief in the Face on Mars. For
example, when Hancock, Bauval and Grigsby quote from his book The Face on Mars (co-written with
Brian Crowley), they make no mention of his status as a New Age mystic and leader.? In fact, elsewhere
Hancock and Bauval describe him as a specialist in remote sensing.® Boris Said, who is now making
films about Egypt and other ancient civilisations based on Hurtak’s ideas, describes him as his film
company’s ‘scientific consultant.’”

What these admirers omit is the fact that Hurtak has been actively - and successfully — promoting what
is effectively a new religion over the last quarter of a century. (This omission is odd, since we know that
Bauval at least is familiar with The Keys of Enoch.8) Not only has Hurtak established a particularly firm
grip on the New Age, but his revelatory teachings have attracted a highly influential body of followers
that includes multimillionaires and senior politicians. One of his disciples described him to us as ‘almost
the Messiah’.

It is also curious that — as the two main proponents of the Mars — Earth connection — Hurtak and
Hoagland should completely ignore one another, even when discussing each other’s work. For example,
Hoagland manages to elaborate on the Elysium pyramids in The Monuments of Mars without mentioning
Hurtak even once, despite the fact that he was the first person ever to talk about them publicly. The
compliment is returned: in Hurtak’s The Face on Mars, Hoagland’s name is completely absent, even
when discussing the City and the Fortress, features that he discovered and named. And the two men have
other connections, most significantly perhaps being their links with SRI International, both having worked
closely with Lambert Dolphin Jr.

Surely it is too much of a coincidence that the two major proponents of the Mars-Earth theory in the last
twenty-five years should be involved with the same group of alleged extraterrestrial intelligences - the
Council of Nine? This is a somewhat disturbing scenario: between them, these men have great influence, a
wide variety of contacts, and many disciples, culled from New Age, intellectual, scientific and political
circles, even the intelligence community. Yet they and their many followers clearly believe that they are in
contact with the Nine, either directly or indirectly. So who or what are the Council of Nine?

Enter the Nine

The Council of Nine are not some recent channelling fad. The story began almost 50 years ago thanks
entirely to the work of one man whose name has already appeared in this investigation. He was Dr
Andrija Puharich, Uri Geller’s mentor and the ultimate eminence gris, whose disturbing talent for
creating belief systems has - we were to discover — helped to shape events in the last years of the
twentieth century, and may well even mould the way we think after the Millennium.

This American doctor, born in Chicago of Yugoslavian parents in 1918, was a reasonably successful
inventor of medical gadgets such as improved deaf aids. But that was only part of his life, his more public



face. He was also known as a brave pioneer in the ‘Cinderella science’ of parapsychology, or — as many
have come to view it - the study of the hitherto unplumbed powers of the human mind.

From 1948 until 1958 Puharich ran a private paranormal research centre called the Round Table
Foundation in Glen Cove, Maine, carrying out experiments with several famous psychics such as the Irish
medium Eileen Garrett and the Dutch clairvoyant Peter Hurkos (Pieter van der Hirk). In 1952 he took an
Indian mystic, Dr D.G. Vinod, to the laboratory, although apparently not so much to test his abilities as to
listen to his teachings, which came by what is now known as ‘channelling’: more or less identical to old-
fashioned trance mediumship, in which the medium becomes a conduit for various discarnate spirits.

The first of these sessions took place on 31 December 1952. Vinod entered the trance state and at
exactly 9pm, spoke. His first words were, portentously: “We are Nine Principles and Forces.” One of the
‘Nine’, who identified himself only as ‘M’ (a second communicator, ‘R’, also appeared over the next few
months), furnished some extremely detailed scientific information concerning a variant of the Lorentz-
Einstein Transformation equation (relating to energy, mass and the speed of light).2

Puharich worked with Vinod for a month, then had to return to service with the US Army, which kept
him away from the Round Table Foundation for several months, returning later in 1953. A final seminal
session with Vinod occurred on 27 June that year, when a circle of nine people, led by Puharich, gathered
to listen to the disembodied nonhuman intelligences known as the Nine. Two of the ‘sitters’ on that
momentous occasion were the philosopher and inventor Arthur M. Young and his wife Ruth, who also
have key roles in this curious scenario. Another sitter was Alice Bouverie (née Astor), daughter of the
founder of the Astoria Hotel in New York. Already the message was percolating through to the upper

echelons of American society.1

The Nine presented themselves as a kind of collective intelligence or gestalt, consisting of nine entities
or aspects that together made up a whole. Puharich said that the Nine are ‘directly related to Man’s
concept of God’, and that ‘the controllers of the Universe operate under the direction of the Nine.
Between the controllers and the untold numbers of planetary civilizations are the messengers.’ 1 The Nine
themselves - speaking through Dr Vinod - said: ‘God is nobody else than we together, the Nine Principles
of God. There is no God other than what we are together.’12 The group disbanded when Vinod returned to
India. That, however, was by no means the end of the Nine.

As far as outsiders can ascertain, the Nine - when speaking through Vinod - never identified themselves
as extraterrestrials, but that was to change. Three years later Puharich and Arthur Young went to Mexico
with Peter Hurkos to use the Dutch psychic’s powers to locate certain artefacts at the ancient site of
Acémbaro.13 In the Hoétel de Paris they met an American couple, Dr Charles Laughead and his wife
Lillian, who were working with a young man who claimed to be in telepathic contact with various alien
races. Shortly after his return to the United States, Puharich received a letter from Laughead - a copy of
which they sent to Young - giving communications from the extraterrestrials. And this referred to the Nine,
giving the correct date for their first contact via Dr Vinod as well as the same information about the
Lorentz-Einstein Transformation.1# This appeared to be exciting independent corroboration of the Nine’s
existence, and confirmation of their ability to make contact with people other than Dr Vinod. (Perhaps
significantly, Laughead’s letter was signed ‘yours fraternally’.)

Over the next twenty years, Puharich devoted himself to more general parapsychological and medical
research. He set up a company, the Intelectron Corporation, to market his many patented medical
inventions. On the parapsychological side, apart from testing various psychics, he made a special, in-



depth study of shamanism. He was particularly interested in shamanic techniques for altering states of
consciousness, including the use of various hallucinogenic plants and ‘sacred’ mushrooms. Never one to
stand on the sidelines, Puharich threw himself into these studies, even being initiated into the mysteries of
Hawaiian shamanism, emerging as a fully fledged kahuna. At least as significant - in the light of what was
to come - was his personal training in hypnosis to the level of master hypnotist, at which stage are
revealed such mysteries as the ‘instant command technique’ so often used, and arguably abused, by stage
hypnotists. Out of this admirably ‘hands-on’ research he wrote two books, The Sacred Mushroom (1959)
and Beyond Telepathy (1962).

Throughout the 1960s, Puharich investigated the extraordinary ‘psychic surgeon’ of Brazil known as
Arigo (José Pedro de Freitas), whose trance states led to some highly unorthodox treatments of the sick,
who flocked to his door by the thousand and, in many cases, were inexplicably cured. Puharich found
Arigé’s work and psychic abilities genuine, though this was to be overshadowed by his discovery of a
new, excitingly paranormal, talent from another part of the world.

In 1970 a stage act by the young Israeli Uri Geller was causing a stir in the nightclubs of Israel and had
already attracted the interest of the Israeli authorities. Through an Israeli Army officer, Itzhak Bentov,
Geller came to the attention of Puharich,X> who had spent some time in Tel Aviv earlier in 1970, training
Israelis in the workings of his medical devices, especially one for the ‘electrostimulation’ of hearing for
the deaf. Puharich returned to Israel to meet Geller to evaluate him as a potential subject for further
testing. The rest is history - although some of it was, until now, secret history.

In November, Puharich carried out a more detailed study of Geller - this time with Itzhak Bentov, who
was present when Puharich hypnotised the young Israeli in an attempt to discover the source of his
powers. Writer Stuart Holroyd later (rather worryingly) described hypnosis as ‘a routine procedure in
Puharich’s investigation of psychics’,1® which raises some ethical questions about his methods. The
altered state of consciousness known as hypnosis is by no means fully understood, but it is well known
that entranced subjects are notoriously eager to please their hypnotists by creating fantasies that comply
with his or her own predilections or agendas. Hypnotist and subject can soon become partners in a
strange and wild dance in which sometimes one person leads and sometimes the other, although it is

usually the hypnotist who calls the tune.

In deep trance, Uri described being three years old, seeing a light in the sky and encountering a shining
being. Then a voice spoke through him (in English), telling the researchers that Geller had been
‘programmed’ on that occasion, and that Puharich was to take care of him. The voice also warned of a
serious threat of war between Israel and Egypt, which — if it took place — would escalate and ultimately
lead to a Third World War.XZ Further hypnosis sessions followed. The entities explained that Geller had
been programmed for a special mission to Earth — *He is the only one for the next fifty years to come*18
and announced that they were a form of conscious computer, living aboard a spacecraft called Spectra.
After a few sessions, Puharich asked: ‘Are you of the Nine Principles that once spoke through Dr Vinod?’

The reply was: ‘Yes.”2

Puharich had another subject in mind, one that would assume a much wider appeal — virtually becoming
a new religion — as the twentieth century draws towards its close. He asked the communicating entities:
‘Are you behind the UFO sightings that started in the United States when Kenneth Arnold saw nine flying

saucers on June 24, 19477?°20 Again, the answer was affirmative.

Puharich wrote: ‘Now I was totally convinced that Uri and I had been contacted by such a local cosmic



being; by this I mean some representative or extension of the Nine Principles.’2!

On his second trip, Puharich stayed in Israel for almost three months, in daily contact with Geller and
bombarded with demonstrations of paranormal phenomena nearly every day. Messages from Spectra/the
Nine continued, either channelled through the hypnotised Geller or appearing spontaneously on audio
tapes, but in every case the tapes either erased themselves or vanished before their eyes. Unfortunately;,
that means that only Puharich’s written transcripts survive as records of the events.

It was undoubtedly a weird time. Puharich and Geller saw several UFOs, and witnessed the
teleportation of objects from one place to another, often through solid walls, besides experiencing a series
of bizarre synchronicities. This, however, was merely window-dressing. Their mission was to pray and
meditate to prevent the predicted Israel — Egypt war, as tension between the two countries increased
over Christmas 1971. Eventually, President Sadat of Egypt made an astonishing climbdown, and the war
was averted in the nick of time. (Two years later an Israeli-Egyptian conflict occurred with the Yom
Kippur War of October 1973, but when Puharich queried this with the Nine he was told this was fine;

there was no risk of the conflict escalating and ‘the war will be fought just like an ordinary war’.22)

When Puharich returned to the United States in February 1972, determined to have Geller’s wild talents
evaluated scientifically, he contacted SRI International. Significantly, although SRI supremos Targ and
Puthoff were in charge of the testing, the key figure in this scenario was former lunar astronaut Edgar
Mitchell, the “funding and contracting agent’.22 Significantly, the Geller experiments at SRI coincided
exactly with the first CIA involvement with psychic experiments there, specifically their sponsorship of
research into Ingo Swann’s extraordinary talent for remote viewing. And in Uri Geller they had the golden
child of the Israeli secret service, Mossad.?* Is it too unlikely that Geller, also, was being investigated by
the CIA? Geller has gone on record as admitting he worked for them.22 And, as we shall see, Puharich
himself was on their payroll, at least from time to time. And a further connection with intelligence
agencies lay in Hal Puthoffs former employment by the National Security Agency (NSA), an even more
secretive organisation than the CIA, and with powers at least as great.? In an interview in 1996, Geller
made the telling comment: ‘And probably, I believe, the whole thing with Andrija was financed by the

American Defense Department.’

When Geller arrived in the United States in August 1972, the Nine recommenced their antics with more
messages on instantly wiped tapes and teleportations. Significantly, Geller himself was not a convert to
the Nine, even at this stage. He found their pranks childish and ultimately unimpressive. He was to say of
them in August 1972: ‘I think somebody is playing games with us. Perhaps they are a civilization of
clowns.’28

At the time that Geller began his SRI tests, in November 1972, the Nine — through their representative
Spectra in those early days - started to describe their plans for an imminent mass landing of spaceships,
claiming that Puharich and Geller’s roles were to prepare mankind for this momentous event. The Nine
described the ‘Knowledge Book’ that they had left hidden in Egypt some 6,000 years ago, during one of
their previous visits to Earth. They then began to talk about another extraterrestrial race, called -
somewhat unfortunately - Hoova, who had come to Earth 20,000 years ago, specifically to the area now
called Israel, where they had encountered Abraham, claiming that this meeting was the origin of the
Biblical story of the ladder joining Heaven and Earth.

On 27 February 1973, Puharich took Geller to meet Arthur M. Young at his house in Philadelphia, thus
completing a circle that had begun twenty years before with the channelling of Dr Vinod. Sadly there are



no accessible records of what happened at this meeting.

Unfortunately for the Nine, their carefully laid plans for Geller never came to fruition. In October 1973
he appeared on The David Dambleby Show on British television and was launched into overnight psychic
superstardom. Geller and Puharich went their separate ways soon afterwards, and the former has
distanced himself from the Nine ever since. Although he admits that extraterrestrial intelligences might be
responsible for his powers, he — very sensibly — points out that he cannot vouch for what the Nine said
through him, as he was always in a hypnotic trance at the time.22 He thinks that his own subconscious
fantasising may have played a large part in the communications - which is often the case during hypnosis -
although he does corroborate some of the other events related by Puharich, such as their shared UFO
sightings in Israel and Sinai.

The Nine, it transpired, did not really need Geller, despite having told him that he was to be ‘the only
one for the next fifty years to come’. They continued seamlessly after Geller’s departure, with other
channellers and a new group of devotees. The key people who now entered the story were Sir John
Whitmore and Phyllis Schlemmer. The new group formed an organisation called Lab Nine, based at
Puharich’s estate at Ossining in New York State.

Puharich and Lab Nine had many wealthy and influential backers, including members of Canada’s
richest family, the Bronfmans (the owners of the Seagram liquor business) and an Italian nobleman called
Baron DiPauli. It is portrayed as an almost hippy-style commune — with a loose band of hangers-on
moving around the central nucleus of Puharich, Whitmore and Schlemmer - but what hippy commune
attracts quite so many rich people or such a sprinkling of members of the intelligence agencies? And what
other community could boast a fully qualified kahuna shaman and master hypnotist like Puharich - with
none other than James Hurtak as his de facto second-in-command?

It was at this time that Puharich also carried out a series of experiments with the so-called ‘Geller
Kids’ or ‘Space Kids’, children with pronounced psychic gifts. Ostensibly, this was to investigate the
extent of their powers — such as metalbending - but significantly, Puharich soon had them remote viewing
and hypnotised them to tell him where their powers originated.2

One of the most useful and colourful characters with whom Puharich surrounded himself at Ossining
was Phyllis Schlemmer (née Virtue). Born of Italian and Irish ancestry in Pennsylvania, from an early age
she was aware of her gifts as a medium. At her Catholic college the priests often asked her to accompany
them on exorcisms, as she could ‘see’ possessing spirits leaving the victims. As she grew older, she
regularly channelled a number of spirit guides. After the break-up of her first marriage, she moved to
Florida where she developed her career as a psychic, working for the police and mining companies, and
even broadcasting her own television show. She founded the Psychic Center of Florida in Orlando, a
school for developing psychics, in 1969. Her main spirit guide was an entity called ‘Dr Fiske®, but in
1970 a new control simply named ‘“Tom’ ‘came through’. She assumed it must be her grandfather Thomas,
who died when she was just five.

Phyllis Schlemmer met Puharich at a conference in the late 1960s, and the two were in regular contact
thereafter. In January 1974, a cook from Daytona Beach, who is referred to in Nine-related literature only
by the pseudonym ‘Bobby Home’, enrolled at Schlemmer’s Psychic Center, developing healing talents so
remarkable that she recommended him to Puharich as a potential subject for further study. It was not to be
a fortuitous recommendation for poor Bobby.

Puharich travelled to Miami to meet Home in March 1974. On their first meeting — as was Puharich’s



habit, as we have seen — he hypnotised the young man, who began to channel an extraterrestrial entity
called Corean. Puharich was delighted, believing he had found a worthy successor to Geller in his quest
to establish regular contact with the Nine. He went on to have several channelled ‘interviews’ with
Corean, but refused to let Home himself hear the tapes of these sessions, claiming that this specifically
followed Corean’s own instructions.2! It was decreed that Home should be told neither the identity of the
entity nor the content of its communications. Puharich behaved in a highly unethical way for a hypnotist,
asking obviously leading questions of Corean, such as if he was connected with Hoova, the civilisation
supposedly in contact with Uri Geller. In fact Corean had not mentioned Hoova, but afterwards this
became a regular subject of discussion for him. Then, amazingly, Puharich compounded his already
extraordinarily unethical behaviour by implanting a posthypnotic suggestion in Horne’s subconscious

mind to enable Schlemmer to continue to put him into trance in his, Puharich’s, absence3?

Turning her back on her origins as a ‘traditional’ spiritualist medium communicating with the spirits of
the dead, Schlemmer had begun to channel only extraterrestrials since the spring of 1974, when Puharich
took her to meet a friend of his, an adventurer and explorer named Count Pino Turolla.23 At his Florida
house Schlemmer went into a trance and again channelled Tom, to be told that he was not, as she had
believed, her deceased grandfather, but an extraterrestrial. Tom was to become the main communicator of
the Nine later, when Schlemmer assumed Horne’s role. (Interestingly, Count Turolla was one of the
people involved in the supposed confirmation of Edgar Cayce’s prophecies about Atlantis with the
discovery of the Bimini Road in 1968.3%)

With Home replacing Geller as the new ‘Chosen One’, a circle formed around him, with a nucleus
consisting of Puharich, Schlemmer and Sir John Whitmore, the heir to an aristocratic British family.
Educated at public school and the elite military academy of Sandhurst, he later became a successful
racing driver. At the time of the Lab Nine operation he owned houses in England and the Bahamas. He had
first become seriously involved with this bizarre set-up in April 1974; the previous year he had spent
some time with James Hurtak in California as one of his inner circle of ‘disciples’. As Stuart Holroyd
wrote:

He [Hurtak] often spoke about UFOs and about his personal contacts with extraterrestrials, who,
he said, had often intervened in Earth history since prehistoric times, when they had established a
civilization in the Tarim Basin to the north of Tibet.32

Tom had also identified the Tarim Basin as the site of the first arrival of an extraterrestrial civilisation on
Earth, during the same period - 34,000 years ago - identified by Hurtak.

Shortly after first sitting at Hurtak’s feet, Whitmore met Puharich in New York to discuss the promotion
of Uri Geller’s powers shortly before Geller dropped out of the scene and Bobby Horne became the focus
of the group’s attention. The Nine, speaking as Corean, told the trio that they had been chosen for a special
mission to bring the news of the imminent return of extraterrestrials to Earth. This central message
attracted others to the sitter group, and formed the basis of all future Nine communications.

Puharich, Whitmore, Schlemmer and an increasingly reluctant Bobby Home began to proselytise in both
the United States and Britain in the spring and summer of 1974, although they kept the group small and
intimate, not intending it to explode into a mass movement, at least in the immediate future. Meanwhile
Bobby Home was suffering from increasing pressure from the Nine, being expected to drop all other
activities to follow the group around the world to channel at any time of the day or night and produce
phenomena almost constantly. He began to make excuses or fail to show up, and even became suicidal as



the demands of the exhausting business spiralled out of control.2® (Later, Whitmore was to airily dismiss
Home as showing ‘signs of instability’.2?) The Nine eventually decided to let him go — their second
failure, after Geller - and announced that from then on Schlemmer would be their ‘transceiver’, with Tom
as their spokesman.

Closely involved with these events then was writer Lyall Watson, who had become the star of the
alternative culture after the runaway success of his book Supernature (1973). He was a sitter at many of
the Nine’s channelling sessions, and they announced that they wanted him to be - as it were - their official
biographer, as well as become joint channeller with Schlemmer. Watson had grave reservations about
what was happening, though, and declined either to write the book or become more involved. Clearly, the
Nine were keen to exploit Watson’s fame, as they had been with Geller.

A new and intense phase began when Tom started to show a rather autocratic streak, expelling what he
called ‘negatives’ — such as Watson and a neurosurgeon called Norman Shealey — from the circle.
(Shealey, now a well-known holistic therapist, had been trained at ARE.) With anyone who was likely to
ask awkward questions out of the way, Puharich was appointed as director of the group and Whitmore
was ‘advised’ to hand over as much of his considerable fortune as was necessary to further the work as a
gesture of his ‘faith’. They were impressed and supremely motivated with a sense of personal destiny, of
being the chosen ones whose purpose was to spread the word to at least 75 per cent of the world of the
mass landing of representatives of the Nine due to take place in 1976. That was the task set by the Nine.

The number of people associated with Lab Nine at Ossining grew, but the identities of many of its
members were concealed in the literature by pseudonyms. It is known that they included SRI physicists
and at least one prominent figure who was a personal friend of President Gerald Ford.2® One famous
name very much part of the Lab Nine scene in the mid-1970s was Gene Roddenberry, creator of Star
Trek.22

It is unclear how much Roddenberry was influenced by the Nine. His involvement began in 1974,
several years after the original Star Trek TV series finished, but around the time that he was developing
ideas for the first of the series of movies. It is said that some of the concepts in the first of these, Star
Trek: The Motion Picture (1979), came from the Nine, and that they influenced some of the characters,
concepts and storylines of the Star Trek: The Next Generation and Deep Space Nine TV series. (For
example, a character named Vinod appeared in an episode of Deep Space Nine called ‘Paradise’.) It is
known that in 1974 Whitmore commissioned Roddenberry to write a film script based on the Lab Nine
events, called simply The Nine. Although the movie did not materialise during Roddenberry’s lifetime, in
1995 the Hollywood industry newspapers reported that Jon Povill — producer of the TV series Sliders -
was planning to make The Nine at last. 2

Puharich, Whitmore and Schlemmer eagerly undertook ‘missions’ on behalf of the Nine, mainly
travelling around Middle Eastern and other trouble spots meditating for peace, although they were often
suspected of being spies. (Perhaps this is not surprising. On one trip, in November to December 1974,
they travelled from Helsinki to Warsaw, Poland, where they set up their own radio receiver. This,
according to Puharich, was to facilitate experiments in contacting Tom — perhaps something of a slur on
Schlemmer’s mediumistic talents? Even if the purpose of the radio was as innocent — if rather unusual —
as Puharich claimed, its use by American citizens in an Eastern Bloc country during the Cold War seems
almost criminally naive. Later in the same trip they attempted to enter Moscow, but were turned away at
the airport because they had no visas).#! While these prime movers were away, the ‘second-in-command’



back in the United States was James Hurtak, who had been appointed ‘spiritual leader’ by the Nine,* and
whose own extraterrestrial channelled material agreed with many of their pronouncements. One particular
similarity was the idea that the civilisation of Altea had created Atlantis, and after a great catastrophe the
survivors had influenced the emergence of the civilisations of Egypt and Central and South America.

In 1975 Puharich and Whitmore commissioned British writer Stuart Holroyd to write an account of the
group, as Prelude to the Landing on Planet Earth (1977). The paperback edition was re-titled Briefings
for the Landing on Planet Earth, which calls to mind Hoagland’s insistence on calling his United
Nations lecture a briefing. At this time, other people were also channelling the Nine. One particularly
influential channeller was Englishwoman Jenny O’ Connor, who was introduced by Sir John Whitmore to
the influential avant garde Esalen Institute in California, where — incredibly — the Nine actually gave
seminars through her.%2

Another group came from a background of paranormal research. In 1976, after reading Puharich’s
biography of Geller, Uri, former airline pilot Don Elkins and Carla Rueckert went to Ossining to meet
him, then accompanied him to Mexico to study the psychic healer Pachita in 1977 and 1978. Elkins and
Rueckert, who ran a Kentucky-based group with James Allen McCarty, were already deeply committed to
the concept of alien intervention by the time they met Puharich. Elkins began in the mid-1950s as a UFO
investigator, then in 1962 turned his attention to extraterrestrial ‘contactees’, at which time Carla Rueckert
began work with him. They founded a group called L/L Research in 1970, specifically to study such
phenomena. After their Mexican trip with Puharich, Rueckert began to channel another emissary from the
Nine, a group entity called Ra. Significantly, the third member of the trio, James Allen McCarty, who
joined L/L Research in 1980, had already worked closely with a group in Oregon who had claimed to
channel the same entity as Edgar Cayce.#

Elkins committed suicide in 1984, and the extraterrestrial communications ended, although L/L
Research continues to promote the spiritual teachings of Ra, who spoke of a body called the Council of
Saturn, based somewhere in its rings, which protects the Earth and keeps it in a kind of quarantine. From a
session on 25 January 1981, Ra explained (with very proper godlike disdain for mere earthly grammar
and syntax):

In number, the Council that sits in constant session, though varying in its members of balancing,
which takes place, what you would call irregularly, is nine. That is the Session Council. To back
up this Council, there are twenty-four entities which offer their services as requested. These

entities faithfully watch and have been called Guardians.®

Tom also speaks of twenty-four entities who represent the twenty-four civilisations and work with the
Nine. Hurtak similarly writes about the Council of Twenty-Four in his The Keys of Enoch.

Ra was then asked if this was the same Council of Nine with whom Puharich and another channeller
named Mark Probert® were in contact and - we do not have to hold our breath here - he replied, yes, that
was 50.% Ra also said that Earth was inhabited by beings from Mars, which is a slightly different version
of the Earth — Mars connection. As usual, Atlantis and Egypt also feature prominently in this scenario,
with Ra declaring that he himself had built the Great Pyramid.

In 1978 Puharich’s house at Ossining was burned down in a mysterious arson attack, and he
disappeared to Mexico for a while to study the ‘psychic surgeon’ Pachita. When he returned, in 1980, he
seemed to have no more contact with the Council of Nine. He died in January 1995 after falling down the



stairs in the South Carolina house lent to him by one of his rich patrons, Joshua Reynolds III.

The Council of Nine, through Schlemmer and other ‘transceivers’, continued to thrive without their
one-time mentor. The Schlemmer — Whitmore group, with its wealthy backers and ever-expanding circle
of devotees, continues to meet regularly to this day. In 1992, a compilation of the collected wisdom of
Tom, The Only Planet of Choice: Essential Briefings from Deep Space was published, carrying a front-
cover endorsement by James Hurtak. It soon became a runaway New Age bestseller. It was originally
edited down by Palden Jenkins from countless hours of transcripts of Schlemmer’s channelling since
1974, interspersed with questions from the sitters (who included David Percy®® and Gene Roddenberry).
A second edition was hastily re-edited two years later, this time by Mary Bennett (who also edited Myers
and Percy’s Two-Thirds).

Meanwhile Hurtak’s own The Keys of Enoch has continued to sell widely. While based on the ‘Keys’
allegedly programmed into him by Enoch himself in 1973, the book includes material about the Council of
Nine, although Hurtak claims that the revelations come from an even higher source to which the Nine are
merely subordinate. The Nine in this scheme of things are the intelligences that govern one solar system
only — ours. Hurtak’s version is even grander in scope and implications than Schlemmer’s. In his system
the Council of Nine may govern our solar system and ‘level of existence’, but there are yet higher
authorities, the most supreme being the ‘70 Brotherhoods of the Great White Brotherhood‘, also called the
‘Hierarchy’.

David Myers’ and David Percy’s novelised form of the same myth, Two-Thirds, was published in
1993. Although it does not mention the Council of Nine by name, it describes the same cosmic system of
civilisations and higher, discarnate intelligences who guide them and were responsible for the genetic
engineering that created the human race. Two-Thirds concentrates on the story of the Altean race and its
influence on Earth. The role of the Nine is taken by entities rather curiously called ‘Essenes’ (usually
without the definite article), who communicate with the Alteans by telepathy, explaining how they built the
Cydonian monuments, the Great Pyramid and the Sphinx at Giza, and how they implemented the genetic
modification of the emerging human species. (Essenes’s connection with the first-century Jewish sect of
the same name is implicit.) The whole book was channelled from the Nine by David Myers, who
clairaudiently hears Tom’s voice in his head, rather than channelling in an altered state, like Bobby Home
or Phyllis Schlemmer.

Hearing voices and speaking the words of extraterrestrials is not an activity that most people admire
and respect, although channelling is hugely popular in New Age circles, where it is actively encouraged.
Most of the outpourings that allegedly come from spirit guides, great names from history or deceased
relatives are at best regurgitated thoughts and memories from the unconscious mind of the medium or
channeller, and at worst they are simply made up on the spot. The words of the Nine deserve closer
scrutiny because they are surprisingly consistent — as if coming from the same source — even when
emanating from different channellers with no knowledge of each other. So who exactly are the Nine, or
rather, who do they claim to be?

A momentous revelation

Their precise identity was revealed in September 1974 in a channelling session with Schlemmer, in



response to the question by Gene Roddenberry: ‘To whom am I talking? Do you have a name?’ Tom
replied:

As you know, I am the spokesman for the Nine. But I also have another position, which I have with
you in the project. I will try to give you names so you can then understand in what you work and
who we are. I may not pronounce who I am in a manner which you would understand because of
the problem in the Being’s [his name for Schlemmer] brain, but I will explain so that the Doctor
[Puharich] perhaps will understand. I am Tom, but I am also Harmarkus [Harmarchis], I am also
Harenkur, I am also known as Turn and I am known as Atum.42

The next day, following up the name Harmarchis, Puharich asked: ‘How did the Egyptians come to build
and name the Sphinx after you?” Tom replied:

You have found the secret. [A pause for ‘consultation’.] The true knowledge of that will be related
to you another time. But I will say briefly to you concerning the Sphinx: I am the beginning. I am
the end. I am the emissary. But the original time that I was on the Planet Earth was 34,000 of your
years ago. I am the balance. And when I say ‘I’ - I mean because I am an emissary for the Nine. It

is not I, but it is the group... We are nine principles of the Universe, yet together we are one.2

“Tom’ claims to be Atum, the ancient Egyptian creator god of whom the Sphinx was created as a living
image (Sheshep-ankh Atum), the head of the Great Ennead of Nine gods, which the ancient Egyptians
regarded as ‘Nine that are One’. Tom has also said: “We are the Univers’, which again accurately reflects
the old Heliopolitan belief. Interestingly, the entity whom Carla Rueckert channelled claimed to be Ra, the
ancient Egyptian sun god, who is another form of Atum. (The major clue was in the Nine’s name from the
start: the English word Ennead — group of nine - is used as a translation of the ancient Egyptian psit,
which literally means the number ‘nine’. The Egyptians themselves actually referred to the Heliopolitan
gods as ‘the Nine’.) The Nine also claim to be the Elohim — the gods - of the Old Testament, and the
Aeons of Gnosticism. Another very significant piece of information was added by Jenny O’ Connor, when
the Nine gave seminars through her at the Esalen Institute in the late 1970s. Although there are few
available records about what the Nine taught there, it is known that they divulged that they came from
Sirius.2!

Tom himself — allegedly the god Atum - is emphatic about the importance of the monuments of Giza, in
particular the Great Pyramid, but he has refused repeatedly to be drawn on its purpose, saying only that
this will be revealed when the landing has happened. However, when asked by Puharich if there were
undiscovered chambers in the Great Pyramid, he replied, “To a degree,” adding, ‘The entrance is from the
Sphinx’® — confirmation of the Council of Nine’s own belief in passages under the Sphinx. This is
proof, if any were needed, that the Nine share an interest in the events at Giza discussed in Chapter 1.

There is another link between the Nine and conspiracies surrounding Giza. We have noticed the term
‘Altea’ throughout various strands of this investigation. Wherever it crops up lurks the shadowy influence
of the Nine. The rumours that began to circulate in Egypt in 1997 - apparently originating in Egyptian
government circles - specified that Joseph Schor’s team had found the Hall of Records, housing
information that told how Atum had ‘descended from the skies’ and including records written in ‘Altean’.
Although this appears to be part of some kind of misinformation programme, the use of the term Altean
and the emphasis on Atum - suggesting that he was an extraterrestrial - clearly relate to the teachings of
the Council of Nine. Yet this rumour seems to have originated within the Egyptian government. Do the
Nine have friends in high places even beyond the confines of the West? And is it a coincidence that one of



the names given to Atlantis by Edgar Cayce was Alta?

Another intriguing aspect to this story is the way that the rumour surfaced, passed on to columnist
Georgina Bruni by an Egyptian political journalist at a reception in London. Although she has never been
a part of the Nine circle, Georgina has known Sir John Whitmore since the early 1990s, having contacted
him after reading Briefings for the Landing on Planet Earth and becoming fascinated with the story of
the Nine. The story, with its Atum and Altea references, would have a special significance for her - which
makes us wonder if something more than simple coincidence made her the recipient of the Egyptian story.
Was she specially targeted?

An ancient Egyptian priest speaks

The first communications through Dr Vinod were not the only extraordinary events in which Puharich was
a major player. In his 1959 book The Sacred Mushroom he describes a series of communications through
another remarkable psychic, which took place between summer 1954 and February 1956, beginning less
than a year after the Vinod sessions ended. The most intriguing thing, however, is that nowhere in his
writings does Puharich connect these communications with the Vinod sessions — although it would have
been obvious to do so.

In 1954 Puharich, with the rank of Captain, was based at the US Army Chemical Center in Edgewood,
Maryland, having been redrafted. During this time, the work of the Round Table Foundation was being
continued by Arthur Young and the other trustees, including Alice Bouverie who was working with a
young Dutch psychic called Harry Stone. On 16 June 1954, to test his psychometric (object-reading)
powers, she gave him a gold pendant that had belonged to Queen Tiye (mother of Akhenaten). After
apparently having a fit, Stone went into a deep trance and began to utter words in a strange language, then
drew a series of hieroglyphs before talking in English about a drug that would stimulate psychic abilities.
He spoke, among other things, about entering an underground hall where a statue of a dog-headed man
came to life.

Not surprisingly, Bouverie was very excited by this material. She immediately contacted Puharich at
the Army base for advice about what to do next, sending him the drawings and a copy of Stone’s strange
utterances. Puharich took them to another Army doctor on the site - who just happened to be an expert in
extremely rare and archaic forms of hieroglyphs - and, to his surprise, verified that Stone’s writings were
indeed ancient Egyptian. The communicator had identified himself as Rahotep (which Puharich rendered
as Ra Ho Tep), naming his wife as Nefert. He also claimed to be speaking with the voice of Tehuti (the
wisdom god Thoth), and mentioned the name Khufu.

Puharich was astounded to learn that a man named Rahotep was known from ancient Egyptian history,
and that he had been married to a woman called Nefert. Their tomb at Meidum was excavated by Auguste
Mariette in the nineteenth century, and a statue he found of the couple is now in the Cairo Museum. They
had indeed lived in the Fourth Dynasty, possibly in the reign of Khufu, builder of the Great Pyramid.
(Egyptologists place Rahotep either in Sneferu’s or Khufu’s reign.) Moreover - very significantly - the
historical Rahotep had been the high priest of Heliopolis!®® In addition, Puharich’s anonymous Army
colleague also imparted an astounding piece of information:



There is a shaft on the south side of the Great Pyramid which is so arranged that on a certain day
of each year, which is the beginning of the Egyptian year, the star Sinus — deified as the god Sept
- on rising would shine into the eye of the dead Pharaoh down this long passageway which ended
in the interior of the King’s Chamber.2*

This is an amazing - and very precise — piece of information, especially coming from an Army doctor,
even if his hobby was Egyptology. Of course, however, it is completely wrong. According to all known
ancient Egyptian sources, Sirius was deified as the goddess Sothis (or Isis), and its light could never
shine directly into the King’s Chamber, since there is a kink in the shaft. But how did he believe that any
of the southern shafts are aligned with Sirius? This idea was not prevalent at the time, although it seemed
to foreshadow the much later theories of Robert Bauval and James Hurtak. (It was found in Masonic
writings, though, which may have been the inspiration of them all.)

During Puharich’s leaves of absence, and after the end of his tour of duty in April 1955, he and Alice
Bouverie continued to work with Harry Stone, who had several more sessions in which he was
‘possessed’ by Rahotep, producing more fascinating information. From September 1955 Stone’s abilities
to contact Rahotep declined, the messages gradually becoming incoherent until they stopped completely in
February 1956.

As with the Nine’s communications, strange phenomena accompanied the Rahotep channellings.
Occasionally Alice Bouverie herself went into trance and, via automatic writing, produced messages that
corresponded with those of Harry Stone. But the most important aspect of these communications was that
Rahotep’s main concern was to impart information about a drug used by the priests of Heliopolis to ‘open
the door’ to the gods: a mushroom that induced hallucinatory experiences, a sort of chemical stargate.
From Stone’s drawings, Puharich was able to identify the mushroom as amanita muscaria, or fly agaric.
Bouverie’s automatic writing predicted that a specimen would shortly be found near the Round Table
Foundation’s building in Maine. Shortly afterwards one was indeed found in the nearby woods, a rare,
though not unique, occurrence in that area. They used the mushroom with Stone, and later with Peter
Hurkos, who reported that the mushroom had no effect on his psychic abilities, except perhaps in the area
of precognition.22 Coincidentally, this dovetailed amazingly neatly with Puharich’s major preoccupation
of the time, which was the search for a drug that would stimulate or enhance psychic abilities. Puharich
had settled on the psychoactive drugs used by shamans as the main focus of his research, and in 1953 had
contacted R. Gordon Wasson, the first researcher to study the shamanic mushroom cult of Mexico. The
two set up an experiment to see if the Mexican shamans, or curanderos, could, under the influence of the
mushroom, ‘visit’ the Round Table Foundation’s laboratory in Maine. The long-distance experiment never
happened, but it is interesting that Puharich was already thinking in terms of remote viewing (although he
did not use that term then).

Certain themes already familiar from the Nine’s communications were also central to those of Rahotep.
For example, they both stress the importance of the Sphinx. On one occasion Harry Stone uttered the
phrase ‘Na na ne Hupe’, which, Puharich tells us, was ancient Egyptian for ‘We are under the care of
Hupe’, adding for our benefit, that ‘Hupe is one of the names of the great sphinx at Giza near the Great
Pyramid’.2® (We have not been able to verify this fact.)

Sirius is also prevalent, although obliquely. Harry Stone talks about the god Sept, whom Puharich
identifies with Sirius. Most significant of all is the fact that the historical Rahotep was high priest of
Heliopolis, with its Great Ennead of Nine gods. Stone’s communications led Puharich to do further
research about the Heliopolitan religion, and he wrote:



Heliopolis was the center of a religion which had for its pantheon nine great gods called the
Ennead, which means the Nine. The Nine of Heliopolis are Atum, Shu and Tefnut, Geb and Nut,

Osiris and Isis, and Set and Nepthys.2Z

Puharich referred to the high priest of Heliopolis as the ‘chief spokesman’ of the Ennead. He was using
the term ‘the Nine’ way back in 1959: the communications themselves took place between his first contact
with the ‘Nine Principles’ in 1952-3 and his renewed acquaintance with them through his meeting with the
Laugheads in Mexico in 1956. Surely Puharich must have made the connection, realising that these were
not separate stories, but one, centring on contact with the Nine entities who claimed to be nothing less
than the ancient gods of Heliopolis?

Although Puharich’s methodology can be criticised, his sincerity is rarely open to doubt. At the end of
The Sacred Mushroom he wrote: ‘I do not doubt that discarnate intelligences exist, any more than I doubt
that finite carnate intelligences exist.”2 It is also relevant that all of this channelled information hinged on
the shamanic use of certain psychoactive substances, which Puharich was researching at the time on
behalf of the US Army. The Rahotep communications make explicit the use of such practices as part of the
Heliopolitan religion.

There seem to have been several instances of the Nine — or, at least, sources associated with ancient
Egypt — communicating with different groups and individuals of the late twentieth century, including
Harry Stone, Phyllis Schlemmer, Uri Geller and many others. They seem to be repeating essentially the
same story, stressing the same points, such as the importance of the Sphinx, and by implication if nothing
else, signifying the imminence of some momentous event that will somehow involve ancient Egyptian
secrets. James Hurtak, arguably their greatest prophet, says in The Keys of Enoch: ‘Giza was the region
of the Council of Nine, represented by nine pyramids keyed into the “Pyramid of Cheops [Khufu]”.’22
Although these are separate and apparently independent contacts with living humans, their similarity
suggests that they are part of a greater scheme, perhaps helping and guiding mankind through perilous
times ahead.

These communicators are not just any ancient Egyptians. While Harry Stone’s guide announced himself
as Rahotep, high priest of Heliopolis, those of the Puharich circles went much, much further, claiming to
be the Ennead, the gods of ancient Egypt — the Nine. In independent channelling sessions they said much
the same, and seemed to be the same. Their words have inspired hugely influential individuals, such as
Richard Hoagland, to spread their message with true, even fanatical, missionary zeal. Indeed, the Nine’s
influence extends well beyond the more predictable outlets of New Age circuits and the hothouse worlds
of maverick researchers.

But are the Nine truly the gods of Heliopolis, the ancient Nine who were worshipped thousands of
years ago in Egyptian mystery schools and temples?



Behind the Mask

The Nine have clearly impressed a huge number of people - through books such as The Only Planet of
Choice and The Keys of Enoch; through lectures, personal contact and word of mouth, especially in New
Age and alternative Egypt — Mars circles; and even, arguably, in subliminal form through the most
popular television science fiction ever. Belief in the Nine is widespread and self-generating, for each
new ‘convert’ passes on the message, as has always been the way with exciting, strongly held,
quasireligious beliefs. The many devotees of the Nine include senior scientists, industrialists, associates
of NASA and operatives for the CIA, as well as those whose media professionalism ensures that the Nine
are given the best possible image.

The Nine eventually revealed themselves as the Great Ennead, or nine principal gods of ancient
Heliopolis, and claim to be returning to Earth to help mankind at a critical stage in its evolution.
Suspending disbelief for the moment, the disturbing possibility is that they are simply stating the truth, in
which case perhaps we should all immediately become their devotees, awestruck, obsequious, hanging on
their every word. After all, we are only flawed humans, and they are gods, our creators. Perhaps it is too
easy to dismiss the concept of the Nine. Perhaps we owe it to ourselves and the whole human race to
surrender gracefully, and admit that the gods have returned.

At this point, however, we should pause. Evolution has brought us a long way: mankind is not only self-
aware but cerebral. We have learned to think, analyse and discern. Not only do we need to take the claims
of the Nine seriously - for if they really are the gods their return is the single most significant event in
history - but we also have to be aware of anything that may reveal cracks in the carefully constructed
edifice with which they surround themselves. Are the Nine for real, or are they some kind of hoax or
delusion? And if they are a fabrication, who created them — and why?

The hidden message

Unlikely though it may seem, the Nine have a strong hold on the hearts and minds of key players in this
story, even to the extent that their teachings have helped to shape our cultural concepts of space, both
through the phenomenally successful science fiction of Star Trek and those promoting the alleged science
fact of the Mars Mission in more recent years.

The teachings of the Nine emphasise that there are many civilisations throughout the galaxy, some of



whom are banded together in a Star Trek-like Federation, but all of whom are more or less aware of the
existence of the Nine. Some operate closely with them, because the Nine need them to interact with the
inhabitants of the physical universe, including Altea and Hoova, the two civilisations that have played a
major part in human history. Spectra, the conscious computer with which Uri Geller was alleged to have
been in contact, is one of the lower forms of computerised intelligence operated by the higher entities.

The Alteans, who arrived in the solar system some 1.6 million years ago, settled on Mars and were
responsible for the building of the Cydonia complex. Earth was then off limits, as it had been earmarked
for the development of a new sentient race, intended to be the Alteans’ ‘partner society’.1 Later they were
allowed to go to Earth to assist in the genetic development of the new Earth races under the guidance of
the Nine.

Altea and Hoova helped in the genetic manipulation — or ‘seeding’ — of the human race. According to
the Nine, as reported through their channellers, one indigenous race already existed on Earth - the blacks,
the only one actually to evolve here.? This implicit racism caused hostility towards The Only Planet of
Choice, but Tom has since stressed a belief in the equality of all races, and cautions against any racism
based on a misunderstanding of their teachings. Some believe this sounds remarkably like damage
limitation, and the suspicion of racism has remained in many critical minds.

In fact, the Nine reveal a marked, if sometimes ambiguous, positive discrimination. According to them,
the Jewish race was created by Hoova, as was Jesus, whom they call — rather inadvisedly, as it turns out
- the ‘Nazarene’. The Jews are ‘the saviours of the planet’ and, directly descended from Hoova, are truly
the ‘Chosen People’, with special powers and a momentous role in Earth’s history. They made a grave
mistake in not accepting Jesus as their Messiah (who was sent from Hoova), though, so to rectify this and
regain their rightful place in the scheme of things, they must first come ‘to acceptance’ - presumably of

Jesus the Nazarene.2

According to Tom, Jesus and Jehovah are one and the same, and have a special relationship with the
Nine. Jesus was ‘the last of us to visit planet Earth’.# The Second Coming will take place as part of the
mass landing, when Jesus will arrive as the Jewish Messiah. There are, it is claimed, secret records of
Jesus, hidden in Egypt and Israel: ‘At the proper time there will be a correlation of finding these records
within six months of each other.” The seeding of Earth was an experiment by the Nine to see how ‘the
originals’ (the black races) would evolve in comparison with ’those that colonized’. This was hardly a
smooth or peaceable process, for mankind’s genetic evolution has also been interfered with by the dark
forces, usually said to hail from the Pleiades and often described simply as the ‘Others’, although they are
also, more melodramatically, described as the followers of Satan — ‘the Beast’.%

The Nine claim that the first colonisation from Hoova began in the Tarim Basin in Tibet, in 32,400
BCE. Atlantis was founded by colonists from Altea and existed for some 15,000 years in the region of the
Caribbean/Yucatan/southern Mexico, roughly where Edgar Cayce placed the lost continent or island. This
story is different, though: it was the Nine who destroyed Atlantis out of rage in 10,850 BCE — very close
to the date so favoured by Cayce, Bauval and Hancock.? Hurtak gives the end of Atlantis as 12,000 BCE,
which disagrees with Tom’s date but has its own significance.

After the destruction of Atlantis, the survivors became the founders of the civilisations of Egypt and
Central and South America. As in the Cayce version, the Great Pyramid was built by these survivors,
starting around 10,700 BCE, although for some reason it was not completed until 5000 BCE.2
Significantly, many popular theories about the building of the Great Pyramid, such as those of Hancock



and Bauval, state the case for a similar two-stage construction.? Undoubtedly the Great Pyramid is central
to the Nine. They claim it is used to bring to Earth ‘energy’ from other civilisations, as well as to
regenerate the cells in the human body. Tom says it has other uses, but, tantalisingly, refuses to elaborate
on them. And as we have seen, he told Puharich that there were ‘undiscovered chambers’ under the Great
Pyramid that could be reached via an ‘entrance from the Sphinx’.

Myers and Percy claim the Altean colonists not only built the Great Pyramid, but also the Sphinx,
which they call the Ark Hur, from — they claim — two Altean words meaning ‘the shining beginning-
ending’. And according to Hurtak, the Great Pyramid was built by the Nine as a physical stargate. He
says:

Once again, astronomers will understand why the ancients saw the pyramid as the gateway to the
stars and the form through which star intelligences came to serve human creation.?

And according to Hurtak the pyramids — including those on Mars — are devices for channelling energy
that comes from space. In 1973, the Nine explained to him that the shafts in the Great Pyramid aligned
with Orion’s Beltd — which had been theorised by some astronomers - but they failed to take it further
and make Bauval’s extrapolation of the pyramid — star correlations. The theme of hidden chambers in the
Great Pyramid also surfaces in Hurtak’s The Keys of Enoch, where he describes the ‘Chamber of the Son’
between the King’s and Queen’s Chambers.12

According to Tom, the Earth was created as a battleground, to enable the Nine to confront the Others
(the Pleiadean followers of the Beast) on a physical level. Interestingly, this is reminiscent of the Gnostic
battle between light and darkness, which seems to be similar to the imminent conflict now being predicted
by Graham Hancock. Every being in the universe has to be incarnated on Earth at some point, in order to
experience the delights, responsibilities and drawbacks of free will, which, Tom says, exist nowhere else
in the universe - hence the book title The Only Planet of Choice. All other civilisations are subject to the
government of higher intelligences, such as the Nine. The various races of the Earth were, it seems,
created as an experiment in free will, with the black race, apparently, serving as a kind of ‘control’. As
the Nine claim that the black races are Earth’s only indigenous people, they are not — like all other races
— essentially part space-god. Tom says that this experiment was ‘to see in which manner the originals,
that were not seeded, would evolve in comparison with those that colonized’.12 (But what happens if the
experiment is judged a failure ... ?)

The most complex and thought-provoking connection between the Nine and religion on Earth is found in
The Keys of Enoch. Between its quasi-Biblical covers, it simmers with a Hellfire-and-damnation Old
Testament zeal, besides containing strong messianic and apocalyptic elements. For example:

And I was told by my guides, Enoch and Metatron, that I was not to eat of the false powers of the
earth, nor encourage my seed to marry with the fallen spiritual races of the earth.14

This is rather worrying. The assumption that there are ‘fallen spiritual races’ with whom the righteous
should not breed is insidious and, in such a seminal book, seems to us to be more than a little disquieting.
The very concept of whole races being somehow genetically unworthy and of not measuring up to the
standard of the ‘righteous’ is, surely, the thin end of a wedge with which recent history is only too
familiar. The religious scheme of The Keys of Enoch is very interesting in that it is calculated to embrace
all the major religions of the USA - or rather, of the white United States. It is a mixture of Old Testament
Judaism and Christianity, and also speaks approvingly of Mormonism (which Hurtak regards as the direct



heir of the Heliopolitan priesthood — an exceptionally unlikely scenario). Hurtak says very little directly
about Islam, although it is one of the dominant religions among African-Americans. He refers to Muslims
obliquely — perhaps not unexpectedly - as ‘the Children of Darkness’,12 which perhaps reveals what is,
for him, the identity of the villains in the imminent battle for the Earth. (Tom is fairly evasive about the
Muslims but conveys a negative attitude based on their treatment of women, and says that Islam has -

unfortunately, of course — been influenced by the ‘Fallen One’.19)

Also rather disturbing is the Nine’s attitude to the Holocaust. They uphold the Jews as the Chosen
People, but remonstrate with them for not accepting Jesus — ‘the last one of us’ — as Messiah. Tom
speaks of the Holocaust, in which 6 million Jews were exterminated by Hitler, with huge sorrow, yet
claims it was an act of self-sacrifice and salvation:

The greatest portion of these six million came at that time to sacrifice self, to make your planet
earth aware that there were those who would attempt to rule and control humanity.?

Tom also explained that the atrocity of the Holocaust was necessary for the creation of the state of Israel,
an important part of the plan for Earth. Essentially the victims chose to be incarnated at this time and
place and to be victims of the Holocaust as a selfless act of sacrifice to make us all aware that evil
people existed ... At this point the thought occurs that Tom may represent the gods of our solar system but
in this case surely our own morality has the edge? Aren’t we already aware of the existence of evil? Did
we really need the horrible deaths of 6 million people to bring it home to us? (And Tom shares with many
the misconception that the Holocaust only involved Jews. Of course, many thousands of others were
killed by the Nazis, including members of specific groups such as gypsies, homosexuals and Jehovah’s
Witnesses.) In any case, are we alone in finding Tom’s sweeping pronouncement about the Holocaust
deeply offensive?

The Nine think in sweeping global terms that lend themselves to Hurtak’s quasi-Biblical prose and
apocalyptic ideas. They have explained in detail their plans for the future of mankind to their faithful, the
apostles of the new world order. As Sir John Whitmore wrote in his foreword to The Only Planet of
Choice:

This book along with other books on crop circles, the new genre of Sci Fi films, a few global
crises, whistle blowers, paranormal events, controlled leaks and not so controlled ones, are all
part of the essential awakening of Earth.18

The Nine’s basic message, and the reason they have made contact with certain humans recently, is that
something has gone wrong with mankind’s genetic programming. This is causing problems, not only for
Earth, but also for other civilisations who have to pass through incarnations here, so the Nine have to step
in to put things right.

Unsurprisingly this matches Hurtak’s system: he claims that something has gone wrong with humanity’s
‘programming’ and that, over the thirty-year-period that will end in 2003, the intelligences that rule the
universe are coming to repair it by upgrading human intelligence. We have failed the program and, through
Hurtak and the others, the “White Brotherhood’ (to which the Nine are subordinate) are trying to rectify
the situation.1?

We have seen how the Nine spoke of the imminent mass landings on Earth: that was in the 1970s, and
the failure of this momentous event to materialise means that they are now claiming the need for it has
diminished. When communicating with the Puharich-Whitmore-Schlemmer group in the mid-1970s, Tom



also spoke of the Nine interfering with radio and television transmissions in order to communicate
directly with the people of Earth and prepare them for the landings. This did not happen either because,
Tom said, the landings were no longer necessary.

In April 1976, James Hurtak told Jacques Vallée that he and Puharich, along with others who had
access to ‘confidential and secret information’, were working to make the public aware that Earth was to
be contacted by ‘highly evolved beings’ within the next eighteen months, that is, by the end of 1978.2
Right from the start, the Nine pushed the idea of preparing for an imminent global upheaval, a purging or
final showdown between the forces of light and darkness, something close to fundamentalists’ hearts as
the great battle of Armageddon. At first, this was the Nine’s mission statement (1974):

It is important that it be stated in the chronicle of the three of you [Schlemmer, Whitmore and
Puharich] that there will be physical civilizations that will come to raise the level of this planet
Earth, to bring it out of its own contamination, to purify it and prepare the people to keep it in a

pure state so that it does not become in a collapsed state for future generations. 2!

As usual, it is Hurtak who uses the most blood-curdling words to describe this future upheaval: there is
a ‘galactic war and housecleaning that is being completed throughout the universe’,2? a war that will also
be manifested on Earth, with the coming apocalypse, followed by a golden age, in which a new form of
government will arise. The ‘lesser brotherhoods’ of light who work with the ‘younger spiritual teachers’
of Earth are now being ‘forced out of their positions of power’ so that the ’greater forces of Light will
externalize on the earth plane’.23 (The use of force is interesting here: could these ‘younger spiritual
teachers’ not be persuaded to surrender their positions of power for the greater good rather than having to
be forced out of them? This seems a somewhat unspiritual, if not downright totalitarian, approach.) Hurtak
goes on to warn that ‘materialists who seek to destroy the world ... will be as desiccated mud when the
foundations of the earth are removed’.#* Hurtak is nothing if not patriotic, declaring that the centre of the
new ‘Spiritual Administration’ will arise in America, the heir to Atlantis, which he refers to as Altea-

America. 22 He also often indulges in a serious pun when mentioning the rise of the New JerUSAlem ...

The scene is set for a final showdown between the forces of good and evil, one that will affect the
entire galaxy. (Myers and Percy indicate that the countdown began in October 1991.2%) No doubt the many
thousands of the followers of the Nine are hanging on to every channelled word with bated breath, waiting
to play their part in some supremely satisfying drama, in which they are, of course, on the side of the
righteous. After all, the West has not really been totally involved in a good war for half a century - how
exciting it will be when the great ‘housecleaning’ finally arrives! The Millennium, the Apocalypse, and
Armageddon are all balm to the souls of unhappy, bored and frustrated people who see themselves as
knights in shining armour on the side of the righteous in the coming battle. It would, of course, be a
terrible thing if none of it ever happened, and life just went on as usual; that would be their truly
nightmare scenario.

The more this investigation proceeded, the more the full impact and influence of the Nine began to
dawn on us. They have changed the way people think — ordinary people and not-so-ordinary people -
including, as we will see, some of the world’s most talented and daring scientists and thinkers. But one
area in which their power is supreme is that of the New Age, that much derided — and seriously
underestimated — international community of semi-mystical self-improvers. While it is easy to dismiss
their fads and crazes as harmless, they are in their own way a serious force to be reckoned with.

The New Age movement is not so much a ‘subculture’ as a rapidly growing alternative society that,



despite its size, remains virtually invisible. Nobody knows how many people make up this global
community, stretching from California to Glastonbury to the ashrams of India, but it must run into hundreds
of thousands, if not millions. Few outside the community itself realise what a vast and thriving economy it
has. New Age publishing is big business, as are the workshops that go on tour, attracting large audiences
who pay stiff prices for the privilege of sitting at the feet of a big-name guru. However, this happy world
of workshops, consultancies and specialist holidays is strangely fragmented, as each healing, meditation
or channelling group operates very largely on its own, and often in intense rivalry. However, the
economic and political potential of such a vast, untapped community — if it could be brought together and
directed — is enormous.

The New Age has already fallen in love with the Nine, largely thanks to their hugely successful The
Only Planet of Choice, which has sold at least 50,000 copies in Britain alone, and which continues to
sell steadily. Our friend Theo Paijmans, who hosts a three-hour weekly radio show from Amsterdam on
the subject of UFOs and the unexplained, tells us that every week without fail callers ask questions based
on The Only Planet of Choice. And in the United States, Carla Rueckert’s The Ra Material, based on her
channelling of the Nine, is extremely influential. According to Palden Jenkins, who edited the first edition
of The Only Planet of Choice, more and more channelling, meditation and healing groups are beginning to
‘realise’ that the source of their inspiration is none other than the Nine.Z There seems to be a covert
campaign — on a massive scale — of spiritual takeover and unification.

The Keys of Enoch has been a very influential book for over twenty years, and Hurtak himself tours the
world giving courses and workshops on its teachings to eager audiences. Yet once again, amazingly, he
cleverly manages to keep this side of his life completely separate from his more academic activities. His
latest venture, as scientific consultant to Boris Said’s Magical Eye film production company, is to work
on a ‘monumental series of upcoming documentaries’2 based on his work.

Hurtak has referred to the opening of a ‘gateway’ between the world of the gods - or rather, the Nine
Principles of God - and this world. Clearly the thousands who follow the Nine believe that this ‘stargate’
has been open for some time, and that we have been prepared for the return of the old Egyptian gods. This
is a truly momentous scenario, and the implications are profoundly disturbing. But the question is: are the
Nine who they claim to be?

The cracks appear

Undoubtedly, the Nine have already failed on several major counts. For a start, what happened to the
promised ‘mass landings’ of the late 1970s? As with many other channelling cults, major events failed to
materialise as prophesied, but the Nine’s glib excuses, hastily given to paper over the cracks, were
lapped up by devotees who simply could not bear their belief to be undermined by anything, especially
the truth. This is a well-known psychological syndrome among cult followers, whether in the shape of the
imminent return of a god or the coming of the Space Brothers. Time and time again the cultists have taken
up their required positions, often after having sold all their belongings, and waited for the great event.
And waited, and waited and waited ... And, when nothing happens, tired, cold and virtually destitute, they
piece their lives back together by accepting the flimsiest excuse. Although the followers of the Nine were
not required to sell up, they did have to chase around the world, and Whitmore was persuaded to part



with a large proportion of his wealth. Tom announced that the landings are no longer necessary and that
conditions have changed. But why? What, exactly, has changed?

The Nine are also, as we have seen, exceptionally poor at forward planning, having failed with both
Uri Geller and Bobby Home. Why didn’t they simply appoint Phyllis Schlemmer as ‘transceiver’ in the
first place? And they enticed Lyall Watson, and others, into the circle, only to see them either flee or ask,
unacceptably, too many awkward questions.

The Nine’s message of ‘peace and love’ often seems contradicted by the way in which they treat their
human followers, and by the sheer unpleasantness that seems to have surrounded, in particular, the
Schlemmer circle. Bobby Horne was pushed to the brink of suicide by the endless pressure to channel the
Nine, and Don Elkins, the leader of L/L Research, did commit suicide, while the balance of his mind was
disturbed, in 1984. This is nothing, of course, compared to the other great unpleasantness in the Nine’s
alleged history: their destruction of Atlantis because they were ‘angry.22 They also claim that certain
people have been ‘implanted’ at birth in order to carry out missions on their behalf, which, if nothing else,
goes against their fine words about free will. Tom was challenged on this point by Whitmore, but
answered that these people had chosen to be implanted before they were born, so they had no memory of
doing such a deal .2

The Nine’s version of Earth’s (and galactic) history, is simply unprovable. Much rests on the credence
given to such matters as Atlantis, the monuments of Mars and the vast antiquity of the Sphinx, all of which
are arguable, but none of which are facts. The Nine often rely on the notorious, and convenient,
impossibility of proving a negative, such as the non-existence of Atlantis. Where they do venture into
recorded history - or even the myths and traditions of religion — the Nine often make demonstrable
blunders. For example, Tom said that Hoova had descended to Earth and was encountered by Abraham,
giving rise to the Biblical tale of the ladder joining Heaven and Earth. In fact this vision was seen by

Jacob, not Abraham.3!

Another term used by the Nine is, commonly - and erroneously — used by millions: ‘Jesus the
Nazarene’, meaning Jesus who came from the town of Nazareth. Unfortunately, this comes from the
Bible’s mistranslation of the source: the word should be Nasorean, meaning a member of a particular
sect.2 While it is understandable that ordinary people might get such facts wrong - after all, the mistake
occurs in the Bible - it is surely less likely that gods would err similarly.

Furthermore, when Puharich seized on the name ‘Harmarchis’ as one of those used by Tom-Atum, Tom
delightedly treated this as a breakthrough, saying: “You have found the secret.” It may be a historical fact
that Harmarchis was one of the names of the Sphinx, and that it was a representation of Atum (although
Egyptologists had known this for years), but Tom then goes on to elaborate: ‘I will say briefly to you
concerning the Sphinx: I am the beginning. I am the end.’23

This appears to be related to that by now familiar mistake - the idea that one of the ancient Egyptian
names for the Sphinx was arq ur. This has become a favourite line among the followers of the Nine, who
always quote it as if it were a fact. For example, Richard Hoagland, in his 1992 ‘briefing’ of the United
Nations, gave this definition:

In the ... Egyptian language it [the Sphinx] was called the arg ur, and that is really interesting
because as we’ve probed into the etymology, arq ur meant: ‘the end of the beginning connected to
the beginning of the end’. Almost like a cycle, like an end-point, like a constant process, as if it



represents the end of something and the beginning of something else.3

In fact, arqg means ‘end’ or ‘completion’ and ur means ‘great’. There is nothing in either arqg or ur to
signify ‘beginning’, though the Nine claim that there is, which is good enough for their followers,
including Hoagland. But David Myers, in Two-Thirds, goes further and traces the name back to the ancient
Altean language : ‘Ark Hur’, which, according to his information, means ‘shining beginning-ending’ -
again, echoing Tom’s words to the Schlemmer group.2

A major obstacle lies in the way of these interpretations — of course, arq ur does not mean ‘Sphinx’ at
all. As we saw earlier, this error was made by Robert Temple in The Sirius Mystery, resulting from a
simple misreading of Sir E.A. Wallis Budge’s An Egyptian Hieroglyphic Dictionary. As we have seen, it
is true that the word ‘Sphinx’ does appear against the definition of arq ur, though not as the name of the
monument, but as the abbreviation of the title of Budge’s source, the French journal Sphinx. There, in
volume 2, on page 8 (as clearly indicated in Budge’s book), in an article by Professor Karl Piehl, is
Budge’s source for the arg ur hieroglyphs, which, taken together, in fact mean ‘silver’. The word is not
even ancient Egyptian, since it was borrowed from the Greeks in a later period; it is an Egyptian phonetic
rendering of argyros (a fact that renders any attempt to analyse the meaning of the Egyptian syllables
completely futile). Temple’s mistake had no bearing on his own work, as he mentioned the ‘Sphinx’
definition only in passing and drew no conclusions from it, but the same error has appeared in
communications from the Nine, leading us to speculate about whether or not they have been reading
Temple’s book. Interestingly, Hoagland claims that Temple is the source for his arq ur definition, so it is
possible that he was simply passing on the error through sloppy research, though his particular
interpretation of arq ur — ‘beginning and ending’ - is not Temple’s, but comes directly from the Nine.

So could the Nine be readers of Robert Temple - or, more charitably — could Phyllis Schlemmer or
one of the sitters have read it and unconsciously contaminated the incoming communications from the
Nine? Tom could then have picked their brains; after all, he claims he is limited to the words and
concepts already in place in his transceiver’s mind. Unfortunately, the relevant exchange between Tom
and Puharich took place two years before Temple’s book came out (although it did exist in manuscript at
the time,2 so it is possible that a copy could have been circulating among those connected with Lab Nine
- although if Temple did show his manuscript to anybody it was most likely to be his mentor Arthur M.
Young). Perhaps Tom, like Temple in his later book, simply misread Budge’s dictionary.

So what do we make of the bizarre story of the Nine? Is it some kind of elaborate hoax, or a collective
delusion on the part of Puharich, Whitmore, Schlemmer, Hurtak and their associates?

Outside commentators, such as Stuart Holroyd and Colin Wilson, who have observed many of the key
events at close hand, agree that this is not a hoax nor a delusion, and that something genuinely paranormal
was going on. At the same time these evaluators have expressed serious reservations about whether the
source of the communications really was what it claimed to be — the Nine gods of the ancient Egyptian
Ennead. Even Holroyd, who Whitmore recruited specifically to write the ‘official history’ of the Nine,
came to this conclusion.®’ A number of inexplicable phenomena took place around the Nine’s group,
particularly when Uri Geller was involved. Even Holroyd became convinced that the story was worth
pursuing, and after initial reservations accepted Whitmore’s offer to write the book when poltergeist-type
disturbances took place in his house as he listened to sample tapes of Schlemmer’s channelling.2?

Colin Wilson, in his seminal 1978 book Mysteries32 and even in the foreword he wrote for Prelude to
the Landing on Planet Earth has categorised the Nine along with many similar mediumistic or



channelled communications in which it is hard to doubt that the medium is honest, though the source of the
messages remains another matter. Wilson speculates that it is some kind of dramatisation by the medium’s
subconscious mind using their innate psychic powers, or that some mischievous spirit entities - whom he
calls ‘the crooks and conmen of the spirit world’#? — have attached themselves to the medium. (Or
perhaps it is a combination of the two, where a spirit plays up to the wishes or expectations of the
medium and the group surrounding them.)

Certainly, unexplained phenomena are often what finally persuade a ditherer to accept a particular
belief system as the only ‘true’ path or religion. Whether it is the apparently miraculous Shroud of Turin,
statues that bleed and weep or visions and a host of ‘meaningful coincidences’ — synchronicities - the
excitement of the paranormal is usually what clinches a conversion. After all, few laymen realise what
parapsychologists have known for years — that, strangely enough, belief and expectancy themselves
actually create phenomena, rather than the other way around. It is the human mind that almost always
creates the miracles, not as hoaxes or figments of the imagination, but actually ‘out there’ in the real world
through the mysterious ability of psychokinesis. This can take many forms, from metalbending to healing
the sick, even endowing inanimate objects with a temporary ‘consciousness’. The point is that weird
phenomena can surround any belief system - Hindu statues ooze milk, while Catholic statues weep or
bleed — but they are all taken as ‘signs’ of contact with a particular deity or saint and as proof that the
religion they represent is the true one. The overwhelming evidence is that all this comes from our own,
largely unknown abilities, that are normally kept under wraps by sociological, psychological and,
paradoxically, religious conditioning. Society as a whole tends only to humour the paranormal as a
novelty, and only too often sets out to destroy those who base their lives on it. Except, that is, for magi,
shamans and courageous researchers who have long known about the secret ‘rules’ of paranormal
phenomena.

There is another possible explanation for the phenomenon of the Nine: the events of their story were
somehow orchestrated and manipulated, quite deliberately, by very human agencies. Colin Wilson had
theorised that, because of the consistency of the communications, from Dr Vinod in the early 1950s
through to Uri Geller, Bobby Home and Phyllis Schlemmer in the 1970s, it was Puharich himself who was
the psychic, the real magnet for the phenomena, though perhaps only at a subconscious level. Wilson
actually put this directly to Puharich during one of the latter’s visits to London, although Puharich
disagreed.#! But what if Wilson was right, up to a point? What if Puharich had created the Nine - not
subconsciously, but deliberately ... ?

The puppetmaster

A major consideration is that we are entirely dependent on Puharich’s own account of the first twenty
years of the Nine’s communications. The only record of what happened with Dr Vinod comes from him,
and he is also the primary source for the Geller phase, when the Nine’s words came through the
hypnotised Geller and were written down later by Puharich from memory. The tape recordings either
erased themselves or disappeared into thin air, after only Puharich had had a chance to listen to them.
When Stuart Holroyd entered the picture in 1976 the first objective voice was heard, and this was largely
based on tapes of Schlemmer’s channelling sessions and what the trio chose to tell him.



Perhaps it is significant that Andrija Puharich was described by his close associate Ira Einhorn as ‘the
great psychic circus manager of this century’.#? He was certainly not averse to media attention, although
he kept much of his work secret. In the 1960s he played himself in an episode of Perry Mason, appearing
as an expert witness on psychic phenomena, yet much of his career remains sketchy, and he happily
compounded the mystery by introducing inconsistencies and obvious evasions into his own account of his
life and work. In a real sense, he lived a double life, much of his most influential work being carried out
under conditions of highest secrecy — perhaps not surprisingly, considering for whom he often worked ...

Puharich had qualified as a doctor and neurologist at Northwestern University in 1947 under a US
Army training scheme, but was then discharged from the Army on medical grounds. He set up the Round
Table Foundation in Glen Cove, Maine, in 1948, and ran it until 1958, working with psychics including
Eileen Garrett and Peter Hurkos, as well as first making contact with the Nine through Dr Vinod, and with
Rahotep through Harry Stone. In addition Puharich was also carrying out secret research for the defence
and intelligence establishments into two main areas: techniques of psychological manipulation, including
the use of hallucinogenic drugs; and the military and intelligence capabilities of psychic skills. His own
account records that his work with Vinod was interrupted for several months in 1953 because (despite his
medical discharge) he returned to Army service.®2 According to Jack Sarfatti, a physicist on the fringes of
the Puharich — Geller — Whitmore events of the mid-1970s, Puharich ‘worked for Army Intelligence in
the early fifties’® — which perhaps implies that his ‘discharge’ was a cover for continuing to operate in
an apparently civilian capacity. It also appears that some of Puharich’s medical inventions were
originally developed as part of classified Army projects.®2

In 1987, Puharich himself claimed that he had been part of a US Navy investigation called Project
Penguin that researched psychic abilities back in 1948.42 He named the head of this project as Rexford
Daniels, who lived close to his home in Glen Cove in the 1950s. According to writers Peter Tompkins
and Christopher Bird, Daniels — who studied the effects of electromagnetic waves on human beings —
became convinced, in the 1970s, of the existence of some kind of intelligent force in the universe that

operated through electromagnetic frequencies and that ‘human beings can mentally interact with it’.4

Ira Einhorn, Puharich’s close associate in the 1970s, told us recently that, although Puharich had
worked for the CIA during the 1950s, he was no longer doing so twenty years later.*2 However, the
evidence points very much in the other direction. Puharich’s relationship with intelligence agencies
almost certainly did not end in the 1950s. Uri Geller told us at a meeting in his home near Reading in
England in 1998 that: “The CIA brought Puharich in to come and get me out of Israel.’®2 Jack Sarfatti goes
further, claiming: ‘Puharich was Geller’s case officer in America with money provided by Sir John
Whitmore.”?® And according to James Hurtak, via his Academy For Future Sciences, Puharich ‘worked
with the US intelligence community.” 2! By implication this was during the early 1970s when he, Hurtak,
was also working with him.

We know Puharich was working with the CIA on experiments with various techniques for inducing
altered states of consciousness, which is another way of saying he worked on the potential of mind
control. We also know, at least up to a point, that Geller worked for them — they wanted to know how he
could use his mind to influence inanimate objects and see distant locations - in other words, to test his
remote-influencing abilities. Were the Nine somehow part of a CIA mind-control experiment?

After the Second World War, as the West moved into the Cold War, the US military (like that of many
other countries) began to take seriously the psychological aspects of warfare, and undertook or sponsored



research into this area. It covered anything from techniques to make soldiers more efficient, through truth
drugs and methods of resisting interrogation, to the more sinister brainwashing techniques and creation of
‘Manchurian Candidate’ assassins. The military were not alone in this research. Intelligence agencies -
primarily the CIA - became heavily involved with what it summed up as the ’search to control human
behaviour’.2? This included exploring the possible uses of drugs, hypnosis, electric shocks and radiation,
as well as psychological, psychiatric and sociological techniques. They were particularly interested in
investigating the effects of various chemicals and drugs, including hallucinogens such as LSD. As Thomas
Powers wrote in his introduction to John Marks’s The Search for the ‘Manchurian Candidate’:

It [the CIA] has spent millions of dollars on a major program of research to find drugs or other
esoteric methods to bring ordinary people, willing and unwilling alike, under complete control —
to act, to talk, to reveal the most precious secrets, even to forget on command.23

The first experiments were authorised by the CIA in 1950, code-named BLUEBIRD, later renamed
ARTICHOKE and then, in 1953, MKULTRA. The US Navy had a similar research program, Project
CHATTER (beginning in 1947), which pooled its resources with the CIA projects, and the US Army had
its own version called Project OFTEN, which ran between 1968 and 1973.2

ARTICHOKE and MKULTRA included the investigation of narcotic plants found in Latin America and,
as we have seen, Puharich had spent much of the 1950s investigating the mind-altering properties of
hallucinogenic plants and fungi. And the US Army has admitted to testing LSD on nearly 7,000
servicemen — 1,500 of whom were not volunteers - in the late 1950s.22 It was this type of research in
which Puharich was involved for defence and intelligence departments.

In the 1970s, after many questions raised about the CIA’s abuses of human rights, President Gerald
Ford appointed an investigative commission under Vice-President Nelson Rockefeller. The commission’s
references to ‘behavioural control research’ attracted the interest of writer John Marks, who obtained
16,000 pages of previously unclassified documents relating to MKULIRA under the Freedom of
Information Act, though many of the key documents had already been destroyed on the orders of the CIA’s
director in 1973.

Not everyone applauded Marks’s revelations. In his book about the ‘uses and abuses’ of hypnosis,
Open to Suggestion (1989), Robert Temple declared bluntly that he refused even to read Marks’s book on
the grounds that it was ‘irresponsible’ and ‘not commensurate with national security considerations’2® —
which is manifestly untrue, as Marks had found his material using the Freedom of Information Act. Temple
admits that ‘the CIA has been very naughty on many occasions’,?Z but this does not, in his view, excuse
Marks for ‘throwing mud’ at them. While Temple appears to think that a mild slap on the wrist is enough
for the CIA, it is worth remembering that their ’naughtiness’ included mindbending experiments on US
servicemen (at least 1,500 of whom were not volunteers), the inmates of jails and mental patients, which
resulted in several deaths and turned many strong, healthy Americans into shambling wrecks. Very

naughty.

What was Puharich’s role? There is no doubt that he was very deeply committed to much of the mind
control experimentation of the military/CIA. He was certainly no mere Army doctor, whose work was
confined to handing out pills and potions. In fact, even the Round Table Foundation - as Puharich himself
implies in The Sacred Mushroom — was a front for the Army’s parapsychological experiments.

When he was redrafted in February 1953 it was as a captain at the Army Chemical Center in



Edgewood, Maryland, the Army’s facility for research into chemical and psychological warfare and
neurophysical research, where he served until April 1955, when he returned to the Round Table
Foundation.?

Certain groups within the US Army were interested in Puharich’s parapsychological work. In The
Sacred Mushroom, he records the visit to the Round Table Foundation of an unnamed colonel, who was
in charge of research for the office of the chief of psychological warfare, in August 1952.22 He also notes
that the order for his redrafting into the Army was issued the day after he briefed the Pentagon on the
military uses of parapsychology in November 1952.%0 It also seems that, from Puharich’s account, only
some people within the military command were interested in parapsychology. Although he was
encouraged by certain of his superiors - who had clearly arranged for him to be drafted back into the

Army - they also expressed concern about possible ‘adverse political reaction’.&

The Army’s interest in the Round Table Foundation continued even after Puharich had left active
service in April 1955. In The Sacred Mushroom he describes a planned visit to the Foundation by an
Army general and his staff in September 1957, which was cancelled at the last minute because ‘there was
some compelling security reason unknown to him [the General] which made it undesirable for military
officials to express an interest in our kind of research’.®? This was an odd choice of words - not that it
was politically unwise to be associated with such controversial work, but that they cancelled for a
‘security reason’. Such factionalism within the military and political establishments was also a factor in
the remote-viewing research of the 1970s. While it had enthusiastic advocates in the Pentagon,
intelligence community and political hierarchy, others believed such things were a waste of time or,
worse, that such ‘dabbling in the occult’ was a work of the Devil.

From Puharich’s account, it appears that his role at the Army Chemical Center was simply that of an
ordinary medical doctor, basically a GP for the base. This was absolutely untrue. The Army’s real
interest, the reason why they re-employed Puharich, was not just in the development of the military
potential of ESP, but also the possibility of finding a drug that would stimulate psychic abilities. This is
the task they set Puharich, although in The Sacred Mushroom he suggests that it was just a vague
arrangement that never really went anywhere. It did launch his research into shamanism, though.

Significantly, against this background the first communications with the Nine were established through
Dr Vinod and Harry Stone between 1953 and 1955. Even more remarkable, given the specific nature of
the Army’s interest in Puharich, the Harry Stone communications about the ancient Egyptian drug that
stimulated psychic functioning also happened at this time.

The CIA’s interest in hallucinogens was escalating rapidly in the early 1950s. They approached R.
Gordon Wasson, who had identified the use of psychoactive mushrooms in Mexico (known locally as
‘God’s flesh’), to invite him to work for them and their MKULTRA project, but he refused. This did not
stop them from using him: when he planned an expedition to Mexico in 1956, he was approached by a
man called James Moore, who arranged funding from the Geshickter Foundation for Medical Research.
Wasson later discovered that Moore was a CIA agent, and it is now established that the Geshickter
Foundation was a standard ‘conduit’ for CIA funds. The money for Wasson’s expedition actually came

from MKULTRA’s Subproject 58.52

Puharich met Wasson to discuss his research in February 1955, recording that he drew up a report on

Wasson’s work for the US Army.%* Either the CIA had actually commissioned this report, or it drew their
attention to Wasson in the first place. (The Army’s Chemical Center at Edgewood, where Puharich was



stationed, is known to have conducted joint experiments with the CIA’s MKULTRA team.)®

Although a banker by profession, Wasson was a highly respected amateur mycologist. His article in
Life magazine in 1957 about his own experience of the Mexican ‘sacred mushroom’ caused a sensation,
and was largely responsible for the psychedelic craze of the next decade. As a direct result of reading this
article Timothy Leary went to Mexico to find the mushrooms and had his first hallucinogenic
experience.%® The psychedelic movement can pinpoint the moment of its birth to 29 June 1955, the night
that Wasson himself partook of ‘God’s flesh’, the experience described in the Life article. On that very
night, Wasson had arranged to conduct the remote-viewing experiment with Puharich, but as his mind was

elsewhere at the time, he was not much use.&Z

Information about hallucinogens was of great interest to both the Army and the CIA, for reasons that
would make The X-Files seem comparatively tame. The Army Chemical Center at Edgewood — where
Puharich was stationed - collaborated with a special programme within the CIA’s MKULTRA project that
aimed to find ways ‘to program new memories into the minds of an amnesiac subject’.®8 John Marks
learned about this from a participant in the late 1950s, and wonders how their techniques may have
‘improved’ since then. Another key figure in the MKULTRA experiments was Dr Sidney Gottlieb, head of
the CIA’s Technical Services Division, who personally supervised experiments in conjunction with the
Army Chemical Center in 1953, when Puharich was working there.®? Gottlieb was still head of this
division in 1972, when it gave Hal Puthoff of SRI the funds for his preliminary research into remote
viewing. 2

During the 1950s and 1960s, Puharich belonged to an organisation of scientists and businessmen called
Essentia Research Associates in New York. It undertook research into psychic abilities on behalf of
government agencies such as the Pentagon, NASA and the Atomic Energy. Commission. Perhaps
understandably, information about Essentia is hard to come by, but we do know that Puharich presented a
paper on their behalf to the Pentagon as early as November 1952, entitled ‘An Evaluation of the Possible
Usefulness of Extrasensory Perception in Psychological Warfare’.Z! This is very strange, for according to
the official account, the Pentagon’s interest in psychic abilities only began in the early 1970s, with the
remote-viewing experiments at SRI, yet Puharich and Essentia were doing similar work for them at least
twenty years earlier.

Curiously Puharich’s work with the Brazilian healer Arig6 in the 1960s seems to have been part of an
Essentia Research Associates project that was sponsored by NASA.Z2 Puharich and a wealthy
businessman - and former US Navy intelligence officer — named Henry Belk, were called to Brazil in
1963 to take a look at Arigo by one John Laurance, an engineer working for RCA on NASA satellite
projects. He had, in fact, been part of the committee that originally established the space agency in
1958.2

Puharich’s connections with Essentia continued until at least 1977, when they published the
proceedings of a parapsychological conference in Iceland, where he is listed as their president.”# But the
1960s present Puharich’s life at its most elusive, although it is known that between 1958 and 1971 he was
research director for the Intelectron Corporation, a company he founded to develop medical devices. It is
known that he worked at the US Army hospital at Fort Ord, California, though what he did there is not
recorded. He made several visits to Brazil to study Arigé and was also engaged in some (undefined)
work for the Atomic Energy Commission in 1968, although it is known that he was working for the head
of biophysics, Paul Henshaw, who led the American team that studied the effects of the Hiroshima atom



bomb.”2 But although there are only tantalising fragments of information about him during this period,
mentioned in passing in his own writings or in isolated references by others, it is clear that Puharich’s
status within official circles was very high. It has even been claimed that he was on the medical staff of
the White House during this period. Only with his involvement with Geller from 1971 did his career
become more high-profile in the public mind and therefore more easily charted. But even then the
available titbits do not always give the full picture.

With its close connections to the Army’s psychological warfare programme, the Round Table
Foundation itself was not quite the independent paranormal research centre that Puharich implied. It also
received support from some very interesting and influential people. Top of the list was Henry Wallace
(1888-1965), the former Vice-President of the United States, who gave substantial grants to the
Foundation through the Wallace Fund.Z®

One of America’s most controversial and highly individual politicians, the Democrat Wallace was
second-in-command to Roosevelt from 1940 to 1944 and was narrowly defeated by Truman for the Vice-
Presidential nomination in 1944. He was forced to resign from office as Secretary of Commerce in 1946
because of his opposition to US policies regarding Russia and the atomic bomb. He coined the slogan the
‘People’s Century’, which many believe is an accurate description of this era of democracy and uneasy
egalitarianism.

A devout, fundamentalist Christian, Wallace believed that God had chosen America to be the leader of
the world and that his own place in the scheme of things was hardly that of a humble footsoldier for
Christ. As Dwight MacDonald wrote in his 1948 biography of Wallace: ‘Just as he thinks of America as
the nation destined by God to lead the world, so Wallace thinks of himself as a Messiah, an instrument
through whom God will guide America onward and upward.”” Wallace was also deeply interested in
mysticism and spiritualism and was a prominent Freemason. He wrote in 1934:

It will take a more definite recognition of the Grand Architect of the Universe before the apex
stone [the capstone of the pyramid on the US Great Seal] is finally fitted into place and this nation
in the full strength of its power is in position to assume leadership among the nations in

inaugurating ‘the new order of the ages’.”2

In fact, Wallace, as Secretary of State for Agriculture in the 1930s, was responsible for the Great Seal
(the Masonic symbol of the eye in the pyramid) being incorporated into the design of American dollar
bills.

Wallace was a follower of the mystic Nicholas Roerich, whom he sent on special missions to Tibet and
Outer Mongolia, it is said because he was convinced that some kind of evidence of the Second Coming of
Jesus Christ was to be found there.”2 Perhaps not surprisingly, his political opponents, especially J. Edgar
Hoover - the all powerful head of the FBI — made great capital out of leaked letters from Wallace to
Roerich that began ‘Dear Guru’.

In the 1930s, Wallace - along with other more or less fundamentalist politicians and wealthy people —
had an idea to convert China to Christianity, and it is thought he involved Roerich in this plan as an
emissary to Chinese leaders.2? Perhaps this is the reason for Edgar Cayce’s ‘prophecies’ — which sound
so ridiculous now — about the imminent Christianisation of China. Might not Cayce have been using his
influence as a ‘prophet’ to whip up financial support for Wallace’s rather ambitious plans? And the
similarities between Cayce and Wallace’s resounding words about the noble part of Freemasonry in the



future of America add another dimension to their shared ideals, and go some way towards explaining why
Cayce’s pronouncements seem to covertly promote the politician’s interests.

Henry Wallace was certainly one of the key figures who lurked behind the scenes of Puharich’s Round
Table Foundation, as witnessed by, among others, medium FEileen Garrett. In her autobiography she
recalls that Wallace visited them while experiments were being carried out around 1949 or 1950.8!
American researcher Terry L. Milner has also found provocative connections between those funding the
Round Table Foundation and a joint military body called the Armed Forces Special Weapons Project,
primarily concerned with atomic weapons - and that some of the medical research on the effects of
radiation was ‘subcontracted’ to the Round Table Foundation.2

This is the background against which the initial contact with the Nine took place through Dr Vinod. As
more is known about Puharich the more complex — and murkier — the picture becomes. His talent and
expertise in certain fields appeared to know few bounds: in parapsychological research, psychological
manipulation using hypnosis and drugs (both chemical and plant-derived) and neurology. Puharich had
also achieved great expertise in another area directly relevant to the Nine contacts. This was the field of
electronics.

As early as 1947 Puharich, according to investigative journalist Steven Levy, became interested in the
study of paranormal abilities, ‘specifically ... in ways he could document them, and perhaps enhance
them, by electronic means’.23 But he had another, long-abiding interest in the use of electronic devices.
Almost from the start of his career, he had been fascinated with the idea of using radio waves as a means
of communicating directly with an individual, essentially by beaming thoughts straight into their brains.
Soon after qualifying as a doctor, he became interested in the phenomenon by which an individual
accidentally picks up radio transmissions, hearing them in their head, for example, through the fillings in
their teeth. One of Puharich’s close colleagues in this work was Warren S. McCulloch, the pioneer of
cybernetics, whose work was funded in part by the Josiah Macy Jr Foundation, a known CIA conduit.2

In the late 1950s and 1960s, Puharich worked on various electrical and electronic techniques,
ostensibly to enable the deaf or hearing-impaired to hear again. Stuart Holroyd wrote that Puharich had
devised an electrical deaf aid that conveyed radio waves directly to the skin.22 Several of these
admirable devices were patented by Puharich, and have been successfully used in the treatment of
deafness. More suggestive, however, is his invention of a miniaturised radio transmitter that could be
hidden inside a tooth,2® which explains at least the reasoning behind the rather bizarre accusation that Uri
Geller had such a device implanted in a tooth to somehow help in the creation of his ‘paranormal’

phenomena.?’

When Puharich’s electronic work is considered as a whole, it can be seen to be geared to the same end:
to find ways to make people hear voices in their heads. This would have been particularly useful if trying
to create a belief system based on ‘mystical’ encounters with other worldly beings in the form of auditory
hallucinations.

From the accounts of contact with the Nine, it is obvious that Puharich steered his ‘contactees’ very
much in the direction that he wanted them to go. When he first hypnotised Uri Geller, who then began to
speak of extraterrestrials, it was Puharich who asked whether or not they were the ‘Nine Principles’
spoken of by Dr Vinod twenty years before. Perhaps not surprisingly, the answer was yes.

Hypnosis is a state of extreme suggestibility, in which the subject has a desire to tell the hypnotist



whatever he or she wants to hear. The dangers of asking leading questions, and of unconscious
confabulation by the subjects, have been recognised for some time, so great care must be taken when, for
example, the police use hypnosis to try to improve a witness’s memory of something he or she saw.
Several recent scandals involving the use of hypnosis to ‘recover’ memories of satanic ritual abuse have
only too graphically demonstrated the serious consequences that can result from uncontrolled use of the
technique. Similarly, when Puharich put Bobby Home into a hypnotic trance and he began to speak the
words of an extraterrestrial intelligence called Corean, Puharich suggested to him that it was really the
Nine, and the ‘entity’ immediately agreed. In fact, one of Puharich’s close colleagues during this time, Ira
Einhorn — who has his own part to play in this story - confirmed Puharich’s determination to turn all
psychic communication into contact with the Nine, and that he was ‘humanly directing’ the pattern of the
channelling.88

Many people, when in trance, spontaneously channel spirits or other entities. In fact, thousands of
people today claim to channel great historical figures - such as Mahatma Gandhi - or a variety of
extraterrestrial beings. Whether they are pure hokum, or dramatisations welling up from the subject’s own
unconscious mind, or real independent entities is, as far as this discussion is concerned, largely
irrelevant. It is the content of the channelled material that is important. (That most intelligent of mediums,
Eileen Garrett, never doubted the reality of her clairvoyance nor the information it gave her, but at the
same time she considered it entirely possible that her spirit guide, Uvani, was simply the product of her
own subconscious.??) Puharich seems to have shaped his subjects’ communications to conform to a
consistent pattern, fitting a preconceived plan. Perhaps this was a deliberate, calculating experiment to
see whether the resulting material would be consistent if his subjects could be made to channel the same
source.

Interestingly, another example of this phenomenon is found in other work connected with the Nine. Don
Elkins and Carla Rueckert of L/L. Research had (through Carla) made contact with Ra, one of the Nine,
though significantly only after meeting Puharich. Don Elkins himself had earlier experimented with
methods of “fabricating’ contactees.2? He took over a hundred subjects, who had no prior knowledge of
UFOs, and under hypnosis made them channel extraterrestrials, then compared the results with the words
of those who claimed to be genuinely in touch with such entities. He found that the ‘fabricated’ messages
were very similar to the ‘real’ ones. Elkins then leaped to the rather unscientific conclusion that this
proved the reality of extra-terrestrial contact, and that contactees were not ‘chosen‘, but that anybody
could do it if in the right altered and receptive state of consciousness. (Of course, it could be argued that
his data proved the opposite, demonstrating that extraterrestrial channelling is a pathological
phenomenon, and that it is never ‘real’.) Interestingly, several of Elkins’s ‘fabricated’ contactees
subsequently claimed UFO experiences. This seems very similar to Puharich’s own research.

At the very least, Puharich’s use of hypnosis was unethical and dangerous, for example, implanting
hypnotic suggestions in Bobby Horne’s subconscious so that Phyllis Schlemmer (not a trained hypnotist)
could continue to hypnotise Horne in his absence. There is no excuse for Puharich: as a medical doctor
and a trained hypnotist he knew the professional code of conduct. Clearly, however, he ignored it.
Perhaps he thought of his work as being too important or too essential to bother about such petit
bourgeois considerations.

Yet another area of Puharich’s expertise, his electronic inventions, raises further disquieting
possibilities. The Nine were insistent that, in his channelling work, Bobby Home should not have any
metal about his person. This injunction even extended to the metal fillings in his teeth, which they told him



to have removed. Before he could carry out this injunction he woke up one morning and discovered that
something very strange had happened in the night. Somehow his metal fillings had disappeared, and had
been replaced with compound ones.2! It seemed like a miracle - until one recalls Puharich’s expertise in
fitting miniaturised radio transmitters in teeth, not to mention his abilities as a master hypnotist. Could
Puharich have manipulated the Nine’s communications as part of some long-term experiment? Given his
connections with intelligence agencies, was this part of a CIA programme? Many of the events that either
mystify commentators or convince them that there is something genuinely unexplained about the Nine are
in fact open to other interpretations if the intelligence agency connection is taken into account.

In 1973, when Puharich and Whitmore were courting Lyall Watson, trying to persuade him to become
more actively involved in promoting the Nine, Watson was impressed by an odd series of events. He
received a letter from his parents in South Africa, acknowledging that they had received a copy of his
will. But this was impossible: not only had he not been in touch with his parents for some time, but he had
not even made a will! Bewildered, he contacted his lawyers in Johannesburg, who told him that the will
had been drawn up according to his telephoned instructions and then posted to him at his home in
Bermuda. The will had then been returned to them with his signature. Throughout this period Watson had
never moved out of London. The Nine claim to have been behind this surreal, Kafkaesque scenario,
presumably to impress him with their godlike powers. Watson was duly impressed. Recounting this
episode, Stuart Holroyd writes: ‘He [Watson] didn’t see how anyone could have contrived such an
elaborate hoax, or who could have done so, and he admitted that it looked like a materialisation event

contrived and executed by some intelligence.’%

This is a rather naive conclusion. How difficult would it be for an agency such as M15 or the CIA to
contrive and execute such a plan, with the intention of impressing Watson so he would lend his support to
the Nine? (And was there an implicit threat in that these mysterious events related to his last will and
testament?) In fact, in our view, Watson’s assessment, given by Holroyd, would be accurate if the word
‘agency’ is added after ‘intelligence’ ...

Certainly, the Nine can be rather flamboyant. On the evening of 26 November 1977, television
broadcasts in parts of southern England were interrupted by a voice claiming to be a representative of an
extraterrestrial civilisation, saying that they would be landing on Earth soon in order to prevent mankind
from destroying itself. Dismissed as a student prank, few have noticed that the short message included this
sentence:

We conveyed to Sir John Whitmore and to Dr Puharich that we would interfere on your radio and
television communication system to relay when the civilisations are coming close to landing on
your planet.23

Clearly this was intended to be a fulfilment of the first part of Tom’s prophecy: the ‘hijacking’ of radio
and TV broadcasts prior to the promised mass landing. If this really were a student prank, it is odd it
should include a reference to Whitmore and Puharich, and such interference with television transmissions
would, of course, require sophisticated equipment and technical expertise, leading some to conclude that
the message really did come from extraterrestrials.2* However, as usual, there were only two —
diametrically opposed — options considered at the time: either the whole thing was genuine and
extraterrestrials had really spoken to the southern English through their television sets; or it was a hoax,
just done for a laugh. The idea that such a message could be easily contrived by, for example, an
intelligence agency that would have the necessary technical skills has never, to our knowledge, even been



considered.

The evidence clearly suggests that the business of the Nine was not an isolated series of paranormal
events but an orchestrated drama, involving outside agencies (who helped in arranging apparently
inexplicable scenarios such as Lyall Watson’s will), with Puharich running it from the inside.

It is almost certain that the majority of the others involved in the story would not be part of this, at least
consciously. Perhaps Puharich was the only person who really knew what was going on. We are sure that
Phyllis Schlemmer was, and is, not aware of this side of the operation. Writer Bruce Rux says of the
Puharich — Whitmore — Schlemmer set-up of the mid-1970s: “‘Lab 9” shows all the hallmarks of being

an intelligence fraud, one of numerous disinformation sources employed by that particular community.’2

If Lab Nine was an intelligence operation, or at least a front for one, as the evidence suggests very
strongly, what was the motive behind it?

For love of the space brothers

One possible explanation is that the events surrounding the Nine constituted a long-term experiment into
the psychology of ‘contactee cults’ of the kind that have become so prevalent since the Second World War,
aiming to answer certain intriguing questions. For example, how easy is it to convince a group of ordinary
people that they really are ‘chosen’ by some superhuman entity to carry an important message to the
world? How can such a belief persuasively be passed on beyond the initial circle to a wider public? And
what kind of people will accept the message, and who will reject it?

It is known that the security services have long taken an interest in such cults, as Jacques Vallée has
frequently testified, seeking explanations for how such beliefs originate and spread, for reasons that are
entirely understandable. For example, quasireligious cults and small but subversive political groups have
the potential for great social unrest and worse — the Nazis started small, after all — and they are often
used for criminal and anti-social purposes, such as drug trafficking or gun-running. The sinister potential
of cults occasionally surfaces: Swiss and French authorities have been alert to such dangers since the
mass suicides of the Order of the Solar Temple, whose beliefs included the existence of extraterrestrials
from Sirius, and the similar suicides of members of the Star Trek-influenced Heaven’s Gate cult in 1996.
A number of the earliest UFO contactee cults that emerged soon after the flying saucer craze of the late
1940s were centred on individuals who were members of American fascist organisations. For example,
William Dudley Pelley, prewar supporter of Hitler, founded a fascist group called the Silver Shirts of
America in 1932 and was interned for the duration of the Second World War. Fascinated with mystical
and esoteric ideas, in the late 1940s Pelley claimed to be in telepathic contact with extraterrestrials,

writing a book about his experiences called Star Guests (1950).2

Another reason for official interest in such belief systems is their possible use in psychological
warfare. One can imagine, for example, the wealth of possibilities in introducing cult beliefs into an
enemy country in order to seriously destabilise it or to ensnare and covertly influence susceptible
politicians. One of the main purposes of the intelligence community is specifically to investigate the
origins, structure and spread of belief systems.

Another episode illustrates the idea that US government agencies have indulged in ‘cult creation’



experiments. After his first contact with the Nine through Dr Vinod, Puharich’s next reported contact was
through his letter from Charles Laughead, after their meeting in Mexico in 1956. Two years before,
Laughead had been involved in another contactee group — with some very significant results. Their
alleged extraterrestrial communications were the subject of a classic academic study into cult belief by
three sociologists at the University of Minnesota, later published as When Prophecy Fails by Leon
Festiger, Henry W. Riecken and Stanley Schachter (1956).

The contact centred on a Chicago housewife called Dorothy Martin, pseudonymously identified as
‘Marion Keech’ in the book. It follows an only too familiar pattern. In 1953 she had begun to develop
mediumistic abilities, receiving messages via automatic writing. At first, these were ‘traditional’
spiritualistic communications — from her dead father and other deceased people — but a year later
messages began to come through from what claimed to be extraterrestrial sources, originating from
several planets, but mainly from one called Clarion. She called these beings the ‘Guardians’.

A group — largely consisting of other housewives, but including a few from other walks of life,
including a research scientist — gathered around her to study the content of the communications.
Enthusiastic members of this curious circle were Dr Charles and Lillian Laughead (who appear as
Thomas and Daisy Armstrong in When Prophecy Fails). The Laugheads had been Protestant missionaries
in Egypt before and just after the Second World War. On a postwar visit, Lillian suffered a mental
breakdown and, when prayer failed to resolve her problems, the couple came to doubt their faith,
beginning a quest through other religious and esoteric systems, finally becoming particularly interested in
William Dudley Pelley’s writings. After a meeting with seminal UFO contactee George Adamski, they
became convinced of the reality and spiritual significance of UFOs. They joined the Dorothy Martin
circle and Charles became its organiser and spokesman.

On 27 August 1954, Dorothy received a warning from the Guardians of a wave of imminent
catastrophes, which would include the disappearance of the east coast of the United States — as well as
Britain and France — under the sea on 21 December. The Laugheads took the lead in publicising these
warnings, taking the story to the press.

At this stage the group of sociologists from the University of Minnesota decided to infiltrate the group
in order to make a hands-on study of the behaviour of such cults and, in particular, to see at first-hand the
reactions of true believers when the prophecies failed to materialise. As we know, the east coast of the
United States did not find itself in a watery grave on 21 December 1954, and neither did Britain or
France. The Minnesota study charted the gradual break-up of the group and its members’ struggle to come
to terms with the failure, and the resulting sense of loss and bereavement that such cruel disillusionment
brings in its wake. Only one or two members admitted losing their faith in the Guardians, the majority
coming up with a variety of more or less plausible rationalisations — or perhaps ‘irrationalisations’ — to
explain the failure. Some said it had been a test of faith, or that the strength of their belief had actually
averted the catastrophe. Quaintly, under the circumstances, the real tension in the group was caused by
arguments about which of these excuses was the right one! The circle finally collapsed under the intense
weight of public humiliation and ridicule. Dorothy Martin left to join a Dianetics centre in Arizona,
having been a follower of Dianetics for some time, and the rest carried on with their lives. Only the
Laugheads seemed to take something lasting away from the experience. According to When Prophecy
Fails:

In the next two weeks the Armstrongs [Laugheads] sold their home and wound up their affairs ...
and Thomas [Charles] prepared for the role he was assuming - that of itinerant proselyter,



spreading the teachings of the Guardians across the land.%

The Laugheads began working with other channellers, one result of which was their meeting with
Puharich two years later, which was to have a profound effect on his own acceptance of the reality of the
Nine.

The story of the Guardians cult may seem an all too familiar tale of a group of people obsessed with a
false, quasireligious belief built up around a deluded channeller. That is certainly how the team from
Minnesota University treated it. Another aspect of the story suggests something else was going on - that
the events were indeed being manipulated by outside forces, but by very terrestrial agencies.

Dorothy Martin sometimes returned to her locked home to find letters from ‘Clarion’ left inside, and
she would receive telephone calls direct from the Guardians when the sociologists were present, which at
least indicates that they were not figments of her imagination. As a climax, when the group gathered at
Dorothy’s house on 18 December to await the coming cataclysm three days later, she received a long call
from the leader of the Guardians, a being called Sananda, after which five young men arrived at the house,
the leader of whom claimed to be Sananda himself. The group went into another room with Laughead for
half an hour, followed by an hour with Dorothy Martin (from which she emerged very emotional and
moved). Then the five mystery callers left. Again, all this was witnessed by the researchers.2

These were real events, so it is difficult to reconcile them with the Minnesota team’s conclusion that it
was all a collective delusion, although clearly there was scope for other interpretations, such as mistaken
identity, or, more probably, a hoax. Yet if the latter, it was very carefully and painstakingly organised: the
letters, telephone calls and the visit all served to reinforce the group’s belief in the prophecies received
by automatic writing. Obviously, another group of people existed beyond the immediate circle of true
believers and were orchestrating both the events and the phenomenon of escalating belief. Why?

The most likely answer is that this shadowy but all important group were conducting their own
experiment, and it is likely that they were an official but secret agency investigating the behaviour of
circles based around channelled extraterrestrial communications. We know that the group was being used
as an unwitting experimental subject by the Minnesota University researchers, and it may be significant
that there was a local newspaper called The Minnesota Clarion.

In that case, where did Dorothy Martin’s original automatic scripts originate? If she and the Laugheads
were part of the plot, all she had to do was sit down and make them up. Interestingly, the story almost
exactly parallels that of the Nine - although of course on a much smaller scale - and the two series of
events are linked by the meeting of Laughead with Puharich two years later. Was the Guardians scenario a
dry run for the Nine?

There was a sequel to the story of the Guardian group. Dorothy Martin continued to receive messages
from the Guardians, who told her to change her name to ‘Sister Thedra’ and to travel to Lake Titicaca in
Peru. Once there, she established - along with the Laugheads and the seminal mystic and contactee George
Hunt Williamson — the Abbey of the Seven Rays. From this base Dorothy Martin began to prophesy the
coming of the ‘Time of Awakening’ when Atlantis would rise from the deep and a new Saviour would
rescue the righteous. In 1961 she returned to the United States, where she continued to preach her message

until her death in 1988.22



A sinister experiment?

The hypothesis that the events surrounding the Nine were deliberately orchestrated makes sense of some
otherwise puzzling aspects of the story, such as the failure of the promised mass landings of 1978. Why
would the Nine risk the disillusionment of their followers when not even one alien craft, let alone fleets
of spaceships, landed? On the ‘experimental’ hypothesis, this would be the perfect benchmark by which to
test the degree of belief in the circle. If, unlike Dorothy Martin’s group twenty-five years before, they
could accept and rationalise such a failure - and potential humiliation - then surely the experiment would
be judged a success?

The intimate involvement of Puharich in this scenario causes alarm bells to ring. Given his background,
and the way in which he clearly manipulated the development of Nine communications in the 1970s, such
a scenario — despite its X-Files overtones - makes much sense. It is not difficult to discern the presence
of some shadowy military or intelligence agency behind the events surrounding the Nine.

Consider, for example, Puharich’s Geller Kids or Space Kids, whom he tested and trained during the
1970s. There were twenty of them, the youngest nine and the oldest in their late teens, culled from seven
different countries and taken to what became jokingly known as Puharich’s ‘Turkey Farm’ at Ossining in
order to develop their psychic potential. As we have seen, Puharich trained them in remote viewing, but
the target locations he set them were significant: they were of military or intelligence interest and
included the Pentagon, the Kremlin and even the White House.1%? It seems clear that there was an official
element to these experiments, as they were being carried out at exactly the same time (1975 — 8) that
defence and intelligence agencies were studying remote viewing in adults. We can speculate that the
Ossining establishment was chosen for the children’s project because it was a conveniently ‘civilian’
location: questions would certainly have been asked if youngsters had been experimented on inside
military facilities.

The Ossining programme had even more disturbing elements: Puharich experimented on the children in
order to contact extra-terrestrial intelligences. As with Geller and Bobby Home, he regularly hypnotised
his young subjects, apparently in the belief that their powers did indeed come from ‘aliens’. As Steven
Levy wrote: ‘The Kids describe strange cities with science-fiction trappings and claim to be messengers
from these distant civilisations.’ 10!

Given Puharich’s obsession with extraterrestrial influence, not to mention his indiscriminate use of the
most powerful sort of hypnosis, it would be strange if the Space Kids had not come up with such
descriptions. But was Puharich simply releasing memories of real events, or was he in fact implanting
them? In either case, his use of hypnosis, in what were clearly uncontrolled conditions, on children as
young as nine, is extremely disquieting. (Ira Einhorn, a close associate of Puharich at this time, admitted
to us that he found these experiments very disturbing.1%)

In August 1978, after the Turkey Farm was burned down in the arson attack, Puharich disappeared to
Mexico, blaming the fire on the CIA, claiming that they were trying to stop his experiments with the
Geller Kids.12 He later accused the CIA of making three attempts on his life, which is particularly
strange because Puharich himself was, of course, known to have worked for them. Had he somehow
doublecrossed them, or in some way made enemies within the agency? And if the CIA had really tried,
and failed, to kill Puharich three times, it is hardly a good advertisement for their efficiency. Perhaps they



were only trying to frighten him. Whatever the truth of the matter, Puharich was not the only one who
suffered at the demise of the Turkey Farm. Several of the Space Kids were severely traumatised at being
so brusquely abandoned, especially after living pretty much as a family in a close, ‘hothouse’ atmosphere

for three years.1%

The destruction of the Turkey Farm was only part of a series of setbacks that afflicted the Puharich
group in the late 1970s - which even included murder - throwing an even more sinister web of intrigue
around the already tainted central figures.

The Unicorn

Another key player linking the Nine to the emerging counterculture of the 1970s was Ira Einhorn, known
to his circle as ‘the Unicorn’, the meaning of his surname in English. He was a leading light in the world
that emerged from the hippie scene to embrace a multitude of interleaved ‘alternative’ movements, such as
ecology, new energy sources, exploration of the nature and limits of consciousness and mysticism.

Ira Einhorn became a highly sought-after industrial guru, a professional networker who put key people
in touch with others, acting as a catalyst for change and improvement. He had close connections with —
and was financed by - many leading industrialists, including the Canadian Bronfman family and the
Rockefellers, and companies such as AT&T and McDonnell Douglas, the military aircraft manufacturer.

He was also known to be in contact with leading NASA officials.1%

A significant point in Einhorn’s career was his meeting with Puharich in 1968, at a time when the latter
was working for the Atomic Energy Commission. Puharich has been described as Einhorn’s ‘mentor’ (a
term often used of him), and the two men became close colleagues during the 1970s, when he was also
busy with Lab Nine: Einhorn was a frequent visitor to the Turkey Farm when the Space Kids experiments
were being carried out. He was Puharich’s stepping stone to other ground-breaking events taking place in
the fields of psychology and physics at the time. Einhorn referred to the group of scientists of which he
and Puharich were part as his ‘psychic mafia’.1% Einhorn arranged for Puharich’s 1962 book Beyond
Telepathy to be reissued by Anchor Books in 1973 (contributing his own poem as a foreword), and he
also edited Puharich’s account of his time with Uri Geller, Uri (1974), which was, in fact, less a
biography of the superstar metalbender than a paean of praise for the Nine.

Einhorn’s most significant contribution was, in the 1970s, the establishment of a worldwide network of
scientists, industrialists, writers and philosophers at the cutting edge of new developments in physics,
parapsychology, psychology and other fields. This new network consisted of 350 experts from twenty
countries, with Einhorn himself acting as what he called ‘planetary catalyst’, circulating information to all
the members. This network was funded by the Bell Telephone Company (of which Arthur M. Young was a
major shareholder at that time), Einhorn always living entirely on the patronage of wealthy backers and

business sponsors.1Y

Einhorn’s network was the subject of a study by the Diebold Corporation in 1978, with the grandiose
and somewhat impenetrable title of ‘The Emergence of Personal Communication Networks Among
People Sharing the New Values and Their Possible Use in Sensitizing Operating Management’, which
compared it to the ‘Invisible College’ of seventeenth-century Britain, an informal group of scientists -



and, perhaps significantly, esotericists - that became the Royal Society.1%

Einhorn’s reputation took a dramatic nosedive, though. He and former cheerleader Holly Maddux had
been involved in a stormy relationship since they met in October 1972, moving in together two months
later. In the summer of 1977 the couple went to London, where — with Puharich — they stayed at the
home of a wealthy backer, Joyce Petschek. After one of their frequent fights, Holly returned to
Philadelphia alone at the end of July, apparently determined, this time, to make a final break with Einhorn.
In August she stayed at one of Joyce Petschek’s houses, on Fire Island in New York State, where she met a
wealthy businessman called Saul Lapidus (a former executive of Puharich’s Intelectron Corporation).
Meanwhile, Einhorn left London to visit other contacts in Europe, returning to the United States on 21
August, where he stayed for a few days at Puharich’s Turkey Farm before going back to Philadelphia. At
the time Holly Maddux was staying with Lapidus, but she returned to Philadelphia on 9 September after
an angry phone call from Einhorn. She was never seen alive again.

Eighteen months later, after investigations by private detectives employed by Maddux’s parents, the
Philadelphia police searched Einhorn’s apartment and found a very badly decomposed Maddux in a trunk
inside a locked cupboard on the back porch. Einhorn was arrested. The autopsy revealed she had been
killed by violent blows to the head.

During the investigation into Maddux’s disappearance — initially by private detectives, then by the
police - there is no doubt that those involved in the Puharich set-up closed ranks around Einhorn. Saul
Lapidus had been concerned when Maddux failed to return from her last meeting with Einhorn, and had
asked Puharich to call him and find out what had happened. Puharich was satisfied with Einhorn’s
reassurance that everything was fine, which was understandable at the time, but Puharich seemed to
continue to believe in Einhorn’s innocence, even when he was arrested. Puharich seemed to have been
more concerned about recovering papers about the Geller Kids experiments he had lent Maddux shortly

before she disappeared.l%2 (These were later found at Lapidus’s house and returned to Puharich.)

According to Steven Levy, an American investigative journalist, associates such as Joyce Petschek
actually refused to co-operate with the private investigators, so it took them over a year to piece together
Maddux’s last movements. Not until November 1978 did they even hear about the vital witness Saul
Lapidus, with whom she was staying at the time of her disappearance.

Einhorn was released on bail on 3 April 1979, paid for by Barbara Bronfman, sponsor of the Nine’s
work (she is listed in the acknowledgements of The Only Planet of Choice). He then travelled to
California to visit various contacts, including the Nine’s channeller Jenny O’ Connor at the Esalen Institute
- where he stayed for several weeks — before spending time with the Bronfmans at their palatial
Montreal home.1? As the date of the trial loomed, 13 January 1981, Einhorn fled to London with his new
girlfriend Jeanne Morrison, despite his passport having been removed by the Philadelphia Police
Department, and has been a fugitive ever since. He was found guilty of murder in his absence in 1983. In
1997 he was found to be living in France under the name Eugene Mallon, but the French courts refused to
extradite him (as the US authorities would not give him a new trial). During these proceedings it emerged
that Einhorn had been supported financially since becoming a fugitive by Barbara Bronfman (she had
divorced billionaire Charles Bronfman in 1982).11 Einhorn lived on in France, continuing to protest his
innocence, claiming that he was framed as part of an intelligence plot, either by the KGB or the CIA. In
September 1998 Einhorn was rearrested as the Philadelphia legislature changed the laws specifically to
enable the French authorities to extradite him. At the time of writing he is still out on bail awaiting trial.



Einhorn, however, had his own connections with the intelligence community. He worked closely with
Congressman Charlie Rose, a member of the House Select Committee on Intelligence. Rose was one of
the most prominent supporters of the Pentagon’s remote-viewing programme, and of the use of psychic
skills in defence and intelligence work in general. He is quoted as saying: ‘Some people think this is the
work of the Devil, other people think it’s the work of the Holy Spirit.’112 According to Jack Sarfatti, Rose
told him that Einhorn was involved in national security operations,!l2 although Einhorn himself recently
told us that if this was true, he must have been their unwitting pawn, adding that the intelligence agencies

were extremely interested in his network and the various individuals and organisations it brought

together. 114

Einhorn’s contribution to the spread of belief in the Nine should not be underestimated. His role as
networker supreme put him in touch with a considerable number of key people worldwide who no doubt
found his personal conviction impressive and inspiring.

Significantly, just three weeks before his arrest, Ira Einhorn gave a lecture in Philadelphia in which,
according to Steven Levy:

He said that for years he had been primarily interested in the relation of nonphysical entities to the
physical world. This led him to revelations, he explained, that had startling consequences for our
civilization. 112

Levy also said of Einhorn’s strange quest:

As he delved deeper into the world of the paranormal, he became increasingly convinced that
recent psychic revelations [presumably a reference to the Nine’s communications] could have

significant global impact. In some scenarios, these could have alarming consequences.11°

He goes on to stress Einhorn’s role in bringing about major changes through the acceptance of the
unexplained:

Through his relationship with Andrija Puharich and others, in what he jokingly called a “psychic
mafia’, the Unicorn assumed a key role in the task of alerting our people about the implications of
this revolution ... in Einhorn’s universe, those factors included the undeniability of UFOs, the
startling discoveries in quantum physics, and the inevitability of the new world order - shaken

loose by the Aquarian Transformation.1l/

Such apocalyptic beliefs were shared by others on the Puharich — Einhorn scene. Lieutenant-Colonel
Thomas Bearden, Einhorn’s close friend and former ‘war games’ analyst at the Pentagon, appeared -
along with Puharich - at a conference organised by Einhorn on ‘Mind over Matter’ at Penn State
University in 1977. (Bearden wrote the obituary for Puharich in the Newsletter of PACE, the Planetary
Association for Clean Energy, in 1995.) Since retiring from the Army, Bearden has dedicated himself to
researching alternative energy sources. He has written:

I believe that the accelerated time schedule for the ‘New World Order’ — now set for the year
2000 - is as the result of the imminent advent of (1) superluminal [faster-than-light]

communication ... and (2) overunity electrical energy systems.18

Bearden was on the board of the Astron Corporation, a communications research and development

company contracted to the Defense Department and NASA.!2 The vice-president (and president at the
time of Bearden’s involvement) is Dr Joseph Jahoda, who has been involved in the ARE/Schor



Foundation excavations at Giza since 1978.

Science for a New Age

Einhorn’s strange career puts the events surrounding the Nine in the 1970s into a much wider context,
unfolding against the emergence of radical new developments in the fields of psychology, parapsychology
and quantum physics. A new generation of scientists was beginning to explore subjects previously
considered as smacking too much of the lunatic fringe even to be worthy of consideration. At the heart of
this new wave was an impulse to understand more about the nature — and limits — of human
consciousness and its relationship to the physical universe. This work encompassed research into such
areas as the subconscious mind and altered states of consciousness, including the effects of hallucinogenic
drugs such as LSD, exploring new discoveries in the weird realms of quantum physics, potential new
sources of energy, and parapsychology. From this family of brave new ideas came such classic and
influential studies as Fritjof Capra’s The Too of Physics, which explored the relationship between
quantum physics and Eastern mysticism; David Bohm’s Wholeness and the Implicate Order; Joseph
Campbell’s The Masks of God on the psychology of myth; Stanislav Grof’s Realms of the Human
Unconscious, on LSD research; and many others.

Much of this ground-breaking work took place in California within a closely knit network of research
institutes and foundations among which was a great sharing of ideas and much overlapping membership.
Among these establishments was, of course, SRI at Menlo Park, where Targ and Puthoff’s pioneering
work into remote viewing was conducted, at the same time that SRI were also active at Giza.

The Esalen Institute at Big Sur, which had another establishment in San Francisco, was a prime mover
in this scene. Dubbed ‘the California capital of the self-realization movement’,12? it was founded in 1964
by Michael Murphy and Richard Price on land formerly inhabited by the Esselen Indians, with the aim of
holding seminars on psychology, religion, parapsychology, quantum physics and related subjects. In the
late 1960s and early 1970s it regularly sparked controversy, not always for the intended reasons. Naked
students often claimed the lion’s share of local headlines, rather than the pioneering seminars of the great
thinkers of the day. Also a centre for research into psychedelic drugs, it became a focus for the
counterculture of the day. More surprisingly, it has been enormously influential beyond its time and place.

Ira Einhorn led seminars at Esalen, and it was there that the Nine, channelled by Jenny O‘Connor, were
listed as members of staff. According to Einhorn, ‘she took over running Esalen through the Nine‘,12! and
such was the influence of the Nine that they ordered the sacking of its chief financial officer and
reorganised the entire management structure.12? In the late 1970s the Esalen Soviet Exchange programme
was developed, initially to share parapsychological research, in which rising Soviet stars of academia
and politics were invited to the United States. This was to have enormous, far-reaching influence on
world politics, as many of the Soviets who went to Esalen in the 1980s were to become instrumental in
the shake-ups that would end the Cold War and bring about the fall of communism. It is reasonable to
assume that an organisation whose members made regular trips to Moscow in the days of the Cold War
must have been made use of by US intelligence, or at least have been monitored. Almost incredibly,
several Soviet officials who would later rise to high office in the Gorbachev regime attended Jenny
O’Connor’s Nine seminars, together with psi enthusiasts Congressman Charlie Rose and Ira Einhorn.



The Esalen Institute now runs the Gorbachev Foundation/ USA, created by the former Soviet President
in 1992 to facilitate a smooth transition from the Cold War days to a better future for all the world. One of
its objectives is to work with the development of the emerging political and religious paradigms. The
Institute sponsored and funded visits to the United States by Boris Yeltsin before he became Russian
President, and members of the Esalen Soviet Exchange programme were the go-betweens for Richard
Hoagland and Soviet Mars researchers in the mid-1980s.

The story moves in one quantum leap from a tale of dubious channelling and its disciples to another
level. The Nine, through their channellers and hangers-on, have a more or less direct line to some of the
world’s most important men, whose decisions affect millions of lives. This is an astonishing scenario.

Another ‘sister’ school in this movement was, if anything, more controversial than the Esalen Institute.
This was est (Erhard Sensitivity Training), the organisation founded in 1971 by Werner Erhard, a former
Scientologist - and used car salesman — who decided to exploit and adapt some of Scientology’s
concepts and techniques for his own self-improvement system. The now notorious est held seminars that
attracted such celebrities as Buzz Aldrin, Yoko Ono, John Denver and the future UFO abduction
researcher John Mack, but it wasn’t long before est became a dirty word. Attendees were disturbed by the
fascistic regime and zombielike demeanour of the members, as well as Erhard’s own dictatorial control
of the organisation. Media disapproval was intense, and soon est was relegated to the scrapheap of
dangerous cults. Erhard himself fled from the United States after press revelations about his private life
and financial affairs. He is now believed to be somewhere in Russia.

Tellingly, Erhard’s real name was John Rosenberg, but it is said that he changed his name ‘to replace
Jewish weakness with German strength’ 123 (His father was Jewish, but had converted to Episcopal
Christianity.) Erhard had close links with the Esalen Institute and gave funds to SRI’s remote-viewing
project.12* More disturbingly, Jenny O’Connor had been introduced to est in 1977, by Sir John Whitmore,
before she moved on to Esalen.

A further integral part of this movement was the Institute of Noetic Sciences at Palo Alto, which was
founded by Apollo 14 astronaut Edgar Mitchell in March 1973, and is ‘dedicated to research and
education in the processes of human consciousness to help achieve a new understanding and expanded
awareness among all people’12 (‘Noetics’ comes from the Greek for ‘mind’.) They were heavily
involved in the psi testing of the 1970s, partly funding the Geller experiments at SRI and, until the CIA
came clean about their involvement in the remote-viewing experiments in the mid-1990s, it was the
Institute of Noetic Sciences that claimed to have funded the initial programme.12® At the very least, this
shows that the Institute allowed itself to be used as a cover for the CIA, and perhaps even as a conduit for
the funding of the agency’s more controversial experiments.

Arthur M. Young’s highly influential Institute for the Study of Consciousness at Berkeley, founded in
1972, also provided a forum for some of the most daring thinkers of the day. It was here that Richard
Hoagland had his meeting with Paul Shay of SRI, and also where he gave his first lecture about Cydonia
in 1984. Later he was to acknowledge Arthur Young’s personal influence.l?? (Young, present at the Nine’s
debut at the Round Table Foundation in 1953, was in fact more heavily involved in the running of the
Foundation than he wanted to be known, serving as Puharich’s ‘second-in-command’ there.12 Young also
kept secret his presence at the meeting of Puharich, Hurkos and the Laugheads in Mexico in 1956,
although shortly before his death in 1995 he admitted to researcher Terry Milner that he had been
present.129)



Institutions and foundations only succeed because of the individuals who breathe life into them. One of
the key figures on this scene was avant-garde physicist Jack Sarfatti, the first director of the
Physics/Consciousness Research Group at the Esalen Institute, which was funded by Werner Erhard and
money covertly channelled through from the Pentagon.12? His seminars were attended by Stanislas Grof,
Russell Targ, Timothy Leary, physicist Saul Paul Sirag (who became director after Sarfatti), Robert Anton
Wilson, Fritjof Capra and Ira Einhorn, who was Sarfatti’s literary agent.

The work carried out by this interlinked network of organisations was imaginative and innovative,
presenting a serious challenge to the previous arrogant certainties of the scientific world. It was
undertaken in a genuine pioneering spirit, largely born of the idealism of the youth culture of the 1960s
and a desire to change the world for the better. However, a dark shadow was cast over this early idyllic
promise by the involvement of the Pentagon, CIA and other security and intelligence agencies, who soon
realised that the breakthroughs of these idealists had great potential in their own spheres, such as remote
viewing. And they did not fail to note that research into altered states of consciousness, including the use
of LSD and other drugs, also had darker applications in the various techniques of mind control. So often
this research was encouraged and funded - although often covertly, through other channels — by
organisations such as the CIA and the Pentagon. One of the pioneers of LSD and consciousness research,
John C. Lilly, worked at the Esalen Institute for several years, as well as for the CIA, but only on the
condition that his research remained unclassified. This made things difficult for him professionally,
because nearly all other researchers in the field were also working on classified projects, so he was

unable to share data with them or vice versa.131

Another case of behind-the-scenes agendas in this milieu involved Dr Brendan O‘Regan, research
director of Edgar Mitchell’s Institute of Noetic Sciences and a consultant for SRI, as well as research
director for the scientist-philosopher R. Buckminster Fuller. O’Regan arranged the experiments into the
strange talents of Uri Geller at Birkbeck College, London, in 1975 and was also closely involved with the
Puharich — Whitmore circle surrounding the Nine. And, since O’Regan’s death in 1992, Jack Sarfatti has
claimed that he was also working with the CIA at this time, writing;

I was then [1973] simply a young inexperienced ‘naive idiot’ in a very very sophisticated and
successful covert psychological warfare operation run by the late Brendan O’Regan of the Institute
of Noetic Sciences and the late Harold Chipman who was the CIA station chief responsible for all

mind-control research in the Bay Area in the 70s.132

As with the Nine’s communications - which were intimately connected with the extraordinary cutting-edge
research taking place primarily in California — the shadow of the intelligence agencies looms large.

Who spins the web?

The messages of the Nine’s communications are particularly intriguing in this context because they
extended over such a long time, apart from any other considerations. But what would be the point of such
an exhaustive experiment by the intelligence agencies?

One plausible motive, as we have seen, is the testing of the extent that such beliefs can be created and
manipulated. In the hands of such a supremely skilled puppetmaster as Puharich, this would have been



worth watching closely. But perhaps it was not merely an exercise in observation and always had a
definite end in mind? Perhaps the belief system was being used for some purpose that had been clearly
defined from the outset.

In both of these scenarios the Nine have to be a fabrication - a hoax - but this fails to account for certain
key aspects of the story. For example, the Nine’s communications have continued since Puharich bowed
out at the end of the 1970s. Is the experiment continuing, but under the control of someone else? Or has the
belief system built up such a momentum - essentially, creating a life of its own - that it has become self-
perpetuating? A few who claim contact with the Nine appear to have done so independently of each other,
including Carla Rueckert and James Hurtak, but, apart from David Myers (as far as we know), most of
them had some contact with Puharich.

Where Puharich’s work is concerned, the big question is whether he was actually fabricating
extraterrestrial contact, or experimenting with various methods of inducing it. British parapsychologist
Kenneth J. Batcheldor demonstrated that genuine paranormal effects can be induced in a group simply by
what he called ‘artefact induction’, in effect, kickstarting real paranormal phenomena simply by
cheating123 He discovered that, in groups researching psychokinesis, if someone deliberately tilts the
table and the group as a whole believes it to have been caused paranormally, this opens the floodgates for
genuinely supernatural events to happen. Significantly, not only was Puharich certainly aware of
Batcheldor’s findings, but Don Elkins believed that his experiments in fabricating contactees through
hypnosis actually resulted in real contact.

Puharich himself undoubtedly believed absolutely in psychic abilities. Significantly, it appears that
from quite early in his career — as described in his book The Sacred Mushroom — he was fascinated by
the ancient Egyptian religion of Heliopolis and the possibility of contacting the gods of the Great Ennead
directly. On balance, it would seem that Puharich did believe that such communication was at least
possible, although the means of reaching extraterrestrial gods were fraught with problems. The message
could become scrambled by inner ‘noise’ or contaminated by the medium’s personal hopes and fears. But
it seems that Puharich believed that it was possible to open the stargate, allowing the extraterrestrial gods
to enter our dimension, as demonstrated in his use of the Space Kids to explore the idea of contact. Ira
Einhorn told us that Puharich was obsessed with the space gods, because he thought that the world was in
a mess and that its only hope was help from outside, from higher intelligences. Einhorn himself has no
doubt that the Nine are real, objective entities, but he does not believe they are who they claim to be. He
often argued with Puharich about his eagerness to take orders from them; it was their major point of

disagreement.1

Was it Puharich’s own idea to try to contact the space gods, or did it come from his superiors in the
intelligence community? Senior CIA (and other) operatives may well have taken the possibility of
extraterrestrial contact seriously enough to explore ways of opening a stargate. Certainly, intelligence
agencies around the world were aware of the potential of psychic abilities and were in possession of
abundant data that suggested strongly that shamanic-style skills successfully invite contactee-type
experiences.

An example of this involved a spate of weird phenomena that erupted after a series of not particularly
successful experiments with Uri Geller at the Lawrence Livermore Laboratory in California - one of the
leading US nuclear weapons research centres — in 1974 and 1975.12> The Lawrence Livermore
researchers were concerned that if his abilities were genuine they could potentially threaten the operation
of nuclear missiles - could he somehow trigger a warhead, for example, or interfere with a missile’s



guidance system? The researchers wanted to establish whether psychokinesis really existed, and if so,
how effective it was, and what could be done to protect against it.

A series of tests were carried out with Geller (while keeping him well away from the main research
centre, just in case). According to Jim Schnabel, they convinced them that psychokinesis was not
powerful or controllable enough to pose a serious risk to their nuclear arsenal. But even so, the
experiments seemed to act as an ‘Open Sesame’ to a startling show of spin-off phenomena. On one
occasion, a metallic voice appeared on an audiotape during one of the tests, apparently speaking a
sequence of random words. CIA analyst Christopher ‘Kit’ Green - who appears under the pseudonym
‘Richard Kennett’ in Schnabel’s book — was then working on the CIA remote-viewing project at SRI and
also monitoring their experiments with Geller. He subsequently realised that the voice was actually giving
the code name of a top-secret CIA project totally unconnected with the Geller experiments.

More disturbingly, over the weeks that followed the tests, the physicists began to experience strange
apparitions, both at home and in the laboratory, including miniature ‘flying saucers’ and strange animals
such as huge, ravenlike birds — ‘fantastic animals from the ecstatic lore of shamans’, as Jim Schnabel
calls them.13® These were also seen by members of the physicists’ families. It is as if Lawrence
Livermore Laboratories had suddenly become haunted: one physicist even received a telephone call from
the metallic voice. Eventually these weird events stopped, as if a temporary rip in the veil between
dimensions had been abruptly zipped up again. In addition, several participants in the Pentagon/CIA’s
remote-viewing programmes experienced paranormal events outside of office hours, and also had
apparent extraterrestrial contact, especially in connection with Mars.

These events, together with Puharich’s belief in the reality of extraterrestrial contact, raise the serious
possibility that the CIA and other agencies were fully aware of the ‘otherworldly’ element attached to
their psychic spying programmes, in which apparently nonhuman entities ‘came through’. After all, when a
top nuclear weapons facility becomes ‘haunted’ and its hard-headed and sceptical scientists are so
harassed by the weirdness that several of them come close to a nervous breakdown, such bizarre
phenomena have to be taken seriously. They would want to know more about such things - if only to
eliminate them from their psi-spy research, but, given the entities’ inside knowledge of top-secret code
names, they would also want to know if a more controlled kind of contact could be made with such useful
intelligences and if some kind of mutually beneficial dialogue could be set up. It would make sense: if the
Nine really were space gods, it is not hard to imagine the advantages of having them on the side of the
United States during the Cold War, for example, or as allies during any period of history.

An article by researcher Alex Constantine quotes Rod Lewis of the American Federation of Scientists
on the remote viewers ‘dealing with the demonic realm’, explaining: ‘It’s a Greek word for “disembodied
intelligence”. Apparently it’s something they take very seriously, and unfortunately they’re trying to use it
for military purposes.’13’

Many of the people involved with the Nine seem predisposed towards the idea of extraterrestrial
contact, often because of their own prior experiences, for example, as mediums. And one objective of the
Nine experiment appears to have been to test the possibility and controllability of such contact.

It is clear that the belief in extraterrestrial contact was a major thread running through the avant-garde
work of various organisations discussed above - and that it was taken very seriously by certain key
figures, one of whom was Stanislav Grof, the Czechoslovakian psychiatrist who had researched the
effects of LSD in Prague, before being invited to the United States to continue his work in 1965. Grof



worked at several clinics and medical research centres, and wrote Realms of the Human Unconscious:
Observataons from LSD Research. It was written at, and published by, the Esalen Institute in 1975.

Grof studied the whole range of experiences under the influence of LSD, including a number of
‘paranormal’ effects reported by his subjects such as apparent memories of past lives, precognition,
clairvoyance and mystical experiences. Significantly, they also included out-of-body experiences and
what used to be known as ‘travelling clairvoyance’, but which is now called remote viewing. He also
discovered many experiences of ‘spirit guides’ or other helpful and apparently superior entities, including

those claiming to be extraterrestrials.13

This often extended beyond mere academic interest. Many of these researchers claimed personal
contact themselves. For example, Jack Sarfatti says that in 1952, when he was fourteen, he received a
telephone call in which a machinelike voice announced that it was a conscious computer located on a
spaceship from the future. It went on to say that Sarfatti had been chosen as ‘one of four hundred bright

receptive minds’, and that he would begin to ‘link up’ with the others in twenty years’ time.122

As prophesied by the voice, Sarfatti did indeed go on to become a gifted - if maverick — theoretical
physicist. He has always been fascinated by the far reaches of scientific thinking and the more exotic
aspects of quantum physics, such as the nature of time (he is a co-author of a major work called Space-
Time and Beyond), the possibilities of faster-than-light travel and communication, and the relationship of
human consciousness to quantum-level physics. He was the director of the Physics/Consciousness
Research Group at the Esalen Institute and is currently developing the concept of ‘post-quantum physics’,
which, he claims, can explain phenomena such as remote viewing. In a recent email to us he said:

I have extended David Bohm’s version of quantum physics to include mental phenomena. I call
this ‘post-quantum physics’. Post-quantum physics violates Einstein’s idea that the future cannot
influence the present in detectable and controllable ways ... Post-quantum physics purports to be
the unified explanation of both ordinary consciousness and extraordinary phenomena like remote-
viewing used with spectacular success during the Cold War ... I suspect that understanding the
physical nature of consciousness as a post-quantum field beyond ordinary space and time will
allow us to travel to the stars and beyond both materially and mentally. We shall soon make Star

Trek real 140

Sarfatti’s interest in matters such as the nature of time is a direct result of the bizarre telephone call
back in 1952. He believes he is to some extent still guided by his extraterrestrial contact. Could it be that
nonhuman intelligences really are trying to influence the human race through individuals chosen during
childhood? How else could ‘they’ know that Sarfatti would grow up to be an eminent physicist?

On the other hand, Sarfatti’s potential was also recognised by human agencies around the same time.
According to his own account, around the time of the mysterious phone call he was selected for ‘an
afternoon school of gifted kids’ tutored by one Walter Breen.!4! This extra tuition included lectures on
patriotism and ‘anti-communism’ by visitors from the Sandia Corporation, a major player in the US
nuclear weapons research programme at that time. Breen arranged for Sarfatti to have a scholarship to
Cornell University when he was just seventeen, writing a profile in which he said Sarfatti would make
‘revolutionary discoveries in the foundations of physics’.1#2 Breen echoed the futuristic computer’s
assessment of Sarfatti’s vocation as a cutting-edge scientist.

Twenty years later, strange things did begin to happen around Sarfatti, but only after he had entered the
heady world of the research organisations we have discussed. In 1973, he went to SRI to meet Brendan



O‘Regan, with whom he had an intense seventeen-hour conversation, as a result of which he began to
recall the full weirdness of his telephone experience of twenty-one years before for the first time. He
subsequently became director of the Physics/Consciousness Research Group at Esalen (with funding from
Werner Erhard and the Pentagon), spending time with a somewhat surreal assortment of gurus, psychics
and catalysts, including Puharich, Whitmore, Geller and Einhorn, at the Turkey Farm at Ossining. Sarfatti
was also called upon by Brendan O’Regan to organise the experiments into Geller’s abilities at Birkbeck
College, London in 1975, when a huge range of startling paranormal phenomena were recorded. During
this time, he was given a copy of Puharich’s Uri, and when his mother read its account of Geller and the
Nine, she was reminded of the weird telephone phenomenon, except that, to Sarfatti’s great surprise, she
remembered not one call, but a series of them over a period of three weeks.

Given this background, it is tempting to speculate that Sarfatti was part of a sinister, X-Files-type
experiment in ‘programming’ children as part of some long-term government project. Sarfatti himself
acknowledges the possibility, but thinks too much remains unexplained by this scenario. Tellingly, in a
question-and-answer session on the Internet in March 1998 with one Mark Thornally, when asked whether
Walter Breen could have stage-managed the phone call and computer voice, Sarfatti admitted that he
could, then volunteered: ‘Andrija Puharich, who was in the Army at that time I think, would have been
able to do it.’

Although acknowledging that Army scientists could have contrived the phone call, Sarfatti doubts that
Breen or Puharich could have planned and organised the subsequent events that only began to unfold
twenty years later. It is difficult to disagree. This is one of the most puzzling aspects of the whole story,
also true of events surrounding the Nine. They could have been directed by intelligences from outer space